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SECTION | - GENERAL

DEFINITIONS AND ABBREVIATIONS

This Prospectus uses certain definitions and abbreviations which, unless the context otherwise indicates or implies, shall
have the meaning ascribed to such definitions and abbreviations set forth herein. References to any legislation, act,
regulation, rules, guidelines, clarifications or policies shall be to such legislation, act, regulation, rules, guidelines,
clarifications or policies as amended, supplemented or re-enacted from time to time until the date of this Prospectus, and
any reference to a statutory provision shall include any subordinate legislation notified from time to time pursuant to

such provision.

The words and expressions used in this Prospectus but not defined herein shall have, to the extent applicable, the same
meaning ascribed to such words and expressions under the SEBI NCS Regulations, the Companies Act, 2013, the SCRA,
the Depositories Act and the rules and regulations notified thereunder.

General Terms

Description

Term
“the Issuer”, “our
Company”, “the Company”

or “InCred Financial
Services Limited (erstwhile
known as KKR India
Financial Services Limited)”

InCred Financial Services Limited (erstwhile known as KKR India Financial Services
Limited), a non-banking financial company incorporated under the Companies Act, 1956,
as amended and replaced from time to time, having its CIN U67190MH1995PL.C360817
and having its registered office at Unit No. 1203, 12" Floor, B Wing, The Capital, Plot No.
C-70, G Block, Bandra Kurla Complex, Bandra (East), Mumbai, Maharashtra — 400 051.

we/ us/ our

Unless the context otherwise indicates or implies, refers to our Company together with our
Subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis

“Promoters”

InCred Holdings Limited (erstwhile known as KKR Capital Markets India Limited) and
Bhupinder Singh

Subsidiaries

InCred Management and Technology Services Private Limited and InCred Al Limited.

Note: Booth Fintech Private Limited and mValu Technology Services Private Limited
ceased to be our subsidiary with effect from July 11, 2023.

Company Related Terms

Term

Description

Appointed Date

With respect to Scheme shall mean April 1, 2022

“Articles” or “Articles of
Association” or “AOA”

Acrticles of Association of our Company

Asset Liability Management
Committee or ALCO

Asset Liability Management Committee of our Company

Audit Committee

Audit committee of the Board of Directors of our Company, constituted in accordance with
applicable laws and as reconstituted from time to time by Board of Directors of the
Company

Audited Financial
Statements

Collectively, Audited Consolidated Financial Statements and Audited Standalone Financial
Statements.

Audited Consolidated
Financial Statements

Audited Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company as at and for the year ended
March 31, 2023, prepared in accordance with IND AS.

Audited Standalone
Financial Statements

Audited Standalone Financial Statements of the Company as at and for the year ended
March 31, 2023, prepared in accordance with IND AS.

Audited Financial
statements of Pre-demerger
InCred

Collectively, Audited Consolidated Financial Statements of Pre-demerger InCred and
Audited Standalone Financial Statements of Pre-demerger InCred

Audited Financial
Statements of Pre-demerger
KKR

Collectively, Audited Financial Statements of Pre-demerger KKR for Fiscal 2022 and
Audited Financial Statements of Pre-demerger KKR for Fiscal 2021.

Audited Financial
Statements of Pre-demerger
KKR for Fiscal 2022

Audited Financial Statements of Pre-demerger KKR for Fiscal 2022 prepared in accordance
with IND AS.




Term

Description

Audited Financial
Statements of Pre-demerger
KKR for Fiscal 2021

Audited Financial Statements of Pre-demerger KKR for Fiscal 2021 prepared in accordance
with IND AS

Audited Consolidated
Financial Statements of Pre-
demerger InCred

Audited Consolidated Financial Statements of Pre-demerger InCred for Fiscal 2022 and
Audited Consolidated Financial Statements of Pre-demerger InCred for Fiscal 2021
prepared in accordance with IND AS

Audited Consolidated
Financial Statements of Pre-
demerger InCred for Fiscal
2022

The audited consolidated Ind AS financial statements of Pre-demerger InCred as at and for
the year ended March 31, 2022, prepared in accordance with IND AS

Audited Consolidated
Financial Statements of Pre-
demerger InCred for Fiscal
2021

The audited consolidated Ind AS financial statements of Pre-demerger InCred as at and for
the year ended March 31, 2021, prepared in accordance with IND AS

Audited Standalone
Financial Statements of Pre-
demerger InCred

Audited Standalone Financial Statements of Pre-demerger InCred for Fiscal 2022 and
Audited Standalone Financial Statements of Pre-demerger InCred for Fiscal 2021, prepared
in accordance with IND AS

Audited Standalone
Financial Statements of Pre-
demerger InCred for Fiscal
2022

The audited standalone Ind AS financial statements of Pre-demerger InCred as at and for
the year ended March 31, 2022, prepared in accordance with IND AS

Audited Standalone
Financial Statements of Pre-
demerger InCred for Fiscal
2021

The audited standalone Ind AS financial statements of Pre-demerger InCred as at and for
the year ended March 31, 2021, prepared in accordance with IND AS

“Auditors” or “Statutory | The current statutory auditor of our Company, S. R. Batliboi & Associates LLP
Auditors”
“Board” or “Board of|Board of Directors of our Company or any duly constituted committee thereof

Directors” or “our Board” or
“our Board of Directors”

BFPL

Booth Fintech Private Limited, a company incorporated under the laws of India (CIN
U67190MH2015PTC355907), and having its registered office at Unit No. 1203, 12" Floor,
B-Wing, The Capital, Bandra Kurla Complex Mumbai, Maharashtra — 400 051

Corporate Social
Responsibility Committee

Corporate social responsibility committee of our Company last re-constituted by our Board
of Directors by board resolution dated March 30, 2023, constituted in accordance with
applicable laws and as may be further re-constituted from time to time by Board of Directors
of the Company

Committee A committee constituted by the Board, and as reconstituted from time to time.

Corporate Office Unit No. 1203, 12" Floor, B-Wing, The Capital, Bandra Kurla Complex Mumbai,
Maharashtra — 400 051

“CRISIL” /  “CRISIL | CRISIL Ratings Limited

Ratings”

“Demerged Company” /|InCred Prime Finance Limited having its registered office at Unit No. 1203, 12th floor, B

“InCred Prime Finance | Wing, The Capital Plot No. C - 70, G Block, Bandra Kurla Complex, Mumbai, Maharashtra

Limited” / “Pre-demerger
InCred”

400 051 and CIN U74899MH1991PLC340312.

Directors Directors of our Company
Equity Shares Equity shares of the Company of face value of 10 each
ESOP(s) Employee stock options

Finance Committee

The finance committee of our Company last re-constituted by our Board of Directors by a
board resolution dated August 02, 2023 and as may be further reconstituted from time to
time, by the Board of Directors of our Company.

Gross Stage 3 book Also referred to as Gross NPA
Gross Stage 3 (%) Also referred to as Gross NPAs to Gross Advances %
Group Company(ies) Such companies as identified in accordance with Regulation 2(1) (r) of SEBI NCS

Regulations, as under:

(i) InCred Capital Financial Services Private Limited,; (ii) InCred Wealth Private Limited,




Term

Description

(iii) InCred Asset Management Private Limited; (iv) InCred Capital Wealth Portfolio
Managers Private Limited; (v) InCred Research Services Private Limited; (vi) InCred
Alternative Investments Private Limited; (vii) InCred Prime Finance Limited (Formerly
known as InCred Financial Services Limited); (viii) KKR India Finance Holding LLC; (ix)
Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co. L.P.; (X) KKR India Advisors Private Limited; (xi) KKR
Mauritius PE Investments I, Limited; (xii) KKR Asia Limited; (xiii) KKR India Financial
Investments Pte Limited; and (xiv) KKR Capital Markets LLC

Identified Demerged
Company Agreements

All agreements/ documents (including shareholders' agreement) governing the Demerged
Company, executed in relation to investments made into the Demerged Company (whether
by way of subscription or purchase) and/ or governing the relationship inter se its respective
security-holders, and each document executed in terms thereof.

IMTSPL

InCred Management and Technology Services Private Limited having its CIN
U72900MH2016PTC273211 and registered office at Unit No. 1203, 12" Floor, B Wing,
The Capital, Plot No. C-70, G Block, Bandra Kurla Complex, Bandra (East), Mumbai 400
051, India.

InCred.Al

InCred.Al Limited having its CIN U74999MH2021PLC358271 and registered office at
Unit No. 1203, 12th floor, B Wing, The Capital, Plot No. C-70, G Block, Behind ICICI
Bank, Bandra Kurla Complex, Mumbai, Maharashtra 400 051, India.

InCred Demerged
Undertaking

The undertaking of the Demerged Company comprising the businesses of retail lending,
SME lending, housing finance business and ancillary activities undertaken by the Demerged
Company, as a going concern, comprising of all relevant business activities and services,
assets, liabilities, operations, intangibles, employees (“Retail NBFC Business”), and
including but not limited to the following, as on the Appointed Date:

(a) all assets, wherever situated, whether movable or immovable, leasehold or freehold,
tangible or intangible, including all capital work-in-progress, equipment, intellectual
property rights (including all registered/unregistered brands owned by the Demerged
Company in relation to the Retail NBFC Business) other movable properties, in
possession or reversion, present of whatsoever nature belonging to the Demerged
Company in relation to the Retail NBFC Business, powers, authorities, allotments,
approvals, Consents, letters of intent, registrations, contracts, engagements,
arrangements, requests for proposals, bids, responses to expression of interest,
memorandum of understanding, settlements, rights, credits, titles, interests, benefits,
advantages, other intangibles, other Consents, import quotas and other quota rights,
right to use and avail of telephones, telex, facsimile and other communication facilities,
connections, installations and equipment, utilities, electricity and electronic and all
other services of every kind, nature and description whatsoever, provisions, funds and
benefits of all agreements, arrangements, deposits, advances, recoverable and
receivables, whether from government, semi-government, local authorities or any other
person including customers, contractors or other counter parties, etc., all earnest monies
and/or deposits, privileges, liberties, easements, advantages, benefits, exemptions,
licenses (but excluding the Demerged Company’s registration as a non-banking
financial institution with the RBI), privileges concerning the Retail NBFC Business
and approvals of whatsoever nature and wheresoever situated, belonging to or in the
ownership, power or possession or control of or vested in or granted in favour of or
enjoyed by the Demerged Company in relation to the Retail NBFC Business as on the
Appointed Date;

(b) any and all consents, quotas, rights, entitlements, allotments, concessions, subsidies,
grants, allotments, recommendations, clearances, tenancies, offices, deferred tax asset,
benefits and credits (including, but not limited to benefits of tax relief, unutilized
deposits or credits, benefits under the VAT/sales tax law/GST/ service tax/local
municipal tax, VAT/sales tax/ GST/service tax/local municipal tax set off, unutilized
deposits or credits, benefits of any unutilized MODVAT/CENVAT/service tax
credits/GST input tax credit/ GST tax deducted at source, etc. (including the income
tax refund, provision for income tax, benefits and credits under the Income-Tax Act,
1961 such as credit for advance tax, taxes deducted at source and self-assessment tax
up to the Appointed Date) in addition to turnover tax, central goods and service tax,
state goods and service tax of respective states, integrated goods and service tax, union




Term

Description

©

(d)

O

®

(9)

(h)

territory goods and service tax of respective union territory, compensation cess, local
municipal tax, customs duty, sales tax, value added tax service tax and CENVAT
credit), income tax benefits (including carry forward of tax losses and unabsorbed
depreciation), exemptions (including the right to claim tax holiday under the IT Act),
as may be applicable, liberties, advantages, no-objection certificates, certifications,
registrations, easements, licences, tenancies, offices, privileges and benefits, including
employee state insurance, provident fund credits, gratuity fund credits, insurance
policies, privileges, rights and benefits of all lease rights, licences, powers and facilities
of every kind and description whatsoever relating to the Retail NBFC Business and
similar rights, whether statutory or otherwise, and any waiver of the foregoing, issued
by any legislative, executive or judicial unit of any governmental or semi-governmental
entity or any department, commission, board, agency, bureau, official or other
regulatory, administrative or judicial authority used or held for use by the Demerged
Company in relation to the Retail NBFC Business;

all identified receivables, loans and advances, including accrued interest thereon, all
advance payments, earnest monies and/or security deposits, if any, or other entitlements
of the Demerged Company in relation to the Retail NBFC Business on the Appointed
Date;

all identified debts, obligations and liabilities of the Demerged Company comprising
of only those debts, duties, obligations and liabilities that are outstanding as on the
Appointed Date which arise out of the activities or operations of the Demerged
Company appertaining to or relatable to the Retail NBFC Business including: (i) all
liabilities which arise out of the activities or operations of the Retail NBFC Business;
(ii) the specific loans or borrowings (including debentures) raised, incurred and utilised
solely for the activities or operations of the Retail NBFC Business; and (iii) in cases,
other than those referred to in (i) or (ii) above, so much of the amounts of general or
multipurpose borrowings, if any, of the Demerged Company as stand in the same
proportion which the value of the assets forming part of the Retail NBFC Business
bears to the total value of the assets of the Demerged Company immediately before the
Demerger;

all permanent and contract employees, staff and workmen of the Demerged Company
engaged in its Retail NBFC Business as identified by the board of directors of the
Demerged Company;

all necessary records, files, papers, technical and process information, all product and
service pricing, costing, commercial and business related information, computer
programs, drawings & designs, manuals, data, catalogues, quotations, sales and
advertising materials, lists and all details of present and former customers and
suppliers, customer credit information, customer pricing information and other records
whether in physical or electronic form in connection with or relating to the Retail
NBFC Business;

all legal, regulatory, quasi-judicial, administrative proceedings, suits, appeals,
applications or other proceedings of whatsoever nature initiated by or against
Demerged Company in connection with the Retail NBFC Business; and

all investments, rights and entitlements held by the Demerged Company in (i) IMTSPL;
(ii) InCred.Al; and (iii) BFPL; as on the Appointed Date;

provided that the Identified Demerged Company Agreements shall not form part of the
InCred Demerged Undertaking.

Independent Director(s)

The independent director(s) on our Board, in terms of Section 2(47) and Section 149(6) of
the Companies Act, 2013 and 16(1)(b) of the SEBI Listing Regulations

JLG

Joint Liability Group

KMP / Key Managerial

Personnel

Key managerial personnel of our Company as disclosed in this Prospectus and appointed in
accordance with Section 203, as defined under Section 2(51) of the Companies Act, 2013




Term

Description

>

“MoA” or “Memorandum’
or “Memorandum of
Association”

Memorandum of association of our Company

Net Stage 3 (%)

Referred to as Net NPAs to Net Advances %

Net Stage 3

Referred to as Net NPA

Nomination and
Remuneration Committee

Nomination and remuneration committee of our Company last re-constituted by the Board
of Directors by board resolution dated September 24, 2023, in accordance with applicable
laws and as may be further re-constituted from time to time by Board of Directors of the
Company

Networth

As defined in Section 2(57) of the Companies Act, 2013, as follows:

“Networth means the aggregate value of the paid-up share capital and all reserves created
out of the profits, securities premium account and debit or credit balance of profit and loss
account, after deducting the aggregate value of the accumulated losses, deferred
expenditure and miscellaneous expenditure not written off, as per the audited balance sheet
but does not include reserves created out of revaluation of assets, write back of depreciation
and amalgamation.”

Pre-demerger KKR

KKR India Financial Services Limited (now known as InCred Financial Services Limited)
prior to Appointed Date of the Scheme.

Promoter Group

Includes such persons and entities constituting the promoter group of our Company
pursuant to Regulation 2(1)(pp) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations.

Quarterly Standalone
Unaudited Financial Results

Quarterly Unaudited Standalone Financial Results of the Company for the three months
period ended June 30, 2023 prepared by our Company in the manner and format required
by the SEBI Listing Regulations which has been subjected to limited review as described
under SEBI Listing Regulations.

Registered Office

Registered Office of our Company presently situated at Unit No. 1203, 12th floor, B Wing,
The Capital, Plot No. C-70, G Block, Bandra Kurla Complex, Bandra (East), Mumbai,
Maharashtra — 400 051

Risk Management
Committee

Risk Management Committee of our Company last re-constituted by the Board of Directors
by board resolution dated March 30, 2023, in accordance with applicable laws and as may
be further re-constituted from time to time by Board of Directors of the Company.

RoC/ Registrar of Companieg

Registrar of Companies, Mumbai, Maharashtra

Shareholders

The holders of the Equity Shares of the Company from time to time

“Scheme” or “ Composite
Scheme of Amalgamation
and Arrangement”

Composite scheme of amalgamation and arrangement among Bee Finance Limited (the
transferor company), InCred Holdings Limited (erstwhile known as KKR Capital Markets
India Limited) (the transferee company), Pre-demerger InCred (the Demerged Company),
Issuer (the resulting company) and their respective shareholders under sections 230 to 232
read with section 66 and 234 and other applicable provisions of Companies Act, approved
by National Company Law Tribunal (‘NCLT”), Mumbai Bench on May 6, 2022.

“Senior Management
Personnel” or “SMP”

Senior Management Personnel of our Company in accordance with definition of Senior
Management in Regulation 2 (iia) of the SEBI NCS Regulations, as described in “Our
Management” on page 151.

Stakeholders’ Relationship
Committee

Stakeholders’ relationship committee of our Company last reconstituted by the Board of
Directors by board resolution dated March 30, 2023, in accordance with applicable laws
and as may be further re-constituted time to time by Board of Directors of the Company.

Total Borrowing(s)/ Total

Debt

Debt securities plus borrowings other than debt securities

Issue Related Terms

Term

Description

Abridged Prospectus

A memorandum containing the salient features of this Prospectus

Acknowledgement Slip/
Transaction Registration
Slip/ TRS

The slip or document issued by the Designated Intermediary to an Applicant as proof of
registration of the Application Form

Allotment Advice

The communication sent to the Allottees conveying the details of NCDs allotted to the
Allottees in accordance with the Basis of Allotment

“Allotment”, “Allot” or

Unless the context otherwise requires, the issue and allotment of NCDs to the successful




Term

Description

Allotted

Applicants pursuant to the Issue

Allottee(s)

The successful Applicant to whom the NCDs are Allotted either in full or part, pursuant to
the Issue

“Applicant” or “Investor”

Any person who applies for issuance and Allotment of NCDs through ASBA process or
through UP1 Mechanism pursuant to the terms of the Draft Prospectus, this Prospectus, the
Abridged Prospectus and the Application Form.

“Application” or “ASBA
Application” or “ASBA”

An application (whether physical or electronic) to subscribe to the NCDs offered pursuant
to the Issue by submission of a valid Application Form and authorising an SCSB to block
the Application Amount in the ASBA Account or to block the Application Amount using
the UPI Mechanism, where the Bid Amount will be blocked upon acceptance of UPI
Mandate Request by retail investors for an Application Amount of upto the UP1 Application
Limit which will be considered as the application for Allotment in terms of this Prospectus.

Application Amount

The aggregate value of the NCDs applied for, as indicated in the Application Form for the
Issue

Application Form / ASBA
Form

Form in terms of which an Applicant shall make an offer to subscribe to NCDs through the
ASBA process or through the UPI Mechanism and which will be considered as the
Application for Allotment of NCDs in terms of Prospectus.

ASBA Account

An account maintained with a SCSB and specified in the Application Form which will be
blocked by such SCSB to the extent of the Application Amount mentioned in the
Application Form by an Applicant and will include a bank account of a retail individual
investor linked with UPI, for retail individual investors submitting application value upto
UPI Application Limit

ASBA Applicant

Any Applicant who applies for NCDs through the ASBA process

Banker(s) to the Issue

Collectively, Public Issue Account Bank, Refund Bank and Sponsor Bank, being ICICI
Bank Limited

Base Issue Size

¥ 15,000 lakh

Basis of Allotment

The basis on which NCDs will be allotted to applicants as described in “Issue Procedure —
Basis of Allotment” on page 427.

Bidding Centres

Centres at which the Designated Intermediaries shall accept the Application Forms, i.e.,
Designated Branches of SCSB, Specified Locations for Members of the Syndicate, Broker
Centres for Registered Brokers, Designated RTA Locations for RTAs and Designated CDP
Locations for CDPs

Broker Centres

Broker centres notified by the Stock Exchange where Applicants can submit the ASBA
Forms (including ASBA Forms under UPI in case of UPI Investors) to a Registered Broker.
The details of such Broker Centres, along with the names and contact details of the Trading
Members are available on the website of the Stock Exchange at www.bseindia.com.

BSE

BSE Limited.

Category |
(Institutional Investors)

e Public financial institutions, scheduled commercial banks, Indian multilateral and
bilateral development financial institutions which are authorised to invest in the NCDs;

e Provident funds and pension funds each with a minimum corpus of ¥ 2,500 lakh,
superannuation funds and gratuity funds, which are authorised to invest in the NCDs;

e Alternative Investment Funds, subject to investment conditions applicable to them under

the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Alternative Investment Funds) Regulations,

2012;

Resident Venture Capital Funds registered with SEBI;

Insurance companies registered with the IRDAI,

State industrial development corporations;

Insurance funds set up and managed by the army, navy, or air force of the Union of

India;

Insurance funds set up and managed by the Department of Posts, the Union of India;

o Systemically Important Non-Banking Financial Company registered with the RBI and
having a net-worth of more than ¥ 50,000 lakh as per the last audited financial
statements;

e National Investment Fund set up by resolution no. F.No. 2/3/2005-DDII dated
November 23, 2005 of the Government of India published in the Gazette of India; and

e Mutual funds registered with SEBI.

Category 1l
(Non-Institutional Investors)

e Companies within the meaning of Section 2(20) of the Companies Act, 2013;
o Statutory bodies/ corporations and societies registered under the applicable laws in India




Term

Description

and authorised to invest in the NCDs;

o Co-operative banks and regional rural banks;

e Trusts including public/private charitable/religious trusts which are authorised to invest
in the NCDs;

o Scientific and/or industrial research organisations, which are authorised to invest in the
NCDs;

o Partnership firms in the name of the partners; and

o Limited liability partnerships formed and registered under the provisions of the Limited
Liability Partnership Act, 2008 (No. 6 of 2009).

o Association of Persons; and

e Any other incorporated and/ or unincorporated body of persons

Category 11l (High Net|Resident Indian individuals or Hindu Undivided Families through the Karta applying for an
Worth Individual Investors) | amount aggregating to above X 10,00,000 across all options of NCDs in the Issue
Category IV Resident Indian individuals or Hindu Undivided Families through the Karta applying for an

(Retail Individual Investors)

amount aggregating up to and including % 10,00,000 across all options of NCDs in the Issue
and shall include Retail Individual Investors, who have submitted bid for an amount not
more than UPI Application Limit in any of the bidding options in the Issue (including HUFs
applying through their Karta and does not include NRIs) though UPI Mechanism.

CIBIL TransUnion CIBIL Limited

Client ID Client identification number maintained with one of the Depositories in relation to the
demat account

“Collecting Depository A depository participant as defined under the Depositories Act, 1996, registered with SEBI

Participant” or “CDP”

and who is eligible to procure Applications in the Issue, at the Designated CDP Locations
in terms of the SEBI Master Circular

Collecting Registrar and
Share Transfer Agents or
CRTAs

Registrar and share transfer agents registered with SEBI and eligible to procure
Applications, at the Designated RTA Locations

Consortium Agreement

Consortium Agreement dated October 10, 2023 entered into amongst the Company, Lead
Managers and Consortium Member.

“Consortium Member(s)”

JM Financial Services Limited.

Consortium / Members of
the Consortium / Members
of Syndicate (each
individually, a Member of
the Consortium)

The Lead Managers and the Consortium Member.

Coupon/ Interest Rate

The coupon rate as disclosed in the “Issue Structure — Specific terms for NCDs” on page
376.

Credit Rating Agency

CRISIL Ratings Limited

Debenture Holder(s) /NCD
Holder(s)

The holders of the NCDs whose name appears in the database of the relevant Depository
and/or the register of NCD Holders (if any) maintained by our Company if required under
applicable law.

Debenture Trust Deed

The trust deed to be entered between the Debenture Trustee and our Company which shall
be executed in relation to the NCDs within the time limit prescribed by applicable statutory
and/or regulatory requirements, including creation of appropriate security, in favour of the
Debenture Trustee for the NCD Holders on the Receivables adequate to ensure 1.05 times
security cover for the NCDs for the principal amount outstanding under the NCDs and the
interest due thereon issued pursuant to the Issue.

Debenture Trustee/ Trustee

Trustees for the NCD holders in this case being Catalyst Trusteeship Limited

Debenture Trustee
Agreement

Agreement dated September 25, 2023 entered into between the Debenture Trustee and the
Company wherein the appointment of the Debenture Trustee to the Issue, is agreed between
our Company and the Debenture Trustee

Deemed Date of Allotment

The date on which the Board of Directors or the Finance Committee approves the Allotment
of the NCDs for the Issue or such date as may be determined by the Board of Directors/ or
the Finance Committee thereof and notified to the Designated Stock Exchange. The actual
Allotment of NCDs may take place on a date other than the Deemed Date of Allotment. All
benefits relating to the NCDs including interest on NCDs shall be available to the Debenture
Holders from the Deemed Date of Allotment.

Demographic Details

The demographic details of the Applicants such as their respective addresses, email, PAN,




Term Description
investor status, MICR Code and bank account detail
Depository(ies) National Securities Depository Limited and /or Central Depository Services (India) Limited

Designated Branches

Such branches of the SCSBs which shall collect the Application Forms, a list of which is
available on the website of the SEBI at
https://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognisedFpi=yes&intmld=4
5 or at such other weblink as may be prescribed by SEBI from time to time

Designated CDP Locations

Such locations of the CDPs where Applicants can submit the ASBA Forms, a list of which,
along with names and contact details of the Collecting Depository Participants eligible to
accept ASBA Forms are available on the website of the Stock Exchange at
www.bseindia.com

Designated Date

The date on which the funds blocked by the SCSBs are transferred from the ASBA
Accounts to the Public Issue Account and/or the Refund Account, as appropriate, after
finalisation of the Basis of Allotment, in terms of this Prospectus following which the NCDs
will be Allotted in the Issue.

Designated Intermediaries

Collectively, members of the Consortium, Sub-Consortium/agents, Trading Members,
SCSBs, Registered Brokers, CDPs and RTAs, who are authorised to collect Application
Forms from the Applicants in the Issue.

In relation to ASBA applicants authorising an SCSB to block the amount in the ASBA
Account, Designated Intermediaries shall mean SCSBs.

In relation to ASBA applicants submitted by Retail Individual Investors where the amount
was blocked upon acceptance of UPI Mandate Request using the UPI Mechanism,
Designated Intermediaries shall mean the CDPs, RTAs, Lead Managers, Members of the
Consortium, Trading Members and Stock Exchange where applications have been
submitted through the app/web interface as provided in the UPI Mechanism Circular.

Designated RTA Locations

Such locations of the CRTAs where Applicants can submit the ASBA Forms to CRTAs, a
list of which, along with names and contact details of the CRTAs eligible to accept ASBA
Forms available on the website of the Stock Exchange at www.bseindia.com and updated
from time to time.

Designated Stock Exchange

The designated stock exchange for the Issue, being the BSE Limited

Direct Online Application

An online interface enabling direct applications through UPI by an app based/web interface,
by investors to a public issue of debt securities with an online payment facility

Draft Prospectus

The Draft Prospectus dated September 26, 2023 filed with the Stock Exchange for receiving
public comments and with SEBI in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act,
2013 and the SEBI NCS Regulations.

Interest Payment Date /
Coupon Payment Date

The payment dates as disclosed in the section “Issue Structure” on page 372.

Issue

Public Issue by the Company of up to 30,00,000 secured, rated, listed, redeemable, non-
convertible debentures of face value X 1,000 Each (“NCDs” or “Debentures”), for an
amount up to X 15,000 lakh (“Base Issue) with an option to retain oversubscription up to
% 15,000 lakh, aggregating up to X 30,000 lakh (“Issue” / “Issue Size™). The NCDs will be
issued on terms and conditions as set out in this Prospectus and the Issue is being made
pursuant to the provisions of SEBI NCS Regulations, the Companies Act, 2013 and rules
made thereunder as amended to the extent notified and the SEBI Master Circular.

Issue Agreement

The Issue Agreement dated September 26, 2023 entered between the Company and JM
Financial Limited, Incred Capital Wealth Portfolio Managers Private Limited the Lead
Managers to the Issue.

Issue Closing Date

Tuesday, November 7, 2023

Issue Documents

The Draft Prospectus, this Prospectus, the Abridged Prospectus, the Application Form and
supplemental information, if any, read with any notices, corrigenda and addenda thereto.

Issue Opening Date

Wednesday, October 25, 2023

Issue Period

The period between the Issue Opening Date and the Issue Closing Date inclusive of both
days, during which prospective Applicants can submit their Application Forms as provided
in this Prospectus.

Lead Managers

JM Financial Limited and Incred Capital Wealth Portfolio Managers Private Limited*

= InCred Capital Wealth Portfolio Managers Private Limited is deemed to be an associate
of the Issuer as per the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Merchant Bankers)



http://www.bseindia.com/

Term

Description

Regulations, 1992, as amended (Merchant Bankers Regulations). Further, in compliance
with the provisions of Regulation 21A and explanation to Regulation 21A of the Merchant
Bankers Regulations, InCred Capital Wealth Portfolio Managers Private Limited would
be involved only in marketing of the Issue and as per Regulation 25 (3) of SEBI NCS
Regulations shall not issue a due diligence certificate.

Listing Agreement

The uniform listing agreement entered into between our Company and the Stock Exchange
in connection with the listing of debt securities of our Company

Market Lot

1 (One) NCD

Mobile App(s)

The mobile applications listed on the website of Stock Exchange as may be updated from
time to time, which may be used by RIBs to submit Bids using the UPI Mechanism

“Maturity Date” or
“Redemption Date”

The maturity/ redemption dates as disclosed in the section “Issue Structure” on page 372.

NCDs / Debentures

Secured, rated, listed, redeemable, non-convertible debentures of face value of T 1,000 each,
for an amount up to X 15,000 lakh (“Base Issue”) with an option to retain oversubscription
up to X 15,000 lakh, aggregating up to X 30,000 lakh.

NCD Holders/ Debenture
Holder

Any debenture holder who holds the NCDs issued pursuant to this Issue and whose name
appears on the beneficial owners list provided by the Depositories.

OCB or Overseas Corporate
Body

A company, partnership, society or other corporate body owned directly or indirectly to the
extent of at least 60% (sixty percent) by NRIs including overseas trusts, in which not less
than 60% (sixty percent) of beneficial interest is irrevocably held by NRIs directly or
indirectly and which was in existence on October 3, 2003 and immediately before such date
had taken benefits under the general permission granted to OCBs under the FEMA. OCBs
are not permitted to invest in this Issue

Offer Document

The Draft Prospectus, this Prospectus, the Abridged Prospectus and Application Form along
with supplemental information, if any.

Prospectus

This Prospectus dated October 11, 2023, filed by our Company with the RoC and submitted
with SEBI and BSE, in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and the
SEBI NCS Regulations.

Public Issue Account

Account(s) opened/ to be opened with the Banker(s) to the Issue to receive monies for
allotment of NCDs from the ASBA Accounts maintained with the SCSBs (including under
the UPI mechanism) on the Designated Date.

Public Issue Account and
Sponsor Bank Agreement

Public Issue Account and Sponsor Bank Agreement dated October 10, 2023 entered
between the Company, Lead Managers and Registrar and Transfer Agent and Public Issue
Account Bank and Sponsor Bank.

Public Issue Account Bank

ICICI Bank Limited.

Record Date

The record date for payment of interest in connection with the NCDs or repayment of
principal in connection therewith shall be 15 (fifteen) days prior to the date on which interest
is due and payable, and/or the date of redemption or such other date under this Prospectus
as may be determined by the Company.

Provided that trading in the NCDs shall remain suspended between the aforementioned
Record Date in connection with redemption of NCDs and the date of redemption or as
prescribed by the Stock Exchange, as the case may be.

In case Record Date falls on a day when Stock Exchange are having a trading holiday, the
immediate subsequent trading day or a date notified by our Company to the Stock Exchange
will be deemed as the Record Date

Recovery Expense Fund

A fund created by our Company with the Designated Stock Exchange in the manner as
specified by SEBI in SEBI Debenture Trustee Master Circular and regulation 11 of SEBI
NCS Regulations with the Designated Stock Exchange.

Refund Account

Account to be opened with the Refund Bank from which refunds, if any, of the whole or
any part of the Application Amount shall be made.

Redemption Amount

Redemption amounts as specifically disclosed in the section “Issue Structure” on page 372.

Redemption Date

The date on which our Company is liable to redeem the NCDs in full as specified in this
Prospectus.

The redemption dates as specifically disclosed in the section “Issue Structure” on page 372.

Refund Bank

The Banker(s) to the Issue with whom the Refund Account will be opened and as specified
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in this Prospectus, being ICICI Bank Limited.

Register of NCD holders

The register of NCD holders maintained by the Issuer/RTA in accordance with the
provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and by the Depositories in case of NCDs held in
dematerialised form, and/or the register of NCD holders maintained by the Registrar

Registrar Agreement

Agreement dated September 26, 2023 entered into between the Issuer and the Registrar
under the terms of which the Registrar has agreed to act as the Registrar to the Issue

Registered Brokers

Stock brokers registered with SEBI under the Securities and Exchange Board of India
(Stock Brokers) Regulation, 1992 and the stock exchange having nationwide terminals,
other than the Members of the Syndicate and eligible to procure Applications from
Applicants

Registrar to the Issue or
Registrar

Link Intime India Private Limited.

Resident Individual

An individual who is a person resident in India as defined in the FEMA

“Registrar and Share
Transfer Agents” or “RTAs”

Registrar and share transfer agents registered with SEBI and eligible to procure Application
in the Issue

RTA Master Circular

Securities and Exchange Board of India Master Circular for Registrars to an Issue and Share
Transfer Agents’ dated May 17, 2023, bearing reference number SEBI/HO/MIRSD/POD-
1/P/CIR/2023/70.

Security

The principal amount of the NCDs to be issued in terms of this Prospectus together with all
interest due and payable on the NCDs thereof, shall be secured by way of an exclusive first
charge over certain identified receivables, as specifically set out in and fully described in
the Debenture Trust Deed, such that a security cover of at least 1.05 times of the outstanding
principal amounts of the NCDs and all interest due and payable thereon is maintained at all
times until the Maturity Date.

“Self-Certified Syndicate
Banks” or “SCSBs”

The banks registered with SEBI, offering services in relation to ASBA, a list of which is
available on the website of SEBI at
https://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognisedFpi=yes&intmld=4
5 for UPI, updated from time to time and at such other websites as may be prescribed by
SEBI from time to time.

Series/Option

Collectively, the series/options of NCDs being offered to the Applicants as disclosed in the
“Issue Structure — Specific terms for NCDs” on page 376.

“Specified Cities” or
“Specified Locations” or
“Syndicate ASBA
Application Locations” or
“Syndicate Bidding
Centres”

Bidding centres where the Members of the Syndicate shall accept Application Forms from
Applicants, a list of which is available on the website of the SEBI a
thttps://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognisedFpi=yes&intmld=4
5f and updated from time to time and at such other websites as may be prescribed by SEBI
from time to time.

Sponsor Bank

ICICI Bank Limited, a Banker to the Issue, registered with SEBI, which is appointed by the
Issuer to act as a conduit between the Stock Exchanges and NPCI in order to push the
mandate collect requests and / or payment instructions of the retail individual investors into
the UPI for retail individual investors applying through the app/web interface of the Stock
Exchange(s) with a facility to block funds through UPI Mechanism for application value
upto X 5,00,000 and carry out any other responsibilities in terms of the UPI Mechanism
Circular and as specified in this Prospectus.

“Stock Exchange” or
“Exchange”

BSE

Syndicate ASBA

Applications through the Syndicate or the Designated Intermediaries

Syndicate ASBA/ Syndicate
ASBA Application

ASBA Applications through the Lead Managers, Consortium Member, the Trading
Members of the Stock Exchange or the Designated Intermediaries.

Syndicate SCSB Branches

In relation to ASBA Applications submitted to a Member of the Syndicate, such branches
of the SCSBs at the Syndicate ASBA Application Locations named by the SCSBs to receive
deposits of the Application Forms from the members of the Syndicate, and a list of which
is available on
https://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognisedFpi=yes&intmld=4
5 or at such other website as may be prescribed by SEBI from time to time.

Syndicate Bidding Centres

Syndicate Bidding Centres established for acceptance of Application Forms

Tenor

The tenor as disclosed in the “Issue Structure — Specific terms for NCDs” on page 376.

Trading Members

Intermediaries registered with a lead broker or a sub-broker under the SEBI (Stock Brokers
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and Sub-Brokers) Regulations, 1992 and/or with the Stock Exchange(s) under the
applicable byelaws, rules, regulations, guidelines, circulars issued by Stock Exchange(s)
from time to time and duly registered with the Stock Exchange for collection and electronic
upload of Application Forms on the electronic application platform provided by Stock
Exchange(s).

Transaction Documents

Transaction documents shall mean the Draft Prospectus, this Prospectus read with any
notices, corrigenda, addenda thereto, Abridged Prospectus, Application Form, Issue
Agreement, Registrar Agreement, Debenture Trustee Agreement, Deed of Hypothecation,
Debenture Trust Deed, Consortium Agreement, Public Issue Account and Sponsor Bank
Agreement, Tripartite Agreements. For further details please see the section titled,
“Material Contracts and Documents for Inspection” on page 473.

Tripartite Agreements

Tripartite agreement dated August 1, 2022 among our Company, the Registrar and CDSL
and tripartite agreement dated August 8, 2022 among our Company, the Registrar and
NSDL.

“UPI” or “UPI Mechanism”

Unified Payments Interface mechanism in accordance with SEBI Master Circular to block
funds for application value up to UPI Application Limit submitted through intermediaries,
namely the Registered Stock brokers, Consortium Member, Registrar and Transfer Agent
and Depository Participants.

UPI ID

Identification created on the UPI for single-window mobile payment system developed by
the National Payments Corporation of India.

UPI Application Limit

Maximum limit to utilize the UPI mechanism to block the funds for application value up to
% 500,000 for issues of debt securities pursuant to SEBI Master Circular or any other
investment limit, as applicable and prescribed by SEBI from time to time

“UPI Mandate Request” or
“Mandate Request”

A request initiated by the Sponsor Bank on the Retail Individual Investor to authorize
blocking of funds in the relevant ASBA Account through the UPI mobile app/web interface
(using UPI Mechanism) equivalent to the bid amount (not exceeding UPI Application
Limit) and subsequent debit of funds in case of allotment.

Wilful Defaulter(s)

Includes wilful defaulters as defined under Regulation 2(1)(Ill) of the Securities and
Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2018
which includes a person or a company who or which is categorized as a wilful defaulter by
any bank or financial institution (as defined under the Companies Act, 2013) or consortium
thereof, in accordance with the guidelines on wilful defaulters issued by the Reserve Bank
of India and includes a company whose director or promoter is categorized as a wilful
defaulter.

Working Day

Working day means all days on which commercial banks in Mumbai, are open for business.
In respect of announcement or bid/issue period, working day shall mean all days, excluding
Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays, on which commercial banks in Mumbai are open
for business. Further, in respect of the time period between the bid/ issue closing date and
the listing of the NCDs on the Stock Exchange, working day shall mean all trading days of
the Stock Exchange for NCD, excluding Saturdays, Sundays and bank holidays, as specified
by SEBI.

Conventional and General Terms or Abbreviations

Term/ Abbreviation

Description/Full Form

‘4?57’ ‘4Rupees7” “INRJ, Or
“Indian Rupees”

The lawful currency of the Republic of India

“US$”, “USD”, and “U.S.
Dollars”

The lawful currency of the United States of America

ACH Automated Clearing House

AGM Annual General Meeting

ALM Asset Liability Management

ALM Guidelines Guidelines for ALM system in relation to NBFCs
AMC Asset Management Company

AS or Accounting Standards

Accounting standards as prescribed by Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with
Rule 7 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014as amended from time to time

AlF

An alternative investment fund as defined in and registered with SEBI under the Securities
and Exchange Board of India (Alternative Investment Funds) Regulations, 2012 as amended
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Term/ Abbreviation

Description/Full Form

from time to time

ASBA Application Supported by Blocked Amounts

AUM Assets Under Management

Bankruptcy Code The Insolvency and Bankruptcy Code, 2016

BSE BSE Limited

CAGR Compounded annual growth rate over a specified period of time of a given value (the year-
over-year growth rate)

CDSL Central Depository Services (India) Limited

CIN Corporate Identification Number

Companies Act/ Companies | Companies Act, 2013 and the rules made thereunder

Act, 2013

CPC Code of Civil Procedure, 1908

CRAR Capital to risk-weighted assets ratio means (Tier | Capital + Tier 1l Capital)/ Total Risk
Weighted Assets *100

CrPC Code of Criminal Procedure, 1973

CSR Corporate Social Responsibility

CYy Calendar Year

Depositories Act Depositories Act, 1996

Depository(ies) NSDL and /or CDSL

DIN Director Identification Number

“DP” or “Depository Depository Participant as defined under the Depositories Act, 1996

Participant”

SEBI Debenture Trustee
Master Circular

SEBI circular with reference number SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD1/P/CIR/2023/109 dated 31
March 2023 as may be amended from time to time.

DRR Debenture Redemption Reserve

EGM Extraordinary General Meeting

EOW Economic Offences Wing

FDI Foreign Direct Investment

FEMA Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999, as amended from time to time

FlI Foreign Institutional Investor(s)

FPI Foreign Portfolio Investor as defined and registered under the SEBI (Foreign Portfolio

Investors) Regulations, 2019, as amended from time to time.

“Financial Year”, “Fiscal”

or “FY” or “for the year
ended”

Period of 12 months ended March 31 of that particular year

GDP Gross Domestic Product

“Government” Government of India

G-Sec Government Securities

GST Goods and Services Tax

HNI High Net worth Individual

HFC Housing Finance Company

HUF Hindu Undivided Family

IBC Insolvency and Bankruptcy Code, 2016
ICAI Institute of Chartered Accountants of India
IEPF Investor Education and Protection Fund
IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards

“Income Tax Act” or “IT
Act”

Income Tax Act, 1961

Ind AS Indian Accounting Standards as prescribed by Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 and
notified by the Ind AS Rules

Ind AS Rules Indian Accounting standards as prescribed by Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 read
with Rule 7 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2015 as amended from time to time

India Republic of India

IPC Indian Penal Code, 1860

IRDAI Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India

IT Information Technology

ITR Income Tax Returns
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Term/ Abbreviation

Description/Full Form

KYC

Know Your Customer

LEI Legal Entity Identifier

LLP Limited Liability Partnership

LLP Act Limited Liability Partnership Act, 2008

MACT Motor Accidents Claims Tribunal

MCA Ministry of Corporate Affairs, Government of India
MICR Magnetic Ink Character Recognition

MLD Market Linked Debentures

Mutual Funds A mutual fund registered with SEBI under the SEBI (Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996
NACH National Automated Clearing House

NAV Net Asset Value

NBFC Non-Banking Financial Company, as defined under Section 45-1A of the RBI Act
NEFT National Electronic Fund Transfer

NRI Non-resident Indian

NSE National Stock Exchange India Limited

NSDL National Securities Depository Limited

p.a. Per annum

PAN Permanent Account Number

PAT Profit After Tax

PMLA Prevention of Money Laundering Act, 2002

PP MLD Principal Protected Market Linked Debentures

RBI Reserve Bank of India

RBI Act Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934

RBI Master Directions

Master Direction — Non-Banking Financial Company — Systemically Important Non-
Deposit taking and Deposit taking Company (Reserve Bank) Directions, 2016 dated
September 1, 2016

RERA Real Estate Regulatory Authority
RERAD Act Real Estate Regulation and Development Act, 2016
RTGS Real Time Gross Settlement

SARFAESI Act

Securitisation and Reconstruction of Financial Assets and Enforcement of Securities
Interest Act, 2002

SCRA Securities Contracts Regulation Act, 1956, as amended

SCRR Securities Contracts (Regulation) Rules, 1957, as amended
SEBI Securities and Exchange Board of India

SEBI Act Securities and Exchange Board of India Act, 1992, as amended

SEBI AIF Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Alternative Investment Funds) Regulations, 2012,
as amended

SEBI ICDR Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure Requirements)
Regulations, 2018, as amended from time to time

SEBI Listing Regulations/
SEBI LODR Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements)
Regulations, 2015, as amended

SEBI Merchant Banker
Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Merchant Bankers) Regulations, 1992 as amended

SEBI NCS Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue and Listing of Non-Convertible Securities)
Regulations, 2021, as amended and circulars issued thereunder

SEBI Master Circular

SEBI circular no. SEBI/HO/DDHS/PoD1/CIR/2023/119 dated August 10, 2021, as
amended

TDS

Tax Deducted at Source

Trademarks Act

Indian Trademarks Act, 1999

Technical and Industry Related Terms

Term/Abbreviation

Description/Full Form

ECBs

External Commercial Borrowing.

FCNR Foreign Currency Non-Resident.
IFC Infrastructure Finance Company.
IRDA Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority.
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Term/Abbreviation

Description/Full Form

ISO

International Organization for Standardization.

CareEdge Report

CARE Advisory Research and Training Limited (“CART”) as the agency issuing the
industry report titled “Research Report on NBFCs” September 2023 prepared by CareEdge
Research forming part of the Industry Overview chapter.

LIC Life Insurance Corporation of India

Hybrid Debt A capital instrument, which possesses certain characteristics of equity as well as debt
LTV Ratio of loan to the collateral value

MICR Magnetic Ink Character Recognition.

MFI Microfinance institutions

NPA Non-Performing Assets

NBFC-BL/ NBFC - Base
Layer

Non-deposit taking NBFCs below the asset size of ¥ 1,00,000 lakh and (b) NBFCs
undertaking the following activities- (i) NBFC-Peer to Peer Lending Platform (NBFC-P2P),
(i) NBFC-Account Aggregator (NBFC-AA), (iii) Non-Operative Financial Holding
Company (NOFHC) and (iv) NBFCs not availing public funds and not having any customer
interface

NBFC-D NBFC registered as a deposit accepting NBFC

NBFC-MFI An NBFC-MFI is defined as a non-deposit taking NBFC which extends loans to Micro
Finance Sector

NBFC-ND NBFC registered as a non-deposit accepting NBFC

NBFC-ND-SI (NBFC-ML/|(a) all deposit taking NBFCs (NBFC-Ds), irrespective of asset size, (b) non-deposit taking

NBFC — Middle Layer)

NBFCs with asset size of %1,00,000 lakh and above and (c¢) NBFCs undertaking the
following activities (i) Standalone Primary Dealers (SPDs), (ii) Infrastructure Debt Fund —
Non-Banking Financial Companies (IDF-NBFCs), (iii) Core Investment Companies
(CICs), (iv) Housing Finance Companies (HFCs) and (v) Infrastructure Finance Companies
(NBFC-IFC)

NBFC- TL / NBFC- Top
Layer

NBFC-UL which in the opinion of RBI has substantial increase in the potential systemic
risk

NBFC-UL / NBFC-Upper
Layer

NBFCs which are specifically identified by the RBI as warranting enhanced regulatory
requirement based on a set of parameters and scoring methodology as provided in SBR
Framework

Owned Funds

Paid-up equity capital, preference shares which are compulsorily convertible into equity,
free reserves, balance in share premium account; capital reserve representing surplus arising
out of sale proceeds of asset, excluding reserves created by revaluation of assets; less
accumulated loss balance, book value of intangible assets and deferred revenue expenditure,
if any

Prudential Norms

Prudential norms as provided under Master Direction — Non-Banking Financial Company
— Systemically Important Non-Deposit taking Company and Deposit taking Company
(Reserve Bank) Directions, 2016

MSME

Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises

RBI

Reserve Bank of India.

Tier | Capital

Tier | capital means owned fund as reduced by investment in shares of other non-banking
financial companies and in shares, debentures, bonds, outstanding loans and advances
including hire purchase and lease finance made to and deposits with subsidiaries and
companies in the same group exceeding, in aggregate, ten per cent of the owned fund; and
perpetual debt instruments issued by a non-deposit taking nonbanking financial company
in each year to the extent it does not exceed 15% of the aggregate Tier | Capital of such
company as on March 31 of the previous accounting year

Tier 1l Capital

Tier 11 capital includes the following:

(a)
(b)
(©

preference shares other than those which are compulsorily convertible into equity;
revaluation reserves at discounted rate of fifty five percent;

General Provisions (including that for Standard Assets) and loss reserves to the extent
these are not attributable to actual diminution in value or identifiable potential loss in
any specific asset and are available to meet unexpected losses, to the extent of one and
one fourth percent of risk weighted assets;

(d) hybrid debt capital instruments;

(e) subordinated debt;

perpetual debt instruments issued by a non-deposit taking non-banking financial company
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Term/Abbreviation

Description/Full Form

which is in excess of what qualifies for Tier | Capital to the extent the aggregate does not
exceed Tier | Capital

UTI Unit Trust of India.

WCDL Working Capital Demand Loan.

XIRR Internal rate of return for irregular cash flows.
Yield

Ratio of interest income to the daily average of interest earning assets.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the terms defined as part of “General Information”, “Risk Factors” “Industry
Overview”, “Regulations and Policies”, “Statement of Possible Tax Benefits”, “Summary of Key Provisions of Articles
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of Association”, “Financial Information” and “Other Regulatory and Statutory Disclosures” on pages 43, 19, 79, 175,
66, 432, 186 and 343, respectively shall have the meaning ascribed to them as part of the aforementioned sections. Terms
not defined as part of the sections “Our Business”, “Risk Factors”, “Industry Overview” and ‘“Regulations and
Policies”, on pages 109, 19, 79 and 175, respectively, shall have the meaning ascribed to them hereunder.
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CERTAIN CONVENTIONS, USE OF FINANCIAL, INDUSTRY AND MARKET DATA AND CURRENCY
OF PRESENTATION

Certain Conventions

In this Prospectus, unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise indicates or implies the terms, all references to
“we”, “us”, “our” are to InCred Financial Services Limited (erstwhile known as KKR India Financial Services Limited)
and its subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis and references to “you”, “offeree”, “purchaser”, “subscriber”, “recipient”,
“investors” and “potential investor” are to the prospective investors in this Issue. Unless stated otherwise, all references
to page numbers in this Prospectus are to the page numbers of this Prospectus.

All references in this Prospectus to “India” are to the Republic of India and its territories and possessions. All references
to the “Government”, “Central Government” or “State Government” are to Government of India, Central or State, as
applicable.

Presentation of Financial Information

Our Company’s financial year commences on April 1 of the immediately preceding calendar year and ends on March 31
of that particular calendar year, so all references to a particular financial year or fiscal are to the 12-month period
commencing on April 1 of the immediately preceding calendar year and ending on March 31 of that particular calendar
year. Unless the context requires otherwise, all references to a year in this Prospectus are to a calendar year and references
to a Fiscal/Fiscal Year are to the year ended on March 31 of that calendar year.

For the purposes of disclosure in this Prospectus, we have prepared and presented the Audited Financial Statements for
the financial year ended March 31, 2023, prepared in accordance with Ind AS and audited by our Statutory Auditor, S.
R. Batliboi & Associates LLP.

Further, for the purposes of disclosure in this Prospectus, we have prepared and presented our Quarterly Unaudited
Financial Results for the three months period ended June 30, 2023 prepared in accordance with the SEBI Listing
Regulations which are reviewed by our statutory auditors S. R. Batliboi & Associates LLP.

The quarterly unaudited financial results are not complete set of financial statement since it omits statement of cash flow
and balance sheet and other disclosures required under Ind AS 34. Accordingly, certain financial information derived
from balance sheet and cash flows are not derived from our Quarterly Unaudited Financial Results. The Quarterly
Standalone Unaudited Financial Results for the three months period ended June 30, 2023 is not indicative of full year
results and are not comparable with annual financial statements. For details please see “Risk Factors - 41. This Prospectus
includes certain unaudited financial information, which has been subjected to limited review, in relation to our Company.
Reliance on such information should, accordingly, be limited.”.

Our Company’s audited financial statements for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2022 (for pre-demerger KKR), prepared
in accordance with Ind AS has been audited by V.C. Shah & Co and the audited financial statements for the fiscal years
ended March 31, 2021 (for pre-demerger KKR), prepared in accordance with Ind AS were audited by M S K A &
Associates, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in India.

Pursuant to the Composite Scheme of Amalgamation and Arrangement the identified NBFC business of InCred Prime
Finance Limited (formerly, InCred Financial Services Limited) demerged with our Company w.e.f. the Appointed Date,
i.e., April 1, 2022. Although the NBFC business of InCred Prime Finance Limited (formerly, InCred Financial Services
Limited) (‘Pre-demerger InCred’) demerged with our Company, the business combination has been treated as reverse
acquisition for financial reporting purpose as per Ind AS 103 and Pre-demerger InCred has been identified as the
accounting acquirer and our Company as the accounting acquiree. For further details regarding the Scheme, see “History
and Main Objects- Composite Scheme of Amalgamation and Arrangement” on page 145.

Accordingly, for the purposes of disclosure in this Prospectus we have included audited financial statements of Pre-
demerger InCred, i.e., InCred Prime Finance Limited (formerly known as InCred Financial Services Limited) for Fiscal
2022 and 2021 for clarity on our business, results of operations and financial condition, pre and post the Scheme being
implemented. The audited financial statements of InCred Prime Finance Limited (formerly known as InCred Financial
Services Limited) for fiscal 2022 has been audited by S. R. Batliboi & Associates LLP, and for Fiscals 2021 has been
audited by B SR & Co. LLP. Please see “Financial Information” on page 186.

We have included the following Audited financials along with auditors report issued by the following auditors:
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Particulars Auditors Report issued by .

Audited Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company for Fiscal 2023 S. R. Batliboi & Associates LLP
Audited Standalone Financial Statements of the Company for Fiscal 2023 S. R. Batliboi & Associates LLP
Audited Financial Statements of Pre-demerger KKR for Fiscal 2022 V.C. Shah & Co
Audited Financial Statements of Pre-demerger KKR for Fiscal 2021 M S K A & Associates

Audited Consolidated Financial Statements of Pre-demerger InCred for Fiscal 2022 | S. R. Batliboi & Associates LLP
Audited Standalone Financial Statements of Pre-demerger InCred for Fiscal 2022 S. R. Batliboi & Associates LLP
Audited Consolidated Financial Statements of Pre-demerger InCred for Fiscal 2021 BSR&Co.LLP
Audited Standalone Financial Statements of Pre-demerger InCred for Fiscal 2021 BSR&Co.LLP

Currency and Unit of Presentation

In this Prospectus, all references to ‘Rupees’/‘¥’/‘INR’/ ‘Rs.” are to Indian Rupees, the official currency of the Republic
of India. Except where stated otherwise in this Prospectus, all figures have been expressed in ‘in lakh’. All references to
‘million/million/mn.” refer to one million, which is equivalent to ‘ten lakh’ or ‘ten lacs’, the word ‘lakh/lacs/lac’ means
‘one hundred thousand’ and ‘crore’ means ‘ten million’ and ‘billion/bn./billions’ means ‘one hundred crore’.

Certain figures contained in this Prospectus, including financial information, have been subject to rounding adjustments.
Unless set out otherwise, all figures in decimals, including percentage figures, have been rounded off to one decimal
point. In certain instances, (i) the sum or percentage change of such numbers may not conform exactly to the total figure
given; and (ii) the sum of the numbers in a column or row in certain tables may not conform exactly to the total figure
given for that column or row. Further, any figures sourced from third party industry sources may be rounded off to other
than one decimal point to conform to their respective sources.

Industry and Market Data

Any industry and market data used in this Prospectus consists of estimates based on data reports compiled by Government
bodies, professional organizations and analysts, data from other external sources including CareEdge Report, available
in the public domain and knowledge of the markets in which we compete. These publications generally state that the
information contained therein has been obtained from publicly available documents from various sources believed to be
reliable. The data used in these sources may have been reclassified by us for purposes of presentation. Data from these
sources may also not be comparable. The extent to which the industry and market data presented in this Prospectus is
meaningful depends on the reader’s familiarity with and understanding of the methodologies used in compiling such data.
There are no standard data gathering methodologies in the industry in which we conduct our business and methodologies
and assumptions may vary widely among different market and industry sources.

General Risk

Investment in NCDs is risky, and investors should not invest any funds in NCDs unless they can afford to take the risk
attached to such investments. Investors are advised to take an informed decision and to read the risk factors carefully
before investing in this offering. For taking an investment decision, investors must rely on their examination of the
issue including the risks involved in it.

Specific attention of investors is invited to statement of risk factors contained under section “Risk Factors” on page
19. These risks are not, and are not intended to be, a complete list of all risks and considerations relevant to the NCDs
or Investor’s decision to purchase such securities.

Exchange Rates

The exchange rates Rupees (%) vis-a-vis of USD, as of September 30, 2023, March 31, 2023, March 31, 2022 and March
31, 2021,are provided below:

Currency September 30, 2023 March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021
1 USD 83.06 82.22 75.81 73.50
Source: https://www.fbil.org.in/#/home and https://www.rbi.org.in/scripts/ReferenceRateArchive.aspx

The above exchange rates are for the purpose of information only and may not represent the rates used by the Company
for purpose of preparation or presentation of its financial statements. The rates presented are not a guarantee that any
person could have on the relevant date converted any amounts at such rates or at all.
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FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements contained in this Prospectus that are not statements of historical fact constitute “forward-looking
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statements”. Investors can generally identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as “aim”, “anticipate”,
“believe”, “continue”, “could”, “estimate”, “expect”, “intend”, “may”, “objective”, “plan”, “potential”, “project”,
“pursue”, “shall”, “seek”, “should”, “will”, “would”, or other words or phrases of similar import. Similarly, statements
that describe our strategies, objectives, plans or goals are also forward-looking statements. All statements regarding our
expected financial conditions, results of operations, business plans and prospects are forward-looking statements. These
forward-looking statements include statements as to our business strategy, revenue and profitability, new business and
other matters discussed in this Prospectus that are not historical facts. All forward-looking statements are subject to risks,
uncertainties and assumptions about us that could cause actual results to differ materially from those contemplated by the
relevant forward-looking statement. Important factors that could cause actual results, including our financial conditions
and results of operations to differ from our expectations include, but are not limited to, the following:

e Any increase in the levels of non-performing assets (“NPA”) on our loan portfolio, for any reason; whatsoever,
would adversely affect our business and results of operations.

e  Certain conditions and restrictions in terms of our financing arrangements, could restrict our ability to conduct our
business and operations in the manner we desire;

e Volatility in interest rates could have a material adverse effect on our net interest income, net interest margin and
our financial performance;

e Downgrade of our credit ratings may increase our borrowing costs and constrain our access to capital and debt
markets and, as a result, may adversely affect our net interest margin and our results of operations;

e Any disruption in our sources of funding;

e Weareinvolved in certain legal and other proceedings which, if determined against us, could have a material adverse
impact on our financial condition;

e Occurrence of natural calamities, pandemics, or natural disasters affecting the areas in which our Company has
operations.

For further discussion of factors that could cause our actual results to differ, see “Risk Factors” on page 19.

All forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions about our Company that could cause
actual results and valuations to differ materially from those contemplated by the relevant statement. Additional factors
that could cause actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially include, but are not limited to, those
discussed under the sections titled “Industry Overview”, “Our Business” and “Legal and Other Information” on pages
79, 109 and 328. The forward-looking statements contained in this Prospectus are based on the beliefs of management,
as well as the assumptions made by and information currently available to management. Although our Company believes
that the expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are reasonable at this time, it cannot assure investors
that such expectations will prove to be correct or will hold good at all times. Given these uncertainties, investors are
cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements. If any of these risks and uncertainties
materialise, or if any of our Company’s underlying assumptions prove to be incorrect, our Company’s actual results of
operations or financial condition could differ materially from that described herein as anticipated, believed, estimated or
expected. All subsequent forward-looking statements attributable to our Company are expressly qualified in their entirety
by reference to these cautionary statements.

Neither our Company, its Directors, its KMPs and officers, or the Lead Managers, nor any of their respective affiliates
or associates have any obligation to update or otherwise revise any statements reflecting circumstances arising after the
date hereof or to reflect the occurrence of underlying events, even if the underlying assumptions do not come to fruition.
In accordance with SEBI NCS Regulations, our Company and the Lead Managers will ensure that investors in India are
informed of material developments until the time of the grant of listing and trading permission by the Stock Exchange.
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SECTION Il - RISK FACTORS

An investment in NCDs involves a certain degree of risk. You should carefully consider all the information contained in
this Prospectus, including the risks and uncertainties described below, and the information provided in “Our Business”
on page 109 and “Financial Information” on page 186, respectively, before making an investment decision. The risk
factors set forth below do not purport to be complete or comprehensive in terms of all the risk factors that may arise in
connection with our business or any decision to purchase, own or dispose of the NCDs. The following risk factors are
determined on the basis of their materiality. In determining the materiality of risk factors, we have considered risks which
may not be material individually but may be material when considered collectively, which may have a qualitative impact
though not quantitative, which may not be material at present but may have a material impact in the future. Additional
risks, which are currently unknown or now deemed immaterial, if materialise, may have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations in the future. The market prices of the NCDs could
decline due to such risks and you may lose all or part of your investment including interest thereon.

Unless specified or quantified in the relevant risk factors below, we are not in a position to quantify the financial or other
implication of any of the risks described in this section. This Prospectus also contains forward-looking statements that
involve risks and uncertainties. Our results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking
statements as a result of certain factors, including events described below and elsewhere in this Prospectus. Certain
information in this section includes extracts from CareEdge Report. For more information, please see “Industry
Overview” on page 79.

Unless stated otherwise, or unless context requires otherwise, (a) the financial data for three months period ending June
30, 2023 has been derived from the Unaudited Standalone Financial Results for the three months period ended June 30,
2023; (b) the financial data of our Company for the Fiscal 2023 and Fiscal 2022 has been derived from Audited
Standalone Financial Statements for Fiscal 2023, (c) the financial data of our Company for the Fiscal 2021 has been
derived from Audited Standalone Financial Statements of Pre-demerger InCred for Fiscal 2021, and (c) the financial
data for Pre-demerger KIFS for Fiscal 2022 and 2021 has been derived from Audited Standalone Financial Statements
of Pre-demerger KIFS. Further, unless stated otherwise, or unless context requires otherwise all non-financial
information in this section is on standalone basis.

In this section any reference to “we” or “us” or “Our” refers to our Company and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis.
Risks relating to our Business and our Company

1. Our customers may default in their repayment obligations, and that could have an adverse impact on our
business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Our customers may default on their obligations to us due to a variety of factors, including as a result of their
bankruptcy, lack of liquidity, government or other regulatory intervention, other reasons such as their inability to
adapt to changes in the macro business environment or any other factors which impact their incomes. Additionally,
some customers may intentionally default on their repayment obligations. Historically, customers in our loans
business have been adversely affected by economic conditions in varying degrees. Such adverse impact may limit
our ability to recover the dues from such customers and the predictability of our cash flows. Increasing credit
losses due to financial difficulties of customers in our lending business in the future could adversely affect our
business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Our ability to manage the credit quality of our loans, which we measure in part through Stage 3 assets (i.e. loans
that are 90+ days past due or as regulatorily required), is a key driver to our results of operations. Further, Gross
Stage 3 assets of our Company are 2.1% of the loans as at March 31, 2023.

Our student loans and personal loans are unsecured in nature and are often considered to be higher credit risk
customers due to their limited ability to honour the repayment obligations particularly in adverse economic
conditions. As on June 30, 2023 and March 31, 2023, we had outstanding student loans AUM of X 1,17,806.1
lakhs and % 1,03,794.7 lakhs, respectively and personal loans AUM of  2,88,069.3 lakhs and % 2,55,010.4 lakhs,
respectively. Our outstanding student loans AUM and personal loans AUM, comprised of 18.2% and 44.4% of
our AUM as of June 30, 2023, respectively and 17.1% and 42.1% of our AUM as of March 31, 2023, respectively.
Our Gross Stage 3 assets of student loans are 0.2% and 0.2% of our student loans portfolio as at June 30, 2023 and
March 31, 2023, respectively and Gross Stage 3 assets of personal loans are 2.2% and 2.0% of our personal loans
portfolio as at June 30, 2023 and March 31, 2023, respectively. To the extent we are able to successfully manage
the risks associated with lending to students and personals it may become difficult for us to recover outstanding
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loan amounts from such customers. However, we cannot assure you that our risk management controls will be
sufficient to prevent future losses on account of customer defaults, which may adversely affect our business, results
of operations and financial condition. We cannot assure you that we will be able to maintain or reduce our current
levels of Stage 3 assets in the future.

Any increase in the levels of NPAs in our AUM, for any reason whatsoever, would adversely affect our business,
results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.

The RBI Master Directions, which are applicable to us, have laid down prudential norms with regard to NPAs,
including in relation to the identification of NPAs and income recognition against NPAs, though we follow Ind
AS for asset classification and income recognition. There is no assurance that our NPA level will continue to stay
at its current level. If the credit quality of our loans deteriorates or we are unable to implement effective monitoring
and collection methods, our results of operations, cash flows and financial condition may be adversely affected.
As we intend to continue our efforts to originate new loans, we cannot assure you that there will not be significant
additional NPAs in our loans in the future.

Further, the RBI directions/guidelines on NPAs may become more stringent than they currently are, which may
adversely affect our profitability and results of operations. The RBI Master Directions, as amended from time to
time, also prescribe the provisioning required in respect of our outstanding AUM. However, we follow Ind AS for
provisioning. In the event that the aggregate impairment provision under Ind AS is lower than that required under
the applicable regulatory provisioning norms, then the difference shall be appropriated from the net profit or loss
after tax to a separate “Impairment Reserve”. Should the overall credit quality of our loans deteriorate, the current
level of our provisions may not be adequate to cover further increases in the amount of our NPAs. Our gross NPAs,
as a percentage of our loans, were 2.1% and our net NPASs as a percentage of our loans were 0.9%. If we are
required to increase our provisioning in the future due to increased NPAs or the introduction of more stringent
requirements in respect of loan loss provisioning, this may reduce our profit after tax and adversely impact our
results of operations. We cannot assure you that there will not be a significant increase in the portion of our loans
that are classified as NPAs as our loan portfolio matures.

Further, there can be no assurance that we will be able to recover the outstanding amounts due under any defaulted
loans. We may also face difficulties in disposing of the underlying assets relating to such loans, as a result of which
we may be unable to realize any liquidity from such assets. Further, as our loan portfolio grows, our NPAs may
increase and the current level of our provisions may not adequately cover any such increases.

Further, the RBI has issued circular RBI/2021-2022/125 titled “Prudential norms on Income Recognition, Asset
Classification and Provisioning pertaining to Advances — Clarifications” dated November 12, 2021 (“Prudential
Norms — Clarifications 2021”), which provides for more stringent classification and recognition of NPAs. We
have aligned our account classification, in particular, the effect on our daily NPA position and upgradation of our
NPA accounts in line with Prudential Norms — Clarifications 2021. However, in event RBI directions/guidelines
on NPAs become more stringent, the Company may or may not be able to maintain historic NPA positions, and if
our NPA position significantly increase, it may in turn have a material adverse effect on our cash flows, profits,
results of operations and financial condition.

Our loan book comprises of unsecured loans. Our inability to recover the amounts due from customers in
connection with such loans in a timely manner could adversely affect our operations and profitability.

Our loan book also comprises of unsecured loans of % 3,94,027.0 lakh as on June 30, 2023, which is 68.0% of our
total loan book which primarily comprise of student loans and personal loans. Since such loans are unsecured, in
case of customer defaults in connection with such loans, our ability to realise the amounts due to us for such loans
would be restricted to initiating legal proceedings for recovery, as we will not have the benefit of enforcing any
security interest related to such loans. There can be no guarantee as to the time that would be taken for the final
disposal of such legal proceedings and/or our ability to obtain favourable decisions in connection therewith.

Because of the unsecured nature, it is essential that such loans are appropriately priced, taking into account a
possible high rate of interest and all other relevant factors. In making a decision whether to extend credit to
prospective customers, and the terms on which we are willing to provide credit, including the price, we rely heavily
on our credit scoring models, and our credit experience gained through monitoring the performance of customers
over time. Our credit scoring models are based on previous historical experience. If our credit scoring models are
not redeveloped as required or if they do not perform up to target standards we may experience increasing defaults
or higher customer acquisition costs.
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Further, some of our lending products generally do not have any definite end-use restrictions and our customers
may utilize such loans for various purposes, which are often incapable of being monitored on a regular basis or at
all.

Our inability to recover the amounts due from customers in connection with such loans in a timely manner or at
all and/or to comply with applicable statutory/regulatory requirements in connection with such loans could
adversely affect our operations and profitability.

Any downgrade in our credit ratings may increase interest rates for raising new debt, refinancing our
outstanding debt, which would increase our financing costs, and adversely affect our future issuances of debt
and our ability to borrow on a competitive basis.

Credit ratings reflect the opinions of ratings agencies on our financial strength, operating performance, strategic
position and ability to meet our obligations. The credit rating of short-term borrowings of our company viz.
commercial paper was reaffirmed ‘CRISIL A1+ on September 14, 2023 by CRISIL Ratings Limited. Furthermore,
the credit rating of long-term borrowings of the company viz. non-convertible debentures and, long term bank loan
facilities was reaffirmed to ‘CRISIL A+/Stable’ and long-term principal protected market linked debentures was
reaffirmed to ‘CRISIL A+/Stable’ on September 14, 2023 by CRISIL Ratings Limited. For details of borrowings
and present credit rating, see “Our Business” on page 109.

Further, credit rating of short-term borrowings of our company viz. commercial paper was reaffirmed ‘CARE Al+
on August 17, 2023 by CARE Ratings Limited. Furthermore, the credit rating of long-term borrowings of the
company viz. non-convertible debentures and, long term bank loan facilities was reaffirmed to ‘CARE A+/Stable’
and long-term principal protected market linked debentures was reaffirmed to ‘CARE A+/Stable’ on August 17,
2023 by CRISIL Ratings Limited.

Any downgrades in our credit ratings may increase interest rates for refinancing our outstanding debt, which would
increase our financing costs, and adversely affect our future issuances of debt and our ability to borrow on a
competitive basis, which may adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows. Further, any downgrade in our credit ratings by specified notches may also trigger an event of default or
acceleration of certain of our borrowings and also lead to lenders imposing additional terms and conditions to any
financing or refinancing arrangements we enter into in the future and adversely affect our business, results of
operations, cash flows and financial condition.

Credit ratings may not reflect all risks. Any downgrading in credit rating of our NCDs may adversely affect the
value of NCDs and thus our ability to raise further debts.

The NCDs proposed to be issued under the Issue have been rated “CRISIL A+/Stable” by CRISIL Ratings Limited
by way of its letter dated Septemebr 14, 2023. Credit rating may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related
to structure, market, additional factors discussed here, and other factors that may affect the value of the NCDs.

Rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell, or hold the rated instrument; it does not comment on the market price
or suitability for a particular investor. The rating provided by CRISIL Ratings Limited may be suspended,
withdrawn or revised at any time by the assigning rating agency and should be evaluated independently of any
other rating. The investors should take their own decisions or consult relevant expert, while investing in NCDs.
Please see Annexure A for rating letter and rationale for the above rating.

Our business requires substantial capital, and any disruption in funding sources would have a material adverse
effect on our liquidity, cash flows and financial condition.

As an NBFC, our liquidity and on-going profitability are, in large part, dependent upon our timely access to, and
the costs associated with, raising capital. Our Company’s borrowings (debt securities and borrowings other than
debt securities), as at October 6, 2023, amounted to I 4,48,098.0 lakh and as at June 30, 2023 (post IndAS
adjustment) amounted to % 3,71,730.9 lakh. We rely on long-term, medium-term borrowings and short term
borrowings from various sources. We take term loans, issue non-convertible debentures, market-linked debentures,
and commercial papers. We have a diversified lender base comprising public sector banks, private banks, and
others. Thus, our business depends and will continue to depend on our ability to access diversified funding sources.
Our ability to raise funds on acceptable terms and at competitive rates continues to depend on various factors
including our credit ratings, the regulatory environment and policy initiatives in India, investors’ and/or lenders’
perception of demand for debt and equity securities of NBFCs, and our current and future results of operations,
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cash flows and financial condition. While our borrowing costs have been competitive in the past, if we are unable
to access funds at an effective cost that is comparable to or lower than our competitors, we may not be able to offer
competitive interest rates for our loans. This may adversely impact our business, prospects, cash flow, results of
operations and financial condition.

Changes in economic and financial conditions or a continuing lack of liquidity in the market could make it difficult
for us to access funds at competitive rates. Such conditions may lead to a disruption in our primary funding sources
at competitive costs and would have a material adverse effect on our liquidity, cash flow and financial condition.

We are vulnerable to the volatility in interest rates and we may face interest rate mismatches between our assets
and liabilities in the future which may cause liquidity issues.

Our operations are vulnerable to volatility and mismatches in interest rates. Our net interest income and
profitability directly depend on the difference between the average interest rate at which we lend and the average
interest rate at which we borrow.

The cost of our funding and the pricing of our loan products are determined by a number of factors, many of which
are beyond our control, including the RBI’s monetary policies, inflationary expectations, competition, deregulation
of the financial sector in India, domestic and international economic and political conditions and other factors.
These factors could affect the interest rates charged on interest-earning assets differently than the interest rates
paid on interest bearing liabilities. While any reduction in our cost of funds may be passed on to our customers,
we may not have the same flexibility in passing on any increase in our cost of funds to our customers, thereby
affecting our net interest income. Similarly, competition pressures may require us to reduce our cost of lending to
our customers without a proportionate reduction in our cost of borrowing from our lenders. Further, if we do not
pass on the reduced interest rates to our borrowers, it may result in some of the borrowers prepaying the loan to
take advantage of the reduced interest rate environment, thereby impacting our growth and profitability.

Further, an increase in general interest rates in the economy could reduce the overall demand for new loans and
impact our growth. There can be no assurance that we will be able to adequately manage our interest rate risk in
the future, and if we are unable to do so, this could have an adverse effect on our net interest income, which could
in turn have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.

The cost of our borrowings, including issuances of debt, will also be negatively impacted by any downgrade or
potential downgrade in our credit ratings. This would increase our financing costs, and adversely affect our future
issuances of debt and our ability to raise new capital on a competitive basis.

We may face asset-liability mismatches, which could affect our liquidity and consequently affect our operations
and financial performance adversely.

We may also face potential liquidity risks due to mismatches in the maturity of our assets and liabilities. Such
mismatches, where the financial terms of an institution’s assets and liabilities do not match, are a key financial
parameter for us. As is typical for a company in the business of lending, a portion of our funding requirements is
met through short and long-term funding sources such as bank loans, non-convertible debentures, etc. We may be
unable to obtain additional credit facilities or renew our existing credit facilities for matching the tenure of our
liabilities in a timely and cost-effective manner or at all, may lead to mismatches between our assets and liabilities
leading to an increase in liquidity risk, which in turn may adversely affect our operations and financial
performance.

The following table describes the standalone ALM of our Company as on August 31, 2023:

(< in lakh, except percentages)

Particulars upto7 | 8days | 15 days Over Over Over 3 Over6 | Overl Over 3 Over 5 Total

days to14 | to 30/31 one two months | months year years years
days days month | months | and up and up and and
(One andup | and up to 6 tol upto 3 upto 5
month) to2 to3 months year years years
months | months

A. OUTFLOWS
Capital - - - - -| 46,022.7| 46,022.7
Reserves & - - - - -12,11,990.5 |2,11,990.5
Surplus
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Particulars

upto 7
days

8 days
to 14
days

15 days
to 30/31
days
(One
month)

Over
one
month
and up
to 2
months

Over
two
months
and up
to3
months

Over 3
months
and up
to 6
months

Over 6

months

and up
tol
year

Over 1
year
and

upto 3
years

Over 3
years
and
upto 5
years

Over 5
years

Total

Bonds & Notes

Deposits

Borrowings

1,344.8

5,976.2

36,515.1

10,987.3

11,096.9

35,908.8

1,34,330.7

1,72,254.6

30,502.6

4,38,916.9

Current
Liabilities &
Provisions

4,217.2

2,674.0

3,028.6

1,232.2

973.7

993.0

5,081.6

3,923.4

805.2

18,322.4

41,251.3

Statutory Dues

3,020.2

3,020.2

Unclaimed
Deposits

Other Outflows

18.6

12.9

17.0

424

39.7

71.2

99.0

221.2

74.7

2,589.2

3,185.9

Outflows  On
Account of Off
Balance Sheet
(OBS)
Exposure

28,261.0

13,964.4

42,225.5

TOTAL
OUTFLOWS

5,580.6

8,663.1

42,580.9

12,261.9

12,110.3

36,973.0

1,39,511.3

2,04,660.2

45,346.9

2,78,924.8

7,86,612.8

Cumulative
Outflows

5,580.6

14,243.7

56,824.6

69,086.5

81,196.7

1,18,169.7

2,57,681.0

4,62,341.2

5,07,688.1

7,86,612.8

7,86,612.8

B.INFLOWS

Cash (In 1 to
30/31 day time-
bucket)

Remittance in
Transit

Balances With
Banks

19,190.5

205.2

157.7

87.3

627.2

5,073.1

25,341.1

Investments

257.2

617.2

874.4

Advances
(Performing)

12,296.0

8,127.3

10,501.6

41,099.9

33,079.6

61,915.0

74,572.2

1,63,662.6

63,038.0

1,66,821.2

6,35,113.3

Gross Non-
Performing
Loans (GNPA)

15,1185

15,1185

Inflows  From
Assets On Lease

Fixed  Assets
(Excluding
Assets On
Lease)

4,929.0

4,929.0

Other Assets :

2,440.5

56.0

274.1

384.5

372.7

909.8

4,939.8

2,482.1

324.8

50,826.8

63,011.1

Security Finance
Transactions

Inflows on
Account of Off
Balance Sheet
(OBS)
Exposure

18,223.0

18,223.0

TOTAL
INFLOWS

52,150.0

8,183.2

10,980.9

41,642.2

33,539.6

63,452.0

84,585.1

1,66,401.9

63,362.8

2,38,312.7

7,62,610.3

C. Mismatch
(B-A)

46,569.4

(479.9)

(31,600.0)

29,380.3

21,429.3

26,479.0

(54,926.3)

(38,258.2)

18,015.9

(40,612.1)

(24,002.5)

D.Cumulative
Mismatch

46,569.4

46,089.6

14,489.6

43,869.8

65,299.2

91,778.2

36,851.9

(1,406.3)

16,609.6

(24,002.5)

(24,002.5)

E.Mismatch as
% of Total
Outflows

834.5%

-5.5%

-14.2%

239.6%

177.0%

71.6%

-39.4%

-18.7%

39.7%

-14.6%

-3.1%

F.Cumulative
Mismatch as
% of
Cumulative

834.5%

323.6%

25.5%

63.5%

80.4%

77.7%

14.3%

-0.3%

3.3%

-3.1%

-3.1%
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Particulars upto7 | 8days | 15 days Over Over Over 3 Over6 | Overl Over 3 Over 5 Total

days to14 | to 30/31 one two months | months year years years
days days month | months | and up and up and and
(One andup | and up to 6 tol upto 3 upto 5
month) to2 to3 months year years years

months | months

Total
Outflows

10.

*Total borrowings (excluding foreign currency liabilities)
**includes foreign currency denominated external commercial borrowing

Our Company is subject to certain restrictive covenants in our loan documents, which may restrict our
operations and ability to grow and may adversely affect our business.

As of October 6, 2023, our total borrowings (principal amount outstanding) were % 4,48,098.0 lakh and as at June
30, 2023 (post IndAS adjustment) amounted to X 3,71,730.9 lakh, on a standalone basis. Our ability to meet our
debt service obligations and repay our outstanding borrowings will depend primarily on the cash generated by our
business, which depends on the timely repayment by our customers. There are restrictive covenants in the
agreements we have entered into with our lenders/creditors that limit our ability to undertake certain types of
transactions, any of which could adversely affect our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial
condition. These restrictive covenants require us to maintain certain financial ratios and seek the prior permission
of these banks/financial institutions/creditors for various activities, including, amongst others, selling, leasing,
transferring or otherwise disposing of any part of our business or revenues, effecting any scheme of amalgamation
or reconstitution, implementing a new scheme of expansion, taking up an allied line of business or making any
amendments to Memorandum and Articles of Association etc. Such restrictive covenants in our loan/debt
documents may restrict our operations or ability to expand and may adversely affect our business.

A failure to observe the covenants under our financing arrangements or to obtain necessary consents required
thereunder may lead to the termination of our credit facilities, acceleration of all amounts due under such
facilities/early redemption of any non-convertible debt instruments, and the enforcement of any security provided.
Any acceleration of amounts due under such facilities/early redemption of any non-convertible debt instruments
may also trigger cross default provisions under our other financing agreements. If the obligations under any of our
financing documents are accelerated, we may have to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from
operations to make payments under such financing documents, thereby reducing the availability of cash for our
working capital requirements and other general corporate purposes. Further, during any period in which we are in
default, we may be unable to raise, or face difficulties raising, further financing. Any of these circumstances could
adversely affect our business, credit rating and financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.

If we fail to meet our debt service obligations or covenants provided under the financing agreements, the relevant
lenders/creditors could declare us to be in default under the terms of our agreements or accelerate the maturity of
our obligations. We cannot assure you that, in the event of any such acceleration, we will have sufficient resources
to repay the borrowings. For more details on our borrowings and certain restrictive covenants in our loan
documents, please see “Financial Indebtedness” on page 188.

We may not be able to recover, on a timely basis or at all, the full value of collateral or amounts which are
sufficient to cover the outstanding amounts due under defaulted loans.

Out of our Company’s loan book of % 5,79,885.2 lakh as at June 30, 2023 on standalone basis, 32.1% of the
aggregate loan book i.e. X 1,85,858.2 lakh are secured loans and  3,94,027.0 lakh representing 68.0% of the loan
book are unsecured loans. The value of securities is dependent on various factors inter-alia including (i) prevailing
market conditions, (ii) the general economic and political conditions in India, (iii) the markets in the areas in which
we operate.

The value of the security provided to us, may be subject to reduction in value on account of other extraneous
reasons. Consequently, the realizable value of the security for the loans provided by us, when liquidated, may be
lower than principal amount outstanding along with interest and other costs recoverable from such customers. If
we have to enforce such security and if at the time of such enforcement, due to adverse market conditions, the
market value of the security have fallen to a level where we are unable to recover the monies lent by us, along with
interest accrued thereon and associated costs, the results of our operations would be adversely affected.
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Furthermore, enforcing our legal rights by litigating against defaulting customers is generally a slow and
potentially expensive process in India. Accordingly, it may be difficult for us to recover amounts owed by
defaulting customers in a timely manner or at all. For details relating to litigations against defaulting customers,
please see “Outstanding Litigations and other Confirmations” on page 328.

11.

Our Statutory Auditors and previous statutory auditors of our Company and Pre-demerger InCred have

highlighted certain emphasis of matters to their audit reports relating to our audited financial statements, which
may affect our future financial results.

The auditor’s report on the audited standalone and/or consolidated financial statements issued by respective
statutory auditors for Fiscal 2023, Fiscal 2022 and Fiscal 2021, as the case may be, of our Company (including
Pre-demerger KKR) and of pre-demerger InCred for Fiscal 2021 included the following Emphasis of Matter:

i. InCred Financial Services Limited (formerly known as KKR India Financial Services Limited)

Financial Emphasis Of Matter Impact on the | Corrective
year ended financial steps taken
March 31, statements and | and proposed
2023 financial to be taken by
position of the | the company
company
Standalone The auditors have drawn attention to note of the standalone NA NA
financial statements describing the demerger during the year
ended March 31, 2023. The Scheme of Arrangement (“the
Scheme”), has been given effect to in the books of account from
the appointed date in accordance with the Scheme instead of the
acquisition date as per Ind AS 103 - Business Combinations
(i.e. the date when actual control is obtained.) The accounting
treatment for demerger is as per Ind AS 103.
Consolidated | The auditors have drawn attention to note of the consolidated NA NA
financial statements describing the demerger during the year
ended March 31, 2023. The Scheme of Arrangement (“the
Scheme”), has been given effect to in the books of account from
the appointed date in accordance with the Scheme instead of the
acquisition date as per Ind AS 103 - Business Combinations
(i.e. the date when actual control is obtained.) The accounting
treatment for demerger is as per Ind AS 103.
ii. Pre-demerger KKR
Financial Emphasis Of Matter Impact on the | Corrective
Year ended financial steps taken
statements and | and proposed
financial to be taken
position of the by the
company company
March 31, The auditors have drawn attention to note in the financial NA NA
2022 statement, regarding the proposed demerger of InCred
Financial Services Limited (demerged undertaking) into the
company by way of composite scheme of amalgamation and
arrangement.
March 31, The auditors have drawn attention to note in the financial NA NA
2021 statements, which describes that the extent to which the
COVID-19 pandemic will impact the financial statements of
Pre-KKR will depend on future developments, which are
highly uncertain.
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12.

Pre-demerger InCred

Financial
Year
ended

Emphasis Of Matter

Impact on the
financial
statements and
financial
position of the
company

Corrective
steps taken
and proposed
to be taken by
the company

March

Standalone

The auditors have drawn attention to note in the

NA

NA

31, 2021 Audited Standalone Financial Statements of Pre-
demerger InCred for Fiscal 2021 which describes the
accounting for the Scheme of Amalgamation between
the Pre-demerger InCred and InCred Housing
Finance Limited, (wholly owned subsidiary). The
Scheme has been approved by the National Company
Law Tribunal (‘NCLT’) vide its order dated 11 March
2021, however due to the ongoing pandemic
situation, Pre-demerger InCred has not received the
certified true copy of the Order from the NCLT and
hence the same has not been filed by Pre-demerger
InCred with the Registrar of Companies, Mumbai.
Pending the certified copy of the order being filed
with Registrar of Companies, Pre-demerger InCred
has given effect of the merger in its standalone
financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2021. Though the appointed date as per the NCLT
approved Scheme is 1 April 2020, as per the
requirements of Appendix C to Ind AS 103 “Business
Combination”, the merger has been accounted for as
if it had occurred from the beginning of the preceding
period in the standalone financial statements.
Accordingly, the amounts relating to the year 2020
include the impact of the business combination and
the corresponding amounts for the previous year
ended 31 March 2020, have been restated by the
Company after recognising the effect of the
amalgamation as above. The aforesaid note also
describes the impact of the business combination on
the standalone financial statements

The auditors have drawn attention to note in the NA NA
Audited Consolidated Financial Statements of Pre-
demerger InCred for Fiscal 2021, the extent to which
the COVID-19 pandemic will have impact on the
Group’s financial performance is dependent on future

development, which are highly uncertain

Consolidated

Our company has goodwill in the Audited Standalone Financial Statements for Fiscal 2023 and Audited
Consolidated Financial Statements for Fiscal 2023 which is subject to impairment testing.

The business combination pursuant to Composite Scheme of Amalgamation and Arrangement has been treated as
reverse acquisition for financial reporting purpose as per Ind AS 103 and Pre-Demerger InCred has been identified
as the accounting acquirer and our Company being the accounting acquiree. The goodwill appearing in Audited
Standalone Financial Statements for Fiscal 2023 and Audited Consolidated Financial Statements for Fiscal 2023
pertains to goodwill acquired in business combinations on reverse acquisition by Pre-Demerger InCred as the
accounting acquirer. The difference between the ‘Purchase Consideration’ paid and the ‘Fair Value of Assets’
taken over is recorded as ‘Goodwill” in accordance with IND AS 103.

Goodwill is not amortised, instead it is tested for impairment annually or more frequently, if indicators of
impairment exist. Potential impairment is identified by comparing the recoverable value of a cash generating assets
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13.

14.

15.

16.

to its carrying value. The Company estimates the recoverable value based on fair value less cost to sell approach
following income approach and market approach. The determination of recoverable value using the income and
market approaches requires the use of estimates and assumptions related to selection of multiples and control
premium for the market approach and sales volumes and prices, costs to produce, capital spending and discount
rate for the income approach.

Our Company and Pre-demerger InCred have in the past entered into related party transactions and may
continue to do so in the future, which may potentially involve conflicts of interest with the equity shareholders.

Our Company and Pre-demerger InCred have entered into certain transactions with related parties, while we
believe that all such transactions have been conducted on an arm’s length basis and contain commercially
reasonable terms, we cannot assure you that we could not have achieved more favourable terms had such
transactions been entered into with unrelated parties. It is likely that we may enter into related party transactions
in the future. Although all related party transactions that we may enter into will be subject to board or shareholder
approval, as necessary under the Companies Act, 2013, as amended, we cannot assure you that such future
transactions, individually or in the aggregate, will not have an adverse effect on our financial condition, cash flows
and results of operations or that we could not have achieved more favourable terms if such transactions had not
been entered into with related parties. For details, please see “Related Party Transactions” on page 174.

We depend on the accuracy and completeness of information about customers and counterparties for certain
key elements of our credit assessment and risk management process. Any misrepresentation, errors in or
incompleteness of such information could adversely affect our business and financial performance.

In deciding whether to extend credit or enter into other transactions with customers, for certain key elements of
the credit assessment process, we rely on information furnished to us by or on behalf of customers (including in
relation to their financial transactions and past credit history). We may also rely on certain representations from
our customers as to the accuracy and completeness of that information. For ascertaining the creditworthiness and
encumbrances on collateral we may depend on the respective registrars and sub-registrars of assurances, credit
information companies or credit bureaus, and on independent valuers in relation to the value of the collateral, and
our reliance on any misleading information given, may affect our judgement of credit worthiness of potential
borrowers, and the value of and title to the collateral, which may affect our business, prospects, results of
operations, cash flows and financial condition. We may receive inaccurate or incomplete information as a result
of negligence or fraudulent misrepresentation. Our risk management measures may not be adequate to prevent or
deter such activities in all cases, which may adversely affect our business prospects, financial condition, cash flows
and results of operations.

The financing industry is becoming increasingly competitive, and is continuing stress on borrowers and loans
under restructuring.

Our business operates in a highly competitive market and we face significant competition from other players in
the financing industry. Several macro-economic factors that are outside of our control, including GDP growth,
inflation, fiscal deficits, pandemics such as the COVID-19 pandemic, international and domestic, political and
economic conditions, fiscal and monetary policies of governments and central banks, and changes in interest rates,
may adversely impact our business and financials from time to time. As a result of the volatility of these macro-
economic factors, including interest rates; and provisions we make from period to period for NPAs/ Stage-3 Loans
and other assets, commitments and contingencies, our results of operations have varied from period to period in
the past and may fluctuate or decline in the future due to these and other factors. Such fluctuations may also
adversely affect our liquidity. These factors may also make period-to-period comparisons of our operating results
less meaningful than they would be for a business that is not as significantly affected by such factors. Any adverse
development in India or global macroeconomic conditions, on account of COVID-19 or otherwise, could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects.

We are subject to supervision and regulation by the RBI as a systemically important non — deposit accepting
NBFC (“NBFC-ND-SIs”), and changes in RBI’s regulations governing us could adversely affect our business.

We are classified as a systemically important non — deposit accepting NBFC (NBFC-ML) with asset size of more
than ¥ 1,00,000 lakhs and therefore we are subject to the RBI’s guidelines on financial regulation of NBFCs,
including capital adequacy, exposure and other prudential norms. The RBI also regulates the credit flow by banks
to NBFC-ND-SIs and provides guidelines to commercial banks with respect to their investment and credit
exposure norms for lending to the NBFC-ND-SIs. The RBI’s regulation of NBFC-ND-SIs (NBFC-MLs) may

27



17.

18.

change or become more rigorous in the future which may require our Company to restructure its activities, incur
additional costs or could otherwise adversely affect its business, financial performance and cash flows. In order to
provide enhanced control, existing rules and regulations have been modified, new rules and regulations have been
enacted and reforms have been implemented. There can be no assurance that the RBI and/or the Government will
not implement further regulations or policies, including legal interpretations of existing regulations, relating to or
affecting interest rates, taxation, inflation or exchange controls, or otherwise take action, that may have an adverse
impact on NBFC-ND-SIs-(NBFC-MLs). For instance, recently, the RBI vide its notification dated August 18, 2023
issued guidelines to ensure fair lending practices. Through this notification, the regulated entities including NBFCs
can now in cases of non-compliance of material terms and conditions of loan, can only apply ‘penal charges’ as
opposed to ‘penal interest’ earlier, which would result in no further interest being computed on such charges. Such
changes may result in borrowers not maintaining discipline resulting in adverse effect on our cash flows and future
financial performance.

Compliance with many of the regulations applicable to our operations in India, including any restrictions on
investments and other activities currently being carried out by us, involves a number of risks, particularly in
markets where applicable regulations may be subject to varying interpretations. If the interpretation of the
regulators and authorities varies from our interpretation, we may be subject to penalties and our business could be
adversely affected. We are also subject to changes in laws, regulations and accounting principles and practices.
There can be no assurance that the laws governing the financial services sector will not change in the future or that
such changes or the interpretation or enforcement of existing and future laws and rules by governmental and
regulatory authorities will not adversely affect our business and future financial performance.

We have limited operating history and evolving business make it difficult to evaluate our business and future
operating results on the basis of our past performance, and our future results may not meet or exceed our past
performance.

Pursuant to the Scheme, the InCred Demerged Undertaking which was part of Pre-demerger InCred was merged
with our Company w.e.f. April 1, 2022. Pre-demerger InCred started meaningful business operations from
Financial Year 2017 and our Company, prior to the de-merger had started its operations in October 2009. Due to
the de-merger, there is limited historical operating information available to help prospective investors to evaluate
our past performance as an entity. While we have included financials of Pre-demerger InCred in this Prospectus,
we cannot assure you that the financial and operational numbers included in this Prospectus provide a complete
picture regarding our growth as an NBFC. Our growth plans will place significant demands on our operational,
credit, financial and other internal risk controls, making our management of asset quality increasingly important.

Our business is growing and the results and amounts set forth in our Audited Financial Statements as at and for
the year ended March 31. 2023 may not provide a reliable indication of our future performance. Accordingly, you
should evaluate our business and prospects in light of the risks, uncertainties and difficulties frequently
encountered by both high growth companies and financial institutions that are in the early stages of development.
Our failure to mitigate these risks and uncertainties successfully could materially adversely affect our business and
operating results.

We may not be able to generate enough taxable profit to offset the outstanding Deferred Tax Asset (DTA) in
our accounts. The accumulated deferred tax acquired vide demerger may be subject to litigation by tax
authorities.

Pursuant to the Composite Scheme of Amalgamation and Arrangement, our Company has acquired a deferred tax
asset of X 53,648.1 lakh. The accumulated deferred tax shall be available for set off against the future profits of
our Company. For the three-month ended June 30, 2023, Fiscal 2023 and Fiscal 2022 our Company reported
taxable profits of X 8,299.7 lakh, X 20,701.6 lakh and X 4,817.2 lakh, respectively.

Our business has grown steadily over the last few years and our future projected income is sufficient to absorb the
deferred tax asset. However, the future uncertainty may impact the profit and consequently we may not be able to
absorb the Deferred Tax Assets in entirety and the same will impact the financial statements of the Company.

In the event, we are not able to utilize the deferred tax due to insufficient profits, the value of the deferred tax asset
will be impaired. We cannot assure you that the tax authorities may challenge the demerger and disallow the
availment of accumulated deferred tax asset. Any such disallowance could adversely affect our Company’s
financial condition and results of operations.
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We are subject to supervision by regulatory authorities and non-compliance with observations made by
regulatory authorities during their periodic inspections could expose us to penalties and restrictions.

As a NBFC-ND-SI (NBFC-ML), we are subject to periodic inspection by the RBI under Section 45N of the
Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 (the “RBI Act”), pursuant to which the RBI may inspect our books of accounts
and other records for the purpose of verifying the correctness or completeness of any statement, information or
particulars furnished to the RBI. Any irregularities found during such investigations by RBI could expose us to
warnings, penalties and restrictions.

During the course of finalization of inspection, regulatory authorities may share their findings and
recommendations with us and give us an opportunity to provide justification and clarifications. Further, such
regulatory authorities may also seek certain clarifications and share their findings in the ordinary course of
business. For instance, certain non-compliances with regulatory guidelines/directives were brought out in
supervisory letter by RBI with respect to risk assessment report (RAR) to financial year ended March 31, 2022
and inspection report (IR) of the book of accounts for Fiscal 2022. Our Company (as applicable) has taken all
necessary measures to address, resolve and comply with the observations/findings highlighted in the supervisory
letter issued by the RBI as part of its inspections, and has responded to and will respond to each such
observation/finding indicated and further information sought therein, if any. However, we cannot assure you that
these authorities will not find any deficiencies in future inspections or otherwise / the authorities will not make
similar or other observations in the future.

In the event we are unable to resolve such deficiencies to the satisfaction of the relevant authority, we may be
restricted in our ability to conduct our business as we currently do. While we seek to comply with all regulatory
provisions applicable to us, in the event we are unable to comply with the observations made by the regulatory
authorities, we could be subject to penalties and restrictions which may have an adverse effect on our business,
results of operations, financial condition, cash flows and reputation.

Our Company, its Subsidiaries, Directors, Promoter and our Group Companies is subject to certain legal
proceedings and any adverse decision in such proceedings may have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.

Our Company, its Subsidiaries, Directors, Promoter and our Group Companies are subject to certain legal
proceedings including civil suits, consumer litigations, tax litigations etc. We incur substantial cost in defending
these proceedings before a court of law. Moreover, we are unable to assure you that we shall be successful in any
or all of these actions. In the event, we suffer any adverse order, our reputation may suffer and may have an adverse
impact on our business and results of operations. We cannot assure you that an adverse order by any statutory or
governmental authority would not have a negative impact on our profit, financial condition and cash flows.

A summary of the outstanding proceedings involving our Company, Subsidiaries, Directors, Promoter and Group
Companies in accordance with requirements under the SEBI NCS Regulations, as disclosed in this Prospectus, to
the extent quantifiable, have been set out below:

Name

Material
Civil
Litigations

Tax
Proceedings

Criminal
Proceedings

Statutory or
Regulatory
Proceedings

Disciplinary
actions by the
SEBI or Stock

Exchanges

Aggregate
amount
involved

(R in lakh)

Company

By the Company

2,107

Nil

Nil

Nil

19

51,741.6

Against the Company

Nil

1

Nil

14

1,890.6

Directors

By the Directors

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Against the Directors

Nil

Nil

Nil

2

902.7

Promoters

By the Promoters

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Against the Promoters

Nil

11

Nil

Nil

2

3,201.1

Subsidiaries

By the Subsidiaries

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Against the
Subsidiaries

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

114
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For further details of the legal proceedings that we are subject to, please see “Outstanding Litigations and other
Confirmations” on page 328.

Our Company’s logo and some other trademarks are not registered as on date of this Prospectus. However,
applications for registration of our trademarks have been filed with the trademarks authority. We may be unable
to adequately protect our intellectual property and/ or be subject to claims alleging breach of third-party
intellectual property rights.

As on date of this Prospectus, we have applied for registration of our logo « ” finance ynder the
Trademarks Act, 1999 and hence, we do not enjoy the statutory protections accorded to registered logo and brands.
We have received a no-objection certificate dated July 11, 2022 from InCred Management and Technology
Services Private Limited, our Subsidiary, for usage of the term “InCred” in the name of our Company with the
trademark authority. We cannot assure you that our applications for registration of our logo and brands will be
granted by the relevant authorities in a timely manner or at all. Our logo and other brands are significant to our
business and operations.

The use of our logo or other brands by third parties could adversely affect our reputation which could, in turn,
adversely affect our business and results of operations. In the event our application is rejected by trademarks
registry, our business, financial condition results of operation and cash flows would be adversely affected.

Obtaining, protecting and defending intellectual property rights can be time consuming and expensive and may
require us to incur substantial costs, including the diversion of the time and resources of management and technical
personnel. Any claims of infringement, regardless of merit or resolution of such claims, could force us to incur
significant costs in responding to, defending and resolving such claims and may divert the efforts and attention of
our management and personnel away from our business. We could be required to pay third party infringement
claims. In such cases, our financial conditions and business operations may be adversely impacted.

Our Company’s inability to obtain, renew or maintain the statutory and regulatory permits and approvals which
are required to operate its existing or future businesses may have a material adverse effect on its business,
financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.

NBFCs in India are subject to regulations and supervision by the RBI. In addition to the numerous conditions
required for the registration as an NBFC with the RBI, we are also required to comply with certain other regulatory
requirements imposed by the RBI from time to time. In future, there could be circumstances where our Company
may be required to renew applicable permits and approvals, including its registration as a systemically important
non-deposit taking NBFC and obtain new permits and approvals for its current and any proposed operations or in
the event of a change in applicable law and regulations. There can be no assurance that RBI or other relevant
authorities will issue any such permits or approvals in the time-frame anticipated by our Company, or at all. In
addition, we require several registrations to operate our branches in the ordinary course of business. These
registrations include those required to be obtained or maintained under applicable legislations governing shops
and establishments, professional tax, labour-related registrations, GST registrations and trade licenses of the
particular state in which we operate. Some of these approvals may have expired in the ordinary course, and our
Company has either applied, or is in the process of applying for renewals of them. Failure by our Company to
renew, maintain or obtain the required permits or approvals may result in an interruption of its operations and may
have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, cash flows and results of operation.

In addition, if we establish additional branches, such branches need to be registered under the relevant shops and
establishments laws of the states in which they are located. The shops and establishment laws regulate various
employment conditions, including working hours, holidays and leave and overtime compensation. If we fail to
obtain or retain any of these approvals or licenses, or renewals thereof, in a timely manner, or at all, our business
may be adversely affected. If we fail to comply, or a regulator claims we have not complied with any of these
conditions, our certificate of registration may be suspended or cancelled and we shall not be able to carry on such
activities.
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Our measures to prevent money laundering may not be completely effective and we may be subject to scrutiny
and penalties by the RBI for failure to implement effective measures. Moreover, various state government laws
regulating money lending transactions could adversely affect our business, prospects, results of operations,
cash flows and financial condition.

Our Company is required to comply with applicable anti-money-laundering and anti-terrorism laws and other
regulations in India. Our measures to prevent money laundering as required by the RBI and other K'Y C compliance
applicable in India, including the Reserve Bank of India (Know Your Customer) Master Directions, 2016 dated
February 25, 2016, as amended (“KYC Directions”) and the adoption of anti-money laundering policies and
compliance procedures in all our branches may not be completely effective. As our Company has been classified
as the NBFC-ND-SIs (NBFC-ML) from the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2020, we are subject to the RBI’s guidelines
on financial regulation of NBFCs, including, KYC procedure and policies, all our branches may not be completely
effective with adequate internal policies, processes and controls in place with the KYC Directions and other
prescribed KYC procedures. There can be no assurance that attempts to launder money using us as a vehicle will
not be made. Additionally, certain states in India have enacted laws to regulate money lending transactions, which
may for instance establish a maximum rate of interest that can be charged. In the event, we are required to comply
with the provisions of these state money lending laws and KYC Compliances, there may be severe civil and
criminal penalties for non-compliance with the relevant money lending statutes. In the event that the government
of any state in India requires us to comply with the provisions of their respective state money lending laws, KYC
Compliances, or imposes any penalty against us for prior non-compliance, our business and results of operations
could be adversely affected.

We may experience difficulties in expanding our business into new regions and markets in India and
introducing our complete range of products in each of our branches.

As part of our growth strategy, we continue to evaluate attractive growth opportunities to expand our business into
new regions and markets in India. Factors such as competition, culture, regulatory regimes, business practices &
customs and customer requirements in these new markets may differ from those in our current markets and our
experience in our current markets may not be applicable to these new markets. In addition, as we enter new markets
and geographical regions, we are likely to compete with other banks and financial institutions that already have a
presence in those geographies and markets and are therefore more familiar with local regulations, business
practices and customs and have stronger relationships with customers. Our business may be exposed to various
additional challenges including obtaining necessary governmental approvals, identifying and collaborating with
local business and partners with whom we may have no previous working relationship; successfully gauging
market conditions in local markets with which we have no previous familiarity; attracting potential customers in
a market in which we do not have significant experience or visibility; being susceptible to local taxation in
additional geographical areas of India and adapting our marketing strategy and operations to different regions of
India in which different languages are spoken. Our inability to expand our current operations may adversely affect
our business prospects, financial conditions, cash flows and results of operations.

We face increasing competition in our business which may result in declining margins if we are unable to
compete effectively.

We face competition in all our lines of business. Our primary competitors are other NBFCs, public sector banks,
private sector banks, co-operative banks and foreign banks and the unorganized financiers who principally operate
in the markets where we operate. Banks have access to low cost funds which enables them to enjoy higher margins
and / or offer finance at lower rates. Non- Deposit accepting NBFCs do not have access to large quantities of low
cost deposits, a factor which can render them less competitive. In addition, interest rate deregulation and other
liberalization measures affecting the retail and small and medium enterprises finance sector, together with
increased demand for capital by individuals as well as small and medium enterprises, have resulted in an increase
in competition.

In addition, our target customers also borrow from money lenders and non-institutional lenders which may lend at
higher rates of interest.

All of these factors have resulted in us facing increased competition from other lenders in each of our lines of
businesses, including commercial banks and other NBFCs. Our ability to compete effectively will depend, to some
extent, on our ability to raise low-cost funding in the future. Furthermore, as a result of increased competition in
the finance sector, finance products are becoming increasingly standardized and variable interest rate and payment
terms and lower processing fees are becoming increasingly common in the finance sector in India. There can be
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no assurance that we will be able to react effectively to these or other market developments or compete effectively
with new and existing players in the increasingly competitive finance industry. Increasing competition may have
an adverse effect on our net interest margin, and, if we are unable to compete successfully, our market share may
decline. If we are unable to compete effectively with other participants in the finance sector, our business, future
financial performance and the trading price of the NCDs may be adversely affected.

If we fail to identify, monitor and manage risks and effectively implement our risk management policies, it
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

The comprehensive understanding of risk management throughout the various levels of an organization aids in
driving key decisions related to risk-return balance, capital allocation and product pricing. The Company operates
under the guidance of the Board approved risk appetite statement that covers business composition, guidance
around gross non-performing assets and net non-performing assets, leverage, funding and liquidity, etc.
Additionally, it is also ensured that appropriate focus is on managing risk proactively by ensuring business
operations are in accordance with laid-down risk.

The effectiveness of our risk management is affected by the quality and timeliness of available data. We have
devoted resources to develop our risk management policies and procedures and aim to continue to do so in the
future. For details, please see “Our Business” on page 109. Despite this, our policies and procedures to identify,
monitor and manage risks of fraud, money laundering, any other credit, operational or other risks may not be fully
effective. Our Board of Directors and the Risk Management Committee review our risk management policies from
time to time. We also depend on our information technology systems to assist us with our risk management
functions. Further, some of our methods of managing risks are based upon the use of observed historical market
behaviour. As a result, these methods may not accurately predict future risk exposures, which could be
significantly greater than those indicated by the historical measures. To the extent that any of the instruments and
strategies we use to hedge or otherwise manage our exposure to market or credit risks are not effective, we may
face risk exposure in certain market environments or particular types of risk as a result of not being able to
effectively mitigate those market or credit risks. In addition, as we seek to expand the scope of our operations, we
also face the risk of being unable to develop commensurate risk management policies and procedures.

Our investment and interest rate risk are dependent upon our ability to properly identify, and mark-to-market
changes in the value of financial instruments caused by changes in market prices or rates. Our earnings are
dependent upon the effectiveness of our management of changes in credit quality and risk concentrations, the
accuracy of our valuation models and our critical accounting estimates and the adequacy of our allowances for
loan losses. To the extent our assessments, assumptions or estimates prove inaccurate or not predictive of actual
results, we could suffer higher than anticipated losses.

If we fail to effectively implement our risk management policies, we could materially and adversely affect our
business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

System failures or inadequacy and security breaches in computer systems may adversely affect our business.

Our business is increasingly dependent on our ability to process, on a daily basis, a large number of transactions.
Our financial, accounting or other data processing systems may fail to operate adequately or become disabled as
a result of events that are wholly or partially beyond our control including a disruption of electrical or
communications services. Our ability to operate and remain competitive will depend in part on our ability to
maintain and upgrade our information technology systems on a timely and cost-effective basis. The information
available to and received by our management through our existing MIS systems may not be timely and sufficient
to manage risks or to plan for and respond to changes in market conditions and other developments in our
operations. We may experience difficulties in upgrading, developing and expanding our systems quickly enough
to accommodate our growing customer base and range of products. Our operations also rely on the secure
processing, storage and transmission of confidential and other information in our computer systems and networks.
All our systems are cloud based which ensures the scalability but at the same time our computer systems, software
and networks may be vulnerable to unauthorized access, computer viruses or other malicious code and other events
that could compromise data integrity and security. Any failure to effectively maintain or improve or upgrade our
management information systems in a timely manner could materially and adversely affect our competitiveness,
financial position and results of operations. Moreover, if any of these systems do not operate properly or are
disabled or if there are other shortcomings or failures in our internal processes or systems, it could affect our
operations or result in financial loss, disruption of our businesses, regulatory intervention or damage to our
reputation. In addition, our ability to conduct business may be adversely impacted by a disruption in the
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infrastructure that supports our businesses and the localities in which we are located.

We face the threat of fraud and cyber-attacks, such as hacking, phishing, trojans and other threats, attempting
to exploit our network to disrupt services to customers and/or theft of sensitive internal company data or
customer information. This may cause damage to our reputation and adversely impact our business and
financial results.

Our systemic and operational controls may not be adequate to prevent adverse impact from cyber fraud, errors,
hacking and system failures in future. Further, our mobile and internet-based customer applications and interfaces
may be open to being hacked or compromised by third parties, resulting in thefts and losses to our customers and
us. Some of these cyber threats from third parties include: (a) phishing and trojans — targeting our customers,
wherein fraudsters send unsolicited mails to our customers seeking account sensitive information or to infect
customer machines to search and attempt ex-filtration of account sensitive information; (b) hacking — where
attackers seek to hack into our website with the primary intention of causing reputational damage to us by
disrupting services; (c) data theft — where cyber criminals may attempt to intrude into our network with the
intention of stealing our data or information; and (d) advanced persistency threat — network attack in which an
unauthorised person gains access to our network and remains undetected for a long period of time. The intention
of this attack is to steal our data or information rather than to cause damage to our network or organisation.
Attempted cyber threats fluctuate in frequency and are generally increasing in frequency. If we suffer from any of
such cyber threats, it could materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations, cash flows and
financial condition.

A significant system breakdown or system failure caused due to intentional or unintentional acts would have an
adverse impact on our revenue-generating activities and lead to financial loss. It may also impact our customers’
loyalty and satisfaction.

There is also the risk of our customers blaming us and terminating their accounts with us for a cyber-incident that
might have occurred on their own system or with that of an unrelated third party. Any cyber-security breach could
also subject us to additional regulatory scrutiny and expose us to civil litigation and related financial liability.

Some of our businesses use cloud environments for various applications, we store and transmit large amounts of
sensitive, confidential, personal and proprietary information over public communications networks. The shared,
on demand nature of cloud computing introduces the possibility of new security breaches, in addition to the threats
faced by traditional corporate networks. Due to the vast amount of data stored on cloud servers, cloud providers
have become an attractive target for cyber-attacks. Though cloud providers deploy the required security controls
to protect their cloud environments, if they fail in protecting our confidential information, it may have a material
adverse effect on our business, results of operations, cash flows, financial condition, reputation and prospects.

Fluctuations in the market values of our investments and other asset portfolio could adversely affect our result
of operations and financial condition

We maintain a portfolio of investments, which include government securities, corporate debt securities, certificates
of deposits and various mutual fund units. Any financial turmoil in the financial markets has the ability to adversely
impact the economic activity in India and globally. Continued deterioration of the credit and capital markets could
result in volatility of our investment earnings and impairments to our investment and asset portfolio, which could
adversely affect our reported income and financial condition.

Fluctuations in the market values of our investments as part of treasury management could cause us to write down
the value of our assets, affect our liquidity and reduce our ability to enforce our security, which could adversely
affect our result of operations and financial condition. We may not accurately identify changes in the value of our
investments caused by changes in market prices, and our assessments, assumptions or estimates may prove
inaccurate or not predictive of actual results.

We utilize the services of certain third parties for our operations. Any deficiency or interruption in their services
could adversely affect our business and reputation.

We engage third party service providers from time to time for services including the valuation of assets and legal

services, direct selling agents and as collection agents. Such third parties are typically proprietorships or
professionals. Our agreements with them typically do not provide for any exclusivity, and accordingly, they can
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work with other lenders, including our competitors. There can be no assurance that our direct selling agents will
continue to provide a significant number of leads for loans to us in comparison with our competitors, or at all.
Some third party vendors may also be small companies which are likely to experience financial or operational
difficulties than larger, well established companies due to limited financial and other resources. This may result in
a delay of services or products delivered to us and we may be unable to find alternative vendors.

In addition, we utilize third party vendors for our information technology systems and rely on such vendors for
adequate and timely delivery of services, providing support and troubleshooting advice and maintaining adequate
resources and bandwidth for the smooth running of our operations. Our ability to control the manner in which
services are provided by third party service providers is limited and we may be held liable on account of any
deficiency of services on the part of such service providers. We cannot assure you that we will be successful in
continuing to receive uninterrupted and quality services from our third party service providers. Any disruption or
inefficiency in the services provided by our third-party service providers could affect our business and reputation.

Our ability to raise foreign debt capital may be constrained by Indian law.

We have availed loans under the external commercial borrowings route and may borrow in foreign currencies in
the future. As an Indian company, we are subject to exchange controls that regulate borrowing in foreign
currencies. Such regulatory restrictions could constrain our ability to obtain financings on competitive terms and
refinance existing indebtedness. In addition, there can be no assurance that any required regulatory approvals for
borrowing in foreign currencies will be granted to us without onerous conditions, or at all. Limitations on foreign
debt may have an adverse effect on our business growth, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.

Negative publicity could damage our reputation and adversely impact our business and financial results.
Reputational risk, or the risk to our business, earnings and capital from negative publicity, is inherent in our
business.

Reputational risk, or the risk to our business, earnings and capital from negative publicity, is inherent in our
business. The reputation of the banking and financial services industry in general has been closely monitored as a
result of the global financial crisis and other matters affecting the financial services industry. Negative public
opinion about the banking and financial services industry generally or us specifically could materially adversely
affect our ability to attract and retain customers and may expose us to litigation and regulatory action. While we
have developed our brand and reputation over our history, any negative incidents or adverse publicity could rapidly
erode customer trust and confidence in us, particularly if such incidents receive widespread adverse mainstream
and social media publicity or attract regulatory investigations. Negative publicity can result from our own or our
third- party service providers’ actual or alleged conduct in any number of activities, including lending practices,
mortgage servicing and foreclosure practices, technological practices, corporate governance, regulatory
compliance, mergers and acquisitions, and related disclosure, sharing or inadequate protection of customer
information, and actions taken by government regulators and community organizations in response to that conduct.
Although we take steps to minimize reputational risk in dealing with customers and other constituencies, we, as a
large financial services organization with a high industry profile, are inherently exposed to this risk. Further, a
failure of a cooperative bank, private sector bank, non-banking finance company or small finance bank or housing
finance company could also affect the sentiment towards the industry in general and lead to a reduction in business.
Any damage to our brand or our reputation may result in withdrawal of business by our existing customers, loss
of new business from potential customers.

Our business is based on the trust and confidence of our customers; any damage to that trust and confidence
may materially and adversely affect our business, future financial performance, cashflows and results of
operations.

We are dedicated to earning and maintaining the trust and confidence of our customers and we believe that the
good reputation created thereby is essential to our business. The reputation of our Company could be adversely
affected by any threatened and/or legal proceedings and/or any negative publicity or news articles in connection
with our Company. As such, any damage to our reputation could substantially impair our ability to maintain or
grow our business. If we fail to maintain brand recognition with our target customers due to any issues with our
product offerings, a deterioration in service quality, or otherwise, or if any premium in value attributed to our
business or to the brands under which our services are provided declines, market perception and customer
acceptance of our brands may also decline. Any negative news affecting us might also affect our reputation and
brand value.
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We are exposed to operational risks, including employee negligence, petty theft, burglary and embezzlement
and fraud by employees, customers or third parties, which could harm our cashflows, results of operations and
financial position.

We may do cash collections to recover our dues. Such cash transactions may expose us to the risk of theft, burglary
and misappropriation or unauthorized transactions by our employees and fraud by employees, customers or third
parties. Our insurance policies, security systems and measures undertaken to detect and prevent these risks may
not be sufficient to prevent or deter such activities in all cases, which may adversely affect our operations and
profitability. Further, we may be subject to regulatory or other proceedings in connection with any unauthorized
transaction, fraud or misappropriation by our representatives and employees, which could adversely affect our
goodwill.

All of our offices and branches are located in leased premises and non-renewal of lease agreements or their
renewal on terms unfavourable to us could adversely affect our operations.

As of June 30, 2023, all of our offices including our registered office and branches are located in leased premises.
Further, as we expand our branch network in line with our growth strategy, we expect the number of leased
branches to increase significantly as all of our new branches are expected to open on leased premises. If any of the
owners of these premises do not renew the agreements under which we occupy the premises, or if they seek to
renew such agreements on terms and conditions unfavorable to us, or if they terminate the agreement, we may
suffer a disruption in our operations or increased costs, or both, which may adversely affect our business, cashflows
and results of operations.

All or any of the leases may not be renewed on similar terms or at all, or we may be evicted from all or a number
of these premises and be required to pay damages to the landlord. This may adversely impact our business and
financial condition.

Our ability to assess, monitor and manage risks inherent in our business differs from the standards of some of
our counterparts in India and in some developed countries.

We are exposed to a variety of risks, including liquidity risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, operational risk and
legal risk. The effectiveness of our risk management is limited by the quality and timeliness of available data. Our
strategies and risk management techniques may not be fully effective in mitigating our risks in all market
environments or against all types of risk, including risks that are unidentified or unanticipated. Some methods of
managing risks are based upon observed historical market behaviour. As a result, these methods may not predict
future risk exposures, which could be greater than the historical measures indicated. Other risk management
methods depend upon an evaluation of information regarding markets, customers or other matters. This
information may not in all cases be accurate, complete, current, or properly evaluated. Management of operational,
legal or regulatory risk requires, among other things, policies and procedures to properly record and verify a
number of transactions and events. Although we have established these policies and procedures, they may not be
fully effective. Our future success will depend, in part, on our ability to respond to new technological advances
and evolving the RBI standards. The development and implementation of such technology entails significant
technical and business risks. There can be no assurance that we will successfully implement new technologies or
adapt our transaction processing systems to customer requirements or evolving market standards.

Our success depends in large part upon our management team and key personnel and our ability to attract,
train and retain such persons.

Our ability to sustain our rate of growth depends significantly upon our ability to manage key issues such as
selecting and retaining key operations personnel, developing managerial experience to address emerging
challenges and ensuring a high standard of client service. In order to be successful, we must attract, train, motivate
and retain highly skilled employees, especially product executives. If we cannot hire additional qualified personnel
or retain them, our ability to expand our business will be impaired and our revenue could decline. We will need to
recruit new employees, who will have to be trained and integrated into our operations. We will also have to train
existing employees to adhere properly to internal controls and risk management procedures. Failure to train and
motivate our employees properly may result in an increase in employee attrition rates, divert management
resources and subject us to incurring additional human resource related expenditure. Hiring and retaining qualified
and skilled managers are critical to our future, as our business model depends on our credit-appraisal and asset
valuation mechanism, which are personnel-driven operations. Moreover, competition for experienced employees
in the finance sector can be intense. Our inability to attract and retain talented professionals, or the resignation or
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loss of key operations personnel, may have an adverse impact on our business and future financial performance.

Our insurance coverage may not be sufficient or may not adequately protect us against losses, and successful
claims that exceed our insurance coverage could harm our cashflows, results of operations and diminish our
financial position.

We maintain insurance coverage of the type and in the amounts that we believe are commensurate with, and
appropriate to, our operations. For further details on our insurance coverage, see “Our Business — Insurance” on
page 127. Our insurance policies, however, may not provide adequate coverage in certain circumstances and may
be subject to certain deductibles, exclusions and limits on coverage. Even if we have insurance for the incident
giving rise to the loss, we may be required to pay a significant deductible on any claim for recovery of such a loss,
or the amount of the loss may exceed our coverage for the loss. However, we cannot assure you that any claim
under the insurance policies maintained by us will be honored fully, in part or on time. In addition, our insurance
coverage expires from time to time. We apply for the renewal of our insurance coverage in the normal course of
our business, but we cannot assure you that such renewals will be granted in a timely manner, or at acceptable
cost, or at all. In addition, there are various types of risks and losses for which we do not maintain insurance
because they are either uninsurable or because insurance is not available to us on acceptable terms. A successful
assertion of one or more large claims against us that exceeds our available insurance coverage or results in changes
in our insurance policies, including premium increases or the imposition of a larger deductible or co-insurance
requirement, could adversely affect our business, financial condition, cashflows and results of operations.

We cannot guarantee the accuracy or completeness of facts and other statistics with respect to India, the Indian
economy and the NBFC and Loan industries contained in this Prospectus.

While facts and other statistics in this Prospectus relating to India, the Indian economy as well as the loan industry
have been based on various publications and reports from agencies that we believe are reliable, we cannot
guarantee the quality or reliability of such materials, particularly since there is limited publicly available
information specific to the loan industry. While we have taken reasonable care in the reproduction of such
information, industry facts and other statistics, the same have not been prepared or independently verified by us
or any of our respective affiliates or advisors and, therefore we make no representation as to their accuracy or
completeness. These facts and other statistics include the facts and statistics included in “Industry Overview” on
page 79. Due to possibly flawed or ineffective data collection methods or discrepancies between published
information and market practice and other problems, the statistics herein may be inaccurate or may not be
comparable to statistics produced elsewhere and should not be unduly relied upon. Further, there is no assurance
that they are stated or compiled on the same basis or with the same degree of accuracy, as the case may be,
elsewhere.

The obligations under existing NCDs issued by Pre-demerger InCred have been vested in our Company
pursuant to the Composite Scheme of Amalgamation and Arrangement. The existing non-convertible
debentures of our Company are listed on BSE and NSE and our Company is subject to certain obligations and
reporting requirements under SEBI Listing Regulations. Any non-compliances/delay in complying with such
obligations and reporting requirements may render us/our promoter liable to prosecution and/or penalties.

Our Company is subject to the obligations and reporting requirements under SEBI Listing Regulations. Though
our Company endeavours to comply with all such obligations/reporting requirements, there have been certain
instances of non-compliance and delays in complying with such obligations/reporting requirements. Any such
delays or non-compliance would render our Company to prosecution and/or penalties. Our Company has in past
received communication under regulations 57(1), 60(2) and 54(2) of SEBI Listing Regulations from BSE and
NSE. We have responded to such communication and have made necessary filings including payment of penalties
levied against our Company. Any non-compliances/delay in complying with mandatory obligations and reporting
requirements may render us/our promoter liable to prosecution and/or penalties. For instance, certain penalties
were levied by NSE on our Company, vide letter dated October 3, 2023, for non-compliance with Regulation 60(2)
of the SEBI Listing Regulations. Our company has provided due representations to the NSE and has paid under
protest, a fine pertaining to the same.

This Prospectus includes certain unaudited financial information, which has been subjected to limited review,
in relation to our Company. Reliance on such information should, accordingly, be limited.

This Prospectus includes unaudited financial information in relation to our Company for the three months ended
June 30, 2023, in respect of which the Auditors have issued their Limited Review Report dated August 2, 2023.
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As Unaudited Financial Results prepared by our Company in accordance with Regulation 33 and 52 of the SEBI
LODR Regulations have been subject only to a limited review and as described in Standard on Review
Engagements (SRE) 2410, “Review of Interim Financial Information” Performed by the Independent Auditor of
the Entity” issued by the ICAI, and not to an audit, any reliance by prospective investors on such Limited Review
Financial Information for the three months ended June 30, 2023 should, accordingly, be limited.

Any financial results published in the future may not be consistent with past performance. Accordingly,
prospective investors should rely on their independent examination of our financial position and results of
operations, and should not place undue reliance on, or base their investment decision solely on the financial
information included in this Prospectus.

Our ability to pay dividends in the future will depend on restrictive covenants of our financing arrangements,
our future cashflows, results of operations, financial condition, cash flows and working capital and capital
expenditure requirements.

Any dividends to be declared and paid by us in the future are required to be recommended by our Board and
approved by our shareholders, at their discretion, subject to the provisions of the Articles of Association, dividend
policy and applicable laws and regulations. Our ability to pay dividends in the future will depend on our future
results of operations, financial condition, cash flows, sufficient profitability, working capital requirements, capital
expenditure requirements, business prospects and any other financing arrangements. We cannot assure you that
we will generate sufficient revenues to cover our operating expenses and, as such, pay dividends to our
shareholders in future. For details pertaining to dividend declared by us in the past, please see “Other Regulatory
and Statutory Disclosures” on page 343. As per the law, dividends may be paid out of profits earned during the
year or out of accumulated profits earned by a company in previous years and transferred by it to its reserves
(subject to certain conditions). Any accumulated profits that are not distributed in a given year are retained and
may be available for distribution in subsequent years.

Our business processes a large amount of data, including personal data, and the improper collection, hosting,
use or disclosure of data could harm our reputation and have an adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Our business processes a large quantity of personal data (with our users’ consent) and analyses this data to generate
user and user group profiles. Our privacy policies concerning the collection, use and disclosure of personal data
(and users’ rights thereto) are consented to by our customers and made accessible for their reference at any point
in time. We face risks inherent in handling and protecting a large volume of data, especially user data. In particular,
we face several challenges relating to data security and privacy, including but not limited to:

e protecting the data in and hosted on our system, including against attacks on our system by outside parties,
data leakage, fraudulent behavior or improper use by our employees;

e addressing concerns, challenges, negative publicity and litigation related to data security and privacy,
collection, use and actual or perceived data sharing (including sharing among our own businesses, with
business partners, vendors or regulators), and other factors that may arise from our existing businesses or new
businesses and new technology; and

e complying with applicable laws and regulations relating to the collection, use, storage, transfer, disclosure
and security of personal data, including requests from data subjects.

The improper collection, use or disclosure of our user data could result in a loss of customers, business, partner
financial institutions and other potential participants, loss of confidence or trust, litigation, regulatory
investigations, penalties or actions against us, significant damage to our reputation, and have an adverse effect on
our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Moreover, we share a limited amount of user data with third-party service providers in accordance with applicable
laws and regulations and subject to stringent data security and privacy requirements. We also rely on certain third-
party service providers in relation to the sourcing of data for potential customers. We do PAN verification with
the National Securities Depository Limited (“NSDL”), and Aadhaar XML download from the Unique
Identification Authority of India (“UIDAI”). During the course of providing such services, customer data may be
accessed. If such third-party service providers engage in activities that are negligent, fraudulent, illegal or
otherwise harm the trustworthiness and security of our systems, including by improper disclosure or use of user
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data, or if our business partners otherwise fail to meet their data security and privacy obligations, we may be
subject to user complaints and suffer reputational harm, even if the actions or activities are not related to,
attributable to or caused by us, or within our control. While no regulatory or legal action has been taken against us
in relation to such instances in the past, we cannot assure you that we will not be subject to any regulatory or legal
action for such instances in the future.

There are outstanding litigations pending against us, our Promoter, Directors, Group Companies and our
Subsidiaries which, if determined adversely, could affect our business, cash flows, results of operations and
financial condition.

In the ordinary course of business, we, our Promoter, our Directors, our Group Companies and our Subsidiaries
are involved in certain legal proceedings, at different levels of adjudication before various courts, tribunals and
statutory, regulatory and other judicial authorities in India, and, if decided against us, could adversely affect our
reputation, business, cash flows, results of operations and financial condition. We cannot assure you that the
currently outstanding legal proceedings will be decided favourably or that no further liability will arise from these
claims in the future. The amounts claimed in these proceedings have been disclosed to the extent ascertainable and
include amounts claimed jointly and severally. For details, see “Outstanding Litigations and other Confirmations”
on page 328.

If any new developments arise, such as a change in Indian law or rulings against us by appellate courts or tribunals,
we may need to make provisions in our financial statements that could increase our expenses and current liabilities.
An adverse decision in any of these proceedings may have an adverse effect on our business, cash flows, results
of operations and financial condition.

This Prospectus contains certain Non-GAAP measures related to our operations and financial performance
that may vary from any standard methodology that is applicable across the industry.

This Prospectus includes certain non-GAAP measures, including Net Worth and Return on Net Worth, which are
in a supplemental measure of our performance and liquidity that is not required by, or presented in accordance
with Ind AS. We consider these non-GAAP measures useful in evaluating our business and financial performances.
However, these non-GAAP measures are not alternatives to any measure of performance or liquidity or as an
indicator of our operating performance or liquidity. They should not be considered in isolation or construed as an
alternative to cash flows, profit/ (loss) for the year or any other measure of financial performance or as an indicator
of our operating performance, liquidity, profitability or cash flows generated by operating, investing or financing
activities derived in accordance with Ind AS. There are no standard methodologies in the industries for computing
such measures, and those non-GAAP measures we included in this Prospectus may not be comparable to similarly
titled measures presented by other companies. Other companies may calculate similarly titled measures differently,
limiting their usefulness as comparative measures to our data. We encourage investors and others to review our
financial information in its entirety and not rely on a single financial measure.

Risk Factors related to the Issue and NCDs

46.

47.

The fund requirement and deployment mentioned in the Objects of the Issue have not been appraised by any
bank or financial institution.

We intend to use the net proceeds of the Issue, after meeting the expenditures of and related to the Issue, for the
purpose of our financing business including onward lending, repayment of interest and principal of existing
borrowings and for general corporate purposes. For further details, please see “Objects of the Issue” at page 63.
The fund requirement and deployment are based on internal management estimates and has not been appraised by
any bank or financial institution. The management will have significant flexibility in applying the proceeds
received by us from the Issue. Further, as per the provisions of the SEBI NCS Regulations, we are not required to
appoint a monitoring agency and therefore no monitoring agency has been appointed for the Issue.

The objects of the issue are not for any specified projects.

The proceeds of this Issue will be used by the Issuer in accordance with applicable laws and not for any specified
projects. For further details, please see “Objects of the Issue” on page 63.
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There is no assurance that the NCDs issued pursuant to this Issue will be listed on BSE Limited in a timely
manner, or at all.

In accordance with Indian law and practice, permission for listing and trading of the NCD issued pursuant to this
Issue will not be granted until after the NCDs have been issued and allotted. Approval for listing and trading will
require all relevant documents authorising the issue of NCDs to be submitted. There could be a failure or delay in
listing the NCDs in BSE.

Payments to be made on the NCDs are subordinated to certain taxes and other liabilities preferred by law.

In the event of bankruptcy, liquidation or winding up, there may not be sufficient assets of our Company remaining,
to pay amounts due on the NCDs. In case of proceedings under the (Indian) Insolvency and Bankruptcy Code,
2016, the Insolvency and Bankruptcy (Insolvency and Liquidation Proceedings of Financial Service Providers and
Application to Adjudicating Authority) Rules, 2019, the NCDs will be subordinated to certain liabilities preferred
by law.

Amongst others, the (Indian) Insolvency and Bankruptcy Code, 2016 prescribes that in case of liquidation, a
secured creditor has the option to either relinquish the security and participate in the liquidation process, or to
independently realise the security. If the secured creditor chooses to independently enforce the security held by it,
it will have a lower priority for any amounts remaining unpaid after the enforcement of the security (as compared
to the priority such creditor would have had on relinquishing the security). The (Indian) Insolvency and Bankruptcy
Code, 2016 also prescribes the order of distribution of the liquidation proceeds.

The NCD Holders may not be able to recover, on a timely basis or at all, the full value of the outstanding
amounts and/or the interest accrued thereon in connection with the NCDs.

Failure or delay to recover the expected value from a sale or disposition of the assets / receivables charged as
security in connection with the NCDs could expose the holders to a potential loss. Our ability to pay interest
accrued on the NCDs and/or the principal amount outstanding from time to time in connection therewith would be
subject to various factors inter-alia including our financial condition, profitability and the general economic
conditions in India and in the global financial markets. We cannot assure you that we will be able to repay the
principal amount outstanding from time to time on the NCDs and/or the interest accrued thereon in a timely manner
or at all. Although our Company will create appropriate security in favour of the Debenture Trustee for the NCD
Holders on the assets adequate to ensure 1.05 times asset cover for the NCDs, which shall be free from any
encumbrance, the realisable value of the assets charged as security, when liquidated, may be lower than the
outstanding principal and/or interest accrued thereon in connection with the NCDs. A failure or delay to recover
the expected value from a sale or disposition of the assets charged as security in connection with the NCDs could
expose you to a potential loss.

While the NCDs will be secured against a charge to the tune of 1.05 times of the principal and/or interest accrued
thereon in favour of Debenture Trustee, and it is the duty of the Debenture Trustee to monitor that the security is
maintained, however, the possibility of recovery of 1.05 times of the amount shall depend on the market scenario
prevalent at the time of enforcement of the security.

The rights over the security provided will not be granted directly to holders of the NCDs

The rights over the security securing the obligations of our Company under the NCDs and the Debenture Trust
Deed will not be granted directly to the NCD holders, but will be granted only in favour of the Debenture Trustee.
As a consequence, NCD holders will not have direct security and will not be entitled to take enforcement action
in respect of the security for the NCDs, except through the Debenture Trustee.

There may be a delay in making refund/ unblocking of funds to Applicants.

We cannot assure you that the monies refundable to you, on account of (i) withdrawal of your applications, (ii)
our failure to receive minimum subscription in connection with the Base Issue, (iii) withdrawal of the Issue, or
(iv) failure to obtain the final approval from the BSE for listing of the NCDs, will be refunded to you in a timely
manner. We however, shall refund / unblock such monies, with the interest due and payable thereon (in case of
any delays) as prescribed under applicable statutory and/or regulatory provisions.
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Permission to list in any stock exchange in India or abroad.

While none of our securities or debt instruments have been denied permission to list in any stock exchange in India
or abroad during last three years, any such refusal in future might adversely affect tradability as well as price of
then existing other listed securities or debt instruments.

Trading of the NCDs may be limited by temporary exchange closures, broker defaults, settlement delays, strikes
by brokerage firm employees and disputes.

The Indian Stock Exchange have experienced temporary exchange closures, broker defaults, settlement delays and
strikes by brokerage firm employees. In addition, the governing bodies of the Indian Stock Exchange have from
time to time imposed restrictions on trading in certain securities, limitations on price movements and margin
requirements. Furthermore, from time to time, disputes have occurred between listed companies and Stock
Exchange and other regulatory bodies, which in some cases may have had a negative effect on market sentiment.

Changes in interest rate may affect the price of our NCD.

Any increase in rate of interest, which frequently accompany inflation and/or a growing economy, are likely to
have a negative effect on the price of our NCDs. All securities where a fixed rate of interest is offered, such as our
NCDs, are subject to price risk. The price of such securities will vary inversely with changes in prevailing interest
rates, i.e. when interest rates rise, prices of fixed income securities fall and when interest rates drop, the prices
increase. The extent of fall or rise in the prices is a function of the existing coupon, days to maturity and the
increase or decrease in the level of prevailing interest rates. Increased rates of interest, which frequently accompany
inflation and/or a growing economy, are likely to have a negative effect on the price of our NCDs.

Repayment is subject to the credit risk of the Company

Potential investors should be aware that receipt of the principal amount, (i.e. the redemption amount), interest
thereon and any other amounts that may be due in respect of the NCDs is subject to the credit risk of the Company
whereby the Investors may or may not recover all or part of the funds in case of default by the Company. Potential
investors assume the risk that the Company will not be able to satisfy their obligations under the NCDs. In the
event that bankruptcy proceedings or composition, scheme of arrangement or similar proceedings to avert
bankruptcy are instituted by or against the Issuer, the payment of sums due on the NCDs may not be made or may
be substantially reduced or delayed.

On December 14, 2021, the RBI issued a circular titled “Prompt Corrective Action (PCA) Framework for Non-
Banking Financial Companies (NBFCs)” (“PCA Framework Circular”) to enable supervisory intervention and
implement remedial measures of NBFCs, including NBFC-NDs, on the basis of tracking certain indicators such
as CRAR, Tier | Capital Ratio and Net NPA Ratio.

Risks in relation to NCDs; the secondary market for debentures may be illiquid; limited or sporadic trading of
non-convertible securities of the Company on the Stock Exchange

The NCDs may be very illiquid, and no secondary market may develop in respect thereof. Even if there is a
secondary market for the NCDs, it is not likely to provide significant liquidity. Potential investors may have to
hold the NCDs until redemption to realize any value.

Risks in relation to the security; Security may be insufficient to redeem the debentures; risks in relation to
maintenance of security cover or full recovery of the security in case of enforcement

The NCDs to be issued pursuant to the Issue will be secured by creating an exclusive charge on Identified Book
debts/ receivables of the Company to the extent of 1.05 times of the amount outstanding towards principal and
interest payable on NCDs. In the event that the Company is unable to meet its payment and other obligations
towards investors under the terms of the NCDs, the Debenture Trustee may enforce the Security in respect of the
NCDs as per the terms of security documents, and other related documents. The Debenture Holder(s)’ recovery in
relation to the NCDs will be subject to (i) the market value of such secured property, (ii) finding willing buyers
for the transaction security at a price sufficient to repay the Debenture Holder(s)’ amounts outstanding under the
NCDs. The value realised from the enforcement of the transaction security may be insufficient to redeem the
NCDs.
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Fluctuations in the market values of the assets over which security has been provided in respect of loans provided
by the Company could affect the Company’s liquidity and reduce the Issuer’s ability to enforce the security, which
could adversely affect the Company’s result of operations and financial condition. The Company may not
accurately identify changes in the value of assets over which security has been provided caused by changes in
market prices, and the Company’s assessments, assumptions or estimates may prove inaccurate.

External Risk Factors

59.

60.
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Our business is affected by prevailing economic, political and other prevailing conditions in India and the
markets we currently serve.

Our Company is incorporated in India, and all of our assets and employees are located in India. As a result, we are
dependent on prevailing economic conditions in India and our cashflows and results of operations are affected by
factors influencing the Indian economy. Factors that may adversely affect the Indian economy, and hence our
cashflows and results of operations, may include:

e any increase in Indian interest rates or inflation;

e any exchange rate fluctuations;

e any scarcity of credit or other financing in India, resulting in an adverse impact on economic conditions in
India and scarcity of financing of our developments and expansions;

e volatility in, and actual or perceived trends in trading activity on, India‘s principal Stock Exchange;

e changes in India‘s tax, trade, fiscal or monetary policies, like application of GST;

political instability, terrorism or military conflict in India or in countries in the region or globally, including

in India‘s various neighbouring countries;

occurrence of natural or man-made disasters;

infectious disease outbreaks or other serious public health concerns;

prevailing regional or global economic conditions, including in India‘s principal export markets; and

other significant regulatory or economic developments in or affecting India or its financial services sectors.

Any slowdown or perceived slowdown in the Indian economy, or in specific sectors of the Indian economy, could
adversely impact our business, cash flows and results of operations and financial condition. Our performance and
the growth of our business depend on the performance of the Indian economy and the economies of the regional
markets we currently serve. These economies could be adversely affected by various factors, such as political and
regulatory changes including adverse changes in liberalization policies, social disturbances, religious or communal
tensions, terrorist attacks and other acts of violence or war, natural calamities, interest rates, commodity and energy
prices and various other factors. Any slowdown in these economies could adversely affect the ability of our
customers to afford our services, which in turn would adversely impact our business and financial performance.

Financial difficulties and other problems in certain financial institutions in India could cause our business to
suffer and adversely affect our cash flows and results of operations.

We are exposed to the risks of the Indian financial system, which in turn may be affected by financial difficulties
and other problems faced by certain Indian financial institutions. Certain Indian financial institutions have
experienced difficulties during recent years. Some co-operative banks (which tend to operate in rural sector) have
also faced serious financial and liquidity crises. There has been a trend towards consolidation with weaker banks,
NBFCs and HFCs being merged with stronger entities. The problems faced by individual Indian financial
institutions and any instability in or difficulties faced by the Indian financial system generally could create adverse
market perception about Indian financial institutions, banks and NBFCs. This in turn could adversely affect our
business, our future financial performance, our shareholders’ funds and the market price of our NCDs.

Natural disasters and other disruptions could adversely affect the economy and could adversely affect our
business, cash flows, results of operations and financial condition.

Our operations, including our branch network, may be damaged or disrupted as a result of natural disasters such
as earthquakes, floods, heavy rainfall, epidemics, tsunamis and cyclones and other events such as protests, riots
and labour unrest. Such events may lead to the disruption of information systems and telecommunication services
for sustained periods. They also may make it difficult or impossible for employees to reach our business locations.
Damage or destruction that interrupts our provision of services could adversely affect our reputation, our
relationships with our customers, our senior management team’s ability to administer and supervise our business
or it may cause us to incur substantial additional expenditure to repair or replace damaged equipment or rebuild
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parts of our branch network. Any of the above factors may adversely affect our business, results of operation and
financial condition.

We face risks related to public health epidemics in India and abroad.

Our business could be materially and adversely affected by the outbreak of public health epidemics, or the fear of
such an outbreak, in India or elsewhere. In January 2020, an outbreak of a strain of coronavirus, COVID-19, which
has spread globally, with cases recorded in China, Australia, Italy, Iran, Japan, South Korea, UAE, Thailand, the
United States and India, among other countries. On January 30, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the
COVID-19 outbreak a health emergency of international concern. Governments around the world had to impose
a number of measures designed to contain the outbreak, including business closures, travel restrictions, quarantines
and cancellations of gatherings and events. This in turn has impacted the operation of businesses, reduced regional
travels and trade and lowered industrial production and consumption demand. If the outbreak of any of these
epidemics or other severe epidemics, continues for an extended period, occurs again and/or increases in severity,
it could have an adverse effect on economic activity worldwide, including India, and could materially and
adversely affect our business, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations. Similarly, any other future
public health epidemics in India could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, cash flows,
results of operations and prospects.

Instability of economic policies and the political situation in India could adversely affect the fortunes of the
industry.

There is no assurance that the liberalisation policies of the government will continue in the future. Protests against
privatisation could slow down the pace of liberalisation and deregulation. The Government of India plays an
important role by regulating the policies and regulations that govern the private sector. The current economic
policies of the government may change at a later date. The pace of economic liberalisation could change and
specific laws and policies affecting the industry and other policies affecting investments in our Company’s
business could change as well. A significant change in India’s economic liberalisation and deregulation policies
could disrupt business and economic conditions in India and thereby affect our Company’s business. Unstable
domestic as well as international political environment could impact the economic performance in the short term
as well as the long term. The Government of India has pursued the economic liberalisation policies including
relaxing restrictions on the private sector over the past several years. The present Government has also announced
polices and taken initiatives that support continued economic liberalisation. The Government has traditionally
exercised and continues to exercise a significant influence over many aspects of the Indian economy. Our
Company’s business may be affected not only by changes in interest rates, changes in Government policy, taxation,
social and civil unrest but also by other political, economic or other developments in or affecting India.
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SECTION IIl - INTRODUCTION
GENERAL INFORMATION

Our Company was incorporated as Multiflow Financial Services Private Limited on February 3, 1995 as a private
company incorporated under the Companies Act, 1956, as amended, with CIN U67190TN1995PTC030045 and was
granted a certificate of incorporation by the Registrar of Companies, Tamil Nadu, Chennai. The Company changed its
name to KKR India Financial Services Private Limited and was issued fresh certificate of incorporation by Registrar of
Companies, Tamil Nadu, Chennai, Andaman and Nicobar Islands on August 13, 2010 consequent upon change of name.
Later on, a fresh certificate of incorporation was received from Registrar of Companies, Chennai, Tamil Nadu on July
24, 2019, upon conversion of Company from private company to public company under section 18 of Companies Act,
2013 and consequently name of the Company was changed to KKR India Financial Services Limited. The registered
office of the Company was subsequently changed from office at Regus Citi Centre, Level 6, 10/11 Dr. Radhakrishna
Salai, Chennai, Tamil Nadu — 600 004 to 2" Floor, Piramal Tower, Peninsula Corporate Park, Ganpatrao Kadam Marg,
Lower Parel, Mumbai, Maharashtra, 400013 and a fresh certificate of incorporation was issued by RoC w.e.f. April 1,
2021 with revised CIN U67190MH1995PL.C360817. Pursuant to Composite Scheme of Amalgamation and Arrangement
effective from April 01, 2022 the name of our Company was changed from KKR India Financial Services Limited to
InCred Financial Services Limited, and a fresh certificate of incorporation was granted by the RoC on August 3, 2022.
Further our registered office was changed to Unit No. 1203, 12" floor, B Wing, The Capital, Plot No. C-70, G Block,
Bandra Kurla Complex, Bandra (East), Mumbai, Maharashtra — 400 051. Our Company is registered as a non-deposit
accepting systemically important non-banking financial company with the Reserve Bank of India under Section 45-1A
of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 bearing registration number B-13.02417 by way of a certificate of registration
dated September 28, 2022.

Pursuant to the Scheme InCred Demerged Undertaking comprising the business of retail lending, SME lending, housing
finance business and ancillary activities of Pre-demerger InCred a company incorporated as Visu Leasing and Finance
Private Limited was demerged and transferred and vested in the Company. Post implementation of the Scheme the name
of our Company was changed from KKR India Financial Services Limited to InCred Financial Services Limited, and a
fresh certificate of incorporation was granted by the RoC on August 03, 2022. Our Company is registered as a non-
deposit accepting non-banking financial company with the Reserve Bank of India under Section 45-1A of the Reserve
Bank of India Act, 1934 bearing registration number B-13.02417. Further our Company received no-objection in relation
to the Scheme from RBI on December 8, 2021 and in-principle approval under Regulation 59 of SEBI Listing Regulations
from BSE vide its letters dated December 24, 2021 and April 21, 2022 and from NSE vide letters dated March 4, 2022
and October 10, 2022.

Our Company is engaged in the business of providing all forms of credit or financing facilities to all categories of
borrowers, including without limitation retail lending, lending to micro, small and medium enterprises, digital and non-
digital financing.

For further details in relation to the changes in our name, constitution, and registration with the RBI, see “History and
Main Objects” on page 145.

Registration:

CIN: U67190MH1995PLC360817

LEI: 549300ZBGSRU6S8FBCO5

RBI registration number: B-13.02417
Permanent Account Number: AAACM7774Q

Registered Office and Corporate Office

InCred Financial Services Limited

Unit No. 1203, 12 floor, B Wing,

The Capital, Plot No. C-70, G Block,

Bandra Kurla Complex, Bandra (East)

Mumbai, Maharashtra — 400 051

Tel: +91 22 6844 6100

Website: www.incred.com

Email: incred.compliance@incred.com

For further details regarding changes to our Registered Office, see “History and Main Objects” on page 145.
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Registrar of Companies, Mumbai

100, Everest, Marine Drive

Mumbai — 400 002, Maharashtra

Tel. No.: +91 22 2281 2627 / 2202 0295 / 2284 6954
Fax No.: +91 22 2281 1977

E-mail: roc.mumbai@mca.gov.in

Liability of the members of the Company
Limited by shares
Whole Time Director and Chief Financial Officer

Vivek Bansal

Unit No. 1203, 12 floor, B Wing,
The Capital, Plot No. C - 70,

G Block, Bandra — Kurla Complex,
Bandra East, Mumbai — 400 051
Tel No: +91 22 6844 6100

Email: treasury@incred.com

Company Secretary and Compliance Officer

Gajendra Singh Thakur

Unit No. 1203, 12" floor, B Wing,

The Capital, Plot No. C — 70,

G Block, Bandra — Kurla Complex,
Bandra East, Mumbai — 400 051

Tel No: +91 22 6844 6100

Email: incred.compliance@incred.com
Fax: +91 22 6844 6100

Investors may contact the Registrar to the Issue or our Company Secretary and Compliance Officer in case of any pre-
Issue or post-Issue related issues such as non-receipt of Allotment Advice, demat credit of allotted NCDs, refunds,
transfers, etc. as the case may be.

Lead Managers

IJM FINANCIAL

JM FINANCIAL LIMITED

7" Floor, Cnergy

Appasaheb Marathe Marg,

Prabhadevi Mumbai — 400 025

Tel: +91 22 6630 3030

Fax: +91 22 6630 3330

E-mail: incred.ncd2023@jmfl.com

Investor Grievance Email: grievance.ibd@jmfl.com
Website: www.jmfl.com

Contact Person: Prachee Dhuri

Compliance Officer: Sunny Shah

SEBI Registration Number: INM000010361
CIN: L67120MH1986PLC038784
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INCRED CAPITAL WEALTH PORTFOLIO MANAGERS PRIVATE LIMITED*

2nd and 3rd Floor, B-Wing,

Kaledonia Building,

Sahar Road, Andheri (East)

Mumbai 400 069

Telephone: +91 022 41611596

E-mail Id: incred.ncdissue2023@incredcapital.com

Investor grievance e-mail Id: customer.grievance@incredcapital.com

Contact person: Rakesh Postandel

Compliance Officer: Preeti Lalwani

Website: www.incredequities.com

SEBI Registration number: INM000012865

* InCred Capital Wealth Portfolio Managers Private Limited is deemed to be an associate of the Issuer as per the Securities
and Exchange Board of India (Merchant Bankers) Regulations, 1992, as amended (Merchant Bankers Regulations).
Further, in compliance with the provisions of Regulation 21A and explanation to Regulation 21A of the Merchant Bankers
Regulations, InCred Capital Wealth Portfolio Managers Private Limited would be involved only in marketing of the Issue
and as per Regulation 25 (3) of SEBI NCS Regulations shall not issue a due diligence certificate.

Debenture Trustee

‘n'.—'

&
CA TALYS'T'

CIN: U73599PN1997PLC110262

Catalyst Trusteeship Limited

GDA House, Plot No. 85, Bhusari Colony (Right), Kothrud,
Pune — 411 038, Maharashtra

Tel: +91 22 4922 0555

Fax: +91 22 4922 0505

Email: ComplianceCTL-Mumbai@ctltrustee.com
Investor Grievance Email: grievance@ctltrustee.com
Website: www.catalysttrustee.com

Contact Person: Deesha Trivedi

Compliance Officer: Kalyani Pandey

SEBI Registration No: IND000000034

CIN: U74999PN1997PLC110262

Catalyst Trusteeship Limited under regulation 8 of SEBI NCS Regulations, by its letter dated September 12, 2023 has
given its consent for its appointment as Debenture Trustee to the Issue (hereinafter referred to as “Trustees”). A copy of
letter from Catalyst Trusteeship Limited conveying their consent to act as Trustees for the Debenture holders and for its
name to be included in the Draft Prospectus and this Prospectus and in all the subsequent periodical communications sent
to the holders of the NCDs issued pursuant to this Issue is annexed as Annexure B.

All the rights and remedies of the Debenture Holders under the Issue shall vest in and shall be exercised by the appointed
Debenture Trustee for the Issue without having it referred to the Debenture Holders. All investors under the Issue are
deemed to have irrevocably given their authority and consent to the Debenture Trustee so appointed by our Company for
the Issue to act as their trustee and for doing such acts, deeds, matters, and things in respect of or relating to the Debenture
Holders as the Debenture Trustee may in his absolute direction deem necessary or require to be done in the interest of
Debenture Holders and signing such documents to carry out their duty in such capacity.

Any payment by our Company to the Debenture Holders/Debenture Trustee, as the case maybe, shall, from the time of

making such payment, completely and irrevocably discharge our Company from any liability to the Debenture Holders
to that extent. For details on the terms of the Debenture Trust Deed, please see “Issue Related Information” on page 372.
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Registrar to the Issue

LINKIntime

Link Intime India Private Limited

C 101, 247 Park, L.B.S Marg, Vikhroli (West)
Mumbai 400 083, Maharashtra, India

Tel: +91 810 811 4949

Fax: +91 22 4918 6060

Email: incred.ncd2@linkintime.co.in
Investor Grievance mail: incred.ncd2@linkintime.co.in
Website: www.linkintime.co.in

Contact Person: Shanti Gopalkrishnan
Compliance Officer : BN Ramakrishnan
SEBI Registration Number: INRO00004058
CIN: U67190MH1999PTC118368

Link Intime India Private Limited, has by its letter dated September 12, 2023 given its consent for its appointment as
Registrar to the Issue and for its name to be included in the Draft Prospectus and this Prospectus and in all the subsequent
periodical communications sent to the holders of the Debentures issued pursuant to the Issue.

Investors may contact the Registrar to the Issue or our Company Secretary and Compliance Officer in case of any pre-
Issue or post-Issue related issues such as non-receipt of Allotment Advice, demat credit of allotted NCDs, refunds,
unblocking, transfers, etc. as the case may be.

All grievances relating to the Issue may be addressed to the Registrar to the Issue, giving full details such as name,
Application Form number, address of the Applicant, Permanent Account Number, number of NCDs applied for, Series
of NCDs applied for, amount paid on application, Depository Participant name and client identification number, and the
collection centre of the Members of the Consortium where the Application was submitted and ASBA Account number
(for Bidders other than Retail Individual Investors bidding through the UPI Mechanism) in which the amount equivalent
to the Bid Amount was blocked or UPI ID in case of Retail Individual Investors bidding through the UPI mechanism.
Further, the Bidder shall enclose the Acknowledgement Slip or provide the acknowledgement number received from the
Designated Intermediaries in addition to the documents/information mentioned hereinabove.

All grievances relating to the ASBA process may be addressed to the Registrar to the Issue with a copy to either (a) the
relevant Designated Branch of the SCSB where the Application Form was submitted by the ASBA Applicant, or (b) the
concerned Member of the Syndicate and the relevant Designated Branch of the SCSB in the event of an Application
submitted by an ASBA Applicant at any of the Syndicate ASBA Centres, giving full details such as name, address of
Applicant, Application Form number, series applied for, number of NCDs applied for, amount blocked on Application.

All grievances related to the UPI process may be addressed to the Stock Exchange, which shall be responsible for
addressing investor grievances arising from applications submitted online through the App based/ web interface platform
of stock exchange or through their Trading Members. The intermediaries shall be responsible for addressing any investor
grievances arising from the applications uploaded by them in respect of quantity, price or any other data entry or other
errors made by them.

All grievances arising out of Applications for the NCDs made through the Online Stock Exchange Mechanism or through
Trading Members of the Stock Exchange may be addressed directly to the relevant Stock Exchange.

Consortium member to the Issue
IJM FINANCIAL

JM Financial Services Limited

Ground Floor, 2,3&4, Kamanwala Chambers,

Sir P.M. Road, Fort,

Mumbai — 400 001, Maharashtra, India

Tel: +91 22 6136 3400

Fax: Nil

E-mail: tn.kumar@jmfl.com / sona.verghese@jmfl.com
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Website: www.jmfinancialservices.in

Investor Grievance E-mail: ig.distribution@jmfl.com
Contact Person: T N Kumar/ Sona Verghese

SEBI Registration Numbers: INZ000195834

CIN: U67120MH1998PLC115415

Bankers to the Issue
Public Issue Account Bank, Sponsor Bank and Refund Bank

ICICI Bank Limited

Capital Market Division, 1% Floor
5" Floor, HT Parekh Marg,
Churchgate, Mumbai — 400 020,
Maharashtra, India

Tel.: +91 22 6805 2185

Email: varun.badai@icicibank.com
Website: www.icicibank.com
Contact Person: Mr. Varun Badai
SEBI Registration Number: INBI00000004
CIN: L65190GJ1994PLC021012

Statutory Auditor

S. R. Batliboi & Associates LLP

Chartered Accountants

12" Floor, Ruby

29, Senapati Bapat Marg, Dadar (West)
Mumbai — 400 028, Maharashtra, India

Tel: +91 22 6819 8000

Email: srba@srb.in

Firm Registration Number: 101049W/E300004
Contact Person: Sarvesh Warty

S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP, Chartered Accountants was appointed as the statutory auditor of our Company on August
5, 2022.

For change in statutory auditors in last three financial years and current financial year, please see ‘Other Regulatory and
Statutory Disclosures’ on page 343.

Credit Rating Agency

CRISIL

An S&P Global Company

CRISIL Ratings Limited

CRISIL House,

Central Avenue, Hiranandani Business Park,
Powai, Mumbai 400076

Tel: +91 22 3342 3000 (B)

Fax: +91 22 3342 3050

Email: crisilratingdesk@crisil.com
Website: www.crisil.com

Contact Person: Ajit Velonie

SEBI Registration No: INCRA0011999
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Credit Rating and Rationale

The NCDs proposed to be issued under the Issue have been rated CRISIL A+/Stable for an amount of X 30,000 lakh by
CRISIL Ratings Limited vide their rating letter dated September 14, 2023. Instruments with this rating are considered to
have adequate degree of safety regarding timely servicing of financial obligations. Such instruments carry low credit risk.
Rating given by CRISIL Ratings Limited is valid as on the date of this Prospectus and shall remain valid on date of issue
and allotment of NCDs and the listing of the NCDs on Stock Exchange. The rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell
or hold the rated instrument and CRISIL Ratings Limited does not comment on the market price or suitability for any
particular investor and investors should take their own decisions. The rating may be subject to revision or withdrawal at
any time by the assigning rating agency and each rating should be evaluated independently of any other rating. The rating
agency has a right to suspend or withdraw the rating at any time on the basis of factors such as new information. In case
of any change in credit ratings till the listing of NCDs, our Company will inform the investors through public notices/
advertisements in all those newspapers in which pre issue advertisement has been given. For the rating letter, rationale
and press release for these ratings, see “Annexure A”.

Disclaimer Statement of CRISIL Ratings Limited

CRISIL Ratings Limited (CRISIL Ratings) has taken due care and caution in preparing the Material based on the
information provided by its client and / or obtained by CRISIL Ratings from sources which it considers reliable
(Information). A rating by CRISIL Ratings reflects its current opinion on the likelihood of timely payment of the
obligations under the rated instrument and does not constitute an audit of the rated entity by CRISIL Ratings. CRISIL
Ratings does not guarantee the completeness or accuracy of the information on which the rating is based. A rating by
CRISIL Ratings is not a recommendation to buy, sell, or hold the rated instrument; it does not comment on the market
price or suitability for a particular investor. The Rating is not a recommendation to invest / disinvest in any entity covered
in the Material and no part of the Material should be construed as an expert advice or investment advice or any form of
investment banking within the meaning of any law or regulation. CRISIL Ratings especially states that it has no liability
whatsoever to the subscribers / users / transmitters/ distributors of the Material. Without limiting the generality of the
foregoing, nothing in the Material is to be construed as CRISIL Ratings providing or intending to provide any services
in jurisdictions where CRISIL Ratings does not have the necessary permission and/or registration to carry out its business
activities in this regard. Incred Financial Services Limited will be responsible for ensuring compliances and consequences
of non-compliances for use of the Material or part thereof outside India. Current rating status and CRISIL Ratings rating
criteria are available without charge to the public on the website, www.crisil.com. For the latest rating information on
any instrument of any company rated by CRISIL Ratings, please contact Customer Service Helpdesk at 1800-267-1301.

Legal Counsel to the Issue

7N KHAITAN
,\,/ &CO R

Khaitan & Co

One World Centre

13"& 10% Floor, Tower 1C,
Senapati Bapat Marg,
Mumbai — 400 013
Mabharashtra, India

Tel: +91 22 6636 5000

Banker to our Company

IDFC First Bank Limited

Ground Floor, Naman Chambers, C-32
G Block, Bandra Kurla Complex
Bandra East, Mumbai 400051

Contact Person: Chintan Satra

Tel: +91 22 7132 6462

Fax:+91 22 2656 1519

Email: gbobkc@idfcbank.com
Website: www.idfcfirstbank.com
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Impersonation

As a matter of abundant precaution, attention of the investors is specifically drawn to the provisions of sub-Section (1)
of Section 38 of the Companies Act, 2013, relating to punishment for fictitious applications. Section 38(1) of the
Companies Act, 2013 provides that:

“Any person who —

(a) makes or abets making of an application in a fictitious name to a company for acquiring, or subscribing for, its
securities; or

(b) makes or abets making of multiple applications to a company in different names or in different combinations of his
name or surname for acquiring or subscribing for its securities; or

(c) otherwise induces directly or indirectly a company to allot, or register any transfer of, securities to him, or to any
other person in a fictitious name,

shall be liable for action under Section 447.”

The liability prescribed under Section 447 of the Companies Act 2013 for fraud involving an amount of at least X 10 lakh
or 1.00% of the turnover of our Company, whichever is lower, includes imprisonment for a term which shall not be less
than six months extending up to 10 years (provided that where the fraud involves public interest, such term shall not be
less than three years) and fine of an amount not less than the amount involved in the fraud, extending up to three times
of such amount. In case the fraud involves (i) an amount which is less than X 10 lakh or 1.00% of the turnover of our
Company, whichever is lower; and (ii) does not involve public interest, then such fraud is punishable with an
imprisonment for a term extending up to five years or a fine of an amount extending up to % 50 lakh or with both.

Recovery Expense Fund

Our Company has created a recovery expense fund in the manner as specified by SEBI in SEBI Debenture Trustee Master
Circular as amended from time to time and Regulation 11 of SEBI NCS Regulations with the Designated Stock Exchange
and have informed the Debenture Trustee regarding the creation of such fund. The Recovery expense fund may be utilized
by Debenture Trustee, in the event of default by our Company under the terms of the Debenture Trust Deed, and the
Applicable Laws, for taking appropriate legal action to enforce the security.

Inter-se allocation of Responsibility

The following table sets forth the responsibilities for various activities by the Lead Managers:

No Activities Responsibility| Coordinator
1. |Due diligence of Company’s operations/ management/ business plans/ legal etc. | JM Financial | JM Financial
o Drafting and designing of the offering document.

e (The Lead Managers shall ensure compliance with stipulated requirements
and completion of prescribed formalities with the Stock Exchange, RoC and
SEBI including finalization of Offering Document and RoC filing). Draft
Prospectus, and this Prospectus (together “Issue Documents”™)

e Coordination with the Stock Exchange for in-principle approval

2. |Structuring of various issuance options with relative components and formalities| JM Financial | JM Financial

etc.

3. |Co-ordination with intermediaries for their deliverables and co-ordination with| JM Financial | JM Financial

lawyers for legal opinion

4. |Drafting and approval of statutory advertisement. JM Financial | JM Financial

5. |Appointment of other intermediaries viz., Registrar, Debenture Trustee,| JM Financial | JM Financial

Consortium/Syndicate Members, printer, advertising agency and Public Issue

Bank, Refund Bank and Sponsor Bank.

6. |Coordination with the printer for designing and finalization of Issue Documents,| JM Financial | JM Financial

Application Form including memorandum containing salient features of the Issue

Documents.

7. |Drafting and approval of all publicity material (excluding statutory advertisement| JM Financial | JM Financial

as mentioned in 5 above) including print and online advertisement, outdoor

advertisement including brochures, banners, hoardings etc.

8. |Preparation of road show presentation, FAQs. JM Financial InCred
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No Activities Responsibility| Coordinator
and InCred Capital
Capital
9. |Marketing strategy which will cover, inter alia: JM Financial InCred
e Deciding on the quantum of the Issue material and follow-up on distribution| and InCred Capital
of publicity and Issue material including Application Forms, Issue Capital
Documents, posters, banners, etc.
o Finalise collection centres;
e Finalisation of list and allocation of institutional investors for one on one
meetings.
10. |Domestic institutions/banks/mutual funds marketing strategy: JM Financial InCred
e  Finalize the list and division of investors for one on one meetings, institutional| and InCred Capital
allocation Capital
11. |Non-institutional marketing strategy which will cover, inter alia: JM Financial InCred
e Finalize media, marketing and public relation strategy and publicity budget; | and InCred Capital
o Finalize centers for holding conferences for brokers, etc. Capital
12. |Coordination with the Stock Exchange for use of the bidding software JM Financial | JM Financial
13. |Coordination for security creation by way of execution of Debenture Trust Deed | JM Financial | JM Financial
14. |Post-issue activities including: JM Financial | JM Financial
e Co-ordination with Bankers to the Issue for management of Public Issue
Account(s), Refund Account and any other account
e Coordinate with Registrar for collection of Application Forms by ASBA
banks; and
e  Allotment resolution
15. |e Drafting and finalization of post issue stationery items like, allotment and| JM Financial | JM Financial
refund advice, etc.;
e Coordination for generation of ISINSs;
e Corporate action for dematerialized credit /delivery of securities;
e Coordinating approval for listing and trading of securities; and
o Redressal of investor grievances in relation to post issue activities.
Underwriting

This Issue is not underwritten.
Arrangers to the Issue

There are no arrangers to the Issue.
Guarantor to the Issue

There are no guarantors to the Issue.
Minimum subscription

In terms of the SEBI NCS Regulations, for an issuer undertaking a public issue of debt securities the minimum
subscription for public issue of debt securities shall be 75% of the Base Issue Size. If our Company does not receive the
minimum subscription of 75% of Base Issue Size, prior to the Issue Closing Date the entire Application Amount shall be
unblocked in the relevant ASBA Account(s) of the Applicants within 8 Working Days from the Issue Closing Date or
such time as may be specified by SEBI. In the event, there is a delay by our Company in unblocking the aforesaid ASBA
Account within the prescribed time limit our Company will become liable to refund the Application Amount along with
interest at the rate of 15 (fifteen) percent per annum for the delayed period.

Under Section 39(3) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule 11(2) of the Companies (Prospectus and Allotment of
Securities) Rules, 2014 if the stated minimum subscription amount is not received within the specified period, the
application money received is to be credited only to the bank account from which the subscription amount was remitted.
To the extent possible, where the required information for making such refunds is available with our Company and/or
Registrar, refunds will be made to the account prescribed. However, where our Company and/or Registrar does not have
the necessary information for making such refunds, our Company and/or Registrar will follow the guidelines prescribed
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by SEBI in this regard included in the SEBI Master Circular.
Designated Intermediaries
Self-Certified Syndicate Bank

The list of banks that have been notified by SEBI to act as the SCSBs for the ASBA and UPI Mechanism process is
provided on the website of SEBI at
https://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognisedFpi=yes&intmld=45 and
https://sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognisedFpi=yes&intmId=40 respectively, as updated from time
to time. For a list of branches of the SCSBs named by the respective SCSBs to receive the ASBA Forms and UPI
Mechanism through app/web interface from the Designated Intermediaries, refer to the above-mentioned links.

In relation to Bids submitted under the ASBA process to a member of the Syndicate, the list of branches of the SCSBs at
the Specified Locations named by the respective SCSBs to receive deposits of the ASBA Forms from the Members of
the Syndicate is available on the website of SEBI at
https://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognisedFpi=yes&intmld=45 and updated from time to
time. For more information on such branches collecting Bid cum Application Forms from the Syndicate at Specified
Locations, see the website of SEBI at

http://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognised or any such other website as may be prescribed by
SEBI from time to time =yes).

Syndicate SCSB Branches

In relation to Applications submitted to a member of the Syndicate or the Trading Members of the Stock Exchange only
in the Specified Cities (Mumbai, Chennai, Kolkata, Delhi, Ahmedabad, Rajkot, Jaipur, Bengaluru, Hyderabad, Pune,
Vadodara and Surat), the list of branches of the SCSBs at the Specified Locations named by the respective SCSBs to
receive deposits of Application Forms from the Members of the Syndicate is available on the website of the SEBI
(https://iwww.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognisedFpi=yes&intmld=45) and updated from time to
time or any such other website as may be prescribed by SEBI from time to time. For more information on such branches
collecting Application Forms from the Syndicate at Specified Locations, see the website of the SEBI
(https://lwww.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognisedFpi=yes&intmld=45) as updated from time to
time or any such other website as may be prescribed by SEBI from time to time.

Broker Centres/ Designated CDP Locations/ Designated RTA Locations

In accordance with SEBI Circular No. CIR/CFD/14/2012 dated October 4, 2012 and RTA Master Circular and the SEBI
Master Circular, Applicants can submit the Application Forms with the Registered Brokers at the Broker Centres, CDPs
at the Designated CDP Locations or the RTAs at the Designated RTA Locations, respective lists of which, including
details such as address and telephone number, are available at the website of the Stock Exchange at www.bseindia.com.

The list of the Registered Brokers, RTAs and CDPs, eligible to accept Applications in the Issue, including details such
as postal address, telephone number and email address, are provided on the websites of the BSE at
http://www.bseindia.com/Markets/Publiclssues/brokercentres_new.aspx?expandable=3 for Registered Brokers and
http://www.bseindia.com/Static/Markets/Publiclssues/RtaDp.aspx?expandable=6 for RTAs and CDPs, as updated from
time to time.

The list of branches of the SCSBs at the Broker Centres, named by the respective SCSBs to receive deposits of the
Application Forms from the Registered Brokers will be available on the website of the SEBI (www.sebi.gov.in) and
updated from time to time.

Utilisation of Issue proceeds

For details on utilisation of Issue proceeds please see, “Objects of the Issue” beginning on page 63.

Issue Programme*

ISSUE OPENS ON Wednesday, October 25, 2023
ISSUE CLOSES ON Tuesday, November 7, 2023
PAY IN DATE Application Date. The entire Application Amount is payable on Application
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DEEMED DATE OF | The date on which our Board of Directors or the Finance Committee approves the
ALLOTMENT Allotment of the NCDs for the Issue or such date as may be determined by the Board of
Directors/ or the Finance Committee thereof and notified to the Designated Stock
Exchange. The actual Allotment of NCDs may take place on a date other than the Deemed
Date of Allotment. All benefits relating to the NCDs including interest on NCDs shall be
available to the Debenture Holders from the Deemed Date of Allotment.

**This Issue shall remain open for subscription on Working Days from 10:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. (Indian Standard Time) during the
period indicated above, except that this Issue may close on such earlier date or extended date (subject to a minimum period of three
Working Days and a maximum period of ten Working Days from the date of opening of the Issue and subject to not exceeding thirty
days from filing this Prospectus with ROC) as may be decided by the Board of Directors or Finance Committee of our Company,
subject to compliance with Regulation 33A of the SEBI NCS Regulations. In the event of an early closure or extension of this Issue,
our Company shall ensure that notice of the same is provided to the prospective investors through an advertisement in all the
newspapers in which pre-issue advertisement for opening of this Issue has been given on or before such earlier or initial date of
Issue closure. Application Forms for this Issue will be accepted only from 10:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. (Indian Standard Time) On the
Issue Closing Date, the Application Forms will be accepted only between 10:00 a.m. and 3:00 p.m. (Indian Standard Time) and
uploaded until 5:00 p.m. or such extended time as may be permitted by the Stock Exchange. Further, pending mandate requests for
bids placed on the last day of bidding will be validated by 5:00 p.m. (Indian Standard Time) on one Working Day post the Issue
Closing Date.

Applications Forms for the Issue will be accepted only from 10:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m.(Indian Standard Time) (“Bidding Period”),
during the Issue Period as mentioned above on all days between Monday and Friday (both inclusive barring public holiday) (a) by
the Designated Intermediaries at the Bidding Centres, or (b) by the SCSBs directly at the Designated Branches of the SCSBs. On the
Issue Closing Date, Application Forms will be accepted only between 10:00 a.m. to 3:00 p.m. (Indian Standard Time) and uploaded
until 5:00 p.m. (Indian Standard Time) or such extended time as may be permitted by the Stock Exchange. It is clarified that the
Applications not uploaded on the Stock Exchange(s) Platform would be rejected. Further, pending mandate requests for bids placed
on the last day of bidding will be validated by 5:00 p.m. (Indian Standard Time) on one Working Day after the Issue Closing Date.

Due to limitation of time available for uploading the Applications on the Issue Closing Date, Applicants are advised to submit their
Application Forms one day prior to the Issue Closing Date and, no later than 3.00 p.m. (Indian Standard Time) on the Issue Closing
Date. Applicants are cautioned that in the event a large number of Applications are received on the Issue Closing Date, there may
be some Applications which are not uploaded due to lack of sufficient time to upload. Such Applications that cannot be uploaded will
not be considered for allocation under the Issue. Neither our Company, nor the Lead Managers, nor any Member of the Syndicate,
Registered Brokers at the Broker Centres, CDPs at the Designated CDP Locations or the RTAs at the Designated RTA Locations or
designated branches of SCSBs are liable for any failure in uploading the Applications due to failure in any software/ hardware
systems or otherwise. As per the SEBI Master Circular, the allotment in this Issue is required to be made on the basis of date of
upload of each application into the electronic book of the Stock Exchange. However, from the date of oversubscription and thereafter,
the allotments will be made to the applicants on proportionate basis.
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE
Details of share capital

The share capital of our Company as on October 6, 2023 is set forth below:

Share Capital ®
AUTHORISED SHARE CAPITAL
50,00,00,000 equity shares of 2 10 500,00,00,000
Total Authorised Share Capital
50,00,00,000 equity shares of 2 10 500,00,00,000
ISSUED, SUBSCRIBED AND PAID-UP SHARE CAPITAL
46,02,26,538 equity shares of 2 10 460,22,65,380
Total 460,22,65,380
Securities Premium Account 624,98,49,373

Note: There will be no change in the capital structure and securities premium account due to the issue and allotment of the NCDs.

Details of change in authorised share capital of our company for the preceding three financial years and current
financial year up to October 6, 2023:

There is no change in authorised share capital for the preceding three financial years and current financial year upto
October 6, 2023.

Issue of Equity Shares for consideration other than cash for the preceding three financial years and current
financial year up to October 6, 2023

No equity shares of the Company have been issued for consideration other than cash. ]

Changes in the Equity Share capital of our Company for the preceding three financial years and current financial
year up to October 6, 2023:

There has been no change in Equity Share capital of our Company in preceding three financial years and current financial
year up to October 6, 2023.
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Shareholding pattern of our Company as on October 6, 2023

Table I - Summary Statement holding of specified securities

Category | Category of Nos. of No. of fully | No. of No. of Total nos. |Shareholding | Number of VVoting Rights held in each class of No. of Shareholding, No. of No. of Shares | No. of equity
shareholder |shareholders paid up Partly shares shares held s a % of total securities Shares asa % Locked in pledged or  [shares held in
equity shares |paid-up |underlying no. of shares Underlying |assuming full shares otherwise | dematerialised
held equity |Depository (calculated as Outstanding | conversion of encumbered form
shares | Receipts per SCRR, convertible | convertible
held 1957) No of Voting Rights Total | securities [securities (asa |[No. [Asa% | No. [Asa%
Class eg: Class Total asa (including | percentage of | (a) |of total of total
Equity eg:y % of |Warrants) |diluted share Shares Shares
Shares (A+B capital) held held
+C) (b)
) (1 (1n (V) V) (V1) (VI (\A1D) (IX) (X) (X1) XII) (X1 (XIV)
(A) Promoter & 2*| 46,02,26,538 Nil Nil |  46,02,26,538 100 | 46,02,26,538 Nil | 46,02,26,538 100 Nil 100 | Nil Nil Nil Nil | 46,02,26,538
Promoter Group
(B) Public Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil | Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
| Non Promoter- Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil | Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
Non Public
(C1) Shares Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil | Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
underlying DRs
(C2) Shares held by Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil | Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
Employees
Trusts
Total: 7*| 46,02,26,538 Nil Nil | 46,02,26,538 100 | 46,02,26,538 Nil | 46,02,26,538 100 Nil 100 | Nil Nil Nil Nil | 46,02,26,538

* 6 shareholders i.e. Bhupinder Singh, Vivek Bansal, Gajendra Singh Thakur, Saurabh Jhalaria, Kamlesh Dangi and Nikita Hule as individual shareholders hold shares held on behalf of InCred Holdings Limited
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Table -1 — Statement showing shareholding pattern of the Promoter and Promoter Group

Categ |Category & Name PAN No of | No of fully | No of No of Total No of [Shareholdin |Number of Voting Rights held in each class [No of Shares |Shareholding as | Number of Number of Number of
ory |of the Shareholder Share paid up Partly | Shares |SharesHeld |gasa % of of securities Underlying | a % assuming Locked in  |Shares pledged equity
holders equity paid- |Underlying | (IV+V+VI) | total no of Outstanding [full conversion of Shares or otherwise |[shares held
shares held up |Depository shares convertible convertible encumbered in
equity | Receipts (calculated No of Voting Rights Total asa % | securities | Securities (@asa | No. [ Asa% | No. |As a % of fematerializ
shares as per of (A+B+C) | (Including | percentage of of total total ed form
held SCRR, 1957 Class X |ClassY | Total Warrants) diluted share Shares Shares
(VI capital) (VI1)+(X) held held
As a % of As a % of
(A+B+C2) (A+B+C2)
0) D) () %) v) (V1) (VI (VI (1X) x) (X1 &) D) (XIV)
(1) [Indian
(@) | Individuals/
Hindu undivided
Family
Bhupinder  Singh | ANVPS2558R 1 395* - - 400| Negligible 400 - - 400 - - - - 400
(Held on behalf of
InCred  Holdings
Limited)
Kamlesh Dangi | ABWPD6101C 1*
(Held on behalf of
InCred  Holdings
Limited)
Vivek Bansal | AEMPB6598Q 1*
(Held on behalf of
InCred  Holdings
Limited)
Nikita Hule (Held | ADKPH1525N 1*
on behalf of InCred
Holdings Limited)
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Categ
ory

Category & Name
of the Shareholder

PAN

No of
Share
holders

No of fully
paid up
equity

shares held

Gajendra  Singh
Thakur (Held on
behalf of InCred
Holdings Limited)

ADEPT3605R

1*

Saurabh  Jhalaria
(Held on behalf of
InCred  Holdings
Limited)

ACPPJ5895H

1*

No of
Partly
paid-
up
equity
shares
held

No of
Shares
Underlying
Depository
Receipts

Total No of
Shares Held
(IV+V+VI)

Shareholdin
g asa % of
total no of
(calculated

SCRR, 1957

As a % of
(A+B+C2)

shares

of securities

Number of Voting Rights held in each class

No of Shares
Underlying
Outstanding
convertible

as per

No of Voting Rights

Class X
(V)

Class Y | Total

Total as a %
of (A+B+C)

securities
(Including
Warrants)

Shareholding as
a % assuming
full conversion of
convertible
Securities (as a
percentage of
diluted share
capital) (V11)+(X)
As a % of
(A+B+C2)

Number of
Locked in
Shares

Number of
Shares pledged
or otherwise
encumbered

Number of
equity
shares held
in

As a %

of total

Shares
held

No.

No. |As a % of
total

Shares
held

dematerializ
ed form

(b)

Central
Government/

State
Government(s)

©

Financial
Institutions/

Banks

(d)

Any Other

InCred
Limited

Holdings

AAECK1997B

1*

46,02,26,138

46,02,26,138

99.9999131

46,02,26,138 - -

46,02,26,138

46,02,26,138

Sub-Total (A)(1)

2*

46,02,26,538

46,02,26,538

100

46,02,26,538 - -

46,02,26,538

46,02,26,538

@

Foreign

@

Individuals (Non-
Resident
Individuals/

Foreign
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Categ

Category & Name PAN No of | No of fully | No of No of Total No of [Shareholdin |Number of VVoting Rights held in each class [No of Shares |Shareholding as | Number of Number of Number of
ory [of the Shareholder Share paid up Partly | Shares [Shares Held |gasa % of of securities Underlying | a % assuming Locked in  [Shares pledged equity
holders equity paid- |Underlying | (IV+V+VI) | total no of Outstanding [full conversion of Shares or otherwise [shares held
shares held up |Depository shares convertible convertible encumbered in
equity | Receipts (calculated No of Voting Rights Total as a % | securities | Securities (asa | No. |Asa % | No. |As a % of fematerializ
shares as per of (A+B+C) | (Including percentage of of total total ed form
held SCRR, 1957 Class X |ClassY | Total Warrants) diluted share Shares Shares
(V) capital) (V11)+(X) held held
As a % of As a % of
(A+B+C2) (A+B+C2)
Individuals
(b) | Government - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
(c) | Institutions - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
(d) |Foreign Portfolio - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Investor
(e) |Any Other - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Sub-Total (A)(2) - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Total 2*| 46,02,26,538 - -| 46,02,26,538 100( 46,02,26,538 - 46,02,26,538 - - - - -146,02,26,538
Shareholding  of
Promoter and
Promoter Group
A=AD+AQ)

* Vivek Bansal, Gajendra Singh Thakur, Saurabh Jhalaria, Kamlesh Dangi and Nikita Hule as individual shareholders hold shares held on behalf of InCred Holdings Limited
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Table I11- Statement showing shareholding pattern of the Public shareholder

Categ | Category & Name of | PAN No of | No of fully No of [No of Shares | Total No [Shareholdi| Number of Voting Rights held in each No of Shares | Shareholding as | Number of | Number of Number of
ory the Shareholder Share paid up Partly Underlying | of Shares |ng as a % class of securities Underlying a % assuming Locked in Shares equity shares
holders equity paid-up | Depository Held of total no Outstanding [full conversion of Shares pledged or held in
shares held | equity Receipts (IV+V+ | of shares convertible convertible otherwise |dematerialized
shares held VI) (A+B+ securities Securities (as a encumbered form
C2) No of Voting Rights Total asa| (Including percentage of No. [ Asa | No. | Asa
Class Class Total % of Warrants) diluted share % of % of
X Y (A+B+ capital) total total
C) Shares Shares
held held
[0) (1 (1) (1Vv) V) (V1) (V1) (1) (1X) X) (X1) (X11) (XI111) (X1V)
(1) |Institutions
(c) |Alternate Investment Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil | Nil Nil
Funds
(d) |Foreign Venture Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil | Nil Nil
Capital Investors
(e) [Foreign Portfolio Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil | Nil Nil
Investors
(f) |Financial Institutions/ Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil | Nil Nil
Banks
() |Insurance Companies Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil | Nil Nil | Nil Nil Nil
(h) |Provident Funds/ Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil | Nil Nil | Nil Nil Nil
Pension Funds
(i) |Any Other Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil | Nil Nil | Nil Nil Nil
Foreign Nationals Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil | Nil Nil | Nil Nil Nil
Sub Total (B)(1) Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil | Nil Nil | Nil Nil Nil
(2) [Central Government/ Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil | Nil Nil | Nil Nil Nil
State Government(s)/
President of India
Sub Total (B)(2) Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil | Nil Nil | Nil Nil Nil
(3) |Non-Institutions
(@ |[i. Individual Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil | Nil Nil | Nil Nil Nil
shareholders holding
nominal share capital
up to X 2 lakh
ii. Individual Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil | Nil Nil | Nil Nil Nil
shareholders holding
nominal share capital
in excess of X 2 lakh
(b) [NBFCs Registered Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil | Nil Nil | Nil Nil Nil
ith RBI
(c) |[Employee Trusts Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil | Nil Nil | Nil Nil Nil
(d) |Overseas Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil | Nil Nil | Nil Nil Nil
Depositories
(Holding DRs)
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Categ | Category & Name of | PAN No of | No of fully No of [No of Shares | Total No [Shareholdi| Number of Voting Rights held in each No of Shares | Shareholding as | Number of | Number of Number of
ory the Shareholder Share paid up Partly | Underlying | of Shares [ngas a % class of securities Underlying | a % assuming Locked in Shares equity shares
holders equity paid-up | Depository Held |of total no Outstanding [full conversion of |  Shares pledged or held in
shares held | equity Receipts (IV+V+ | of shares convertible convertible otherwise |dematerialized
shares held VI) (A+B+ securities Securities (as a encumbered form
C2) No of Voting Rights Total asa| (Including percentage of | No. | Asa | No. | Asa
Class Class Total % of Warrants) diluted share % of % of
X Y (A+B+ capital) total total
@) Shares Shares
held held
(0] () (1 (1v) V) (\Y4)) (VI (Vi (1X) X) (X1) (X1 (X111) X1V)
(Balancing figure)

(e) |Any Other Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil | Nil Nil | Nil Nil Nil
NON RESIDENT Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil | Nil Nil | Nil Nil Nil
INDIANS
CLEARING Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil | Nil Nil | Nil Nil Nil
MEMBERS
Qualified Institutional Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil | Nil Nil | Nil Nil Nil
Buyer
NON RESIDENT Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil | Nil Nil | Nil Nil Nil
INDIAN NON
REPATRIABLE
BODIES Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil | Nil Nil | Nil Nil Nil
ICORPORATES
Sub Total (B)(3) Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil | Nil Nil | Nil Nil Nil
[Total Public Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil | Nil Nil | Nil Nil Nil
Shareholding (B) =
BO+ BA+HB)E)
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List of top 10 holders of Equity Shares of our Company as on October 6, 2023:

Sr. Name of Shareholder Total Number of| No of shares | Total shareholding as
No. Equity Shares | in demat form| a % of total number off
Equity Shares
1. | InCred Holdings Limited 46,02,26,138 | 46,02,26,138 99.9%
2. | Bhupinder Singh” 395 395 0.0%
3. | Vivek Bansal” 1 1 0.0%
4. | Gajendra Singh Thakur * 1 1 0.0%
5. | Saurabh Jhalaria” 1 1 0.0%
6. | Kamlesh Dangi” 1 1 0.0%
7. | Nikita Hule” 1 1 0.0%
Total 46,02,26,538 | 46,02,26,538 100.0%

Notes:

*Nominee shares held on behalf of InCred Holdings Limited

List of top 10 holders of non-convertible securities as on October 6, 2023 (on cumulative basis):
(< in lakh, except percentages)

Sr. Name of the Subscriber Category Issued % of total non-
No. Amount convertible securities
outstanding
1 | UTI International Wealth Creator 4 Corporate 11,500.0 15.0
2 | Unifi AIF Corporate 4,189.1 5.5
3 | Raymond Limited Corporate 2,670.0 3.5
4 | Northern Arc Money Market Alpha Trust | Corporate 2,500.0 3.3
5 | Naval Group Insurance Fund Corporate 1,974.1 2.6
6 | Kisan Phosphates Private Limited Corporate 1,050.0 14
7 | Sporta Technologies Private Limited Corporate 1,000.0 1.3
8 | JM Financial Products Ltd Corporate 965.0 1.3
9 | S KFinance Limited Corporate 850.0 1.1
10 | Alpha Fintech Private Limited Corporate 645.0 0.8

Statement of the aggregate number of securities of our Company and our Subsidiary purchased or sold by our
Promoters, Promoter Group, our Directors and the directors of our Promoters and/or their relatives within six
months immediately preceding the date of filing of this Prospectus.

No securities of our Company have been purchased or sold by our Promoters, promoter group, our Directors,
directors of our Promoter and/or their relatives within six months immediately preceding the date of filing of the

Prospectus.

No securities of our subsidiaries have been purchased or sold by our Promoters, promoter group, our
Directors, directors of our Promoter and/or their relatives within six months immediately preceding the

date of filing of this Prospectus.

Statement of Capitalization

A. Statement of capitalization (Debt to Equity Ratio) of our Company (Standalone) as on March 31, 2023:

(2 in lakh, except Debt/Equity ratio)

Particulars Pre-Issue as at March 31, 2023 | Post Issue as Adjusted**
Debt
Debt securities 1,15,190.1 1,45,190.1
Borrowings (other than debt securities) 2,76,105.9 2,76,105.9
Total Debt (A) 3,91,296.0 4,21,296.0
Equity
Equity share capital 46,022.7 46,022.7
Other equity 2,02,344.8 2,02,344.8
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(R in lakh, except Debt/Equity ratio)

Particulars Pre-lIssue as at March 31, 2023 | Post Issue as Adjusted**
Total Equity (B) 2,48,367.4 2,48,367.4
Debt/ Equity (C= A/B) 1.6 1.7

**The debt-equity ratio post Issue in indicative on account of the assumed inflow of ¥ 30,000 lakhs from the proposed
Issue. The actual debt-equity ratio post the Issue would depend on the actual position of debt and equity on the Deemed
Date of Allotment.

B. Statement of capitalization (Debt to Equity Ratio) of our Company (Consolidated) as on March 31, 2023:

(% in lakh, except Debt/Equity ratio)

Particulars Pre-lssue as at March 31, 2023 | Post Issue as Adjusted**
Debt
Debt securities 1,15,190.1 1,45,190.1
Borrowings (other than debt securities) 2,76,105.9 2,76,105.9
Total Debt (A) 3,91,296.0 4,21,296.0
Equity
Equity share capital 46,022.7 46,022.7
Other equity 2,02,638.4 2,02,638.4
Total Equity (B) 2,48,661.1 2,48,661.1
Debt/ Equity (C= A/B) 1.6 1.7

**The debt-equity ratio post Issue in indicative on account of the assumed inflow of ¥ 30,000 lakhs from the proposed
Issue. The actual debt-equity ratio post the Issue would depend on the actual position of debt and equity on the Deemed
Date of Allotment.

Shareholding of Directors in our Company

Except as disclosed below, none of the Directors in our Company as on October 6, 2023 hold shares of the

Company.
Sr. Name of Directors Number of Shares Percentage of Shareholding (in %0)
No. (on fully diluted basis)
1. Bhupinder Singh” 395 Negligible
2 Vivek Bansal” 1 Negligible

* Nominee shares held on behalf of InCred Holdings Limited

Details of Promoter’s shareholding in our Company’s Subsidiary

Other than disclosed below, as on the date of this Prospectus, our Promoters are not holding any shares in our

subsidiaries:
Name of the Name of the Company Nature of the Company | No. of Shares held
Director (subsidiary, associates (on fully diluted
or joint ventures) basis)
Bhupinder Singh | InCred Management and Technology | Subsidiary 1
Services Private Limited*
InCred.Al Limited* Subsidiary 1

*Nominee shares held on behalf of our Company

Details of Promoter’s shareholding in our Joint Venture and Associate Companies

Nil

Details of any acquisition or amalgamation in the last one year

Nil




Details of any reorganization or reconstruction in the last one year

Our Company has not made any reorganization or reconstruction in the last one year prior to filing of this
Prospectus.

For more details, please see “History and Main Objects - Composite Scheme Of Amalgamation And Arrangement”
on page 148.

Details of debt securities that were issued at a premium or a discount by the Company

Other than as disclosed in the section “Financial Indebtedness” on page 188, no debt securities were issued at a
premium or a discount by the Company.

Details of shareholding of our Directors in our Subsidiaries, Associate or Joint Ventures as of date of this
Prospectus

Other than disclosed below, as on the date of this Prospectus, the Directors are not holding any shares in subsidiary,
associates or joint ventures.

Name of Name of the Company Nature of the Company | No. of | % of holding
the (subsidiary, associates | Shares (on fully
Director or joint ventures) held | diluted basis)
Bhupinder InCred Management and Technology | Subsidiary 1 Negligible
Singh Services Private Limited*
InCred.Al Limited* Subsidiary 1 Negligible

*Nominee share held on behalf of our Company

Details of change in the promoter holding in our Company during the last financial year beyond 26 % (as
prescribed by RBI)

Except the change in shareholding pursuant to the Scheme, there has been no change in the promoter holding in
our Company during the last financial year beyond 26%. For further details see please see ‘History and Main
Objects - Composite Scheme of Amalgamation and Arrangement’ on page 148.

Employee Stock Option Scheme

Nil

Details of pledge or encumbrance of equity shares held by Promoter and Promoter Group

None of the Equity Shares held by the Promoter in our Company are pledged or encumbered otherwise by our
Promoter and Promoter Group.
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OBJECTS OF THE ISSUE
Issue Proceeds

Our Company has filed this Prospectus for a public issue of secured, rated, listed, redeemable, NCDs for an amount up
to X 15,000 lakh with an option to retain oversubscription up to X 15,000 lakh, aggregating up to X 30,000 lakh.

The Issue is being made pursuant to the provisions of the SEBI NCS Regulations and the Companies Act and the rules
made there under. Our Company proposes to utilize the proceeds raised through the Issue, after deducting the Issue related
expenses to the extent payable by our Company (“Net Proceeds”) towards funding the objects listed under this section.

The details of the proceeds of the Issue are summarized below:

Particulars Estimated amount (R in lakh)
Gross proceeds of the Issue 30,000.0
Less: Issue related expenses* 493.0
Net proceeds 29,507.0

*The above Issue related expenses are indicative and are subject to change depending on the actual level of subscription to the
Issue, the number of allottees, market conditions and other relevant factors.

Requirement of Funds and Utilization of Net Proceeds

The following table details the objects of the Issue (collectively, referred to herein as the “Objects”) and the amount
proposed to be financed from Net Proceeds:

Sr. Objects of the Issue Percentage of amount proposed to

No. be financed from Net Proceeds

(@ |For the purpose of onward lending, financing and for repayment of At least 75%
interest and principal of existing borrowings of the Company*

(b) |General Corporate Purposes** Maximum up to 25%
Total 100%

*Our Company will not utilise the proceeds of this Issue towards payment of prepayment penalty, if any

**The Net Proceeds will be first utilized towards the Objects mentioned above. The balance is proposed to be utilized for general
corporate purposes, subject to such utilization not exceeding 25% of the amount raised in the Issue, in compliance with the SEBI
NCS Regulations.

The main objects clause of the Memorandum of Association of the Company permits the Company to undertake its
existing activities as well as the activities for which the funds are being raised through the Issue.

Issue related expenses break-up

The expenses for this Issue include, inter alia, lead management fees and selling commission to the Lead Managers,
Consortium Member and intermediaries as provided for in the SEBI Master Circular, fees payable to debenture trustees,
the Registrar to the Issue, SCSBs’ commission/ fees, printing and distribution expenses, legal fees, advertisement
expenses, listing fees and any other expense directly related to the Issue. The Issue expenses and listing fees will be paid
by our Company.

The estimated breakdown of the total expenses for this Issue and the timeline for such payment for this Issue are as
follows:

Particulars Amount As percentage of As percentage of
Issue Size total
® in lakh)” Proceeds (in %0) expenses of the
Issue (in %)
Lead manager fees 42.0 0.1% 8.5%
Underwriting commission - 0.0% 0.0%
Brokerage, selling commission and upload fees 293.6 1.0% 59.6%
Fee Payable to the registrar to the issue 3.5 0.0% 0.7%
Fees payable to the legal advisor 27.0 0.1% 5.5%
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Particulars Amount As percentage of As percentage of
Issue Size total
® in lakh)” Proceeds (in %0) expenses of the
Issue (in %)

Advertising and marketing expenses 40.0 0.1% 8.1%
Fees payable to the regulators including stock 16.2 0.1% 3.3%
exchange.
Expenses mpurred on printing and distribution 14.9 0.0% 3.0%
of issue stationary
Any other fees, commission or payments under 55.8 0.2% 11.3%
whatever nomenclature.
Grand Total 493.0 1.6% 100.0%

*Assuming the Issue is fully subscribed. The expenses are indicative and are subject to change depending on the actual
level of subscription to the Issue and the number of Allottees, market conditions and other relevant factors.

Note: The above expenses are subject to applicable taxes as per the agreed terms of engagement with respective agency.

Our Company shall pay processing fees to the SCSBs for ASBA forms procured by Lead Managers/Consortium Member,
Trading Members, RTAs and CDPs and submitted to the SCSBs for blocking the application amount of the applicant, at
the rate of 10 per Application Form procured, as finalized by our Company. However, it is clarified that in case of
ASBA Application Forms procured directly by the SCSBs, the relevant SCSBs shall not be entitled to any ASBA
Processing Fee.

Further, the Sponsor Bank shall not be paid any fee for Application collected by them.

Purpose for which there is a requirement of funds

As stated in this section.

Funding Plan

Our Company confirms that for the purpose of this Issue, funding plan will not be applicable.

Summary of the project appraisal report

Our Company confirms that for the purpose of this Issue, summary of the project appraisal report will not be applicable.
Schedule of implementation of the project

Our Company confirms that for the purpose of this Issue, schedule of implementation of the project will not be applicable.
Monitoring of utilization of funds

There is no requirement for appointment of a monitoring agency in terms of the SEBI NCS Regulations. The Audit
Committee of our Company shall monitor the utilisation of the proceeds of the Issue. Our Company will disclose in our
Company’s financial statements for the relevant financial year commencing from Fiscal 2024, the utilisation of the
proceeds of the Issue under a separate head along with details, if any, in relation to all such proceeds of the Issue that
have not been utilised thereby also indicating investments, if any, of such unutilized proceeds of the Issue. Our Company
shall utilize the proceeds of the Issue only upon receipt of minimum subscription, i.e. 75% of base issue relating to the
Issue, the execution of the documents for creation of security and the Debenture Trust Deed and receipt of final listing
and trading approval from the Stock Exchange. Our Company, within forty-five days from the end of every quarter or
such other period as per applicable law, submit to the stock exchange, a statement indicating the utilization of issue

proceeds of non-convertible securities, which shall be continued to be given till such time the issue proceeds have been
fully utilised or the purpose for which these proceeds were raised has been achieved.
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Interim use of proceeds

Our Management, in accordance with the policies formulated by it from time to time,will have the flexibility in deploying
the proceeds received from the Issue. Pending utilization of the proceeds out of the Issue for the purposes described
above, our Company intends to temporarily invest funds in high quality interest/ non- interest bearing liquid instruments
including money market mutual funds, deposits with banks, current account of banks or temporarily deploy the funds in
investment grade interest bearing securities as may be approved by our Board of Directors or a committee thereof. Such
investment would be in accordance with the investment policies approved by the Board or any committee thereof from
time to time.

Other Confirmations

In accordance with the SEBI NCS Regulations, our Company will not utilize the proceeds of the Issue for providing loans
to or acquisition of shares of any person or company who is a part of the Promoter Group or Group Companies.

Proceeds from the Issue shall not be utilised towards full or part consideration for the purchase or any other acquisition,
inter alia by way of a lease, of any immovable property. No part of the proceeds from the Issue will be paid by us as
consideration to our Promoter, the Directors, Key Managerial Personnel, or companies promoted by our Promoter except
in ordinary course of business.

No part of the proceeds from the Issue will be utilized for buying, trading or otherwise dealing in equity shares of any
listed company. Further our Company undertakes that Issue proceeds from NCDs allotted to banks shall not be used for
any purpose, which may be in contravention of the RBI guidelines including those relating to classification as capital
market exposure or any other sectors that are prohibited under the RBI Regulations.

Our Company confirms that it will not use the proceeds from the Issue or any part of the proceeds, directly or indirectly,
for the purchase of any business or in the purchase of an interest in any business and by reason of that purchase or
anything done in consequence thereof, or in connection therewith our Company shall become entitled to an interest in
either the capital or profit or losses or both in such business exceeding 50% thereof, the purchase or acquisition of any
immovable property (direct or indirect) for which advances have been paid to third parties or acquisition of securities of
any other body corporate.

The fund requirement as above is based on our current business plan and is subject to change in light of variations in
external circumstances or costs, or in our financial condition, business or strategy. Our management, in response to the
competitive and dynamic nature of the industry, will have the discretion to revise its business plan from time to time and
consequently our funding requirements and deployment of funds may also change.

There is no contribution being made or intended to be made by the Directors as part of the Issue or separately in
furtherance of the Objects of the Issue.

General Corporate Purposes

Our Company intends to deploy up to 25% of the amount raised and allotted in the Issue for general corporate purposes,
including but not restricted to routine capital expenditure, renovations, strategic initiatives, meeting any expenditure in
relation to our Company as well as meeting exigencies which our Company may face in the ordinary course of business,
or any other purposes as may be approved by our Board of Directors or duly authorized committee thereof.

Variation in terms of contract or objects in this Prospectus

Our Company shall not, in terms of Section 27 of the Companies Act, 2013, at any time, vary the terms of the objects for
which this Prospectus is issued, except as may be prescribed under the applicable laws and specifically under Section 27
of the Companies Act, 2013. Further, in accordance with the SEBI Listing Regulations, in case of any material deviation
in the use of proceeds as compared to the objects of the issue, the same shall be indicated in the format as specified by
SEBI from time to time.

Benefit / interest accruing to Promoter/Directors out of the object of the Issue

Neither our Promoter nor the Directors of our Company are interested in the Objects of this Issue.
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STATEMENT OF POSSIBLE TAX BENEFITS

STATEMENT OF POSSIBLE TAX BENEFITS AVAILABLE TO THE DEBENTURES HOLDERS

The Board of Directors

InCred Financial Services Limited
Unit No. 1203, 12th Floor,

B — Wing, The Capital, Plot No. C-70,
G Block, Bandra Kurla Complex,
Mumbai — 400 051

Dear Sirs

Statement of Possible Tax Benefits available to the debenture holders of InCred Financial Services Limited
(formerly known as KKR India Financial Services Limited) (the “Company”) in connection with the proposed
public issue of secured redeemable non-convertible debentures of face value of ¥ 1,000 each (the “Debentures” or
the “NCDs”) (hereinafter referred to as the “Issue”)

1.

We hereby confirm that the enclosed ‘Statement of Possible Tax Benefits available to the Debenture Holders’
(“Statement”), prepared by InCred Financial Services Limited (the “Company”), provides the possible tax benefits
available to the debenture holders of the Company under the Income tax Act, 1961 (the “Act”) as amended by the
Finance Bill, 2023, i.e. applicable for the Financial Year 2023-2024 relevant to the Assessment Year 2024-2025
respectively, presently in force in India. Several of these benefits are dependent on the debenture holders fulfilling
the conditions prescribed under the relevant provisions of the Act. Hence, the ability of the debenture holders to
derive the tax benefits is dependent upon their fulfilling such conditions which, the debenture holders may or may
not choose to fulfil.

The benefits discussed in the enclosed Statement are not exhaustive and the preparation of the contents stated is the
responsibility of the Company’s management. We are informed that this statement is only intended to provide
general information to the investors and is neither designed nor intended to be a substitute for professional tax
advice. In view of the individual nature of the tax consequences and the changing tax laws, each investor is advised
to consult his or her own tax consultant with respect to the specific tax implications arising out of their participation
in the issue.

We do not express any opinion or provide any assurance as to whether:

i)  the debenture holders will continue to obtain these benefits in future;

i) the conditions prescribed for availing the benefits have been / would be met with; and

iii) the revenue authorities/courts will concur with the views expressed herein.

The contents of the enclosed Statement are based on information, explanations and representations obtained from
the Company and on the basis of their understanding of the business activities and operations of the Company.

This Statement has been issued at the request of the Company for the purpose of inclusion in the offer document in
connection with its proposed Issue and should not be used by anyone else or for any other purpose.
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For S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP
Chartered Accountants

ICAI Firm registration number: 101049W/E300004
per Sarvesh Warty

Partner
Membership No. 121411
UDIN: 23121411BGWFAAT7723

Place: London
Date: September 26, 2023
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STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF POSSIBLE TAX BENEFITS AVAILABLE TO THE DEBENTURES HOLDER(S)

This Annexure is based on the provisions of the Income-tax Act, 1961 (‘IT Act’) in force as on the current date, after
considering the amendments made by the Finance Act, 2023 (‘FA, 2023”).

This Annexure intends to provide general information on the applicable provisions of the IT Act. However, in view of the
nature of the implications, the investors are best advised to consult their respective tax advisors/consultants for appropriate
counsel with respect to the specific tax and other implications arising out of their participation in the Portfolio as indicated
herein.

Taxability under the IT Act

Section 50AA of the IT Act

The Finance Act, 2023 has inserted section 50AA to the IT Act to provide for a special provision for computation of
capital gains in case of Market Linked Debenture (MLD). For the purposes of the said section, MLD have been defined
in the Explanation thereto to mean a security by whatever name called, which has an underlying principal component in
the form of a debt security and where the returns are linked to the market returns on other underlying securities or indices,
and includes any security classified or regulated as a MLD by the Securities and Exchange Board of India.

Based on the definition, MLD has the following essential features:

It is a security in the nature of debt;

It has an underlying principal component;

Returns with respect to such security are linked to market returns on other underlying securities or indices;

And, by way of extension, it is also provided that any security classified or regulated by SEBI as an MLD, shall for
the purposes of section 50AA of the IT Act, be deemed to be an MLD

The Non-Convertible Debentures (NCDs) issued/ proposed to be issued by the issuer creates a borrower-lender
relationship between the issuer and subscriber and to that extent, such NCDs constitute a security in the nature of debt.
Further, such NCDs, by their very nature, have a principal component (which is the price at which the subscriber
subscribes to such NCDs).

However, the returns with respect to such NCDs (excess of redemption value over the principal component) is a fixed
return and is not linked to any market return or underlying security or indices.

Given the same, the NCDs issued by the issuer do not satisfy the first limb of the definition of MLD as provided in the
Explanation to section 50AA of the IT Act and thus, such NCDs should not constitute an MLD for the purposes of section
50AA of the IT Act.

The second limb of the definition of MLD which deems any security classified or regulated by SEBI as an MLD, to be
an MLD for the purposes of section 50AA of the IT Act, is an independent limb and need to be construed as such. We
have been given to understand that, at present, the NCD issued/ proposed to be issued by the issuer is neither classified
nor regulated by the SEBI as an MLD and accordingly, the NCDs issued by the issuer should not constitute an MLD for
the purposes of section 50AA of the IT Act. However, the said fact-pattern would have to be re-visited in light of any
amendment in the law as may be notified by SEBI in future.

A. Common provisions applicable to both Resident and Non-Resident debenture holders:

1. Determination of head of income for the purpose of assessability:
The returns received by the investors from the Non-Convertible Debentures (‘NCD?’) in the form of ‘interest’
and gains on transfer of the NCD, may be characterized under the following broad heads of income for the
purposes of taxation under the IT Act:

e Profits and gains of business or profession (‘PGBP’);
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e Capital gains (‘CG’); and
e Income from other sources (‘IFOS”).

For determining the appropriate head of income (as mentioned above) vis-a-vis the income or loss earned on/
from the NCD, it will be pertinent to analyse whether the NCD are held as ‘Investments’ i.e. capital asset or as
‘Stock-in-trade’.

If the NCD are held as ‘Stock-in-trade’, interest income as well as gain or loss on its transfer will be assessed to
tax under the head PGBP, whereas, if the NCD are held as ‘Investments’, then the interest income will be
assessed to tax under the head IFOS and any gain/ loss on its transfer will be assessed to tax under the head CG
(explained in ensuing paragraphs), based on facts of each case.

However, as per section 2(14) of the IT Act, ‘capital asset’ includes, inter alia, securities held by a Foreign
Institutional Investor (‘FII’) [now known as Foreign Portfolio Investor (‘FPI’)] which has invested in such
securities in accordance with the regulations made under Securities and Exchange Board of India Act, 1992.
Accordingly, such securities, held by an FIl, will be characterised as ‘capital asset’ and classification as ‘Stock-
in-trade’ shall not apply.

The investors may obtain specific advice from their tax advisors regarding the above classification and tax
treatment.

Taxation of Interest and Gain/ loss on transfer of debentures:

- Taxation of Interest

Income by way of interest received on NCD held as ‘Investments’ (i.e. capital asset) will be charged to tax
under the head IFOS at the rates applicable to the investor after deduction of expenses, if any, allowable under
section 57 of the IT Act. These are essentially expenses (not being in the nature of capital expenditure) laid
out or expended wholly and exclusively for the purpose of earning the interest income. In case of NCD held
as ‘Stock-in-trade’, interest received thereon will be charged to tax under the head PGBP. Further, any
expenditure specifically laid out or expended wholly and exclusively for the purpose of earning such interest
income shall be allowed as deduction.

The investors may obtain specific advice from their tax advisors regarding the tax treatment of their Interest
income.

- Taxation of gain or loss on transfer

(a) Taxable under the head PGBP

As discussed above, depending on the particular facts of each case, the NCD may, in certain cases, be
regarded to be in the nature of ‘Stock-in-trade’ and, accordingly, the gains from the transfer of such NCD
should be considered to be in the nature of business income and hence chargeable to tax under the head
PGBP.

In such a scenario, the gains from the business of investing in the NCD may be chargeable to tax on a ‘net’
basis (i.e. net of allowable deductions for expenses/allowances under Chapter IV — Part D of the IT Act).

Based on section 145 of the IT Act, the timing of charging any income to tax would depend on the method
of accounting followed by the taxpayer consistently (i.e. cash or mercantile).

Investors should obtain specific advice from their tax advisors regarding the manner of computing business
income, the deductions available therefrom and the tax to be paid thereon.

(b) Taxable under the head Capital Gains
As discussed above, based on the particular facts of each case, the NCD may, in certain cases, be regarded

to be held as ‘Investments’ in which case the gains or loss from the transfer of such NCD should be
chargeable to tax under the head CG.
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In such a scenario, the gains / loss from the transfer of such NCD may be chargeable to tax on a ‘net’ basis
(i.e. net of acquisition cost of NCD, expenditure incurred in relation to transfer of NCD).

Investors should, however, seek specific advice from their tax advisors/ consultants in respect of
characterization of capital gains, the manner of computation and the tax to be paid thereon

3. Period of holding and Capital gain — long term & short term:

As per section 2(29AA) read with section 2(42A) of the IT Act, listed NCD is treated as a long-term capital asset
if the same is held for more than 12 months immediately preceding the date of its transfer and consequently, the
gain/ loss on transfer of such NCD should be treated as long term capital gain/ loss.

Accordingly, if listed NCD is held for up to 12 months immediately preceding the date of its transfer, the same
should be treated as a short-term capital asset and the gain/ loss on transfer of such NCD should be treated as
short-term capital gain/ loss.

Without prejudice to the fact that the NCDs to be issued by the issuer are not MLD (as has been concluded at
the outset), where, for whatsoever reasons, the NCDs are treated as MLDs, then in such cases, as per the
amendment by the FA, 2023, the capital gains arising on transfer or redemption or maturity of such NCDs shall
be deemed to be capital gains arising from transfer of a short-term capital asset. Further, in computing the capital
gains, no deduction shall be allowed on account of Securities Transaction Tax (STT) paid, if any.

4.  Computation of capital gains and tax thereon

Capital gains is computed after reducing from the consideration received for the transfer of the capital asset
[“full value of consideration (FVC)], the cost of acquisition (CoA) of such asset and the expenses incurred wholly
and exclusively in connection with the transfer. The capital gains so computed will be chargeable to tax at the
rates as detailed in the ensuing paragraphs.

5. Set off of capital losses

As per section 74 of the IT Act, long-term capital loss incurred during a year can be set-off only against long-
term capital gains arising in that year or in subsequent years and cannot be set-off against short-term capital
gains arising in that year or in subsequent years. The long-term capital loss remaining after set-off, if any, can
be carried forward for eight years immediately succeeding the year in which the loss was first computed, to be
for set-off against subsequent years’ long-term capital gains.

On the other hand, short-term capital loss incurred during a year can be set-off against both, short-term and long-
term capital gains of the same year or of subsequent years. The short-term capital loss remaining after set-off, if
any, can be carried forward for eight years immediately succeeding the year in which the loss was first computed,
to be set-off against subsequent years’ short-term as well as long-term capital gains.

B. Tax benefits available to Resident NCD holders:

o Interest on NCD received by resident NCD holders would form part of their total income and be subject to tax at the
applicable rates of tax (Note 1 and 2 below) in accordance with and subject to the provisions of the IT Act.

e  Capital gains on transfer of NCD shall be computed by deducting from the FVC, expenditure incurred wholly and
exclusively in connection with the transfer and the CoA of the NCD.

As per section 112 of the IT Act, capital gains arising on the transfer of long-term capital assets being listed
debentures are subject to tax at the rate of 10% (plus applicable surcharge and health & education cess — Note 2
below) on the capital gains calculated without indexing the cost of acquisition (Fourth proviso to Section 48 restricts
indexation benefit in case of long-term capital asset being a bond or debenture).

In case of an individual or HUF, being a resident, where the total income as reduced by such long-term capital
gains is below the maximum amount which is not chargeable to income-tax, then, such long-term capital gains
shall be reduced by the amount by which the total income as so reduced falls short of the maximum amount
which is not chargeable to income-tax and the tax on the balance of such long-term capital gains shall be
computed at the rate mentioned above.
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Short-term capital gains on the transfer of listed debentures, where debentures are held for a period of not more
than 12 months would be taxed at the applicable rates of tax (as mentioned in Note 1 and 2 below) in accordance
with the provisions of the IT Act.

C. Tax benefits available to Non-Resident debenture holders:

e A non-resident Indian has an option to be governed by Chapter XII-A of the IT Act, subject to the provisions
contained therein which are given in brief as under:

e Aspersection 115C(e) of the IT Act, the term "non-resident Indian" means an individual, being a citizen of India
or a person of Indian origin who is not a "resident". A person shall be deemed to be of Indian origin if he, or
either of his parents or any of his grand-parents, was born in undivided India.

e As per section 115E of the IT Act, interest income from debentures acquired or purchased with or subscribed to
in convertible foreign exchange will be taxable at 20% (plus applicable surcharge and cess), whereas long term
capital gains on transfer of such debentures will be taxable at 10% (plus applicable surcharge and cess — Note 2
below) of such capital gains without indexation of CoA. Short-term capital gains will be taxable at the applicable
rates of tax (as mentioned in Note 1 and 2 below) in accordance with and subject to the provisions contained
therein.

e Under section 115F of the IT Act, long term capital gains arising to a non-resident Indian from transfer of
debentures acquired or purchased with or subscribed to in convertible foreign exchange will be exempt from
capital gain tax if the whole of the net consideration is invested within six months after the date of transfer of the
debentures in any specified asset or in any saving certificates referred to in section 10(4B) of the IT Act in
accordance with and subject to the provisions contained therein.

e Under section 115G of the IT Act, it shall not be necessary for a non-resident Indian to file a return of income
under section 139(1) of the IT Act, if his total income consists only of investment income as defined under
section 115C and/or long term capital gains earned on transfer of such investment acquired out of convertible
foreign exchange, and the tax has been deducted at source from such income under the provisions of Chapter
XVII-B of the IT Act in accordance with and subject to the provisions contained therein.

e Under section 115H of the IT Act, where a non-resident Indian becomes a resident in India in any subsequent
year, he may furnish to the Assessing Officer a declaration in writing along with return of income under section
139 for the assessment year for which he is assessable as a resident, to the effect that the provisions of Chapter
XI1I-A shall continue to apply to him in relation to the investment income (other than on shares in an Indian
Company) derived from any foreign exchange assets in accordance with and subject to the provisions contained
therein. On doing so, the provisions of Chapter XI1I-A of the IT Act shall continue to apply to him in relation to
such income for that assessment year and for every subsequent assessment year until the transfer or conversion
(otherwise than by transfer) into money of such assets.

e In accordance with and subject to the provisions of section 115-1 of the IT Act, a non-resident Indian may opt
not to be governed by the provisions of Chapter XI1-A of the IT Act. In such a case, long-term capital gains on
transfer of listed debentures would be subject to tax at the rate of 10% (plus applicable surcharge and cess — Note
2 below) computed without indexation of CoA.

e Interest income and short-term capital gains on the transfer of listed debentures, where debentures are held for a
period of not more than 12 months preceding the date of transfer, would be taxed at the applicable rates of tax
(as mentioned in Note 1 and 2 below) in accordance with and subject to the provisions of the IT Act.

«  Without prejudice to the fact that the NCDs to be issued by the issuer are not MLD (as has been concluded at the
outset), where, for whatsoever reasons, the NCDs are treated as MLDs, then in such cases, as per the amendment
by the FA, 2023, the capital gains arising on transfer or redemption or maturity of such NCDs shall be deemed
to be capital gains arising from transfer of a short-term capital asset. Further, in computing the capital gains, no
deduction shall be allowed for Securities Transaction Tax (STT) paid, if any.

e Where debentures are held as stock-in-trade, the income on transfer of debentures would be taxed as business
income in accordance with and subject to the provisions of the IT Act.
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As per section 90(2) of the IT Act read with the Circular no. 728 dated October 30, 1995, issued by the Central
Board of Direct Taxes (‘CBDT’), in the case of a remittance to a country with which a Double Tax Avoidance
Agreement (‘DTAA’) is in force, the tax should be deducted at the rate provided in the Finance Act of the relevant
year or at the rate provided in the DTAA, whichever is more beneficial to the assessee. However, submission of
a valid and subsisting tax residency certificate (‘TRC’) is a mandatory condition for availing benefits under any
DTAA. If the TRC does not contain the prescribed particulars, a self-declaration in Form 10F would need to be
provided by the assessee along with the TRC which is valid and subsisting.

D. Tax benefits available to Foreign Institutional Investors (‘FII’s) or Foreign Portfolio Investors (‘FPI’s):

In accordance with and subject to the provisions of section 115AD of the IT Act, long-term capital gains on
transfer of debentures by Flls are taxable at 10% (plus applicable surcharge and cess — Note 2 below) and short-
term capital gains are taxable at 30% (plus applicable surcharge and cess - Note 2 below). The benefit of
indexation of CoA will not be available.

Income other than capital gains arising out of debentures is taxable at 20% (plus applicable surcharge and cess -
Note 2 below) in accordance with and subject to the provisions of Section 115AD of the IT Act.

However, the above is subject to any relief available under DTAA entered into by the Government of India (as
mentioned in Point C above).

The CBDT has issued Notification No0.9 dated 22 January 2014 which provides that Foreign Portfolio Investors
(FPI) registered under SEBI (Foreign Portfolio Investors) Regulations, 2014 shall be treated as F11 for the purpose
of Section 115AD of the IT Act.

E. Withholding provisions

The withholding provisions provided under the IT Act are machinery provisions meant for tentative deduction of
income-tax subject to regular assessment. The withholding tax is not the final liability to income-tax of an assessee.
For rate of tax applicable to an assessee, please refer Notes 1 and 2 below:

Sr. | Scenarios Provisions
No.
1 Withholding tax | > Interest paid to residents other than insurance companies will be subject to
rate on interest on withholding tax as per section 193 of the IT Act at the rate of 10 per cent.
NCD issued to
Indian residents » Further, no tax is required to be deducted on any interest payable on any security
issued by a company, where such security is in dematerialized form and is listed
on a recognized stock exchange in India in accordance with the Securities
Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956 (42 of 1956) and the rules made thereunder.
However, the FA, 2023 has omitted the aforesaid exemption and thus, any interest
paid on or after 1 April 2023, with respect to any security issued by a company,
where such security is in dematerialized form and is listed on a recognized stock
exchange in India in accordance with the Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act,
1956 (42 of 1956) and the rules made thereunder shall be liable to tax withholding
as applicable.
2 Withholding tax | > Interest to a non-resident, not being a company or to a foreign company by a
rate on interest on specified company or a business trust, may be eligible for concessional tax rate of
NCD issued to 5 per cent under section 194L.C(2)(ia) of the IT Act in respect of monies borrowed
Foreign Portfolio by it from a source outside India by way of issue of rupee denominated bond before
Investor (FII) the 1% day of July 2023.

The FA, 2023 has extended the applicability of section 194LC of the IT Act with
the following modification:

1. The provisions of section 194LC of the IT Act shall continue to apply to
monies borrowed from a source outside India by way of issue of long-term
bond or rupee denominate bond on or after 1 July 2023 where such bond is

72



Sr.

No.

Scenarios

Provisions

listed on a recognised stock exchange located in an International Financial
Services Centre.

2. The rate of tax in case of the aforesaid borrowings shall be 9 per cent.
3. With respect to the borrowings made prior to 1 July 2023, the provisions of

section 194L.C of the IT Act, as they applied at that time, shall continue to
apply sans the modification discussed supra.

4. No extension of date for payment of interest in case of section 194LD of the
IT Act has been provided by the FA, 2023. Given the same, interest paid on
or after 1 July 2023 shall be subject to tax at the rate of 20% (excluding
applicable surcharge and cess) subject to availability of DTAA benefits.

Withholding rate will be increased by surcharge as applicable (Refer Note 2) and
a health and education cess of 4 per cent on the amount of tax plus surcharge as
applicable. However, where the withholding is done as per the rate of tax provided
under the relevant DTAA, the said rate shall not be required to be increased by a
surcharge and health and education cess.

Withholding  tax
rate on interest on
NCD issued to
non-residents
other than Flls

Interest payable to non-resident (other than FII) would be subject to withholding
tax at the rate of 30 per cent/ 40 per cent as per the provisions of section 195 of the
IT Act subject to relief under the relevant DTAA depending upon the status of the
non-resident.

Alternatively, benefits of concessional rates of 5/ 9 per cent under section 194LC
of the IT Act provided the said interest falls within the ambit of the provisions of
section 194LC of the IT Act and meets the conditions mentioned therein which
inter-alia includes the loan / bond being issued prior to/ on or after 1% July 2023,
obtaining approval from the Central Government with respect to the rate of
interest, etc.

Withholding rate will be increased by surcharge as applicable (Refer Note 2) and
a health and education cess of 4 per cent on the amount of tax plus surcharge, as
applicable.

Withholding  tax
rate on purchase of
‘goods’

As per section 194Q of the IT Act, any sum payable by a ‘buyer’ to a resident for
purchase of ‘goods’ of the value exceeding INR 50 Lakhs shall be liable to
withholding at the rate of 0.1 percent.

Buyer means a person whose total sales, turnover or gross receipts from the
business carried on by him exceeds INR 10 crores in the financial year
immediately preceding the financial year in which the purchase is carried out.

TDS shall not be applicable where;
a. Tax is deductible under any of the provisions of the IT Act; or

b. Tax is collectible under the provisions of section 206C of the IT Act other
than a transaction to which section 206C(1H) of the IT Act applies

The CBDT has issued Circular No 13 of 2021 dated 30 June 2021 laying down
guidelines under section 194Q of the IT Act. It inter alia provides that TDS under
section 194Q of the IT Act shall not apply to transaction in securities and
commaodities which are traded through recognised stock exchanges or cleared and
settled by the recognised clearing corporation (including exchanges or corporation
located in IFSC).
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Sr.

No.

Scenarios Provisions

» Given that the Circular does not provide clarity in respect of shares/ securities
traded off-market, it is advisable that the investors obtain specific advice from their
tax advisors regarding applicability of these provisions.

F. Requirement to furnish PAN under the IT Act

Section 139A(5A) requires every person from whose income tax has been deducted under the provisions of
chapter XVIIB of the IT Act, to furnish his PAN to the person responsible for deduction of tax at source.

As per provisions of section 206AA of the IT Act, the payer would be obliged to withhold tax at higher of the
following rates in case the deductee has not furnished PAN to the payer:

(i) atthe rate in force specified in the relevant provision of the IT Act; or
(if) at the rates in force; or
(iii) at the rate of twenty per cent

Section 206AA of the IT Act provides that the provisions shall not apply to non-residents in respect of payment
of interest on long-term bonds as referred to in section 194L.C and any other payment subject to such conditions
as may be prescribed.

Further, as per Rule 37BC of the Income-tax Rules, 1962 (‘the Rules’), the provisions of section 206AA shall
not apply to non-residents where the non-residents provide the following information to the payer of such
income:

e Name, email-id, contact number;

e Address in the country or specified territory outside India of which the deductee is a resident;

e A certificate of his being resident in any country or specified territory outside India from the government
of the other country or specified territory if the law of that country or specified territory provides for
issuance of such certificate;

e Tax Identification Number of the deductee in the country or specified territory of his residence and in a
case, no such number is available, then a unique number on the basis of which the deductee is identified by
the Government of that country or the specified territory of which he claims to be a resident.

Where an incorrect PAN is provided, it will be regarded as non-furnishing of PAN and TDS shall be deducted
as mentioned above, apart from any other penal consequences that may ensue.

Further, as per section 206AB of the IT Act, with effect from 1 July 2021, payments made to specified persons
will be subject to TDS at rate which is higher of the following:

e twice the rate specified in the relevant provision of the IT Act; or
e twice the rate or rates in force; or
e therate of 5%

In cases, where both section 206 AA and section 206 AB of the IT Act are applicable, taxes shall be deducted at higher
of the rate prescribed under both the sections.

For the purpose of section 206AB of the IT Act, specified person means any person-

Who has not filed an income-tax return for the AY relevant to the previous year immediately preceding the
previous year in which tax is required to be deducted, and the prescribed time limit to file the income-tax return
has expired;

The aggregate amount of TDS is INR 50,000 or more in each of the two previous years.
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But other than a non-resident who does not have a permanent establishment in India. Further, FA, 2023 has
carved-out from the definition of ‘specified person’ under section 206AB of the IT Act, a person who is not
required to file/ furnish a return of income and who, in that behalf, is notified by the Central Government vide
the Official Gazette.

G. General Anti Avoidance Rules (“GAAR”)
The General Anti Avoidance Rule (“GAAR”) was introduced in the IT Act by the Finance Act, 2012. The Finance
Act, 2015 made the provisions of GAAR applicable prospectively from 1 April 2017. Further, income accruing,
arising, deemed to accrue or arise or received or deemed to be received by any person from transfer of investments
made up to 31 March 2017 would be protected from the applicability of GAAR.

H. Exemption under Section 54F of the IT Act

Exemptions may be claimed from taxation of LTCG if investments in certain specified securities/assets is made
subject to fulfillment of certain conditions.

Section 54F of the IT Act exempts long-term capital gains on transfer of any long-term capital asset (other than a
residential house), held by an individual or HUF, if the net consideration is utilized to purchase/ construct a
residential house within the specified timelines.

Note 1: Tax Rates

Resident Individuals and Hindu Undivided Families:

The FA, 2023 has amended section 115BAC of the IT Act by, inter alia, inserting sub-section (1A) thereto to provide
that the tax regime provided under section 115BAC of the IT Act shall be the default tax regime applicable in case
of an individual, HUF, AOP (other than a co-operative society), body of individual or artificial juridical, beginning
with the financial year 2023-24, except where the assessee specifically opts to be governed by the erstwhile regime.

In such cases, the following shall be the rate of tax applicable:

Slab Tax rate

Total income up to INR 3,00,000 Nil

More than INR 3,00,000 but up to INR 6,00,000 5 per cent of excess over INR 3,00,000

More than INR 6,00,000 but up to INR 9,00,000 10 per cent of excess over INR 6,00,000 + INR 15,000

More than INR 9,00,000 but up to INR 12,00,000 15 per cent of excess over INR 9,00,000 + INR 45,000

More than INR 12,00,000 but up to INR 15,00,000 20 per cent of excess over INR 12,00,000 + INR 90,000

More than INR 15,00,000 30 per cent of excess over INR 15,00,000 + INR 1,50,000

In computing the income-tax under the new regime, certain deductions like standard deduction available to salaried
taxpayers, etc., shall be allowed. However, most of the deductions/exemptions such as section 80C, 80D, etc. would
need to be foregone.

A resident individual (whose total income does not exceed Rs 7,00,000) whose income is chargeable to tax under
sub-section (1A) of section 115BAC can avail rebate under section 87A. It is deductible from income tax before
calculating health and education cess. The amount of rebate available would be 100 per cent of income-tax
chargeable on his total income or Rs 25,000, whichever is less. Further, where the total income exceeds Rs 7,00,000,
the assessee shall be entitled for deduction of an amount equal to the amount by which the income-tax payable on
the total income exceeds the amount by which the total income exceeds Rs 7,00,000.

Where the assessee as stated above, specifically opts to be governed by the erstwhile regime, the income earned by
assessee should be liable to tax as per the applicable slab rates (plus applicable surcharge and health and education
cess) based on the taxable income of such assessee. The slab rates applicable to such investors (other than resident
individuals aged 60 years or more) are as follows:

Income Tax rate*

Up to INR 2,50,000# NIL

Exceeding INR 2,50,000 up to INR | 5 per cent of the amount by which the total income exceeds INR 2,50,000
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Income Tax rate*

5,00,000@

Exceeding INR 5,00,000 up to INR | 20 per cent of the amount by which the total income exceeds INR

10,00,000 5,00,000 plus INR 12,500%

Exceeding INR 10,00,000 30 per cent of the amount by which the total income exceeds INR
10,00,000 plus INR 112,500$

@A resident individual (whose total income does not exceed Rs 500,000) can avail rebate under section 87A. It is deductible
from income tax before calculating health and education cess. The amount of rebate available would be 100 per cent of income-
tax chargeable on his total income or Rs 12,500, whichever is less.

* plus surcharge if applicable and a health and education cess (‘cess’) of 4 per cent on the amount of tax plus surcharge, if
applicable).

#for resident senior citizens of sixty years of age and above but below eighty years of age, Rs 250,000 has to be read as Rs
300,000 and for resident senior citizens of eighty years of age and above (“super senior citizen) Rs 250,000’ has to be read as
Rs 500,000.

$Similarly, for resident senior citizens of sixty years of age and above but below eighty years of age, Rs 12,500 has to be read as
Rs 10,000 and Rs 112,500 has to be read as Rs 110,000. And for super senior citizen Rs 12,500 has to be read as Nil and Rs
112,500 has to be read as Rs 100,000.

Partnership Firms & LLP’s:

The tax rates applicable would be 30 per cent (plus surcharge if applicable — Refer Note 2 and a health and education
cess of 4 per cent on the amount of tax plus surcharge, if applicable).

Domestic Companies:

Type of Domestic company Base normal tax rate on Base MAT
income (other than income rate
chargeable at special rates)

Domestic companies having turnover or gross receipts of upto 25 per cent 15 per cent

Rs 400 Cr in FY 2020-21 (For AY 2023-24) and in FY 2021-22
(For AY 2024-25)

Domestic manufacturing company set-up and registered on or 25 per cent 15 per cent
after 1 March 2016 subject to fulfilment of prescribed conditions
(Section 115BA)

Any domestic company (even if an existing company or engaged 22 per cent Not applicable
in non-manufacturing business) has an option to avail beneficial
rate, subject to fulfilment of prescribed conditions (Section
115BAA)

Domestic manufacturing company set-up and registered on or 15 per cent Not applicable
after 1 October 2019 and commences manufacturing upto 31
March 2024, has an option to avail beneficial rate, subject to
fulfilment of prescribed conditions (Section 115BAB)

Domestic companies not falling under any of the above category 30 per cent 15 per cent

Note 2: Surcharge (as applicable to the tax charged on income)

Non-corporate assessees (other than firm, co-operative societies and Flls):

Particulars Rate of Surcharge

Where total income (including dividend income and income | Nil
under the provisions of section 111A, section 112A and section
112 of the IT Act) does not exceed Rs 50 lacs

Where total income (including dividend income and income | 10 per cent on total tax
under the provisions of section 111A, section 112A and section
112 of the IT Act) exceeds Rs 50 lacs but does not exceed Rs 1
crore

Where total income (including dividend income and income | 15 per cent on total tax
under the provisions of section 111A section 112A and section
112 of the IT Act) exceeds Rs 1 crore but does not exceed Rs 2
crore

76



Particulars

Rate of Surcharge

Where total income (excluding dividend income and income
under the provisions of section 111A, section 112A and 112 of
the IT Act) does not exceed Rs 2 crore but total income
(including dividend income and income under the provisions
of section 111A, section 112A and 112 of the IT Act) exceeds

15 per cent on total tax

The Finance Act, 2022 from FY 2022-23 has
capped the surcharge rates for long-term gains
chargeable to tax under section 112 of the IT
Act.

Rs 2 crore

- 25 per cent on tax on income excluding
dividend income and income under the
provisions of section 111A, section 112A
and section 112 of the IT Act. In case the
assessee opts out of Sec 115BAC then the
rate of surcharge applicable is 37 percent.

- 15 per cent on tax on dividend income and
income under the provisions of section 111A
section 112A and section 112 of the IT Act.

Where total income (excluding dividend income and income
under the provisions of section 111A, section 112A and section
112 of the IT Act) exceeds Rs 2 crore

The Finance Act, 2022 from FY 2022-23 has
capped the surcharge rates for long-term gains
chargeable to tax under section 112 of the IT Act
as well.

Note: The Finance Act, 2022 from FY 2022-23 has capped the surcharge rates for long-term gains chargeable to tax under
section 112 of the IT Act as well.

As per the FA, 2023, the maximum surcharge rate in case of capital gains chargeable to tax under section 112 of the IT Act, in
case of an assessee being an individual, HUF, AOP (not being a co-operative society), BOI or artificial juridical person is also
capped to 15%.

Flls (Non — corporate):

Particulars Rate of Surcharge

Where total income (including dividend income or income of | Nil
the nature referred to in section 115AD(1)(b) of the IT Act)

does not exceed Rs 50 lacs

Where total income (including dividend income or income of
the nature referred to in section 115AD(1)(b) of the IT Act)
exceeds Rs 50 lacs but does not exceed Rs 1 crore

10 per cent on total tax

Where total income (including dividend income or income of
the nature referred to in section 115AD(1)(b) of the IT Act)
exceeds Rs 1 crore but does not exceed Rs 2 crore

15 per cent on total tax

Where total income (excluding dividend income or income of
the nature referred to in section 115AD(1)(b) of the IT Act)
does not exceed Rs 2 crore but total income (including
dividend income or income of the nature referred to in section
115AD(1)(b) of the IT Act) exceeds Rs 2 crore

15 per cent on total tax

Where total income (excluding dividend income or income of
the nature referred to in section 115AD(1)(b) of the IT Act)
exceeds Rs 2 crore

- 25 per cent on tax on income excluding
dividend income or income of the nature
referred to in section 115AD(1)(b) of the IT
Act. In case the assessee opts out of Sec
115BAC then the rate of surcharge applicable
is 37 percent.

- 15 per cent on tax on dividend income or
income of the nature referred to in section
115AD(1)(b) of the IT Act

Note: The FA, 2023 has capped the highest surcharge rate to 25 per cent.

For assessees other than those covered above:

Particulars Rate of surcharge applicable
Non-corporate taxpayers being firms and co-operative | Nil where total income does not exceed Rs 1 crore
societies From FY 2022-23 7 per cent where total income
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Particulars Rate of surcharge applicable

exceeds Rs 1 crore but does not exceed Rs 10 crore
From FY 2022-23 12 per cent where total income
exceeds Rs 10 crore

Nil where total income does not exceed Rs 1 crore
Domestic companies (other than companies availing benefit | 7 per cent where total income exceeds Rs 1 crore
under section 115BAA and section 115BAB of the IT Act) | but does not exceed Rs 10 crore

12 per cent where total income exceeds Rs 10 crore

Domestic companies availing benefit under section | 10 per cent (irrespective of total income)
115BAA and section 115BAB of the IT Act

Nil where total income does not exceed Rs 1 crore
2 per cent where total income exceeds Rs 1 crore
but does not exceed Rs 10 crore

5 per cent where total income exceeds Rs 10 crore

Foreign Companies (including corporate FlIs)

A health and education cess of 4 per cent is payable on the total amount of tax plus surcharge.

Notes:

The above statement sets out the provisions of law in a summary manner only and is not a complete analysis or
listing of all potential tax consequences of the purchase, ownership and disposal of NCD.

The above statement covers only certain relevant direct tax law benefits and does not cover benefit under any other
law.

The above statement of possible tax benefits is as per the current direct tax laws (read along with the amendments
made by the FA, 2023) relevant for the AY 2024-25 corresponding to the FY 2023-24.

This statement is intended only to provide general information to the investors and is neither designed nor intended
to be a substitute for professional tax advice. In view of the individual nature of tax consequences, each investor is
advised to consult his/her own tax advisor with respect to specific tax consequences of his/her investment in the
NCD of the Company.

In respect of non-residents, the tax rates and consequent taxation mentioned above will be further subject to any
benefits available under the relevant DTAA, if any, between India and the country in which the non-resident has
fiscal domicile.

No assurance is given that the revenue authorities/courts will concur with the views expressed herein. Our views

are based on the existing provisions of law and its interpretation, which are subject to changes from time to time.
We do not assume responsibility to update the views consequent to such changes.
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SECTION IV - ABOUT OUR COMPANY
INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

The information under this section has been derived from the CARE Advisory Research and Training Limited (“CART”)
industry report titled “Research Report on NBFCs” September 2023 prepared by CareEdge Research (“CareEdge
Report”). The CareEdge Report has been exclusively prepared for the purpose of the Offer and is commissioned and
paid-for by the Company. The information may not be consistent with other information compiled by third parties within
or outside India. Industry sources and publications generally state that the information contained therein has been
obtained from sources generally believed to be reliable, but that their accuracy, completeness and underlying
assumptions are not guaranteed, and their reliability cannot be assured. Industry publications are also prepared on
information as of specific dates and may no longer be current or reflect current trends. Accordingly, investment decisions
should not be based on such information. Figures used in this section are presented as in the original sources and have
not been adjusted, restated or rounded off for presentation in this Prospectus.

1. Economic Outlook
1.1. Global Economy
GDP growth outlook for global economy remains broadly stable with near term resilience

As per the International Monetary Fund (IMF)’s World Economic Outlook growth projections released in July 2023,
global economic growth for CY 22! was estimated at 3.5% on year on year (y-0-y) basis, down from 6.3% in CY21 due
to disruptions resulting from the Russia-Ukraine conflict and higher-than-expected inflation worldwide. The global
economic growth for CY23 is projected to slow down further to 3.0% mainly due to tightening global financial conditions,
expectations of steeper interest rate hikes by major central banks to fight inflation and spillover effects from the war
between Russia and Ukraine with gas supplies from Russia to Europe expected to remain tightened. Growth in CY24 is
projected to remain broadly stable at 3.0%, although with notable shifts across regions. For the next 5 years, the IMF
projects world economic growth in the range of 3.0%-3.2% on a y-0-y basis.

Chart 1: Global Growth Outlook Projections (Real GDP, Y-0-Y change in %)
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3.5% 4.0% 4.0% 4.1% >%
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Notes: P-Projection

*For India, data and forecasts are presented on a fiscal year basis and GDP from 2011 onward is based on GDP at market prices
with fiscal year 2011/12 as a base year

Source: IMF — World Economic Outlook, July 2023

Advanced Economies Group

For major advanced economies, the GDP growth was estimated to be 2.7% in CY22, down from 5.4% in CY21, which
is further projected to decline to 1.5% in CY23. This forecast of low growth reflects rise in central bank interest rates to
fight inflation and the impacts of Russia- Ukraine war. About 93% of advanced economies are projected to see decline
in growth in CY23. This growth is expected to decline further slightly to 1.4% in CY24.

One of the major countries from this group is United States. The growth for United States is estimated to be 2.1% for
CY22 compared to 5.9% in CY21. Whereas, growth for CY23 and CY24 is projected at 1.8% and 1.0%, respectively.
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This is reflective of declining real disposable income and savings impacting consumer demand with higher interest rates
taking toll on spending.

The growth for CY22 in Euro Area is estimated to be 3.5% compared to 5.3% in CY21. However, the boost from
reopening of economy after pandemic appears to be fading. For CY23 and CY24, the growth is projected at 0.9% and
1.5%, respectively. With inflation moderating in euro area compared to the previous quarter, the growth projections
revised upwards by 0.1 percentage points. Further, the accelerated pace of rate increases by the Bank of England and the
European Central Bank is tightening financial conditions and cooling demand in the housing sector and beyond.

Emerging market and developing economies group

For the emerging market and developing economies group, GDP growth is estimated at 4.0% in CY22, compared to 6.8%
in CY21. This growth is further projected at 4.0% in CY23 and 4.1% in CY24. This expected improvement in GDP
growth in CY24 is on account of anticipation of gradual recovery. This stable growth is largely contributed by about 61%
of economies growing at faster rate in CY23, remaining economies including low income countries are expected to grow
slower.

In China, growth is expected to pick up to 5.2% with the full reopening in CY23 and subsequent moderation in CY24 to
4.5%. Whereas, India’s GDP projection for CY23 and CY24 stand at 6.1% and 6.3%, respectively with resilient domestic
demand despite external headwinds.

India to remain fastest growing economy transcending China

Despite the turmoil in last two-three years, India bears good tidings for becoming USD 5 trillion economy by CY27.
According to the IMF dataset on Gross Domestic Product (GDP) at current prices for India, the GDP is estimated to be
at USD 3.4 trillion for CY22 and projected to reach USD 5.2 trillion by CY27. The expected GDP growth rate of India
for coming years is almost double compared to the world economy.

Chart 2: GDP growth trend comparison - India and China (Real GDP, Y-0-Y change in %0)
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Besides this, India stands out as the fastest growing economy amongst the major economies. Outshining the growth rate
of China, the Indian economy is expected to grow at more than 6% in the period of CY24-CY28.

Indian economy is paving its way towards becoming largest economy in the world. Currently, India is the third largest
economy globally in terms of Purchasing Power Parity (PPP) with ~7% share in global economy with China [~18%] on
the top and United states [~15%] being second. Purchasing Power Parity is an economy performance indicator denoting
relative price of an average basket of goods and services that a household needs for livelihood in each country. Despite
the impact of the pandemic, high inflationary and interest rate environment globally and the geo-political tensions in
Europe, India has been one of the major contributors to world economic growth.
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1.2. Indian Economy Outlook

1.2.1. GDP growth and Outlook

Resilience to external shocks remains critical for near-term outlook

India’s GDP grew by 9.1% in FY22 and stood at Rs. 149.3 trillion despites of some spillovers of the pandemic and geo-
political Russia-Ukraine. In Q1FY23, India recorded 13.2% y-o0-y growth in GDP which can largely be attributed to
better performance by agriculture and services sectors. Following this double-digit growth, Q2FY23 witnessed 6.3% y-
o-y growth, while, Q3FY23 registered 4.5% y-0-y growth. This slowdown in growth during Q2FY?23 and Q3FY23
compared to the Q1FY23 can be attributed to normalization of the base and a contraction in the manufacturing sector’s
output. Subsequently, Q4FY 23 registered broad-based improvement across sectors compared to Q3FY 23 with growth of
6.1% y-0-y. The investments as announced in the Union Budget 2022-23 on boosting public infrastructure through
enhanced capital expenditure has augmented growth and encouraged private investment through large multiplier effects
in FY23. Supported by fixed investment and higher net exports, GDP for full-year FY23 was valued at Rs. 160.1 trillion
registering an increase by 7.2% y-o-y.

In the current fiscal, with robust urban demand, the air passenger traffic and household credit exhibited sustained growth.
However, the growth in passenger vehicle sales has moderated. On the other hand, in rural area, the tractor sales
improved in June 2023 while two-wheeler sales moderated. Cement production and steel consumption witnessed robust
growth. Merchandise exports and non-oil non-gold imports remained in contraction territory in June 2023. While,
services exports posted subdued growth amidst slowing external demand.

GDP growth outlook

During FY24, strong prospects for agricultural and allied activities are likely to boost rural demand. Rebound in contact-
intensive sectors and discretionary spending is expected to support urban consumption. Strong credit growth, resilient
financial markets, and the government’s continued thrust on capital spending and infrastructure are likely to create a
congenial environment for investments.

However, El Nino is being predicted in the current fiscal which may lead to deficit rainfall in the country and impact
agricultural output. Further, external demand is likely to remain subdued with slowdown in global activity, thereby
indicating adverse implications for exports. Additionally, heightened inflationary pressures and resultant policy
tightening may pose risk to the growth potential.

Taking all these factors into consideration, in August 2023, the RBI in its bi-monthly monetary policy meeting estimated
the real GDP growth of 6.5% y-o0-y for FY24.

Table 1: RBI's GDP Growth Outlook (Y-0-Y %)

FY24 (complete year) Q1FY24 Q2FY24 \ Q3FY24 Q4FY24 Q1FY25
6.5 8.0 6.5 6.0 5.7 6.6

Source: Reserve Bank of India
1.2.2. Gross Value Added (GVA)

Gross value added (GVA) is the measure of the value of goods and services produced in an economy. GVA gives a
picture of supply side whereas GDP represents consumption.

Industry and Services sector leading the recovery charge

* The gap between GDP and GVA growth turned positive in FY22 (after a gap of two years) as a result of robust tax
collections. Of the three major sector heads, service sector has been fastest growing sector in the last 5 years.

« Agriculture sector was holding growth momentum till FY18. In FY19, the acreage for rabi crop was marginally lower
than previous year which affected the agricultural performance. FY20 witnessed growth on account of improved
production. During the pandemic impacted period of FY21, agriculture sector was largely insulated as timely and
proactive exemptions from covid-induced lockdowns to the sector facilitated uninterrupted harvesting of rabi crops
and sowing of kharif crops. However, supply chain disruptions impacted the flow of agricultural goods leading to high
food inflation and adverse initial impact on some major agricultural exports. However, performance remained steady
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in FY22.

In Q1FY23 and Q2FY23, the agriculture sector recorded a growth of 2.4% and 2.5%, respectively, on a y-0-y basis.
Due to uneven rains in the financial year, the production of some major Kharif crops such as rice and pulses was
adversely impacted thereby impacting agriculture sector’s output. In Q3FY23 and Q4FY23, the sector recorded a
growth of 4.7% and 5.5%, respectively, on a y-0-y basis.

Overall, the agriculture sector performed well despite weather-related disruptions such as uneven monsoon and
unseasonal rainfall impacting yields of some major crop and clocked a growth of 4% y-o0-y in FY23 and stood at Rs.
22.3 trillion. Going forward, rising bank credit to the sector, increased exports and higher sowing of rabi crop will be
the drivers for agriculture sector. However, performance of the sector will depend on the spatial and temporal
distribution of rainfall. A downside risk exists in case the intensity of El Nino is significantly strong.

* Industrial sector witnessed CAGR of 4.7% for the period FY16 to FY19. From March 2020 onwards, nation-wide
lockdown due to the pandemic had a significant impact on industrial activity. In FY20 and FY21, this sector felt
turbulence due to the pandemic and recorded decline of 1.4% and 0.9%, respectively, on a y-0-y basis. With the opening
up of economy and resumption of industrial activity, it registered 11.6% y-o-y growth in FY22, albeit on a lower base.

The industrial output in Q1FY 23 jumped 9.4% on y-0-y basis. However, in the subsequent quarter, the sector witnessed
a sharp contraction of 0.5% due to lower output across mining, manufacturing and construction sectors. This was
mainly because of the poor performance by the manufacturing sector which was marred by high input costs. In
Q3FY23, the sector grew modestly by 2.3% y-0-y. The growth picked-up in Q4FY?23 to 6.3% y-0-y owing to a rebound
in manufacturing activities and healthy growth in the construction sector. Overall, industrial sector is estimated to be
valued at Rs. 45.2 trillion registering 4.4% growth in FY23.

* Services sector recorded CAGR of 7.1% for the period FY16 to FY20, which was led by trade, hotels, transport,
communication and services related to broadcasting and finance, real estate & professional service. This sector was the
hardest hit by the pandemic and registered 8.2% y-0-y decline in FY21. The easing of restrictions aided a fast rebound
in this sector, with 8.8% y-0-y growth witnessed in FY22.

In Q1FY23 and Q2FY23, this sector registered y-0-y growth of 16.3% and 9.4%, respectively, on a lower base and
supported by revival in contact intensive industries. The services sector continued to witness buoyant demand and
recorded a growth of 6.1% y-o0-y in Q3FY23. On the back of robust discretionary demand Q4FY23 registered 6.9%
growth largely driven by trade, hotel and transportation. Overall, benefitting from the pent-up demand, service sector
was valued at Rs. 20.6 trillion and registered growth of 9.5% y-o0-y in FY23. Healthy growth in various service sector
indicators like air passenger traffic, port cargo traffic, GST collections and retail credit is expected to support service
sector going ahead.

Table 2: Sectoral Growth (Y-0-Y % Growth) - at Constant Prices

At constant Prices FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22

(BRE) (2RE) | (1RE)
Agriculture, forestry & fishing 6.6 2.1 6.2 4.1 3.5 4.0
Industry 5.9 5.3 -1.4 -0.9 11.6 4.4
Mining & quarrying -5.6 -0.8 -3.0 -8.6 7.1 4.6
Manufacturing 7.5 5.4 -3.0 2.9 11.1 1.3
Electricity, gas, water supply & other utility services 10.6 7.9 2.3 -4.3 9.9 9.0
Construction 5.2 6.5 1.6 -5.7 14.8 10.0
Services 6.3 7.2 6.4 -8.2 8.8 9.5
Trade, hotels, transport, communication & broadcasting | 10.3 7.2 6.0 -19.7 13.8 14.0
Financial, real estate & professional services 1.8 7 6.8 2.1 4.7 7.1
Public administration, defence and other services 8.3 7.5 6.6 -7.6 9.7 7.2
GVA at Basic Price 6.2 5.8 3.9 -4.2 8.8 7.0

3RE — Third Revised Estimate, 2RE — Second Revised Estimates, 1RE — First Revised Estimates, 2AE — Second Advanced Estimate;
Source: MOSPI

1.2.3. Investment trend in infrastructure

Gross Fixed Capital Formation (GFCF), which is a measure of the net increase in physical assets, witnessed an
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improvement in FY22. As a proportion of GDP, it is estimated to be at 32.7%, which is the second highest level in 7
years (since FY15). In FY23, the ratio of investment (GFCE) to GDP inched up to its highest in the last decade at 34%
as per the advanced estimate released by the Ministry of Statistics and Programme Implementation (MOSPI).

Chart 3: Gross Fixed Capital Formation (GFCF) as % of GDP (At constant prices):

34.0

30.7 30.8

GFCF as % of GDP

FY16 FY17 FY18 FY19 FY20 [3RE] FY21 FY22 [1RE]  FY23 [PE]
[2RE]

Source: MOSPI
Note: PE: Provisional Estimates, RE: Revised Estimate, AE: Advanced Estimate

Overall, support of public investment in infrastructure is likely to gain traction due to initiatives such as of Atmanirbhar
Bharat, Make in India, Production-linked Incentive (PLI) scheme announced across various sectors etc.

1.2.4. Industrial Growth
Improved core and capital goods sectors helped 1P growth momentum

Index of Industrial production (1IP) is an index to track manufacturing activity in an economy. On a cumulative basis,
1P grew by 11.4% y-0-y in FY22 post declining by 0.8% y-0-y and 8.4% y-0-y, respectively, in FY20 and FY21. This
high growth was mainly backed by low base of FY21. FY22 IIP was higher by 2.0% when compared with the pre-
pandemic level of FY20, indicating that while economic recovery was underway, it was still at very nascent stages.

During FY23, the industrial output has recorded a growth of 5.1% y-o0-y supported by a favourable base and a rebound
in economic activities. During April 2023, 1IP grew by 4.2% y-0-y, whereas May 2023 registered 5.3% y-0-y growth.
This growth in April and May 2023 was aided by mining and manufacturing sectors encouraging performance. However,
in June 2023 the industrial output slowed to 3.7% mainly due to moderation in manufacturing sector’s output. Overall,
the industrial output grew by 4.5% in Q1FY24.

Chart 4: Y-0-Y growth in 1P (in %)
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Source: MOSPI
Going forward, it will be critical to maintain the current growth momentum in the industrial sector. In the environment

of global slowdown, maintaining growth in industrial output will depend on the resilience and momentum of domestic
demand.
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Healthy credit growth and moderating inflation in the economy is likely to be supportive of domestic consumption in the
current fiscal. Pick-up in the investment demand is also expected to support segments like capital goods and
infrastructure. However, challenges from an uncertain global economic scenario and weak external demand are likely to
persist.

1.2.5. Consumer Price Index

India’s consumer price index (CPI), which tracks the retail price inflation, stood at an average of 5.5% in FY22 which
was within RBI’s targeted tolerance band of 6%. However, the consumer inflation started to upswing from October 2021
onwards and reached the tolerance level of 6% in January 2022. Following this, CPI reached 6.9% in March 2022.

CPI remained elevated at an average of 6.7% in FY23, above the RBI’s tolerance level. However, some relief was seen
towards the end of the fiscal wherein the retail inflation stood at 5.7% in March 2023 tracing back to the RBI’s tolerance
band. Apart from a favourable base effect, the relief in retail inflation came from a moderation in food inflation. In the
current fiscal FY24, the CPI moderated for two consecutive month to 4.7% in April 2023 and 4.3% in May 2023. This
trend was snapped in June 2023 with CPI rising to 4.9% and 7.4% in July 2023 largely due to rise in food inflation.The
CPI has breached the Reserve Bank of India's (RBI) target range for the first time since February 2023. This marks the
highest reading observed since the peak in April 2022 at 7.8%. The notable surge in vegetable prices and elevated inflation
in other food categories such as cereals, pulses, spices, and milk have driven this increase. Further, the contribution of
food and beverages to the overall inflation has risen significantly to 65%, surpassing their weight in the CPI basket.

Chart 5: Retail Price Inflation in terms of index numbers and Y-o-Y Growth in %
(Base: 2011-12=100)
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The CPI is primarily factored in by RBI while preparing their bi-monthly monetory policy. The RBI has increased the
repo rates with the rise in inflation in the past year from 4% in April 2022 to 6.5% in January 2023.

Chart 6: RBI historical Repo Rate
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However, with the inflation easing over the last few months, RBI has kept repo rate unchanged at 6.5% in the last three
meetings of the Monetary Policy Committee. At the bi-monthly meeting held in August 2023, RBI projected inflation at
5.4% for FY24and Q2FY24 at 6.2%, Q3FY24 at 5.7%, Q4FY24 at 5.2% and Q1FY25 at 5.2%.

In a meeting held in August 2023, RBI also maintained the liquidity adjustment facility (LAF) corridor by adjusting the
standing deposit facility (SDF) rate of 6.25% as the floor and the marginal standing facility (MSF) at the upper end of
the band at 6.75%.

The central bank continued to remain focused on withdrawal of accommodative stance. With domestic economic
activities gaining traction, RBI has shifted gear to prioritize controlling inflation. While RBI has paused on the policy
rate front, it has also strongly reiterated its commitment to bringing down inflation close to its medium-term target of
4%. Given the uncertain global environment and lingering risks to inflation, Central Bank has kept the window open for
further monetary policy tightening in the future, if required.

1.2.6. Key Demographic drivers for Economic Growth

The trajectory of economic growth of India and private consumption is also driven by socio-economic factors such
as demographics and urbanization. Some of the key demographic drivers are:

e Growing Population and Declining Dependency Ratio:

With 1.41 billion people, India is the second most populous country in the world. The population has witnessed
significant growth in the past few decades.

Age Dependency Ratio is the ratio of dependents to the working age population i.e. 15 to 64 years, wherein dependents
are population younger than 15 and older than 64. This ratio has been on a declining trend. It was as high as 76.6%
in 1981, which has reduced to 48.1% in 2021. In the year 2022, the dependency ratio has further declined to 47.5%.
Declining dependency means the country has improving share of working age population generating income, which
is a good sign for the economy. Lower dependency ratio implies fewer dependents on individuals with income which
will allow them to spend their income more on discretionary items likes hobbies, entertainment, electronics and
furniture etc.

Chart 7: Trend of Population vis-a-vis dependency ratio
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e Young Population:

With an average age of 29, India has one of the youngest populations globally. As a vast resource of young citizens enters
the workforce every year, it could create a ‘demographic dividend’. India is home to a fifth of the world’s youth
demographic and this population advantage will play a critical role in economic growth.

Chart 8: Age-wise break up of population
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Chart 9: Age-wise break up of male and female population
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With the rise in number of working women, increasing proportion of working population and younger age group amongst
the urban population in India, the consumer demand is expected to grow in the future. The increasing focus on education
among the youth will lead to a decline in dependency ratio and enhanced lifestyles. This, in turn would enhance consumer
spending.

Chart 10: Yearly Trend - Young Population as % of Total Population

0
67.5% 67.8%

Population Ages 15 - 64 (as %
of total population)

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
Source: World Bank database
e Growing Middle-Class
According to the estimate of People Research on India’s Consumer Economy (PRICE), the share of the middle class
with an annual household income of Rs. 5-30 lakh, more than doubled from 14% in FY05 to 31% in FY21. It is
projected to rise to 63% by FY47.
e Consumer Spending
There has been a gradual change in consumer spending behaviour. Private Final Consumption Expenditure (PFCE)
which is measure of consumer spending has showcased growth in the past decade. Following chart depicts the trend

of per capita PFCE:

Chart 11: Trend of Per Capita Private Final Consumption Expenditure
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The consumption pattern trend is also gradually moving towards higher spend on branded products and purchase from

organised retail. This includes discretionary spending on food and beverages, apparel, accessories, jewellery, luxury
products, consumer durables and across other discretionary categories.
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When compared to the other global economies like China and United States, consumption expenditure by China
accounted for about 14% of total consumption expenditure of the world in 2021, while, United States accounted for about
28% and India about 3%. The world’s total consumption expenditures were valued at USD 69,472 billion in the year
2021.

Chart 12: Global Consumption Expenditure Trend
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In the coming years, the private consumption in India is expected to be driven by revival in rural demand, the sustained
buoyancy in services, especially contact-intensive sectors, and moderating inflationary pressures.

e Urbanization
Urbanization of India’s population is growing on a larger population base. The urban population in India is estimated
to have increased from 403 million (31.6% of total population) in the year 2012 to 498 million (35.4% of total
population) in the year 2021. People living in tier-2 and tier-3 cities have greater purchasing power parity, high
internet penetration, and increasingly brand-conscious young population. Due the rapid urbanization, there have been
changes in lifestyle and working styles which has led to shift in buying behavior pattern as well.

Chart 13: Trend of urbanisation in India
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e Increasing per capita disposable income
Gross National Disposable Income (GNDI) is measure to arrive at the income available to the nation for final
consumption and gross saving. Between the period fiscal 2012 to fiscal 2023, per capita GNDI registered CAGR of

9.4%. More disposable income, in turn drives more consumption, thus economic growth. Below chart depicts the
trend of per capita GNDI in past 12 years:
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Chart 14: Trend of Per Capita Gross National Disposable Income
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7. Concluding Remarks

Despite the global growth uncertainties, Indian economy is relatively better placed. The major headwinds to
economic growth are escalating geopolitical tensions, volatility in global commodity prices and shortages of key
inputs. However, the bright spots for the economy are continued healthy domestic demand, support from government
towards capital expenditure, moderating inflation and improving business confidence. Various high-frequency
growth indicators including purchasing managers index, auto sales, bank credit, GST collections have shown
improvement in the FY23. Moreover, normalizing employment situation after the opening up of economy is expected
to improve and provide support to consumption expenditure.

The IMD forecasts a normal monsoon despite El Nino which bodes well for the agricultural sector’s outlook
however, a lot will depend on the spatial and temporal distribution of rainfall. A downside risk exists in case the
intensity of El Nino is significantly strong.

Public investment is expected to exhibit healthy growth as the government has budgeted for strong capital
expenditure in FY24. Private sector’s intent to invest is also showing improvement as per the data announced on
new project investments. However, the volatility in commodity prices and the economic uncertainties emanating
from global turbulence may slow down the improvement in private capex and investment cycle.

Among sectors, the industrial segment is expected to be perform better as the input costs are now moderating. With
flagship programmes like ‘Make in India’ and the PLI schemes, the government is continuing to provide the
necessary support to boost the industrial sector. Service sector is expected to see continued growth in FY24 with
healthy economic growth. However, some segments like information technology in the services sector would feel
the pinch of slowdown in the US and European economies.

NBFCs
Introduction to NBFCs

The Indian banking industry is classified into scheduled and non-scheduled banks. Banks that are included in the
Second Schedule to the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 are called scheduled banks. These banks are then further
classified into scheduled commercial banks (“SCBs”) and scheduled co-operative banks. SCBs are banks that are
permitted to conduct the normal business of banking, which entails collecting deposits, sanctioning loans and
offering other banking services. SCBs are further divided into Public Sector Banks (“PSBs”), Private Banks
(“PVBs”), Foreign Banks and Regional Rural Banks (“RRBS”).
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Apart from SCBs, there are non-banking financial companies (“NBFCs”) that also play an important role in the
Indian financial system by complementing and competing with banks, and by promoting efficiency and diversity
into financial intermediation. NBFCs have evolved considerably in terms of operations, heterogeneity, asset quality
and profitability, and regulatory architecture.

NBFCs can be classified on the basis of a) asset/liability structures; b) systemic importance; and c) the activities they
undertake, according to the RBI. In terms of liability structures, NBFCs are subdivided into deposit-taking NBFCs
(“NBFCs-D”) - which accept and hold public deposits - and non-deposit taking NBFCs (“NBFCs-ND”) - which
source their funding from markets and banks. Among NBFCs-ND, those with asset size of Rs. 500 crores or more
are classified as non-deposit taking systemically important NBFCs (“NBFCs- ND-SI”). As on July 31, 2022, there
were 49 NBFCs-D and 415 NBFCs-ND-SI, according to RBI.

Since NBFCs cater to niche areas, they are also categorised on the basis of activities they undertake. Up until
February 21, 2019, NBFCs were divided into 12 categories. Thereafter, these categories were harmonized by the
RBI in order to provide NBFCs with greater operational flexibility. As a result, asset finance companies (“AFCs”),
loan companies (“LCs”) and investment companies (“1Cs”) were merged into a new category called Investment and
Credit Companies (“NBFC-1CC”). Additionally, account aggregators has been added as category of NBFCs. At
present, there are 12 categories of NBFCs in the activity- based classification.

Table 3: Types of NBFCs
Type of NBFC \

NBFC-Investment and Credit Company
(NBFC-ICC)

Activity
Lending and investment.

NBFC-Infrastructure Finance
Company (NBFC-IFC)

Financing of infrastructure sector.

Core Investment Company (CIC)

Investment in equity shares, preference shares, debt, or loans of
group companies.

NBFC-Infrastructure Debt Fund
(NBFC-IDF)

Facilitation of flow of long-term debt only into post commencement
operations in infrastructure projects which have completed at least
one year of satisfactory performance.

NBFC-Micro Finance Institution
(NBFC-MFI)

Providing collateral free small ticket loans to low income
households.

NBFC-Factors

Acquisition of receivables of an assignor or extending loans against
the security interest of the receivables at a discount.

NBFC-Non-Operative Financial
Holding Company (NBFC-NOFHC)

Facilitation of promoters/ promoter groups in setting up new banks.

NBFC-Mortgage Guarantee Company
(NBFC-MGCQC)

Undertaking of mortgage guarantee business.

NBFC-Account Aggregator (NBFCAA)

Collecting and providing a customer’s financial information in a
consolidated, organized, and retrievable manner to the customer or
others as specified by the customer.

NBFC-Peer to Peer Lending Platform
(NBFC-P2P)

Providing an online platform to bring lenders and borrowers
together to help mobilize funds.

Housing Finance Company (HFC)

Financing for purchase/ construction/ reconstruction/ renovation/
repairs of residential dwelling units.

Source: RBI, CareEdge Research

In October 2021, RBI decided to classify NBFCs based on size and risk perception using Scale Based Approach —
The Filtering Process by segregating NBFCs into four categories namely NBFC Base Layer (BL), NBFC Middle
Layer (ML), NBFC Upper Layer (UL), and NBFC Top Layer (TL).

Classification of NBFCs

N[2]=eN={M NBFCs with asset size of not more than Rs. 1000 crores, Type 1 NBFC, Peer to Peer (P2P), Account

Aggregator (AA), and Non-Operative Financial Holding Company (NOFHC)

NBFC ML

NBFC-ND that are systematically important (SI) having an asset size of less than Rs. 1000 crores
and also NBFC-HFCs, IFCs, IDFs, CICs, and Standalone Primary Dealers irrespective of their asset
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‘ size

IN[{=eNU]I Top NBFCs to be filtered based on their size & leverage, inter-connectedness, complexity, and
superior inputs (including group structure, liability mix, and segment penetration).

IN[2]S ORI Top Layer will remain empty unless RBI takes a view on specific NBFCs in the Upper Layer

Source: RBI, CareEdge Research

Additionally, Investment and Credit Companies (NBFC-ICC), Micro Finance Institution (NBFC-MFI), NBFC-
Factors and Mortgage Guarantee Companies (NBFC-MGC) that can be classified under any layer of the regulatory
structure depending on the parameters of the scale based regulatory framework. Government owned NBFCs can only
be classified under base layer or middle layer.

Further, as per RBIs notification as on October 11, 2022 titled “Multiple NBFCs in a Group: Classification in Middle
Layer”. NBFCs that are part of a common Group or are floated by a common set of promoters are required to be
viewed on a consolidated basis. For the consolidation of assets of the NBFCs in a Group, the total assets of all the
NBFCs in a Group shall be consolidated to determine the threshold for their classification in the Middle Layer.
Recognition of NBFCs in Upper Layer:

NBFC categorization is based on an annual review. The paper recognizes two parameters; quantitative and
qualitative:

e The quantitative parameters will have 70% weightage.
e The qualitative parameters will have 30% weightage.
The table below represents quantitative and qualitative parameters as proposed:

Parameter Sub-parameter Sub Weights

weight

Quantitative Parameters (70%)

Size & Leverage |Size: Total exposure (on-and off-balance sheet) 20+15 35
Leverage: total debt to total equity
Interconnectedness | i) Intra-financial system assets: 10 25

— Lending to Fls

— Securities of other Fls
— Mark to market REPO
— OTC derivatives

ii) Intra-financial system liabilities 10
—Borrowings from Fls

— Marketable securities issued by the finance company to Fl
— Mark to market OTC derivative with Fls

iii) Securities outstanding (issued by NBFC) 5
Complexity i) Notional amount of OTC derivatives 5 10
— CCP centrally
— Bilateral OTC
ii) Trading and available for sale securities 5
Qualitative Parameters/Supervisory inputs (30%)
Nature and type of | — Degree of reliance on short term funding 10 30
liabilities — Liquid asset ratios

— Callable debts

— Asset-backed funding Vs. other funding

— Asset liability duration and gap analysis

— Borrowing split (secured debt, CCPS, CPs, unsecured debt)
Group Structure |- Total number of entities 10
— Total number of layers

— Total intra-group exposure
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Parameter Sub-parameter Sub Weights

weight
Segment Importance of NBFC as a source of credit in a specific segment or 10
Penetration area

Source: RBI, CareEdge Research

Further, as per RBI’s notification as on June 06, 2022 titled “Provisioning for Standard assets by Non-Banking
Financial Company — Upper Layer”. NBFCs classified as NBFC-UL shall maintain provisions in respect of
‘standard’ assets at the following rates for the funded amount outstanding:

Category of Assets Rate of Provision \

Individual housing loans and loans to Small 0.25%

and Micro Enterprises (SMES)

Housing loans extended at teaser rates 2%, which will decrease to 0.4% after 1 year from the date on
which the rates are reset at higher rates (if the accounts remain

‘standard’)

Advances to Commercial Real Estate — 0.75%

Residential Housing (CRE - RH) Sector

Advances to Commercial Real Estate (CRE) 1%

Sector (other than CRE-RH)

Restructured advances As stipulated in the applicable prudential norms for

restructuring of advances
All other loans and advances not included 0.4%
above, including loans to Medium Enterprises

Credit growth of SCBs and NBFCs

Credit disbursed by SCBs and NBFCs is broadly classified into two parts — food and non-food credit. Food credit
accounts for a fraction of total credit disbursed. Non-food credit makes up close to 99% of total credit extended by
SCBs and NBFCs and the movement in overall credit growth therefore hinges on the movement in non-food credit
growth.

Chart 15: SCBs' and NBFCs' Credit Deployed
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As of Mar-23, scheduled commercial banks (SCBs) saw an uptick in credit growth driven by lower base of the last
year, unsecured personal loans, housing loans, auto loans, higher demand from non-banking financial companies
(NBFCs). Furthermore, high demand for working capital loans due to elevated inflation and select industries and
depreciation of the Indian Rupee (INR). The credit growth of SCBs continued to growth in double-digits with credit
growth outpacing deposit growth.

A default in debt repayments by a large NBFC in India in 2018 led to heightened investor focus around the health of

the broader NBFC sector as well as their sources of liquidity. This led to some tightening in liquidity available to
certain NBFCs and, as a result, it become more difficult for certain NBFCs to access debt and raise equity capital.
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NBFCs recorded a similar trajectory in their credit growth over the past three years. NBFCs’ credit grew by around
7.6% y-o0-y as of Mar-22, the growth improved significantly at 16.1% y-o-y as of Mar-23. CareEdge Research
believes that the growth was on account of significant ramp-up in economic activity, need for retail credit and rise is
commaodity prices amid inflationary pressures boosted demand for working capital loans.

Chart 16: Gross credit deployed by NBFCs
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As of Mar-23, the credit growth rate has seen an uptick of 16.1% y-0-y and reached Rs. 33.7 lakh crores. The upward
growth trajectory of NBFCs credit is indicating its importance in India’s Financial System. This growth is mainly
driven by increase in demand for retail credit and demand for working capital loans amid rise in commodity prices.

Chart 17: Retail Credit portfolio of SCBs & NBFCs
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As of Mar-23, retail credit was around 30% of NBFCs’ gross credit deployed and SCBs’ gross credit deployed.
Banks and NBFCs shifted their efforts towards retail lending due to an increase in demand for retail credit. The shift
in borrowing behaviour consumers, for the purpose of creating a better standard of living and their readiness to
borrow personal loans to fulfil those needs, has boosted the demand for retail loans.

Growth Drivers
Last mile financing & unbanked population

NBFCs have a strong presence in unorganized and under-served areas where banks may not have a strong foothold.
This is on account of the absence of necessary infrastructure of banks in these areas as well as an aversion on the
part of banks to disburse loans to smaller companies. The ease of internet access and affordable data packs have not
only contributed to increased spending and demand for retail credit from these areas, but have also increased the

potential consumer base of NBFCs.
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Focus on informal customer base

Traditional banks may not be very keen on lending to retail borrowers from semi-urban and rural areas or small
companies with weaker credit scores and lack of documentation, when compared to larger borrowers. However, in
terms of volume, the number of potential customers in this category is higher and NBFC have created niche segment
by having customized credit assessment method based on cash flow assessment and field verification. This gives
NBFCs an opportunity to extend credit to the financially weaker set of customers, a growing customer base in the
informal customer segment opens up avenues for NBFCs’ growth.

Technological adoption and Co-lending arrangements:

NBFCs deploy technological solutions to develop innovative products and lower operational costs. Since NBFCs
are fairly new in the financial landscape as compared to most banks, they are more agile and better positioned to
leverage technology to enhance their reach while increasing efficiency.

NBFCs also partner with various alternative financiers and commercial banks, which enables them to diversify their
income avenues and reach their targeted customer base through different channels.

Shift in buying behaviour

Over the years, there has been significant change is perception of consumers towards borrowing. With the need to
improve lifestyle, more and more people especially the younger population are moving towards borrowing to attain
a certain standard of living.

Rising demand from retail customers

Retail borrowers accounted for around 30% of total credit disbursed by NBFCs as of FY23 ended Mar-23, as per
data published by the RBI. Along with being a significant chunk of the customer base of NBFCs, the retail segment
has shown a consistent growth in credit demand throughout the pandemic. Going forward, CareEdge Research
believes that the demand for consumer durables, consumption of services, home loans and gold loans are likely to
support the growth in retail demand and, consequently, aid in the new business of NBFCs.

Increased demand from MSME and agriculture

Favourable Government policies aimed at boosting agriculture, small-scale industries and consumption are likely to
act as long-term growth catalysts in improving demand for MSME and agricultural credit. The “Make in India”,
“Start-up India” initiatives, for example, are likely to support industrial activity and contribute to the demand for
credit from NBFCs. As on 24th Aug 2023, around 1,85,91,073micro, small and medium enterprises (MSMES) have
registered on the Udyam portal, of which 1,79,71,693 are micro enterprises; 5,66,191 are small enterprises; and
53,189 are medium enterprises. Micro and small enterprises represent 99.7% of the total registered MSMEs as of
24th Aug 2023. The coverage of the formal banking system in MSMEs still remains low, which provides a major
opportunity to NBFCs to expand their reach.

2.4. Distribution between segments

Chart 18: Sectoral distribution of NBFCs' credit
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Note: Industry includes credit to micro, small, medium and large enterprises;
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Retail loans are personal loans for housing loans, consumer durables, auto loans, and other personal loans;
Services include credit towards commercial real-estate, retail trade and other such loans
Others include credit deployed towards agriculture and allied activities and other non-food credit

The industry sector has remained the largest recipient of credit extended by NBFCs followed by retail loans, services,
other non-food credit, and agriculture & allied activities. NBFCs have increased the amount of credit deployed to
industry on account of improved demand for credit mainly for working capital loans due to surge in commodity
prices. As of Mar-23, industry credit contributed Rs. 12.4 lakh crores, which is around 36.8% of NBFCs' gross credit
deployed, as per the RBI.

While NBFCs’ credit to the industry is growing, their credit to services has declined marginally mainly due to decline
in credit to the commercial real estate sector, transport operators and other services. As of Mar-23, as per data
published by RBI, credit deployed to the service sector has hovered around Rs. 4.8 lakh crores that is around 14.2%
of NBFCs gross credit deployed.

Retail loans comprise housing loans, vehicle loans, loans against gold, consumer durables loans and other such
personal loans. Over the last couple of years, NBFCs have shifted their focus on retail lending in order to grow their
business. And with slow demand for credit from the industry and services sector, retail lending has shown
tremendous growth. As retail loans have lower delinquencies when compared to MSME / corporate lending which
is also a major factor for the shift. As of Mar-23, the credit deployed to retail loans by NBFCs has increased to more
than a third of their gross credit deployed, which stood at Rs. 33.8 lakh crores for NBFCs.

Outlook

CareEdge Research estimates that NBFCs have seen good growth in FY23 in the range of 9%-13% y-o0-y and FY24
is likely to bode well for NBFCs largely supported by retail loans primarily on account of steady demand and increase
in middle-class spending and continued improvement in economic growth. In FY24, NBFCs gross credit deployed
is expected to grow in the range of 11%-13% y-0-y on the back of improved asset quality and uptick in demand for
credit from retail industry.

Additionally, the growth is also likely to be driven by an increased focus on extending credit to customers belonging
to segments where the penetration of bank credit is low, ease of access to internet and investments made in
technology infrastructure in recent years.

CareEdge Research believes that NBFCs shift towards retail financing, which comprises vehicle loans, consumer
durable loans, advances against golds, real estate loans and other such individual loans, is likely to continue
contributing towards healthy growth of NBFCs in the near term.

The microfinance and personal loan segments of retail financing are likely to see traction and significantly contribute
to NBFCs’ growth. These segments are likely to continue their growth momentum on the back of steady demand.

Growth in vehicle segment is also expected to see growth on the back of automotive industry’s growth. In the near
term, the growth is likely to be supported by improved operating environment, new model launches and sustained
demand for vehicles, supported by improved availability of semi-conductors.

NBFCs’ credit growth may face headwinds due to global slowdown, inflation and the amendments in the regulatory
framework. In addition to this, NBFCs are expected to witness further uptick in their cost of funds as the central
bank continues to be watchful of inflationary pressures. However, improved asset quality will support earnings
thereby easing cost of funds.

Loan against Property
Overview of Sector

The housing finance company’s (HFC) plays a vital role in the Indian financial sector. HFC financing has gained
significant traction in the last couple of years. It’s assets under management improved by around 10% y-0-y in FY23.
Housing finance accounts for more than 70% of housing finance companies (HFCs”) loan book. The Indian HFC
segment is worth around Rs. 10.8 lakh crores (as on March 31, 2023). The sector witnessed improvement in the asset
quality in FY22 on account of good recoveries, healthy growth in assets under management and improved demand
post the ramp up in economic activity. In FY23, the asset quality of HFCs has further improved on account of
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increased collections efforts and high provisions.

The loan against property (LAP) segment is one of the major sectors in terms of its direct, indirect, and induced
impacts on all the sectors of the economy. Healthy growth of LAP portfolio in HFCs over the last few years has
resulted in LAP segment becoming a significant contributor to the overall loan portfolio of HFCs. LAPs fall under
the secured loan category in which the borrower pledges his commercial, industrial or residential property as
collateral and uses the loan amount for various purposes such as- education, medical expenses, marriage and personal
needs.

The housing finance sector in India comprises financial institutions, scheduled commercial banks, regional rural
banks, agriculture, and rural development banks, housing finance companies, state-level apex cooperative housing
finance society, Non-banking financial companies (NBFCs), Finance institutions (MFIs), and self-help groups.
These institutions provide loan against properties after evaluating the borrower’s credit history, income and
property’s current value. LAP is one of the feasible options as it offers benefits like- managing big ticket expenses,
longer repayment term and augmentation of business.

Overview & Trends in Loan against Property

For the last couple of years, the LAP segment witnessed a stable increase in the disbursal of loans. The growth
momentum was supported by the improvement in business climate, recovery in housing segment and leveraging on
technology. The LAP segment has been growing steadily and accounts for around 9% of the share in the overall
AUM of the HFCs in FY23.

Following the slowdown during the Covid-19 outbreak, the situation has significantly improved on account of
government vaccination drives and policies. Where, home loan segment saw an improvement in the portfolio due to
higher demand in urban area, and better affordability, the LAP portfolio witnessed muted growth in FY20 and FY21
in light of pricing and repayments risks. The loan book portfolio of HFCs- LAP segment showed a growth of 4% on
y-0-y basis in FY22, after witnessing disruptions in business volumes due to pandemic.

The segment observed a decline in the GNPAs after the increased efforts that HFCs are taking under the SARFAESI
Act. The same has helped the industry to improve the collection efficiency.

During FY23, the HFCs LAP portfolio stood at Rs. 95,453 crore, a decline of around 2% y-o-y.

Chart 19: HFCs LAP Portfolio (Rs. Crore)
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Note: Data comprises of HFCs LAP portfolio amount of 4 companies- HDFC, LIC Housing Finance Ltd, PNB Housing Finance
Ltd and Repco Home Finance Ltd

Outlook

The growth momentum in the HFC LAP portfolio is expected to continue as financial institutions aim to maintain
healthy balance sheet by tapping the untouched market of tier- 3 and tier-4 areas. Other factors driving up the LAP
loan portfolio includes- decrease in the average age of home loan borrowers, controlled credit cost and expansion in
scale of operations.

Technologies and new age lending platforms will play a crucial role in scrutinizing the borrower’s profile to eliminate
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credit risk, improve collections and resolve financial emergencies. The enhanced use of digital solutions adopted
during the pandemic (such as easy payments and marketing through digital platforms), increased demand for loan
products and the same has strengthened the LAPs and resulted in healthy business growth.

While the LAP segment is envisioned to flourish, certain macro- economic factors such as high inflation, surge in
interest rates and NPAs can dampen the loan portfolio growth. Further, layoff and wage decline scenario also put
pressure on the loan portfolio growth. Nonetheless, as India as on a road to become USD 5 trillion economy, real
estate sector will fuel the demand for the same.

Government has taken various steps to promote real estate industry growth, such as smart city project that aims to
build 100 smart cities and the Pradhan Mantri Awas Yojana (PMAY) that will accelerate the process of loan
approvals. Thus, massive amount of government spending, easing of FDI regulations, mega infrastructure projects
will bolster the growth of loan against property segment in the medium term.

MSME Finance
Introduction

The micro, small and medium enterprises (“MSME”) sector is a vibrant and dynamic sector with crucial linkages to
employment. The MSME sector is considered the growth engine of the Indian economy, with significant contribution
to the GDP, exports and employment generation. The sector contributes significantly in the economic and social
development of the country by fostering entrepreneurship and generating large employment opportunities at
comparatively lower capital cost, next only to agriculture. MSMEs are complementary to large industries as ancillary
units and the sector therefore contributes significantly in the inclusive industrial development of the country.

MSMEs are widening their domain across sectors of the economy, producing a diverse range of products and services
to meet demands of domestic as well as global markets.

In accordance with the provision of Micro, Small & Medium Enterprises Development (“MSMED”) Act, 2006
MSMEs are classified as follows:

Enterprise Category = Investment in Plant & Machinery or Equipment Annual Turnover
Micro Enterprises Does not exceed Rs. 1 crore Does not exceed Rs. 5 crores
Small Enterprises More than Rs. 1 crore but does not exceed Rs. 10 More than Rs. 5 crores but does
crores not exceed Rs. 50 crores
Medium Enterprises | More than Rs. 10 crores but does not exceed Rs. 50 | More than Rs. 50 crores but does
crores not exceed Rs. 250 crores

Organisational Structure of MSMEs

The Ministry of MSME consists of Small & Medium Enterprises (SME) Division, Agro & Rural Industry (ARI)
Division, Administration & Financial Institutions (AFI) Division, Integrated Finance Wing (IFW) and Data
Analytics and Technical Coordination (DATC) Wing, besides the Office of the Development Commissioner (DC,
MSME) as an attached office and other subordinate organisations. The organisational structure of the Ministry is
depicted below:
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Source: MSME Annual report 2022-23

4.3. Statutory bodies under MSME ministry

Khadi and  Village | Khadi and Village Industries Commission (KVIC) is a statutory organisation engaged
Industries  Commission | in promoting and developing khadi and village industries for providing employment
(KVIC) opportunities in rural areas, thereby strengthening the rural economy.

Coir Board The Coir Board is a statutory body established for promoting overall development of

the coir industry and improving living conditions of workers in this industry.

National Small Industries

Established in 1955, the National Small Industries Corporation Limited (NSIC) is

Corporation Limited | responsible for promoting, aiding and fostering growth of micro and small enterprises
(NSIC) in the country, generally on commercial basis

National Institute for | Established in 1960, the National Institute for Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises
Micro, Small and | (NI-MSME) is responsible for enterprise promotion and entrepreneurship
Medium Enterprises, (NI- | development, enabling enterprise creation, performing diagnostic development
MSME) studies for policy formulation, etc.

Mahatma Gandhi | The objectives of the Mahatma Gandhi Institute for Rural Industrialisation (MGIRI)
Institute ~ for Rural | are to accelerate rural industrialisation for sustainable village economy, empower
Industrialisation traditional artisans, encourage innovation through pilot study and R&D for alternative
(MGIRI) technology using local resources.

4.3.1. Estimated Number of MSMEs (Activity Wise)

Estimated Number of Enterprises (in crores)

Activity Category Rural Urban Total Share (%)
Manufacturing 1.14 0.83 1.97 31
Electricity* 0 0 0 0
Trade 1.09 1.22 2.3 36
Other Services 1.02 1.05 2.07 33
All 3.25 3.09 6.34 100
Source: MSME Annual Report 2022-23, CareEdge Research
Note: *Non-captive electricity generation and transmission
4.3.2. Number of MSMEs registered in Udyam portal in India
altego per o
Micro 1,79,71,693
Small 5,66,191
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Medium

53,189

Total

1,85,91,073

Source: Udyam portal (includes Udyam assist platform (UAP) registrations), Data as of 28th Aug 2023

As per the Udyam portal, more than 1.9 crore MSMEs are registered under Udyam portal, of which around 97%
enterprises are micro category and around 3% of the enterprises fall under small category and the remaining are

medium enterprises.

As per the National Sample Survey (NSS) 73rd round, conducted by National Sample Survey Office, Ministry
of Statistics & Programme Implementation during the period 2015-16, there were 63,388 thousand
unincorporated non-agriculture MSMEs in the country engaged in different economic activities (manufacturing,
electricity, trade and other services). Of this, micro enterprises sector with 63,052 thousand accounts for more
than 99% of total estimated number of MSMEs. While the small enterprise sector with around 331 thousand
makes up 0.52% of total estimated number of MSMEs and medium enterprise sector with around 5 lakh that is

around 0.01% of total estimated MSMEs, respectively.

4.3.3. Distribution of Enterprises Category Wise

4.4. State-wise Distribution of estimated MSMEs

Sector Small Medium \

Rural 324.1 0.8 0 324.9 51
Urban 306.4 2.5 0 309 49
Total 630.5 3.3 0.1 633.9 100

Source: MSME Annual Report 2022-23, CareEdge Research

MSME sector has created about 11.10 crore jobs in the country as per National Sample Survey 73" Round

(2015-16). (Source MSME Annual Report 2022-23)

State/UT

NSS 73rd round*

Number (in crores)

Share (in %)

Uttar Pradesh 0.9 14%
West Bengal 0.89 14%
Tamil Nadu 0.49 8%
Mabharashtra 0.48 8%
Karnataka 0.38 6%
Bihar 0.34 5%
Andhra Pradesh** 0.34 5%
Gujarat 0.33 5%
Rajasthan 0.27 4%
Madhya Pradesh 0.27 4%
Total of above ten States 4.69 74%
Other State/UTs 1.65 26%
All 6.34 100%

Source: MSME Annual Report 2022-23, CareEdge Research
Note: **Including Telangana in Fourth All India Census of MSME

4.5. Major schemes

The Ministry of MSME runs numerous schemes targeted at providing credit and financial assistances, skill development
training, infrastructure development, technological and quality upgradation and other services for MSMEs across the

country.
45.1.

1.

Credit and Financial

Prime Minister’s Employment Generation Programme

e The scheme, implemented by the KVIC, aims to generate employment opportunities in rural and urban
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45.2.

45.3.

areas by setting up new self-employment ventures/projects/micro enterprises. The programme also aims to
provide continuous and sustainable employment to prospective artisans and unemployed youth and increase
the wage-earning capacity of artisans and contribute to the growth of rural and urban employment.

e The eligibility criteria to avail this scheme are the individual should be 18 years and above.

e Asof December 31, 2022, expenditure incurred under this scheme was Rs.2,000 crore.

Credit Guarantee Trust Fund for Micro and Small Enterprises (CGTMSE)

e The scheme was launched by the Government of India (Gol) to provide collateral-free credit to the micro
and small enterprises. The scheme’s objective is to strengthen the delivery system for credit and facilitate

flow of credit to micro and small enterprises.

e The guarantee cover available under the scheme varies from 75% to 85% of the sanctioned amount of the
credit facility depending upon the quantum of loan and type of beneficiary.

e The extent of guarantee cover is 85% for micro enterprises for credit up to Rs. 5 lakhs and 75% guarantee
cover for those who availed credit facility above 5 lakhs.

e The extent of guarantee cover is 80% for all credits/loans in the North East Region (NER) for credit
facilities up to Rs. 50 lakhs and 75% for credit facility of above 50 lakhs and up to 500 lakhs.

e The guarantee covers to Micro and Small Enterprises operated and/or owned by women is to the extent of
85%.

Non-government provident funds (PFs) investing in alternative investment funds (AlFs) will add to
MSME fundraising options

e In March 2021, the Finance Ministry allowed private retirement funds to invest up to 5% in Category | &
Il AlFs regulated by SEBI; this will help widen the fundraising options for MSMEs and expand the
domestic pool of capital

e Category 1 AlFs consists of infrastructure, venture capital, angel and social venture funds. Category Il AlFs
covers funds where at least 51% of the size can be invested in either infrastructure, SMEs, venture capital
or social welfare entities.

Skill Development and Training

A Scheme for Promotion of Innovation, Rural Industries & Entrepreneurship (ASPIRE)

e The objectives of this scheme are to create new jobs, reduce unemployment, promote entrepreneurship
culture in the country, promote innovation in the MSME sector, etc.

e The scheme activities include livelihood business incubators and technology business incubators.
Entrepreneurship and Skill Development Programmes (ESDP)

e The objective of the scheme is to promote and support the creativity of MSME enterprises and encourage
adoption of the latest technologies in manufacturing as well as knowledge-based innovative MSMEs.

Infrastructure
Scheme of Fund for Regeneration of Traditional Industries (SFURT]I)
e The objectives of this scheme are to organise traditional industries and artisans into clusters to make them

competitive and provide support for their long-term sustainability, enhance marketability of products of
such clusters, build innovative products, improve technologies, etc.
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45.5.

4.5.6.

The scheme covers three types of interventions, i.e., soft intervention wherein activities are held to build
general awareness, counselling, skill development, etc.; hard intervention which includes creating common
facility centers, raw material banks, etc.; and thematic intervention on brand building, new media
marketing, e-commerce initiatives, research and development, etc.

Rs 1.95 crore of funds were allotted to this scheme during 2022-23 and the expenditure incurred (upto 31
December 2022) amounted to Rs 1.11 crore.

Micro & Small Enterprises Cluster Development Programme (MSE-CDP)

The MSME Ministry has adopted the cluster development approach as a key strategy for enhancing
productivity and competitiveness as well as capacity building of Micro and Small Enterprises (MSES) in
the country.

The main objectives of this scheme are to support sustainability of MSMEs, build MSMEs capacity for
common supportive action, upgrade/create infrastructural facilities in industrial estates, set up Common
Facility Centres (CFCs) and promote advanced & sustainable manufacturing technologies.

As a part of the programme, 201 Common Facility Centres (CFCs) and 309 Infrastructure Development
Projects (IDPs) have been commissioned as on 22 April 2022,

Marketing Assistance

Scheme for providing financial assistance to Khadi institutions under MPDA

The Government has introduced a scheme for providing flexible, growth stimulating and artisan-oriented
Market Development Assistance (MDA) Scheme, in place of the erstwhile system of Rebate.

The funds allocated towards this scheme was Rs 244.39 crore during 2022-23 and the expenditure incurred
(upto 31 December 2022) is Rs 169.29 crore.

Technology Upgrade and Competitiveness

Financial Support to MSMEs in ZED Certification

The scheme promotes Zero Defect and Zero Effect (ZED) manufacturing among MSMEs and ZED
Assessment for their certification to encourage MSMEs to constantly upgrade their quality standards in
products and processes, promote adaptation of quality tools/systems and energy-efficient manufacturing,
and drive manufacturing by adopting the Zero Defect production processes and without impacting the
environment.

The scheme is targeted towards MSMEs involved in manufacturing.

The Quality Council of India is responsible for implementing the scheme.

Support for Entrepreneurial and Managerial Development of SMEs through Incubators

The objective of the scheme is to promote and support the creativity of MSME enterprises and encourage
adoption of the latest technologies in manufacturing as well as knowledge-based innovative MSMEs.

The scheme includes financial assistance of up to Rs. 15 lakhs for developing and nurturing the idea; up to
Rs. 1 crore for procurement and installation of plant and machines to strengthen technology-related R&D
activities; or up to Rs. 1 crore as a grant-in-aid for seed capital support to Host Institute (HIs)/Business
Incubator (BIs) for converting deserving ideas into start-ups.

Other Services

Building Awareness on Intellectual Property Rights (IPR) for MSMEs
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The Building Awareness on Intellectual Property Rights (IPR) has been launched to promote awareness of
Intellectual Property Rights (IPINR) among MSMEs by assisting them in technology upgrade and
enhancing competitiveness and effective utilisation of IPR tools.

The scheme is executed through various activities such as awareness programmes, seminar workshops,
reimbursement for registration of IP, international co-operation & setting up IP facilitation centre across
the country.

Trade, import and export for MSMEs

MSME support and development organisation, National Small Industries Corporation (NSIC), will assist
MSMEs working with the Agricultural and Processed Food Products Export Development Authority
(APEDA) across multiple areas.

The NSIC, through an MoU with APEDA, will help its MSME members in exploring the export potential
of their agricultural and processed foods products. Additionally, APEDA members will get access to NSIC
schemes, which would help them address issues pertaining to technology adoption, skills, product quality
and market access.

The relationship will also support promotion of green & sustainable manufacturing technology for MSME
clusters, enabling units to switch to sustainable and green production processes and products.

4.6. Direct Benefit Transfer in the Ministry of MSME

All welfare and subsidy schemes of Governments of India have been brought under Direct Benefit Transfer (DBT)
with the aim of improving delivery system by re-engineering the existing process for welfare and subsidy schemes,
for simpler and faster flow of funds and to ensure accurate targeting of the beneficiaries, de-duplication and reduction
of fraud. A nodal point for the implementation of the DBT programmes, DBT Cell have been constituted in the
Ministry. The schemes have been categorized based on the benefit type to the beneficiary’s i.e., Cash, Kind or
Composite (i.e. Cash and Kind). Below is the table showing the main DBT schemes of the Ministry with the benefit
type, number of beneficiaries and total funds transferred / expenditure incurred.

Name of the Scheme Benefit Total no. of Total Expenditure
Type beneficiaries (2022-23) (2022-23) (upto
(upto 31.12.22) 31.12.22)

1 | ATI Scheme (Training Component) In Kind 1674 0.871

2 | MPDA Grant to Khadi Institutions Cash 86990 29.45

3 | Coir Vikas Yojana Cash 775 45.789

4 | SFURTI SI In Kind 2082765 384.509
Prime Ministers Employment

S Generation Programme (PMEGP) Cash 46808 1505.61
Entrepreneurship and Skill .

6 Development Programme (ESDP) In Kind 6312 2.5

7 International Co-operation (IC) Cash 56 6.87
Schemes

Source: MSME Annual Report 2022-23, CareEdge Research

4.7. Credit growth in MSME lending

India witnessed a sharp jump in MSME lending in FY21 and this increase has been supported by Atmanirbhar Bharat
scheme of Emergency Credit Line Guarantee Scheme (ECLGS) which provided 100% credit guarantee to lenders.
The scheme that was announced by the Government in May 2020 helped the firms to get access to more credit.

Table 4: SCBs and NBFCs credit exposure to MSMEs

Figures in Rs. crores

Outstanding NBFCs SCBs

as on Micro and Small Medium Total Micro and Small Medium Total

Enterprise Enterprise Enterprise Enterprise

Mar-19 37,360 16,020 53,380 3,75,508 1,06,392 4,81,900
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Mar-20 36,441 14,077 50,518 3,92,265 1,05,095 4,97,360
Mar-21 44,235 14,910 59,145 4,33,192 1,38,599 5,71,791
Mar-22 46,967 17,186 64,153 5,32,179 2,13,996 7,46,175
Sep-22 49,966 15,103 65,069 5,72,958 2,25,083 7,98,041
Mar-23 5,98,390 2,56,023 8,54,413

Source: RBI, CareEdge Research
Note: The credit exposure for MSMEs is NBFCs and SCBs credit exposure to "Micro & Small’ and "Medium’ enterprises under
‘Industrial Sector’ only.

NBFCs mainly deploy credit to MSMEs belonging to the services and agricultural sectors. In comparison, bank
credit to MSMESs witnessed a consistent growth. Bank credit deployed to MSMEs witnessed an improvement in
FY21 and strengthened further in the FY22 on account of a resurgence in demand from MSMEs as well as support
from the Central Government by way of credit guarantee. The ECLGS scheme launched in May-20 after the
pandemic hit the country in Mar-20 revived credit offtake by MSMEs. The scheme was introduced to help mitigate
the economic distress faced by MSMEs by providing them additional funding in the form of a fully guaranteed
emergency credit line.

The credit extended towards MSME has increased significantly as during the pandemic, the Government encouraged
banks to extend credit to MSMEs and aid them to buffer the effects of the pandemic. And as micro and small
enterprises were more vulnerable, the credit towards them during the pandemic increased significantly during the
FY21. On the other hand, medium enterprises were able to buffer the effects of pandemic to a certain extent.
Although the credit towards medium enterprises increased over the previous financial year, the growth was moderate
compared to growth in credit extended to micro and small enterprises. This has continued to result in the growth of
credit to MSMEs significantly in FY22. Moreover, the extension of ECLGS up to Mar-23, with the guarantee cover
raised by Rs 50,000 crores to a total of 5 lakh crores has also contributed in the credit growth of MSME’s and as on
Mar-23, the total bank credit outstanding to MSMEs crossed at Rs 8.5 lakh crores.

Share of Banks & Non-Banks in MSME lending
The MSME sector is underpenetrated by NBFCs and there is a huge unmet credit demand in the sector, primarily
due to lack of documentation and credit history required to access to financing from formal banking channels. There

is also a significant gap between the original credit requirement and the actual credit exposure of formal channels to
MSMEs, which provides a huge opportunity in MSME lending.

Chart 20: Share of banks & NBFCs in MSME lending
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Source: RBI, CareEdge Research

Note: The credit exposure for MSMEs is NBFCs and SCBs credit exposure to "Micro & Small’ and "Medium’ enterprises under ‘Industrial

Sector’ only.
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NPA Rates in MSME Segment

MSMEs have poor financial muscle and were severely impacted by the coronavirus pandemic. Since most MSMEs
operate in the manufacturing sector, the nationwide lockdown which impacted production as well as demand caused
increased stress to MSMEs. Additionally, MSMEs likely witnessed delayed payments on orders serviced and the
inability to adopt digitization or accommodate higher costs on social distancing and limited workforce impaired
MSMEs’ operations. Many went out of business and some struggled to tide over the crisis with cash flow issues
which translated into a strain on their ability to repay banks.

Table 5: Bank-wise SMA distribution of MSME Portfolio

Period ended Public sector banks + Private sector banks
0 days past due | SMA-0 SMA-1 SMA-2
Mar-21 74.00% 7.30% 5.70% 2.20% 10.80%
Jun-21 72.40% 8.60% 3.80% 3.40% 11.90%
Sep-21 76.30% 6.60% 2.60% 3.10% 11.30%
Dec-21 75.40% 8.80% 3.10% 2.30% 10.40%
Mar-22 79.70% 6.40% 3.50% 1.10% 9.30%

4.10.

4.11.

Source: RBI, CareEdge Research

MSMEs seeking loans from banks also struggled to meet their obligations due to uncertainty and the second wave
of the pandemic. As per data published by the RBI, GNPAs from the MSME segment witnessed a spike for the
pandemic year of FY21 and rose further to 18.8% towards the end of June-21, which coincided with the second
wave of the virus. GNPAs seemed to decline at the start of Sep-21 as operations returned back to normalcy. GNPAs
have further improved and declined to 9.3% in FY22. CareEdge Research estimates GNPA levels to ease gradually
over the next financial year.

Government Policies
The Government of India has designed various policies for the growth of MSMEs in the country.

e Revamp of the credit guarantee scheme for MSMEs w.e.f April 2023 through fund infusion of Rs 9,000
crore in the corpus. This will facilitate additional collateral-free guaranteed credit of Rs 2 lakh crore and
reduces the cost of the credit by 1%.

e Announcement on introducing an Entity DigiLocker for MSMEs in order to store and share documents
securely in an online mode.

e Under Vivad se Vishwas, 95% of the forfeited amount relating to bid or performance security is to be
returned by the government in case of failure by MSMEs to execute contracts during the Covid period.

e PM Vishwakarma Kaushal Samman (PM VIKAS) for traditional artisans to integrate them with the MSME
value chain and assist them in improving the quality, scale and reach of their products.

Recent Developments in the sector

e  The government has revised definition for micro, small and medium enterprises (MSMES). The government
will now accord MSME status to retailers and wholesale traders. The decision will benefit 2.5 crores retail
and wholesale traders in the country. This is a positive move to provide easier access to credit and loans
millions of retailers and wholesalers to modernise and expand their business. It will aid in boosting informal
retail sector’s contribution towards GDP & overall economic growth.

e In April 2021, the non-banking finance companies (NBFCs) requested the Reserve Bank of India to extend
the one-time restructuring scheme of MSME advances till March 31, 2022, as these players are unable to
revive their businesses.

e In March 2021, the Ministry of MSME, through the Development Commissioner (DC-MSME)
implemented the Technology Centre Systems Program (TCSP) to establish 15 new Technology Centres
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(TC). The centres provide assistance to the industry predominantly MSMEs in General Engineering,
Automotive, Fragrance & Flavor and ESDM sectors.

e In March 2021, the Finance Ministry allowed private retirement funds to invest up to 5% in Category | &
Il AlFs regulated by SEBI; this will help widen the fundraising options for MSMEs and expand the
domestic pool of capital.

e Category 1 AlFs consists of infrastructure, venture capital, angel and social venture funds. Category Il AlFs
covers funds where at least 51% of the size can be invested in either infrastructure, SMEs, venture capital
or social welfare entities.

e In March 2021, MSME support and development organisation, National Small Industries Corporation
(NSIC) announced that they will assist MSMEs working with the Agricultural and Processed Food Products
Export Development Authority (APEDA) across multiple areas.

e The relationship will also support promotion of green & sustainable manufacturing technology for MSME
clusters, enabling units to switch to sustainable and green production processes and products.

e In February 2021, Walmart's Vriddhi programme was extended to Uttar Pradesh, with launch of an e-
institute to facilitate small businesses in granting access to skills and competencies across online and offline
platforms such as Flipkart's marketplace and Walmart's global supply chain. The company stated that this
new e-institute will benefit 50,000 MSMEs across the country to expand domestically and globally.

e In February 2021, Indian Bank signed a memorandum of understanding (MOU) with the Society for
Innovation and Development (SID), a project of the Indian Institute of Science, to provide exclusive credit
to start-ups and MSMEs.

e In February 2021, the Small Industries Development Bank of India (SIDBI), a financial institution
dedicated to the promotion, financing, and development of micro, small, and medium enterprises
(MSMEs), signed an agreement with the government of Andhra Pradesh to help expand the state's MSME
ecosystem.

e Udyam Registration: In 2020, the Ministry classified MSMEs based on investment in plant &
Machinery/equipment and turnover of MSMEs as a composite criteria for classification. Initially, the
process was filed by Udyog Aadhaar Memorandum which is now replaced by 'Udyam' registration on a
portal developed by this Ministry.

e Exemption from requirement of having GSTIN: The ministry has exempted from the requirement of having
GSTIN shall be as per the provisions of the Central Goods and Services Tax Act, 2017, that will lead to
increase in the registration on Udyam Registration portal.

e Also, the Government has included Retail and Wholesale Trades as MSMEs from 2nd July, 2021 and are
allowed to be registered on Udyam Registration Portal. The Government has also included Street VVendors
as Retail Trades as MSMEs from 2nd August, 2021.

Outlook

The MSME sector is the driving force of the Indian economy and has major potential to spread industrialization
across the economy. The sector faces number of challenges such as limited access to finance, inadequate
availability of skilled labour, and insufficient infrastructure. Along with this, rising interest rates by RBI to
control inflation has become a hindrance to the growth in sector. This has led to increase in borrowing cost for
MSMEs and further made the situation difficult for accessing credit. This high rise in borrowing cost is expected
to impact the cash flows and profitability of MSMEs. Although, this sector has many challenges, the growth
potential remains high.

MSMEs are small in terms of scale of operations, business size. They employ a large number of people making
the sector a key contributor to the economic development of the country. The sheer number of work force
engaged also results in this sector receiving Government support and benefits. Apart from Government
initiatives, the improved use of digital solutions adopted during the pandemic (such as easy payments and
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marketing through digital platforms) increased demand for finished products have strengthen the MSMEs and
resulted in recovery of their business.

In addition to this the extension of Emergency Credit Line Guarantee Scheme (ECLGS), that assists MSMEs in
availing credit required to ensure recovery, until March 31, 2023 has helped in the recovery and growth of this
sector. In August 2022, the cabinet has approved the enhancement in the limit of ECLGS to Rs.5 lakh crore
from Rs. 4.5 lakh crore. This increase in limit is expected to provide relief to businesses to meet their operational
expenses in hospitality and related sectors. Furthermore, the revamp of the credit guarantee scheme for MSMEs
from April 2023 with Rs 9,000 crore of infusion in the corpus will facilitate additional collateral-free guaranteed
credit of Rs 2 lakh crore and reduces the borrowing cost by 1%. These initiatives are expected to stimulate credit
outreach to MSMEs, provide last-mile financial inclusion and promote job creation in the sector.

The MSME sector is expected to help India achieve its goal of becoming a USD 5 lakh crore economy by 2025
and in order to achieve this goal, MSMEs have to generate employment opportunities, improve performance,
transform their business operations and carry out technology-based production and invest in research and
development activities. In addition to this, MSMEs are expected to contribute more than 40% of India’s nominal
gross domestic product (GDP) by financial year 2025 for which it will require immense support from the
Government, institutions and banks.

Personal Loans by NBFCs
Overview

Retail loans in India fall under the larger umbrella of credit provided to an individual by a certified financial
institution, a commercial bank, or a credit union to fulfil their financial needs such as buying a property or house,
paying for college education, owning a vehicle or other assets such as essential electronics and personal loans that
are short term in nature.

Personal loans are unsecured retail loans i.e. collateral free in nature. Personal loans carry high interest rates owing
to their risky nature as loans are given without any security. Additionally, the interest rates of these loans varies from
individual to individual depending upon the income level, repayment capacity, professional and credit history of the
borrower.

Personal loans are usually small ticket size loans that are borrowed for tenure ranging between one to five years. A
personal loan can be availed for the purpose of meeting personal expenses such as traveling, marriage, medical
expenses, or to meet any other immediate financial obligations. Financial institutions lend such loans with minimum
documentations and quick approvals.

Chart 21: Credit deployed by NBFCs’ towards Retail loans
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Source: CMIE, RBI, CareEdge Research

Note: Retail loans include refers to loans given to individuals and consist of (a) consumer credit, (b) education loan, (c) loans
given for creation/ enhancement of immovable assets (e.g., housing, etc.), and (d) loans given for investment in financial assets
(shares, debentures, etc.) and other personal loans.

Note: Data for NBFCs for March 2023 is provisional
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Retail loans comprise housing loans, vehicle loans, loans against gold, education loans and other personal loans. In
2019, retail credit accounted for around 26% of total credit deployed by NBFCs. As of March 2023, the credit
deployed to retail loans by NBFCs has increased to more than a 30% of their gross credit deployed, which stood at
Rs. 33.8 lakh crores for NBFCs.

Over the last couple of years, Banks and NBFCs have shifted their focus on retail lending in order to grow their
business. While, industry and services sector demand for credit has remained subdued, retail lending has shown
tremendous growth. Additionally, these loans have lower delinquencies when compared to MSME / corporate
lending which is also a major factor for the shift. However, banks continue to remain aggressive compared to NBFCs
in this space.

Post-pandemic the retail loan segment is plays a critical role in the overall growth of Banks and NBFCs. CareEdge
research expects more focused growth in this segment going forward.

6. Education Loans by NBFCs
Overview

Education loans are important to reduce the gap between educational degrees and financial constraints. It helps in
skill formation required for enhancing productivity and efficiency in the country.

Although the government plays a vital role in providing primary education, the growing interest of young population
in higher education are majorly being fulfilled by the private sector, even though public sector organizations continue
to play a significant role.

With the rising cost of education, education loans are becoming crucial to pursue higher education in the country
and yet education loan portfolio forms only a small fraction of retail loan portfolio of all commercial banks in India
(3.3%).

According to the United Nation’s human development data, gross enrolment ratio in tertiary education in India during
2014-19 was 28%, which was lower than the average of 33% for developing countries and the world average of 39%.
Provided that higher education is important in attaining sustainable livelihoods, it is vital to bridge the resource gap
for students with limited means, particularly in countries where private market for education loans is underdeveloped.

As on March 2022, the total outstanding education loans by SCBs stood at Rs 84,677 crore, an increase of about
7.4% as compared to Rs 78,823 crore in March 2021.

Education loans — NBFC

NBFC provides credit to various sectors and loan for education is one of them. The Industry segment’s contribution
is the highest in the NBFC credit followed by retail loans.

Although the share of Education loan portfolio is very low, it is increasing a steady pace.

Chart 22: Outstanding Education loans of NBFCs (Rs crore)
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The aggregate credit extended by NBFCs stood at Rs 29.1 lakh crores in March 2022. Of which the education loans’
contribution is at an average of 0.35% in the last 3 years. By the end of March 2022, the loan portfolio reached to Rs
14,264 crore. The primary reason for increased loan portfolio may be on account of resumption of admissions after
the Covid-19 period. During September 2022, the outstanding loans for education stood at Rs 7,879 crore.

Even though the industry benefits from the increased interest in higher education, the threat of high NPA’s lingers
around in this segment. These loans are often subject to failure as in most of these loans are not backed by any
collateral. Also, the high repayment period in education loans is a barrier for lending in this segment.

In March 2022, there has been improvement in Scheduled Commercial Bank’s asset quality in terms of personal
loans segment, especially for credit card receivables and education loans. However, it still remains high as compared
to other categories.

The SCB’s high NPA in education loan segment, may result in lower sanctions of these loans which can divert the
young population towards NBFC’s in near future.

Education is a key element for every individual in the country and the increasing cost of education is the primary
factor for increase in education loan in near future. Education loans will play a major role in reducing the gap between
skill development and financial constraints of students. This along with pick up in admissions (offline as well as
overseas) after the lull due to pandemic is further expected to grow the education loan portfolio.
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OUR BUSINESS

Unless otherwise stated or the context requires otherwise, references in this section to “we”, “us” or “our” refers to
InCred Financial Services Limited (formerly known as KKR India Financial Services Limited) together with its
Subsidiaries.

Some of the information in the following section, specifically the information in relation to our plans and strategies,
contain certain forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. You should read “Forward Looking
Statements” on page 18 for a discussion of risks and uncertainties related to those statements and also “Risk Factors”
on page 19 for a discussion of certain factors that may affect our business, financial condition, cash flows or results of
operations.

Our actual results may differ materially from those expressed in or implied by these forward-looking statements. Unless
stated otherwise, or unless context requires otherwise, (a) the financial data for three months period ending June 30,
2023 has been derived from the Unaudited Financial Results for the three months period ended June 30, 2023; (b) the
financial data of our Company for the Fiscal 2023 has been derived from Audited Financial Statements for Fiscal 2023,
(c) the financial data for the Fiscal 2022 and Fiscal 2021 has been derived from Audited Financial Statements of Pre-
demerger InCred for Fiscal 2022 and Fiscal 2021, and (c) the financial data for Pre-demerger KIFS for Fiscal 2022 and
2021 has been derived from Audited Financial Statements of Pre-demerger KIFS. Further, unless stated otherwise, or
unless context requires otherwise all non-financial information in this section is on standalone basis.

The Unaudited Financial Results are not complete set of financial statement since they omit statement of cash flow and
balance sheet and other disclosures required under Ind AS 34. Accordingly, certain financial information derived from
balance sheet and cash flows are not derived from our Quarterly Standalone Unaudited Financial Results

We have included various operational and financial performance indicators in this section, some of which may not have
been derived from the (a) Unaudited Standalone Financial Results for the three months period ended June 30, 2023 (b)
Audited Standalone Financial Statements for the Fiscal 2023; (c¢) Audited Consolidated Financial Statements for the
Fiscal 2023 or (d) Audited Consolidated Financial Statements of Pre-demerger InCred for 2021. The manner in which
such operational and financial indicators are calculated and presented, and the assumptions and estimates used in the
calculation, may vary from that used by other entities in the business similar to ours.

This Prospectus contains certain Non-GAAP measures related to our operations and financial performance that may
vary from any standard methodology that is applicable across the industry. You should consult your own advisors and
evaluate such information in the context of the Quarterly Unaudited Standalone Financial Results and the Audited
Financial Statements. For details pertaining to the same, please refer to the risk factor titled “45 - This Prospectus
contains certain Non-GAAP measures related to our operations and financial performance that may vary from any
standard methodology that is applicable across the industry.” on page 38.

Pursuant to the Scheme the InCred Demerged Undertaking comprising of identified NBFC business of InCred Prime
Finance Limited (formerly, InCred Financial Services Limited) (‘Pre-demerger InCred’) merged with our Company with
effect from the Appointed Date i.e. April 1, 2022. As per the terms of the Scheme, the Board of Directors of Pre-demerger
InCred have been appointed as the directors of the our Company. Further, with the discharge of purchase consideration
for demerger, the shareholders of Pre-demerger InCred hold majority shareholding of our Company. Accordingly, the
business combination has been treated as reverse acquisition for financial reporting purpose as per Ind AS 103 and Pre-
demerger InCred’ has been identified as the accounting acquirer and our Company being the accounting acquiree. For
further details see “Risk Factor- 17. We have limited operating history and evolving business make it difficult to evaluate
our business and future operating results on the basis of our past performance, and our future results may not meet or
exceed our past performance” on page 28.

Unless otherwise indicated, industry and market data used in this section has been derived from industry publications
and other publicly available information, including, in particular the CareEdge Report. For further details see “Industry
Overview” on page 79.

Overview
We are a non-deposit taking systemically important NBFC registered with the RBI. Our Company caters to lower middle
class to middle class Indian households for their personal finance needs like education loans, personal loans.

Correspondingly, it also offers secured and unsecured business loans to small businesses, secured loan to K12 Indian
schools for their expansion plans, supply chain financing, lending to profitable financial Institutions and micro finance
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companies and escrow backed lending through its SME vertical.

Our Company was incorporated as Multiflow Financial Services Private Limited on February 3, 1995 as a private
company incorporated under the Companies Act, 1956, as amended, with CIN U67190TN1995PTC030045 and was
granted a certificate of incorporation by the Registrar of Companies, Chennai Tamil Nadu. The Company changed its
name to KKR India Financial Services Private Limited and was issued fresh certificate of incorporation by Registrar of
Companies, Tamil Nadu, Chennai, Andaman and Nicobar Islands on August 13, 2010 consequent upon change of name.
Later on, a fresh certificate of incorporation was received from Registrar of Companies, Chennai, Tamil Nadu on July 24,
2019 upon conversion of Company from private company to public company under section 18 of Companies Act, 2013
and consequently name of the Company was changed to KKR India Financial Services Limited. The registered office of
the Company was subsequently changed from Regus Citi Centre, Level 6, 10/11 Dr. Radhakrishna Salai, Chennai, Tamil
Nadu — 600 004 to 2™ Floor, Piramal Tower, Peninsula Corporate Park, Ganpatrao Kadam Marg, Lower Parel, Mumbai,
Mabharashtra, 400013 and a fresh certificate of incorporation was issued by RoC w.e.f. April 1, 2021 with revised CIN
U67190MH1995PLC360817. Pursuant to Composite Scheme of Amalgamation and Arrangement effective from April
01, 2022 the name of our Company was changed from KKR India Financial Services Limited to InCred Financial Services
Limited, and a fresh certificate of incorporation was granted by the RoC on August 3, 2022. Further our registered office
was changed to Unit No. 1203, 12" floor, B Wing, The Capital, Plot No. C-70, G Block, Bandra Kurla Complex, Bandra
(East), Mumbai, Maharashtra-400051. Our Company is registered as a non-deposit accepting systemically important non-
banking financial company with the Reserve Bank of India under Section 45-1A of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934
bearing registration number B-13.02417 by way of a certificate of registration dated September 28, 2022.

Pre-demerger KKR was engaged in providing strucutred funding, promoter financing and mezzanine financing. To
consolidate the non-banking financing business related to reail and SME lending and ancillary financing activites
undertaken by Pre-demerger InCred, InCred Demerged Undertaking was merged with Pre-demerger KKR to achieve
greater economies of scale, operational ratinalisation and organisational efficiency, wider market reach and customer
base, pooling of knowledge and expertise, and to reduce redundant cost.

Pursuant to the Scheme, the identified NBFC business of retail and SME lending and ancillary financing activities of the
of Pre-demerger InCred (Corporate Identification Number: U74899MH1991PLC340312) (“InCred Demerged
Undertaking”) was merged into our Company with effect from the Appointed Date i.e. April 1, 2022 and the name of
our Company was changed to ‘InCred Financial Services Limited” and a fresh Certificate of Incorporation was issued by
RoC, Maharashtra at Mumbai on August 3, 2022. For details on demerger, please see ‘History and Main Objects -
Composite Scheme of Amalgamation and Arrangement” on page 148.

Post the merger our Company continues to offer personal loans, education loans and MSME loans. As on June 30, 2023
and March 31, 2023 our AUM was X 6,48,349.9 lakh and X 6,06,244.4 lakh, respectively and our Company catered to
4,18,704 and 3,76,879 customers respectively during the said periods. The AUM of Pre-demerger InCred as of March 31,
2022 and 2021 was X 3,84,375.5 lakh and X 2,64,464.8 lakh, respectively.

Product wise break up AUM and average yield by our Company as on June 30, 2023 and March 31, 2023:

Category Product As at June 30, 2023** As at March 31, 2023
AUM Average yield AUM Average yield
(R in lakhs) (% age) (R in lakhs) (% age)
Consumer Loans Personal Loans 2,88,069.3 24.1% 2,55,010.4 23.5%
Education Loans Student Loans 1,17,806.1 13.6% 1,03,794.7 13.8%
Secured School Financing 49,393.7 14.7% 48,641.6 14.7%
and Loan against Properties
MSME Loans Anchor & Escrow Backed 1,21,822.5 15.2% 1,25,531.8 15.2%
Business Loans
Lending to Fls 59,699.1 14.0% 60,810.2 13.9%
Wholesale Lending* 11,559.2 11.7% 12,455.7 12.1%
Total 6,48,349.9 18.7% 6,06,244.4 18.2%

*Qutstanding AUM of Pre-Demerger KKR that came to IFSL (merged entity) as part of the merger
**Note: These numbers have not been audited or reviewed.
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Product wise break-up of AUM and average yield of Pre-demerger InCred as of March 31, 2022 and 2021 is as follows:

Category Product As of March 31
2022 2021
AUM Average yield AUM Average yield
(R in lakhs) (% age) (R in lakhs) (% age)
Consumer Loans | Personal Loans 1,45,984.5 25.3% 80,556.6 25.0%
Education Loans | Student Loans 49,141.8 12.7% 33,085.2 13.6%
Secured School Financing 55,140.2 14.6% 56,766.9 14.7%
and Loan against Properties
MSME Loans Anchor and escrow backed 80,035.3 15.1% 43,709.1 15.5%
business loans
Lending to Financial 52,422.0 13.6% 37,698.0 14.4%
Institutions
Non- Anchor Business Loans 1,651.7 19.0% 8,490.6 19.6%
Two- wheeler loans* - - 4,158.4 21.5%
Total 3,84,375.5 18.4% 2,64,464.8 18.0%

* The self-originated Two-wheeler loans business of outstanding balance of I 2,085.9 lakh was sold w.e.f. from October 1, 2021 to
Tatkal Loan India Private Limited.

Our Company’s total borrowings (principal amount outstanding) on a standalone basis, as at October 6, 2023 amounted
to X 4,48,098.0 lakh and as at June 30, 2023 (post IndAS adjustment) amounted to X 3,71,730.9 lakh, on a standalone
basis. We rely on long-term, medium-term borrowings and short- term borrowings from various sources. We take term
loans, issue non-convertible debentures, market-linked debentures, and commercial papers and accept inter-corporate
deposits. We have a diversified lender base comprising of public sector banks, private banks, financial institutions,
development financial institutions, small finance banks and others.

Our total income for the three months period ended June 30, 2023 was X 27,182.8 lakh. Further, our profit for the three
months period ended June 30, 2023 amounted < 6,277.7 lakh.

Our total income for the Fiscal 2023 on a standalone basis was % 87,653.5 lakh. Further, our total income for the Fiscal
2023 on a consolidated basis amounted X 87,745.4 lakh. Our profit for the Fiscal 2023 on a standalone basis amounted X
12,080.1 lakh and on a consolidated basis amounted X 12,092.1 lakh.

Our Gross Stage 3 assets and Net Stage 3 assets of our Company on a standalone basis were 2.4% and 1.1%, respectively,
of our loan portfolio for the three months period ended June 30, 2023 and 2.1% and 0.9% respectively, of our loan
portfolio for the Fiscal 2023.

The following table sets forth certain key details of our Company, for the 3 months period ended June 30, 2023 and
March 31, 2023 on a standalone basis:

(Z in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

As at and for the

3 months period ended June 30, 2023* | year ended March 31, 2023
Total AUM 6,48,364.8 6,06,277.4
Total Disbursements 1,88,666.0 7,23,509.9
Average AUM 5,49,411.4 4,95,343.1
Total income 27,182.8 87,653.5
Profit for the Period/Year 6,277.7 12,080.1
% Stage 3 Loans on Loans 2.4% 2.1%
% Net Stage 3 Loans on Loans 1.1% 0.9%

*Note: Balance sheet related numbers are not derived from financial results as these balance sheet numbers are not audited or
reviewed

Further, the total income for the Fiscal 2022 and Fiscal 2021 for Pre-demerger InCred on a standalone basis was
52,121.7 lakh and  39,184.9 lakh, respectively and on a consolidated basis was % 52,427.2 lakh and ¥ 39,247.7 lakh,
respectively. The profit for the year for Pre-demerger InCred, for the Fiscal 2022 and Fiscal 2021 on a standalone basis
was  3,611.8 lakh and % 1,023.4 lakh, respectively and on a consolidated basis was % 3,082.8 lakh and % 217.0 lakh,
respectively.
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The following table sets forth certain key details of Pre-demerger InCred, for Fiscal 2022 and Fiscal 2021 on a standalone
basis:

(Z in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

As at and for the year ended March 31,
2022* 2021**
Total AUM 3,84,408.9 2,64,464.7
Total Disbursements 4,78,335.7 2,42,275.7
Average AUM 3,24,436.8 2,35,910.9
Total income 52,121.7 39,184.9
Profit for the Year 3,611.8 1,023.4
% Stage 3 Loans on Loans 2.8% 3.9%
% Net Stage 3 Loans on Loans 1.4% 1.9%

*pre-demerger

** Includes AUM of InCred Housing Finance Limited (IHFL) < 651.7 lakh for comparative purpose. IHFL was merged with Pre-
demerger InCred with effect from 01.04.2020 pursuant to amalgamation scheme approved by NCLT — Mumbai Bench vide its order
dated October 29, 2020.

Our Strengths
We believe that our position as an NBFC is founded on the following competitive strengths:
Prudent credit and collection policies aimed at maintaining strong asset quality

Our credit policies specify the types of loans to be offered, the documentary requirements and limits placed on loan
amounts. We have separate policies tailored for separate product segments. These policies are aimed at supporting the
growth of our business by minimising the risks associated with growth in our loan book. We have also established
protocols and procedures to be followed when engaging with customers, as well as to determine the authority and levels
to which credit decisions can be taken at various offices. Over the years, we have gained significant experience in loan
underwriting and this is now a key contributor to our business.

We also have an experienced collections team which, with our legal team, have enabled us to maintain effective collection
efficiencies through economic cycles. Our centralised credit & risk analysis processes combined with our dedicated
collections team help maintain the quality and growth of our total AUM. We have a healthy collection efficiency of over
97% in all the quarters from Q1 FY 2022 for our standard loan book excluding partner & wholesale lending book.

Effective use of technology

For our Consumer Loans, MSME and Education Loans customers, we offer a technological platform that gives our
customers access to paperless loans through their computers or mobile devices. With this technology, the entire process
of loan origination for some of our businesses (from loan application to final approval) is managed through computers
and mobile devices so there is no need for our customers to visit a branch by the borrower. We believe that this results in
significant customer convenience by providing a seamless loans approval process that is operable remotely and is
accessible to customers at any time. This has also enhanced our access to customers in regions where we do not have
physical branches. We believe that this has reduced our operational costs and overheads and that this use of technology
is key to realising our strategy of transitioning to an asset light model.

Diversified credit profile, strong credit evaluation and risk management systems

We seek to diversify our credit risk and ensure that no individual credit product contributes a large portion to our overall
credit book. We believe that this mitigates the risk of concentration to any particular product or sector and helps us to
manage our risk exposure in a more effective manner. We also believe that the scale of our retail credit portfolio imparts
stability to the credit book. Each of our key business processes is regularly monitored by the respective business or
operations head. As of March 31, 2023, our secured borrowings (other than debt securities) were % 2,70,329.6 lakhs,
secured debt securities were X 1,14,207.2 lakhs, ECBs were % 5,776.2 lakhs and commercial papers were X 982.8 lakhs.

In addition, we also have an effective ALM profile. We borrow on a relatively long-term basis, while lending on both

short term and long- term basis. This allows us to better meet the growing loan demands of our rapidly increasing
customer base, even if external borrowings and funding sources face temporary realignment. We believe that our
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diversified sources of borrowing, stable credit history, strong credit ratings and effective ALM have allowed us to gain
better access to cost-effective debt financing. In Fiscal 2023, we maintained a healthy ALM profile with positive
cumulative mismatch across most of the time periods, within the norms stipulated by the RBI. As of March 31, 2023, our
cash and cash equivalents and other bank balance on a standalone basis amounted to X 43,629.0 lakhs, which we believe
reflects our strong liquidity position.

Healthy capitalisation and low leveraged balance sheet

As an NBFC we are subject to the capital to risk assets ratio (“CRAR”) requirements prescribed by the RBI. We maintain
a healthy capitalisation and low leveraged balance sheet, which enables us to maintain a healthy financial position. As of
March 31, 2023, our Tier | CRAR was 33.2% and our Tier Il CRAR was 0.5% on a standalone basis, as against the
statutory minimum capital adequacy of 15.00% currently prescribed by RBI. We are focussed on maintaining a balanced
CRAR. Also, our Company has maintained a leveraged balance sheet with total debt to equity of 1.6 on a standalone
basis as of March 31, 2023.

Strong Corporate Governance Standards

We have successfully recruited and retained talented employees from a variety of backgrounds. Our Company has a
strong Board comprising of experienced professionals and a management team comprising of qualified professionals
heading different business verticals with adequate and relevant experience in their respective fields. This diversified
experience provides us with diverse inputs in evaluating and managing our businesses. We have also created a leadership
team for each of our business vertical tasked with various roles and responsibilities of operating and managing such
businesses. We believe that our management structure and experienced team helps us to carefully nurture our culture of
growth, innovation and high quality governance.

Reach across a varied Customer base and customer sourcing models

Our lending business is sourced digitally as well as through partners, direct selling agents and in-house sales team. We
partner with online, and offline, platforms to leverage business data for consumer lending. We quickly finance consumer
loans, education loans and SME loans, resulting in customer delight, conversions, transactions, revenue, and profit for
our platform. We also conduct site verification visits and interviews with the applicant before the disbursement of loan.
On the sanction of a loan amount, repayment terms are set out up on completion of all documentation requirements by
the applicant. With our presence across 93 locations, as on June 30, 2023, we have established a diverse customer base,
situated across India.

Experienced Board and management Team

We are a professionally managed company, and our senior management team has an established track record in the
financial services industry. Our senior managers have diverse experience in various financial services and functions
related to our business. We believe that the knowledge and experience of our senior and mid-level management team
members provides us with a significant competitive advantage as we seek to grow our business and expand to new
geographies. At present, our Company has ten Directors on our Board, out of which five are Independent Directors,
Bhupinder Singh is the Whole-time Director and Chief Executive Officer, Vivek Bansal is Whole-time Director and
Chief Financial Officer, and three Directors are Non-Executive Directors.

Further, our management has significant experience and knowledge in the financial services industry. Bhupinder Singh,
our whole time director and chief executive officer, has a vast experience in financial services industry. Prior to founding
our Company, he co-headed the Investment Banking and Securities division of Deutsche Bank for the Asia Pacific region
with a USD 3 billion top line. In this role, he managed the Bank’s Fixed Income, Equities and Investment Banking
divisions.

Our Whole-time Director & Chief Financial Officer, Vivek Bansal also has several experience in the field of banking &
finance. He was previously associated with Yes Bank where he worked from 2011 till 2018, with his last designation
being Senior President and Deputy Chief Financial Officer. Prior to Yes Bank, he worked with Fidelity Investments and
Standard Chartered. For details, see “Our Management” on page 151. Further, as on June 30, 2023 we have 1,281
permanent employees and 125 employees on contract basis.
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Our Growth Strategies
Leverage on technology and digital platforms to improve customer reach and operating efficiency

At InCred, we use technology and data-science to make lending quick, simple and hassle-free. We also intend to further
develop and strengthen our technology platform to support our growth and improve the quality of our services. We will
continue to update our systems and use latest technology to streamline our credit approval, administration and monitoring
processes to meet customer requirements on a real-time basis. We believe that improvements in technology will also
reduce our operational and processing time, thereby improving our efficiency and allowing us to provide better service
to our customers.

Continue to follow prudent risk management policies to maintain strong asset quality

We believe that the success of our business is dependent on our ability to consistently implement and streamline our risk
management policies. As we focus on growing our Loan Book with low credit risk, we will continue to maintain strict
risk management standards to reduce credit risks and promote a robust recovery process. We also intend to further develop
and strengthen our technology platform to support our growth and improve the quality of our services.

Attract and retain talented professionals

We have been successful in attracting and retaining a team of professionals with experience in credit evaluation, risk
management, technology and business. We believe we have created the right balance of performance and other economic
incentives for our employees so that they are motivated to develop business, achieve profitability targets and control risk.
We will, from time to time, review our systems and procedures to enable us to respond effectively to changes in the
business environment and enhance our overall performance.

Growth of the business through increasing geographical presence across India

We intend to continue to grow our loan portfolio by expanding our network through the addition of new branches. In
order to optimize our expansion, we carefully assess potential markets by analyzing demographic, competitive and
regulatory factors, site selection and availability, and growth potential. A good reach to customers is very important in
our business. Increased revenue, profitability and visibility are the factors that drive the branch network. Our strategy for
branch expansion includes further strengthening our presence in various parts of India by providing higher accessibility
to customers.

Diversify our assets and liabilities

As at June 30, 2023, our borrowings (other than debt securities) were X 2,76,573.4 lakhs. Our primary sources of funding
are long-term loans and issuances of non-convertible debentures. We intend to further diversify and strengthen our
profile, strategically adding additional funding resources. We intend to remain diversified in our loan book by
strategically focusing on adjacent high growth and profitable lending businesses including education loans and escrow
backed MSME lending and further expand our lending and other businesses.

Our Corporate Structure as on the date of this Prospectus

[ INCRED HOLDINGS LIMITED ]

100%
A 4

[ INCRED FINANCIAL SERVICES LIMITED

100% 100%
A 4

INCRED MANAGEMENT AND TECHNOLOGY

SERVICES PRIVATE LIMITED INCRED Al LIMITED
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GEOGRAPHICAL PRESENCE

As of June 30, 2023, we had 43 branches and 1,406 employees spread across 9 states in India.

Rajasthan

Delhi
s laipur -2 Delhi-2
s Bhilwara Y T oen
+ lodhpur :
* Ajmer |
s Alwar ]|
Gujarat
West Bengal
s Ahmedabad
* Vadodara » Kolkata
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Maharashtra
s Hyderabad - 2
+» Mumbai-4 » Warangal
. P“n_e « Suryapet
+ Nasik s Mahbubnagar
» Nagpur + Karimnagar
+ Thane Andhra Pradesh
« Vijayawada « Rajahmundry
Karnataka . N_ellore s Guntur
- _»# Vizag * Kuppam,
« Bengaluru-3 T
. Hub% I — Puducherry
+ Mysore -2 T
Tamil Nadu » Puducherry
» Chennai
+ Coimbatore - 2
+ Madurai
s Trichy
+ Salem

BUSINESS DESCRIPTION

The Company offers secured and unsecured loans under various product segments such as consumer loans, education
loans and MSME loans. Broad descriptions as under:

Category Product segment Description
Consumer Loans | Personal Loans Short to medium term unsecured loans for different needs incl. lifestyle
purchases with focus on new to credit & underserved credit

Education Loans | Student Loans Loans for students pursuing higher education in India and abroad
Secured School Financing |Loans to educational institutions for expansion/ upgradation of
and LAP infrastructure and loan against property for personal or business needs.

MSME Loans Anchor and escrow Business Loans, Supply Chain Finance loans backed by Anchor Partners
backed business loans and escrow mechanism
Lending to Fls Term loans to MFIs and other NBFCs for onward lending purposes

The details of the products offered by our Company are as under:
A. Consumer Loans
We offer personal loans up to % 10 lakh with contractual tenors of up to 84 months and average yield of 24.1% as part of

our consumer loans portfolio to largely salaried customers. The principal and interest payments are due on a monthly
basis.
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Technology is a key driver for growth for our personal loans business. We provide the personal loans through our in-
house built Android application and through our website. Our consumer loans business is completely digital backed by
deep data analytics which enables us to offer a transcendent customer experience. Central to the digital experience at
InCred is our in-house built Android application which allows customers to apply for personal loans at their convenience
and get in-principle approval in the matter of minutes.

We offer personal loans to help our customers address a large number of use cases such as: (a) planned personal expenses,
e.g., weddings, home renovation expenses, domestic and foreign travel, high ticket purchases, (b) short-term business
needs and (b) emergency medical expenses. We also service a large segment of “near-prime” customers who do not have
access to credit from more traditional lenders. By combining data from a number of digital sources, we are able to draw
a complete risk profile of these customers and offer them loans at the right risk reward.

In addition to term loans, we also offer our personal loan customers a line-of-credit facility. This facility once set up, is
available on demand and customer can draw down on it with a single swipe. Customers also pay interest only when they
utilise the line-of-credit and hence have full flexibility in managing their credit costs.

As on June 30, 2023 and March 31, 2023, our personal loans business had an AUM of % 2,88,069.3 lakh and % 2,55,010.4
lakh, respectively. During the three months ended June 30, 2023 and Fiscal 2023, we disbursed 3,13,578 and 9,69,008
personal loans, respectively amounting to X 89,470.1 lakh and  3,16,972.5 lakh, respectively, with an average ticket size
of around X 0.8 lakh and X 0.8 lakh, respectively. During the three months ended June 30, 2023 and Fiscal 2023, the
average tenor of loans disbursed in our personal loans business was 37 months, respectively.

Loan Origination and Evaluation

We collect KYC documents from the applicant through the online application which are sent automatically to the central
underwriting system which allows a quick turnaround of loan assessment. The system runs various checks and uses
number of proprietary scorecards including, a bureau scorecard, a banking scorecard, a device-data scorecard and a
stability scorecard to sanction the loan applications. We supplement our score card based approach with regular customer
research and sophisticated data analytics to provide tailored products to our customers.

B. Education Loans
Student loans

Our Company offers a specialised product offering of student loans up to X 100 lakh with tenors of up to 180 months
with an average yield of 13.6% to Indian students majorly going abroad for international study. These loans are primarily
targeted at students pursuing post-graduate study and specifically at students pursuing a science, technology, engineering,
mathematics (STEM) degree from the US. Extensive knowledge about the education sector, its finer nuances like
accreditations, fees structures, entrance scores, evaluation systems, university/college/course rankings etc. give us the
ability to predict the potential employability and income for any student that we fund. The customer here is highly
qualified, demanding and has potential to be InCred customer for most of his/her financial needs for next 30-40 years.

As of June 30, 2023 we have funded over 6,538 talented Indian students, who have gone to over 570 plus universities
across 25 countries.

A bulk of our loans are collateral free, which is a unique product that we offer. Our proprietary risk model assesses the
future potential income of students and uses that to determine the loan eligibility. This is the core need of many students
who come from modest family backgrounds. We are able to provide 100% financing so that students are not required to
provide their own funds.

Loan Origination and Evaluation

e The underwriting and credit assessment model is centered on the academic risk categorisation. The academic risk
categorisation is based on the quality of the student and program of studies

e The academic risk is based on the academic assessment score of the student on a scale of 100
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e The program/university risk level is separately assessed as per InCred’s internal master databases which are updated
periodically based on internal and external data.

e Co-applicants have an inversely proportional relationship to the risk level
e The origination process involves

o Login of Applicant and documents by sales/partners/customers

o Document verification by Credit Process Associates (CPAS)

o Academic and financial assessment by Credit Officers (Cos)

o Review, Recommendation and approval by Credit Managers (CMs)

o Commercial Approval (Rol/PF) if any

o Change Requests/Approvals (if any) such as changes to program, university, tenure, amount, etc.

o Processing fee payment by customer

o Final Approval (issuance of sanction letter)

o Verifications, field investigations, RCU etc.

o Disbursement Request by customer

Loan Evaluation Framework

Academic Risk Primary Repayer 1" Assessment

= | » Past Academic Performance
Lowest Risk 1 E 2 Studert  —— = Awarding Institution

i * GPA & Failed Subjects etc
i > Test Scorefs

2 - Standardized (GRE/GMAT/etc)
i » Bureau = English (IELTS/TOEFL/etc)
i » Loan Amount, Coverage, » Work expereience, scholarship, research etc
i\ Costs * Education Institute & Course

g i » Demographics & KYC = Accreditation & Approval
i > Age - Location

- Residence, ownership - Ranking & Rating
4 ! ! = Relation etc = Employment Statistics & Occupational Outlooks

°* o !
Highest Risk Co-applicants | - - Busme;s/Occgpatu_)n o
: = Profile, designation, qualifications

- Financial Health
= Industry, sector etc
» Financial Analysis
= Income, investments, assets, etc
= Banking
*» Indebtedness
= Total monthly outgo, EMIs, etc
> Dependents & other liabilities
» Collateral/Security
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Customers
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Secured School Financing and LAP

We provide funding of up to X 1,000 lakh with tenors of up to 180 months, with an average yield of 14.6%, only to K-12
schools which are operational since last 10 years and for which class 10™ verifiable results are available for last 5 years
for increasing the existing infrastructure capacity. We focus on southern and western states in India for disbursement of
secured school financing funding.

Such lending is based on hypothecation of fees income and the end use of the funds should be for increasing the existing
infrastructure capacity not for building the new schools.

The Company provides loan against property mainly Individuals, Proprietorship firms, Partnership firms, LLP, Private
Limited Companies and closely held unlisted and listed companies. The primary objectives include but not restricted to
Balance Transfer, Debt consolidation, Business Use etc. We provide funding of upto X 100.00 Lakhs with tenors of up
to 180 months. The maximum LTV under the segment is up to 75%.

Loan Origination and Evaluation

The target segment for Secured School Finance is small to mid-sized K-12 Schools / Colleges / Educational Institutions.
The target market in LAP is both salaried and self-employed customers. Self-employed customers are individuals,
professionals, Micro, small and medium enterprises.

The Loans are secured against acceptable real estate collateral as per Credit policy of IFSL. The loans are extended based
on fair market value of the collateral (Loan To Value) and acceptable fixed obligation to income ratio (FOIR) as per
defined parameters in the credit policy of our Company.

The origination of the target segment is done through direct and indirect channels. The indirect channels are direct sales
agencies empaneled in accordance with the outsourcing guidelines of RBI. The leads are generated through various
marketing activities and direct sourcing by business development teams.

The target market of LAP and SSF has unique characteristics of asymmetric financial information and unorganized
income documents. The segment has its inherent risk of assessment and hence the credit policy has been framed to address
the needs of the target market. The underwriting methodology is governed by the detailed standard operating procedure
(SOP) and the credit policy manual of the company. The underwriting philosophy primarily relies on field verification-
based income assessment and validation with available documents for determining the cash flow viability to service the
proposed loan applied with IFSL.
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The following activities are performed as part of our evaluation process:

e Theincome is assessed by the credit team based on the available documents and the information gathered at the time
of personal discussion with the customer.

e Validation of information given in the loan application form by verifying the K C documents including digital KYC
checks and other documents submitted by the borrower.

e Perform the internal dedupe and credit bureau checks.

o Verifications (Field investigation / Document verification by external vendor and Risk Control Unit, Technical
Valuation by qualified external vendor, title search and legal report by qualified external panel counsel).

e Review and assessment of applicable income documents, Salary slips, financials, GST statements and Bank
statements.

e  Physical visit to the business premises / visit to collateral property by the credit team.

e Preparation of Credit approval memorandum and recommendation as per the guidelines prescribed in the credit
policy of our Company.

¢ Review and Approval by the competent authority as defined in the credit authority delegation grid.

o Collateral appraisal by Internal Legal and Technical team prior to disbursement. Original vetting of title documents
by panel counsel prior to creation of mortgage in favour of our Company.

As on June 30, 2023 and March 31, 2023, our education loans portfolio had an AUM of X 1,67,188.9 lakh and % 1,52,436.4
lakh, respectively. During the three months ended June 30, 2023 and during the Fiscal 2023, we disbursed 881 and 4257
student loans, respectively, amounting to ¥ 14658.5 lakh and % 61,702.2 lakh, with an average ticket size of X 17.9 lakh
and X 17.4 lakh, respectively. During the said periods our Company also disbursed 265 and 716 secured school loans
amounting to % 5,016.4 lakh and X 13,489.7 lakh, respectively, with an average ticket size of X 52.7 lakh and X 57.0 lakh.

C. MSME Loans
Anchor and Escrow Backed Business Loans

We provide secured and unsecured anchor backed business loans up to X 1,000 lakh with tenors of up to 60 months with
an average yield of 15.4% to businesses that are broadly engaged in IT distribution, Consumer business, pharmaceuticals,
food processing and food and beverages. Such customers are sourced through anchor tie-ups (national distributors/OEM)
with automated disbursements which acts as checks on limit utilization, overdue status and limit renewals.

We undertake proactive monitoring of portfolio and regular evaluation of cash flows of borrowers.

As on June 30, 2023 and March 31, 2023, our anchor backed business loans business had an AUM of % 1,21,822.5 lakh
and % 1,25,531.8 lakh, respectively. During the three months ended June 30, 2023 and Fiscal 2023, we disbursed 12,004
and 21,820 anchor backed business loans amounting to X 68,286.1 lakh and X 2,72,067.0 lakh, respectively, with an
average ticket size of X 12.0 lakh and  10.2 lakh, respectively.

Lending to Fls

We also provide funding up to X 1,500 lakh with tenors of up to 36 months with an average yield of 13.9% to RBI
regulated companies having NBFC / NBFC-MFI registration.

We focus on companies with robust ALM practices and undertake evaluation of past credit history, promoter/
management background, investor commitment and the amount of equity invested in the business to undertake credit
assessment for such loans. The loans are secured by receivables of loans disbursed out of our facility. We also have
discretion of defining borrower’s credit criteria for their customer selection.

As on March 31, 2023, our Lending to Fls business had an AUM of %60,810.2 lakh. During the three months ended June
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30, 2023, we disbursed 24 loans to Fls amounting to ¥ 11,235.0 lakh, with an average ticket size of X 572.0 lakh.

Lending Policy

The standard process adopted by the company from sourcing to collection is enumerated as under:
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Credit Appraisal Process
Our credit appraisal processes are based on:

Need for credit: the borrower’s need for credit are assessed, as per the context of the product segment. The
intent is to ensure that the credit is targeted for use in a constructive way, to improvements to the borrower’s
earning or to improve the quality of life

Affordability: an assessment of the borrower’s ability to service the loan is conducted in all cases. While the
assessment methodology vary across product, the intent is always to set product features such as the disbursal
amount and tenure such that the loan is affordable (within the context of the product)

Credit rating: the borrower’s credit history, and track record in managing debt, is considered in all applications.
Where appropriate, the credit history of linked parties, like a group company, spouse or guarantor are also
considered. In certain product, new to credit borrowers are targeted. Regardless, the absence of a credit history
is a factor that is considered as an input into the credit process.

Holistic borrower understanding: the credit appraisal process seeks to understand the borrower’s situation,
and therefore credit needs as holistically as possible. In some product, this is achieved by consuming more
digital-data about the customer. In others, it is with in-depth interactions with the customer to assess their
repayment plans. In all cases, InCred’s approach is to have a holistic a customer understanding as possible, to
provide services that are both relevant from a demand viewpoint, and appropriate from the risk viewpoint

Credit Pricing

Credit is priced after considering our cost of funds, expected credit cost, the operational cost and expected return
on assets (“RoA”)
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e From a credit risk viewpoint, the pricing is linked to expected risk levels. This is at the product level, wherein
product associated with a higher risk profile charge a higher price. This is also within each product segment,
wherein lower risk customers are offered a lower price, and vice versa

e This principle is followed within the constraints of market and competitive conditions in the relevant product
segment

e  Pricing is varied through the term of the loan or credit facility, based on product needs. In addition to fixed rate
loans, interest rates may be floating and reset to reflect market conditions during the term of the loan.

e Our Company also charges default interest rates on a loan or credit facility if the customer is delinquent of
repayments. This reflects on the addition risk associated with serving such a customer.

Credit Approval and Denials

e The credit approval of small ticket loans largely runs under a straight through process of digital lending where
credit underwriting is done through ML (machine learning) based credit algorithm / automated decision rule
engine. Manual credit underwriting in small ticket loans is used if the credit process has steps outside the scope
of automated decision rule engine or have deviations as per product specific credit policy of IFSL. The credit
underwriting of large ticket loans is done by the Credit team as per risk boundaries, credit parameters and
authority matrix defined in product specific credit policy of IFSL.

e The credit decision is communicated through the loan origination system (LOS) and other digital modes as per
operational needs of each product.

e Each product has a different set of risk considerations for credit approval and deviations recorded in the credit
approval memorandum (CAM) which are reviewed and approved by the appropriate authority as defined in the
product specific credit policy of IFSL.

e Critical deviations observed during the underwriting process are considered as input factors for portfolio review
and periodic revision of respective credit policy as per operating needs of each product. The review and approval
of the respective credit policy along with new program launches is done after due consideration of all the
recommendations which are evaluated and presented by the respective product, portfolio risk, credit, and
business teams.

e  The Risk Management Committee (“RMC?”) is periodically apprised on the new business, portfolio performance
along with credit policy / new credit product programs or program withdrawals to ensure adequate risk oversight
and guidance of the RMC on all critical credit risk and policy considerations.

e Programmatic approvals, for multiple loans that are targeting a new product, are presented to and approved by
the RMC, along with the relevant Policy annexure. Similarly, any withdrawal from a product is also governed
along similar lines through the RMC.

Security, insurance and charge

e Security management involves creation of enforceable charge over the borrower’s/ third party assets in favour
of our Company, before the disbursement of a loan.

e  Proper valuation, storage and maintenance of the assets so charged is necessary, to ensure that our loans are
appropriately covered by the value of the assets charged to it. To subserve this objective, the charged assets are
valued at periodic intervals on a conservative basis, and stipulated margins are maintained at all times. Each
product vertical has a detailed operating procedure for empanelment of valuers, covering aspects like
qualifications and experience. Empanelled valuers are reviewed and renewed annually by the respective business
heads.

e The specific details of the assets charged are clearly mentioned in the loan documentation. Enhanced provisions
are required for the unsecured portion of any loan, compared to the secured portion.

e Assets charged to our Company are adequately insured against all applicable risks to protect us. The adequacy
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of insurance cover relative to the loan value is specified for each product segment, and is renewed periodically
until our exposure to the borrower exists

e  Monitoring of our collateral is specified as a part of the responsibilities of credit professional attached to each
of the product “verticals”. Deviations, if any, are to be brought to the notice of the respective product risk head
and business head. Remedial measures are taken to set right any deviations.

Credit Documentation

e The purpose of credit documentation is to clearly establish the debt obligation of the borrower to us. Credit
documents used in all products would be approved by the Legal department.

e In most cases, the credit documents are standardised. In cases where a standard format has not been prescribed,
or is not appropriate, case to case loan documentation would be done in consultation with the Legal Department.

e The primary responsibility for ensuring that the loan documents are executed by the borrowers or guarantors
typically lies with sales/ relationship management. Safekeeping of documents is the responsibility of the
prescribed officer in Operations. Documents are reviewed, and searches effected to ensure continued safety of
and legal enforceability of our documents

e Document checklists are maintained for all products. Sales/ Relationship Management and Operations refer to
the checklist of documents to ensure completeness before loan disbursal, in line with the needs of each individual
product.

Credit Administration and Monitoring

e  Credit administration and monitoring involves follow-up and supervision of InCred’s individual loans, as well
as the entire loan portfolio, with a view to maintaining asset quality at a desirable level, through proactive
corrective actions aimed at controlling the risks to InCred. While the specific actions involved in credit
administration vary by product-vertical, the general principles that apply across multiple verticals include the
following:

e Ensure compliance with the terms and conditions of the loan sanctioned.
e Ensure end-use of InCred’s funds as per the approved purposes, and prevent diversion of funds for unauthorized
purposes, to the extent possible in the product-market context. This will include periodic on-site supervision of

borrower operations in certain cases.

e Evaluate previous lending decisions through a process of hind-sighting, by a competent but independent party,
to identify and implement opportunities for credit process improvement.

e Assess the financial health and credit worthiness of the borrower periodically. Metrics that many be considered
include income trends, borrowing or indebtedness trends, and substantial changes in personal or business
circumstances.

e Periodic review of the loan portfolio at the InCred and/or the product level, to guide changes or adjustments in
credit strategy and portfolio design.

e The credit administration and monitoring process include an Early Warning Signal (EWS). The product specific
algorithms or processes underlying the EWS are set out in the annexures. Actions or remedial measures taken
as a result of identified early warning signs would vary by product, but would typically include the following:

¢ Reduction or curtailment of additional exposure to that borrower.

= Enhanced supervision or monitoring of the borrower’s business and financial activity, to guard against over-
leverage, divergence of funds, etc.

= Accelerated Collections activity, to maximize loan repayments while the borrower at risk is still able to
make payments.
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Collections and Recoveries

In line with InCred’s customer and risk centric vision, and to increase the efficiency and intensity of collections activities,
we have modelled our strategies of early stress accounts debt management covering broad areas of accountability,
communications and feedback management, and reporting.

All Products DPD Mapping Account Classification Bucket Status
Current Regular 0
0-30 days or 1 EMI overdue Early Stage Delinquency 1
31 — 60 days or 2 EMI’s overdue | Mid Stage Delinquency 2
61 — 90 days or 3 EMI’s overdue | Late Stage Delinquency 3
91 — 120 days or 4 EMI’s overdue | High Risk Stage / NPA 4
> 120 days or 5 EMI’s overdue High Risk Stage / NPA 5 & above

We have segmented overdue accounts on the basis of the number of delinquent days as above.

This segmentation would be the basis for allocation and treatment strategies detailed below. The table highlights the
accountability for each risk classification categories along-with the main collections priority.

e e |
emmememobemimeomeemsemoen.. PccOUNE Classification Segment ¢
- iEarly Stage iMid-Stage Late Stage IHigh Risk

i
__________________ .|_ _!.._._._._._._._._._I._._._._._._._._._

For further details, please see “Other Regulatory and Statutory Disclosure — Lending Policy” on page 367.
a. Consumer loans and Education loans

For smaller ticket size accounts, all overdue accounts are allocated to collections on receipt of bounce / non-payment,
post the cycle date. Operations would communicate the list of accounts which have not been cleared on the cycle date.

The collections team have empanelled tele-calling vendors in each zone that we operate in, and the accounts are allocated
to them upon receipt of bounce information. The tele-calling agents (part of the empanelled tele-calling vendors) call on
these overdue accounts for intimation of overdue and follow-up on collection.

Bucket | Mode of Collections Party Responsible
BO SMS & Reminder Calling Tele-calling Agencies

SMS & Calling post bounce

Field Visits on broken PTP’s and identified sticky accounts

B1 Legal Notices Collections Managers & Field Agencies
Tele-Calling Litigation Team
Intensive Field Visits
B2-3 Legal Notices and Sec 138 (case to case basis) Collections Managers & Field Agencies
Intensive Field Visits
B4+ | Action under Arbitration / SARFAESI (if applicable) Collections Managers & Field Agencies

Intensive field visits

We also use various collection tools at different stages of delinquency as represented below:
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We also have a tele-calling set up augmenting our field efforts in the early delinquency bucket. For all cases where we
have a NACH registered, we have representation done on all non-technical bounces.

Intimation of overdue to customers is being done through SMS, Dunning Letters and Lawyer notices. Lawyer notices
typically would be sent once an account crosses 30 dpd.

Once an account flows in Bucket 1 (>1 EMI overdue), typically the accounts gets allocated to Field Collections Agencies
(external vendors empanelled by our collections team basis thorough pre-empanelment checks and market references)
for field follow-up.

All vendors need to comply with stipulated code of conduct pertaining to debt-management efforts.

When an account moves into sub-standard asset classification, we begin arbitration proceedings to take possession of the
mortgaged property (if available). Even in unsecured, we will proceed with arbitration to attach collaterals of clients to
augment recovery.

In late stage / high risk stage delinquency, settlement tools are used in order to precipitate recovery and limit our losses
on such accounts. Typically, the settlement waivers are approved by the chief risk officer & head of collections, basis
recommendation of national collections manager.

b. MSME Loans

In SME and institutional products, business and risk teams would be directly managing overdue collection activity in the
Early Stage Delinquency phase. With focus in early delinquency being on managing and nurturing the relationships, we
would have the business and risk teams to coordinate with the clients for follow up and collection of overdue monies.
When an account is overdue between 30-60 days, the Business RM would hand-over the case to Collections team. During
this stage, Business RM would conduct joint visits with Collections as part of the Hand-over activity. Collections would
handle the account with robust liaison with Legal team. Here, the focus on collections would be to stabilize and rollback
the overdues and to protect the exposure of InCred.

Collections team would, however, would continue to take the help of Business team as and when required in collection
efforts irrespective of stage of delinquency.

In Late or High Stage Delinquency, we would employ legal tools to help recovery of overdue money. This would include
actions under Sec 138 / 25 under Negotiable Instruments Act and actions under SARFAESI Act (for exposures > 220
lakhs) and arbitration.

Collections Tracking & MIS

Daily MIS of accounts resolved and resolution MIS are shared by the Central Collections Team, basis receipt of
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confirmation of payments received on overdue accounts.

Risk Management Framework

Risk management forms an integral part of our business operations and monitoring activities. We are exposed to various
risks related to our businesses and operating environment. Our objective is to evaluate and monitor various risks that we
are subject to and follow stringent policies and procedures to address these risks. Our Risk Management Committee
assists the Board in addressing various risks and discharging duties relating to corporate accountability. We have
formulated comprehensive risk management policies and processes to identify, evaluate and manage risks that are
encountered during conduct of business activities in an effective manner. A documented, systematic assessment of
processes and outcomes surrounding key risks including internal control is undertaken periodically. The Board reviews
the effectiveness of risk management systems in place and ensures that they are effectively managed. Additionally,
independent internal auditor is also appointed to review and report on the business processes and policies. Reports of
internal auditors are reviewed and discussed by the Audit Committee. Further, observations made by external and
regulatory agencies are also addressed and complied with. In order to address the risks that are inherent to our business,
we have developed a risk management architecture that includes monitoring by our Board through the Audit Committee,
the Asset Liability Committee and the Risk Management Committee.

A summary of our asset and liability maturity (ALM) profile on a standalone basis as of August 31, 2023 is set out below:

( in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars

0 day to
7 days

8 days
to 14
days

15 days
to 30/31
days
(One
month)

Over
one
month
and
upto 2
months

Over
two
months
and
upto 3
months

Over 3
months
and
upto 6
months

Over 6
months
and upto
1 year

Over 1
year
and

upto 3
years

Over 3
years
and upto
5 years

Over 5
years

Total

A. OUTFLOWS

Capital

46,022.7

46,022.7

Reserves & Surplus

2,11,990.5

2,11,990.5

Bonds & Notes

Deposits

Borrowings

1,344.8

5,976.2

36,515.1

10,987.3

11,096.9

35,908.8

1,34,330.7

1,72,254.6

30,502.6

4,38,916.9

Current Liabilities &
Provisions

4,217.2

2,674.0

3,028.6

1,232.2

973.7

993.0

5,081.6

3,923.4

805.2

18,322.4

41,251.3

Statutory Dues

3,020.2

3,020.2

Unclaimed Deposits

Other Outflows

18.6

12.9

17.0

42.4

39.7

71.2

99.0

221.2

74.7

2,589.2

3,185.9

Outflows On
Account of Off
Balance Sheet (OBS)
Exposure

28,261.0

13,964.4

42,225.5

TOTAL
OUTFLOWS

5,580.6

8,663.1

42,580.9

12,261.9

12,110.3

36,973.0

1,39,511.3

2,04,660.2

45,346.9

2,78,924.8

7,86,612.8

Cumulative
Outflows

5,580.6

14,243.7

56,824.6

69,086.5

81,196.7

1,18,169.7

2,57,681.0

4,62,341.2

5,07,688.1

7,86,612.8

7,86,612.8

B. INFLOWS

Cash (In 1 to 30/31
day time-bucket)

Remittance in
Transit

Balances With
Banks

19,190.5

205.2

157.7

87.3

627.2

5,073.1

25,341.1

Investments

257.2

617.2

874.4

Advances
(Performing)

12,296.0

10,501.6

41,099.9

33,079.6

61,915.0

74,572.2

1,63,662.6

63,038.0

1,66,821.2

6,35,113.3

Gross Non-
Performing Loans
(GNPA)

15,118.5

15,118.5

Inflows From Assets
On Lease

Fixed Assets
(Excluding Assets

4,929.0

4,929.0
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(Z in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars Odayto | 8days | 15days Over Over Over 3 Over 6 Over 1 Over 3 Over 5 Total
7 days to 14 | to 30/31 one two months | months year years years
days days month | months and and upto and and upto
(One and and upto 6 1 year upto 3 5 years
month) upto 2 upto 3 months years
months | months
On Lease)
Other Assets : 2,440.5 56.0 274.1 384.5 372.7 909.8 4,939.8 2,482.1 324.8| 50,826.8| 63,011.1
Security Finance - - - - - - - - - - -
Transactions
Inflows on Account 18,223.0 - - - - - - - - -| 18,223.0
of Off Balance Sheet
(OBS) Exposure
TOTAL INFLOWS 52,150.0 | 8,183.2 | 10,980.9| 41,642.2 | 33,539.6 | 63,452.0 84,585.1 [1,66,401.9 | 63,362.8 |2,38,312.7 |7,62,610.3
C. Mismatch (B—A)| 46,569.4| (479.9) [(31,600.0) | 29,380.3| 21,429.3| 26,479.0 | (54,926.3) [(38,258.2) | 18,015.9 |(40,612.1) | (24,002.5)
D. Cumulative 46,569.4 146,089.6 | 14,489.6 | 43,869.8| 65,299.2| 91,778.2| 36,8519 (1,406.3)| 16,609.6 |(24,002.5) |(24,002.5)
Mismatch
E. Mismatch as % 8345% | -5.5% -74.2% | 239.6% | 177.0% 71.6% -39.4% -18.7% 39.7% -14.6% -3.1%
of Total Outflows
F. Cumulative 834.5% | 323.6% 25.5% 63.5% 80.4% 77.7% 14.3% -0.3% 3.3% -3.1% -3.1%
Mismatch as %
of Cumulative
Total Outflows
*Total borrowings (excluding foreign currency liabilities)
**includes foreign currency denominated external commercial borrowing
Credit Rating
Our current credit ratings are set forth below:
(2 in lakh)
Rating Agency Instrument Rated Limit Ratings
CRISIL Limited | Bank Loan Facilities 4,10,000.00 | CRISIL A+/Stable
Principal Protected Market Linked Debenture 41,150.00 | CRISIL PP-MLD A+ /Stable
Non-convertible debentures 92,287.00 | CRISIL A+/Stable
Commercial paper 30,000.00 | CRISIL A1+
Pass Through Certificates 6,663.84 | CRISIL AA (SO)
CARE Ratings | Long Term Bank Facilities 56,284.00 | CARE A+/Stable
Limited Principal Protected Market Linked Debenture 7,500.00 | CARE PP- MLD A+/Stable
Commercial paper 30,000.00 | CARE Al+

Information Technology

At InCred — we have 4 key technology pillars. First up, we are mobile first with our applications accessible from anywhere
via the internet. Next, our technology stack is fully cloud native built to be modular and secure from the ground up using
APIs. This allows us to scale horizontally to millions of users seamlessly. Third — our stack allows custom workflows for
different products to be built and release— rapidly and finally — we have a modern data lake and analytics engine that
allows near real time data to be aggregated and available to all business functions to drive continuous improvement. We
have a 150+ product, tech and analytics teams powering continuous improvement to our funnel conversion metrics, our
business performance and operating leverage. For example, this has allowed us to scale our operations 100X while
keeping our operations team flat in size. Finally to give an idea of our scale, our tech stack is now powering upwards of
1.2 Cr API requests per day.

Intellectual Property

The name “InCred” is registered in the name of our Subsidiary, i.e. InCred Management and Technology Services Private
Limited vide certificate of registration dated February 8, 2022. InCred Management and Technology Services Private
Limited has given our Company a right to use the name ‘InCred’ and apply for a logo in relation to our businss under no-

objection certificate dated July 11, 2022.

Our Company has applied for a registration for the trademark “ ﬁnance ” under class 36 on
September 15, 2023. The application is currently pending approval with the Trade marks Registry.
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Competition

The financial services industry is highly competitive and we expect competition to intensify in the future. We face
competition in the lending business from domestic and international banks as well as other NBFCs, fintech lending
platforms and private unorganized lenders. Banks are increasingly expanding into retail loans in the rural and semi-urban
areas of India. We are exposed to the risk that these banks continue to expand their operations into the markets in which
we operate, which would result in greater competition and lower spreads on our loans. In particular, many of our
competitors may have operational advantages in terms of access to cost-effective sources of funding and in implementing
new technologies and rationalising related operational costs.

Insurance

We maintain a director’s and officers’ liability policy covering our directors and officers against claims arising out of
legal and regulatory proceedings and monetary demands for damages. We also maintain a group personal accident,
mediclaim policy for employees and business travel accident policy for our employees. These insurance policies are
generally valid for a year and are renewed annually.

Employees

We believe our human capital is one of our most important strengths and a key driver of growth, efficiency and
productivity. We invest in developing our talent and leadership through various initiatives aimed at strengthening the
ability of our managers to bring together people, strategies, and execution to drive business results. We also have a
leadership programme with the objective of multiplying leadership capability, developing internal leaders and ensuring
seamless execution of our future growth. As on June 30, 2023, we have 1,281 permanent employees and 125 employees
on contract basis.

Corporate Social Responsibility

Our Company, including Pre Demerger InCred's CSR mission is to contribute to the social and economic development
of the community through a series of efforts and has been making a significant difference in the lives of people across
various communities. Through this remarkable initiative we have successfully touched the lives of countless
individuals, creating a positive impact in diverse areas. For Corporate Social Responsibility activities we strive to
promote education for girls and ensure environmental sustainability/ ecological balance etc.

Education Support for Girls is one of the flagship initiatives of Touching Lives Through Impact Projects, and it has had
a transformative impact on the lives of more than 700 girls across India. Recognizing the importance of education
in empowering individuals and fostering societal progress, the organization has taken significant steps to ensure
that young girls have access to quality education from the primary to the secondary level.

Awards and Accolades
i.  Most Preferred Workplace in BFSI 2022-23: The recognition is to laud InCred’s efforts in succeeding to create an
employee experience that is meaningful, collaborative, and inspiring.

ii. ET Best Brands: InCred has won “ET Best Brand Award” over four consecutive years for building a strong brand
identity and’presence among all it’s stakeholders for the years 2019, 2020, 2021 and 2022.

iii. Best Educational Content on Social Media 2021: InCred was recognized for our educational content about studying
abroad, tech trends and educating people about loans and credit history.

iv. India Fintech Award 2021: InCred was awarded the “Best Fintech Lender” award amongst the industry leader which
stands to support our aim to use technology & data science to make lending quick, simple & hassle-free.

V. Star Startup Asia 2019: Asia’s Largest democratically voted startup award.

vi. LinkedIn’s top Startup of 2018: InCred was chosen for its exceptional service in the lending space. Making lending
quick and hassle-free for the lenders.
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vii. Asia One: Bhupinder Singh was recognized as the AsiaOne Young Asian Entrepreneur 2020-21 for building InCred
Group as one of the fastest-growing and most exciting Diversified Financial Services groups in the region.

viii. Our CSR initiative on International Day of the Girl Child received a Silver award for Cause Advocacy Category at
the ACEF Asian Leaders Awards 2023 for Branding, Marketing, Rural, CSR & Content Creation.

Properties

Our registered office, which is located at Unit No. 1203, 12" Floor, B Wing, The Capital, Plot No. C — 70, G Block,
Bandra Kurla Complex, Mumbai — 4400 51, Maharashtra, India, is on leased premises. As of June 30, 2023, we conducted
our operations through 43 branches and the premises of all our branches have been taken on a lease or leave and license
basis.

Further, our Company owns the following freehold immovable property and the same has been pledged against debt
securities issued by us:

Address of Property Area (in sq. ft.)
Flat No.702, 7" Floor, 481
Maruti Prakruti Dham-1 Co-Op. Hsg. Soc. Ltd.,
E-Wing, Near Mohan Green Woods,
Manjarlee, Badlapur (W) — 421 503

STATEMENT OF KEY OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL PARAMETERS

i Statement of key operational and financial parameters of the Company for the three months period ended
June 30, 2023 (on a standalone basis) are as follows:

(R in lakhs, unless otherwise stated
Particulars As at and for the period ended
June 30, 2023"

PROFIT AND LOSS

Total revenue from operations 26,694.4
Other Income 488.4
Total Income 27,182.8
Total Expenses 18,883.1
Profit for the period 6,277.7
Other Comprehensive Income (106.9)
Total Comprehensive Income for the period 6,170.8
Earnings per equity share Basic () (not annualised) 14
Earnings per equity share Diluted () (not annualised) 14
Additional Information

Net worth 2 (Note 1) 2,54,750.0
Interest Income 25,579.9
Finance Costs ! 9,740.4
Impairment on Financial Instruments 1,481.9
Tier | Capital Adequacy Ratio (%) (Note 2) 33.1%
Tier 11 Capital Adequacy Ratio (%) (Note 2) 0.5%

*Note: Balance sheet related numbers are not derived from financial results as these balance sheet numbers are not audited or
reviewed

L Finance Costs = Interest Expense

2 Networth is calculated as defined in section 2(57) of Companies Act 2013
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Note 1 — Net worth

(R in lakh)
Particulars As at and for the period ended
June 30, 2023

Equity share capital 46,022.7
Special reserve 3,795.1
Securities premium 62,498.5
Retained earnings 19,286.4
Other reserves* 1,23,147.2
Net Worth 2,54,750.0

* includes deemed equity, capital contribution from parent, ,merger reserve debt instruments through OCI, cash flow hedge reserve,

equity instruments through OCI

Note 2 — Tier | Capital Adequacy Ratio and Tier Il Capital Adequacy Ratio

Particulars As at and for the period ended

June 30, 2023
CRAR —Tier | capital 33.1%
CRAR —Tier Il capital 0.5%
CRAR (%) 33.6%

ii. Statement of key operational and financial parameters of the Company (Merged IFSL) based on audited

standalone financial statements are as follows:

(Z in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars Fiscal 2023*
BALANCE SHEET
Assets
Property, Plant and Equipment (Note 1) 4,282.0
Financial Assets (Note 2) 6,03,120.4
Non-financial Assets excluding property, plant and equipment (Note 3) 57,934.6
Total Assets 6,65,336.9
Liabilities
Financial Liabilities
Derivative financial instruments 727.4
Debt Securities 1,15,190.1
Borrowings (other than Debt Securities) 2,76,105.9
Subordinated liabilities -
Other financial liabilities 20,3914
Non-Financial Liabilities
Current tax liabilities (net) -
Provisions 2,763.7
Deferred tax liabilities (net) -
Other non-financial liabilities 1,791.1
Equity (Note 4) 2,48,367.4
Total Liabilities and Equity 6,65,336.9
PROFIT AND LOSS
Total Revenue from operations 86,375.4
Other Income for the year 1,278.1
Total Income 87,653.5
Total Expenses** 66,951.8
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(Z in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars Fiscal 2023*
Profit for the period 12,080.1
Other Comprehensive Income (6.1)
Total Comprehensive Income for the year 12,074.0
Earnings per equity share Basic () (not annualised) 2.6
Earnings per equity share Diluted (%) (not annualised) 2.6
Cash Flow

Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities (63,548.4)
Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities 30,456.0
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities 67,927.6
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 34,835.2
Cash and cash equivalents as at end of the year 37,321.3
Additional Information

Net worth  (Note 5) 2,48,367.4
Cash and cash equivalents 38,833.6
Loans ? 5,40,380.0
Loans (Gross) 5,55,231.6
Total Debts to Total Assets 3 (Note 8) 58.8%
Interest Income 82,256.5
Finance Costs * 35,583.9
Impairment on Financial Instruments (1,195.8)
Bad Debts to Loans ° (Note 6) 0.9%
% Stage 3 Loans on Loans (Gross) (Note 6)° 2.1%
% Net Stage 3 Loans on Loans (Principal Amount)” (Note 6) 0.9%
Tier | Capital Adequacy Ratio (%) (Note 7) 32.9%
Tier 11 Capital Adequacy Ratio (%) (Note 7) 0.5%

* Fiscal 2023 is as per audited standalone financial statements of Financial Year 2023 of the Company.
** Total expenses (standalone) includes exceptional item of T4,379.8 lakh.

L “Net worth” refers to the aggregate value of the paid-up share capital and all reserves created out of the profits and securities
premium account, after deducting the aggregate value of the accumulated losses, deferred expenditure and miscellaneous
expenditure not written off, as per the audited balance sheet, but does not include reserves created out of revaluation of assets,
write-back of depreciation and amalgamation as per Section 2(57) of Companies Act, 2013
Loans Total- net of impairment allowance
Total Debts to Total Assets = (Debt securities + Borrowings (other than debt securities)) / total assets.

Finance Costs = Interest Expense

Bad Debts to Loans = Write-offs / Loans Total- Gross

% Stage 3 Loans on Loans (Principal Amount) = Loans Total — Gross carrying value of Stage 3 Loans/Loans Total — Gross

% Net Stage 3 Loans on Loans (Principal Amount) = (Loans Total — Gross carrying value of Stage 3 Loans net of impairment
loss provision against Stage 3 Loans) / Loans Total — Gross

U T o
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Note 1 — Property, Plant and Equipment:

(2 in lakh)
Particulars Fiscal 2023
Gross Block of Property Plant and equipment 7,124.4
Accumulated Depreciation 2,842.4
Property Plant and equipment 4,282.0
Note 2 — Financial Assets
(2 in lakh)
Particulars Fiscal 2023
Cash and cash equivalents 38,833.6
Bank balance other than cash and cash equivalents 4,795.4
Loans 5,40,380.0
Investments 8,210.6
Derivative financial instruments 1,388.5
Other financial assets 9,512.2
Financial assets 6,03,120.4
Note 3 — Non-financial Assets excluding property, plant and equipment
(2 in lakh)
Particulars Fiscal 2023
Current tax assets (net of provisions of tax) 1,405.4
Deferred tax assets (net of deferred tax liabilities) 47,472.6
Capital Work-in-progress 161.8
Goodwill 6,126.1
Other Intangible assets 540.5
Other non-financial assets 2,228.2
Non-financial assets 57,934.6
Note 4 — Equity
(2 in lakh)
Particulars Fiscal 2023
Equity share capital 46,022.7
Other equity 2,02,344.8
Equity 2,48,367.5
Note 5 — Reconciliation of Net Worth
(2 in lakh)
Particulars Fiscal 2023
Equity share capital 46,022.7
Special Reserve 3,795.1
Securities premium 62,498.5
Retained earnings 13,008.7
Other reserves* 1,23,042.5
Net Worth 2,48,367.5

* includes deemed equity, capital contribution from parent, merger reserve, debt instruments through OCI, cash flow hedge reserve,

equity instruments through OCI
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Note 6 - % Net Stage 3 Loans on Loans (Principal Amount)

(Z in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars Fiscal 2023
Loans (A) (Net impairment loss allowed) 5,40,380.0
Loans (Gross) (B) 5,55,231.6
Stage 3 Loans (C) 11,441.6
% Stage 3 Loans on Loans (Gross) (D)=(C)/(B) 2.1%
Bad debts (E) * 4,669.2
Bad Debts to Loans (F) = (E)/(A) 0.9%
Gross Stage 3 Impairment loss or ECL allowance (G) 6,428.3
Net stage 3 (Stage 3 Loans less Gross Stage 3 ECL allowance) (H) = [(C)- (G)] 5,013.3
% Net Stage 3 Loans on Loans (Gross) (1) = (H)/(B) 0.9%

" Bad debts = Write offs.

Note 7 — Tier | Capital Adequacy Ratio (%) and Tier Il Capital Adequacy Ratio (%6)
Particulars Fiscal 2023
CRAR —Tier | capital 32.9%
CRAR —Tier Il capital 0.5%
CRAR (%) 33.4%

Note 8 — Total Debt to Total Asset

(T in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)
Particulars Fiscal 2023
Debt securities 1,15,190.1
Borrowings (other than debt securities) 2,76,105.9
Total debt (A) 3,91,296.0
Total assets (B) 6,65,336.9
Total Debts/ Total assets (A/B) 58.8%
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iii. Statement of key operational and financial parameters of the Company based on based on audited
consolidated financial statements are as follows:
(Z in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars Fiscal 2023*

BALANCE SHEET

Assets

Property, Plant and Equipment (Note 1) 4,357.9

Financial Assets (Note 2) 5,97,608.5

Non-financial Assets excluding property, plant and equipment (Note 3) 58,872.6

Total Assets 6,60,839.0

Liabilities

Financial Liabilities
Derivative financial instruments 727.4
Debt Securities 1,15,190.1
Borrowings (other than Debt Securities) 2,71,246.9
Deposits -
Subordinated liabilities -
Other financial liabilities ° 20,458.9

Non-Financial Liabilities
Current tax liabilities (net) -
Provisions 2,765.0

Deferred tax liabilities (net) -

Other non-financial liabilities 1,789.6
Equity (Note 4) 2,48,661.1
Non-controlling interest -
Total Liabilities and Equity 6,60,839.0
PROFIT AND LOSS
Total Revenue from operations 86,457.9
Other Income 1,287.5
Total Income 87,7454
Total Expenses** 67,428.4
Profit for the year 12,092.1
Other Comprehensive Income 3.9
Total Comprehensive Income for the year 12,088.2
Earnings per equity share Basic (%) 2.6
Earnings per equity share Diluted (%) 2.6
Cash Flow
Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities (68,469.9)
Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities 35,328.5
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities 63,068.0
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 29,926.6
Cash and cash equivalents as at end of year 32,7155

Additional Information

Net worth ! (Note 5) 2,48,661.1
Cash and cash equivalents 34,227.8
Loans ? 5,40,380.0
Total Debts to Total Assets 2 (Note 7) 58.5%
Interest Income 82,282.9
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(Z in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars Fiscal 2023*

Finance Costs * 35,583.9
Impairment on Financial Instruments (1,196.3)
Bad Debts to Loans ° (Note 6) 0.9%

* Fiscal 2023 is as per audited consolidated financial statements of Financial Year 2023 of the Company.
** Total expenses (consolidated) includes exceptional item of < 4,065.5 lakh and share of loss of associates of T 10.1 lakh.

L “Net worth” refers to the aggregate value of the paid-up share capital and all reserves created out of the profits and securities
premium account, after deducting the aggregate value of the accumulated losses, deferred expenditure and miscellaneous
expenditure not written off, as per the audited balance sheet, but does not include reserves created out of revaluation of assets,
write-back of depreciation and amalgamation as per Section 2(57) of Companies Act, 2013

Loans Total- net of impairment loss allowance

Finance Costs = Interest Expense
Bad Debts to Loans = Write-offs / Loans Total- Gross
Excluding lease liabilities

o o > w N

Note 1- Property, Plant and Equipment

Total Debts to Total Assets = (Debt securities + Borrowings (other than debt securities)) / total assets.

(< in lakh)
Particulars Fiscal 2023
Gross Block of Property, Plant and equipment 7,482.0
Accumulated Depreciation 3,124.2
Property Plant and equipment 4,357.9
Note 2 — Financial Assets
(< in lakh)
Particulars Fiscal 2023
Cash and cash equivalents 34,227.8
Bank balance other than cash and cash equivalents 4,795.4
Loans 5,40,380.0
Investments 7,235.6
Derivative financial instruments 1,388.5
Receivables 25
Other financial assets 9,578.8
Financial assets 5,97,608.5
Note 3 — Non-financial Assets excluding property, plant and equipment
(< in lakh)
Particulars Fiscal 2023
Current tax assets (net) 1,417.9
Deferred tax assets (net) 47,140.3
Capital work-in-progress 161.8
Goodwill 6,778.7
Other Intangible assets 666.4
Other non-financial assets 2,707.4
Non-financial assets 58,872.6
Note 4 — Equity
(< in lakh)
Particulars Fiscal 2023
Equity share capital 46,022.7
Other equity 2,02,638.4
Equity 2,48,661.1
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Note 5 — Reconciliation of Net Worth

(% in lakh)

Particulars Fiscal 2023

Equity share capital 46,022.7
Special reserve 3,795.1
Securities premium 62,498.3
Retained earnings 13,953.8
Other Reserves* 1,22,391.3
Net Worth 2,48,661.1

* includes capital contribution from parent, merger reserve, debt instruments through OCI, cash flow hedge, equity instruments

through OCI, Loss on change in proportion held by NCI

Note 6 — Bad Debts to Loans

(Z in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars Fiscal 2023

Loans (A) 5,40,380.0
Bad debts (B) 4,669.2
Bad Debts to Loans (C) = (B)/(A) 0.9%

Note 7 — Total Debt to Total Assets

(2 in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars Fiscal 2023

Debt securities 1,15,190.1
Borrowings (other than debt securities) 2,71,246.9
Total (A) 3,86,437.0
Total assets (B) 6,60,839.0
Total Debts/ Total assets (A/B) 58.5%
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iv. Statement of key operational and financial parameters of Pre-demerger KKR based on audited financial
statements are as follows:
(Z in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2021
BALANCE SHEET
Assets
Property, Plant and Equipment (Note 1) - 747.4
Financial Assets (Note 2) 96,191.8 2,10,187.7
Non-financial Assets excluding property, plant and equipment (Note 3) 56,320.5 40,485.9
Total Assets 1,52,512.3 2,51,421.0
Liabilities
Financial Liabilities
Derivative financial instruments - -
Trade Payables (Note 4) 1,676.0 599.3
Other Payable (Note 5) - -
Debt Securities - 25,940.3
Borrowings (other than Debt Securities) 43,379.5 99,631.0
Subordinated liabilities - -
Other financial liabilities 760.7 17,938.1
Non-Financial Liabilities
Current tax liabilities (net) 6.5 51.3
Provisions 68.1 226.9
Deferred tax liabilities (net) - -
Other non-financial liabilities 242.0 -
Equity (Note 6) 1,06,379.5 1,07,034.1
Total Liabilities and Equity 1,52,512.3 2,51,421.0
PROFIT AND LOSS
Total Revenue from operations 15,846.5 39,036.4
Other Income 955.9 2,359.5
Total Income 16,802.4 41,395.9
Total Expense 39,365.6 37,992.7
Profit for the year (719.6) (13,940.1)
Other Comprehensive income 65.0 20.2
Total Comprehensive Income for the year (654.6) (13,919.9)
Earnings per equity share Basic %) -0.2 -3.0
Earnings per equity share Diluted () -0.2 -3.0
Cash Flow
Net cash from / used in (-) operating activities 73,012.8 2,22,721.4
Net cash from / used in (-) investing activities 412.3 (10.1)
Net cash from / used in (-)financing activities (1,07,550.3) (2,12,639.5)
Net increase/decrease (-) in cash and cash equivalents (34,125.1) 10,072.0
Cash and cash equivalents as at end of the Year 36,802.1 70,927.2
Additional Information
Net worth * (Note 7) 1,06,379.5 1,07,034.1
Cash and cash equivalents 36,802.1 70,927.2
Loans ? (Note 8) 59,283.8 1,38,266.0
Loans (Principal Amount) ? (Note 8) 72,340.3 1,47,498.1

136




(Z in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2021

Total Debts to Total Assets * (Note 10) 28.4% 49.9%
Interest Income 15,846.5 38,965.3
Interest Expense * 9,174.9 22,875.0
Impairment on Financial Instruments 10,785.9 (11,668.9)
Bad Debts to Loans 5 (Note 8) 11.7% 22.7%
% Stage 3 Loans on Loans (Principal Amount) © (Note 8) 0.0% 0.0%
% Net Stage 3 Loans on Loans (Principal Amount) 7 (Note 8) 0.0% 0.0%
Tier | Capital Adequacy Ratio (%) (Note 9) 81.8% 51.1%
Tier Il Capital Adequacy Ratio (%) (Note 9) 1.3% 2.4%

1.

“Net worth” refers to the aggregate value of the paid-up share capital and all reserves created out of the profits and securities

premium account, after deducting the aggregate value of the accumulated losses, deferred expenditure and miscellaneous
expenditure not written off, as per the audited balance sheet, but does not include reserves created out of revaluation of assets,
write-back of depreciation and amalgamation as per Section 2(57) of Companies Act, 2013

Loans Total- net of impairment allowance.

Interest Expense = Finance Costs
Bad Debts to Loans = Write-offs / Loans Total- Gross

N o g~ WD

ECL allowance carried against Stage 3 loans) / Loans (Principal Amount)

Note 1- Property, Plant and Equipment

Total Debts to Total Assets = (Debt securities + Borrowings (other than debt securities)) / total assets.

% Stage 3 Loans on Loans (Principal Amount) = Loans Total — Gross carrying value of Stage 3 Loans/Loans Total — Gross
% Net Stage 3 Loans on Loans (Principal Amount) = (Loans Total — Gross of Stage 3 Loans less Impairment loss allowance or

(< in lakh)
Particulars Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2021
Gross Block of Property, Plant and equipment 31.3 1,425.6
Accumulated Depreciation 31.3 678.2
Property Plant and equipment 0.0 747.4
Note 2 — Financial Assets
(Z in lakh)
Particulars Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2021
Cash and cash equivalents 36,802.1 70,927.2
Bank balance other than cash and cash equivalents - -
Loans 59,283.8 1,38,266.0
Investments - 596.2
Derivative financial instruments - -
Other financial assets 105.9 398.3
Financial assets 96,191.8 2,10,187.7
Note 3 — Non-Financial Assets excluding property, plant and equipment
(< in lakh)
Particulars Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2021
Current tax assets (net of provisions of tax) 3,622.8 10,178.5
Deferred tax assets (net of deferred tax liabilities) 52,046.8 30,033.5
Other Intangible assets - -
Other non-financial assets 650.9 273.9
Non-financial assets 56,320.5 40,485.9
Note 4 — Trade Payables
(< in lakh)
Particulars Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2021
(i) Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises 1.2 -
(ii) Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and 1,674.8 599.3
small enterprises
Trade Payables 1,676.0 599.3
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Note 5 — Othe Payables

(% in lakh)
Particulars Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2021
(i) Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises - -
(ii) Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and - -
small enterprises
Other Payables - -

Note 6 — Equity

(R in lakh)
Particulars Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2021
Equity share capital 46,022.7 46,022.7
Other equity 60,356.8 61,011.4
Equity 1,06,379.5 1,07,034.1

Note 7 — Net Worth

(< in lakh)
Particulars Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2021
Equity share capital 46,022.7 46,022.7
Statutory reserve 16,122.4 16,1224
Securities premium 1,24,367.6 1,24,367.6
Share based payment reserve - -
Retained earnings (80,133.2) (79,478.6)
Net Worth 1,06,379.5 1,07,034.1

Note 8 - %Net Stage 3 Loans on Loans (Principal Amount)

(Z in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2021
Loans (A) # 59,283.8 1,38,266.0
Loans (Principal Amount) (B) 72,340.3 1,47,498.1
Stage 3 Loans (C) - -
% Stage 3 Loans on Loans (Principal Amount) (D)=(C)/(B) - -
Bad debts (E) » 6,961.5 31,365.2
Bad Debts to Loans (F) = (C)/(A) 11.7% 22.7%
Gross Stage 3 Impairment loss or ECL allowance (G) - -
Net stage 3 (Stage 3 Loans less Gross Stage 3 ECL allowance) (H) = [(C)
—(G)] - -
% Net Stage 3 Loans on Loans (Principal Amount) (1) = (H)/(B) - -

A Bad debts = Write offs.

# excluding Loan to subsidiary.

Note 9 — Tier | Capital Adequacy Ratio (%) and Tier Il Capital Adequacy Ratio (%)
Particulars Fiscal 2022* Fiscal 2021*
CRAR — Tier | capital 81.8% 51.0%
CRAR — Tier Il capital 1.2% 2.4%
CRAR (%) 83.0% 53.4%

* as reported in respective years standalone financials statements.
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Note 10: Total Debt to Total Assets
(Z in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2021

Debt securities - 25,940.3
Borrowings (other than debt securities) 43,379.5 99,631.0
Subordinated liabilities - -
Total (A) 43,379.5 1,25,571.3
Total assets (B) 1,52,512.3 2,51,421.0
Total Debts/ Total assets (A/B) 28.4% 49.9%

V. Statement of key operational and financial parameters of InCred Prime (pre-merger IFSL) based on
audited standalone financial statements are as follows:
( in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars Fiscal 2022# Fiscal 2021*
BALANCE SHEET

Assets

Property, Plant and Equipment (Note 1) 3,384.8 3,276.4
Financial Assets (Note 2) 3,94,018.2 2,71,763.6
Non-financial Assets excluding property, plant and equipment (Note 3) 4,986.3 4,100.5
Total Assets 4,02,389.3 2,79,140.5
Liabilities

Financial Liabilities

Derivative financial instruments 186.9 -
Debt Securities 1,06,523.8 73,827.0
Borrowings (other than Debt Securities) 1,75,065.5 93,422.1
Subordinated liabilities - -
Other financial liabilities 8,157.9 4,231.9

Non-Financial Liabilities

Current tax liabilities (net of provisions of tax)

Provisions 323.3 169.5

Deferred tax liabilities (net) - -
Other non-financial liabilities 900.5 2,905.3
Equity (Note 4) 1,11,231.4 1,04,584.8
Total Liabilities and Equity 4,02,389.3 2,79,140.5
PROFIT AND LOSS

Total Revenue from operations 48,791.7 38,5637.8
Other Income 3,330.0 647.1
Total Income 52,121.7 39,184.9
Total Expense 47,304.5 37,943.9
Profit for the year 3,611.8 1,023.4
Other Comprehensive income (83.4) 69.4
Total Comprehensive Income for the year 3,528.4 1,092.8
Earnings per equity share Basic %) 0.9 0.3
Earnings per equity share Diluted (%) 0.9 0.3
Cash Flow

Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities (1,12,086.4) (49,611.4)
Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities 1,395.9 (10,009.8)
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities 1,13,822.3 58,161.9
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(Z in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars Fiscal 2022* Fiscal 2021*#
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 3,131.8 (1,459.2)
Cash and cash equivalents as at end of Year 2,486.1 (645.7)
Additional Information

Net worth * (Note 5) 1,11,231.4 1,04,584.8
Cash and cash equivalents 5,203.1 1,323.4
Loans ? 3,73,226.4 2,55,359.8
Loans (Principal Amount) 3 3,82,323.9 2,64,464.7
Total Debts to Total Assets * (Note 8) 70.0% 59.9%
Interest Income 47,3344 37,711.8
Finance Costs ° 21,951.9 15,2714
Impairment on Financial Instruments 4,351.6 8,865.4
Bad Debts to Loans ° (Note 6) 0.8% 1.8%
% Stage 3 Loans on Loans (Principal Amount) (Note 6) 7 2.8% 3.9%
% Net Stage 3 Loans on Loans (Principal Amount) & (Note 6) 1.4% 1.9%
Tier | Capital Adequacy Ratio (%) (Note 7) 27.4% 36.5%
Tier Il Capital Adequacy Ratio (%) (Note 7) 0.6% 0.7%

# Fiscal 2022 and Fiscal 2021 are as per standalone audited standalone financial statements of Financial Years 2022 and 2021 of

Pre-demerger IFSL.

L “Net worth” refers to the aggregate value of the paid-up share capital and all reserves created out of the profits and securities

premium account, after deducting the aggregate value of the accumulated losses, deferred expenditure and miscellaneous
expenditure not written off, as per the audited balance sheet, but does not include reserves created out of revaluation of assets,

write-back of depreciation and amalgamation as per Section 2(57) of Companies Act, 2013

Loans Total- net of impairment allowance
Loans Total — Gross

Finance Costs = Interest Expense

©® N o o > w0 N

Bad Debts to Loans = Write-offs / Loans Total — net of impairment allowance
% Stage 3 Loans on Loans (Principal Amount) = Loans Total — Gross carrying value of Stage 3 Loans/Loans Total — Gross
% Net Stage 3 Loans on Loans (Principal Amount) = (Loans Total — Gross carrying value of Stage 3 Loans net of impairment

Total Debts to Total Assets = (Debt securities + Borrowings (other than debt securities)) / Total assets.

loss allowance or impairment loss provision against Stage 3 Loans) / Loans Total — Gross

Note 1- Property, Plant and Equipment

(R in lakh)
Particulars Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2021
Gross Block of Property, Plant and equipment 5,472.8 4,621.8
Accumulated Depreciation 2,088.0 1,345.4
Property, Plant and equipment 3,384.8 3,276.4

Note 2- Financial Assets
(% in lakh)

Particulars Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2021
Cash and cash equivalents 5,203.1 1,323.4
Bank balance other than cash and cash equivalents 2,991.4 588.5
Loans 3,73,226.4 2,55,359.8
Investments 8,679.5 12,670.7
Derivative financial instruments 1,181.1 -
Other financial assets 2,736.7 1,821.3
Financial assets 3,94,018.2 2,71,763.6
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Note 3 — Non-financial Assets excluding property, plant and equipment

(% in lakh)
Particulars Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2021
Current tax assets (net of provision for tax) 1,184.5 720.6
Deferred tax assets (net of deferred tax liabilities) 2,038.7 1,857.4
Capital Work-in-progress 294.0 145
Other Intangible assets 188.6 222.5
Other non-financial assets 1,280.6 1,285.6
Non-financial assets 4,986.3 4,100.5
Note 4 — Equity

(R in lakh)
Particulars Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2021
Equity share capital 35,450.3 30,772.8
Preference share capital 3,348.0 7,851.6
Other equity 72,433.2 65,960.4
Equity 1,11,231.4 1,04,584.8

Note 5 — Reconciliation of Net Worth
(% in lakh)

Particulars Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2021
Equity share capital 35,450.3 30,772.8
Preference share capital 3,348.0 7,851.6
Special reserve 1,379.1 656.7
Securities premium 62,498.5 61,730.2
Share based payment reserve 3,900.6 1,751.3
Retained earnings 4,469.3 1,627.8
Other reserves* 185.6 1944
Net Worth 1,11,231.4 1,04,584.8

*includes deemed equity, capital contribution from parent, merger reserve, debt instruments through OCI, cash flow hedge reserve, equity instruments

through OCI

Note 6 — Net Stage 3 Loans on Loans (Principal Amount)

(Z in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2021
Loans (A) 3,73,226.4 2,55,359.8
Loans (Principal Amount) (B) 3,82,323.9 2,64,464.7
Stage 3 Loans” (C) 10,811.4 10,206.0
% Stage 3 Loans on Loans (Principal Amount) (D)=(C)/(B) 2.8% 3.9%
Bad debts (E) » 2,998.6 4,474.7
Bad Debts to Loans (F) = (E)/(A) 0.8% 1.8%
Gross Stage 3 Impairment loss or ECL allowance (G) 5,406.9 5,229.8
Net stage 3 (Stage 3 Loans less Gross Stage 3 ECL allowance) (H) =[(C) — (G)] 5,404.5 4,976.2
% Net Stage 3 Loans on Loans (Principal Amount) (1) = (H)/(B) 1.4% 1.9%

*Gross carrying value of Stage 3 Loans.

A Bad debts = Write offs.

Note 7 — Tier | Capital Adequacy Ratio (%) and the Tier 11 Capital Adequacy Ratio (%)
Particulars Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2021
CRAR —Tier | capital 27.4% 36.5%
CRAR — Tier |l capital 0.6% 0.7%
CRAR (%) 28.0% 37.2%
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VI.

Note 8: Total Debts to Total Assets

( in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2021

Debt securities 1,06,523.8 73,827.0
Borrowings (other than debt securities) 1,75,065.5 93,422.1
Total Debts (A) 2,81,589.3 1,67,249.1
Total assets (B) 4,02,389.3 2,79,140.5
Total Debts/ Total assets (A/B) 70.0% 59.9%

audited consolidated financial statements are as follows:

Statement of key operational and financial parameters of the InCred Prime (pre-merger IFSL) based on

(T in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars Fiscal 2022% Fiscal 2021 #
BALANCE SHEET
Assets
Property, Plant and Equipment (Note 1) 3,479.7 3,440.9
Financial Assets (Note 2) 3,93,887.6 2,71,719.9
Non-financial Assets excluding property, plant and equipment (Note 3) 6,097.3 5,292.5
Total Assets 4,03,464.6 2,80,453.3
Liabilities
Financial Liabilities
Derivative financial instruments 186.9 -
Other Payable - 23.1
Debt Securities 1,06,523.8 73,827.0
Borrowings (other than Debt Securities) 1,75,065.5 93,021.9
Deposits - -
Subordinated liabilities - -
Other financial liabilities 8,198.3 4,272.3
Non-Financial Liabilities
Current tax liabilities (net) - -
Provisions 3245 169.9
Deferred tax liabilities (net) 728.9 832.3
Other non-financial liabilities 918.1 2,905.7
Equity (Note 4) 1,11,518.7 1,05,401.2
Non-controlling interest - -
Total Liabilities and Equity 4,03,464.6 2,80,453.3
PROFIT AND LOSS
Total Revenue from operations 48,803.2 38,549.5
Other Income 3,624.1 698.1
Total Income 52,427.2 39,247.7
Total Expenses™ 48,241.7 38,895.2
Profit for the year 3,082.8 217.0
Other Comprehensive Income (83.4) 69.4
Total Comprehensive Income for the year 2,999.4 286.4
Earnings per equity share Basic (%) 0.8 0.1
Earnings per equity share Diluted () 0.8 0.1
Cash Flow
Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities (1,12,244.3) (52,691.1)
Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities 1,321.9 (6,466.2)
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities 1,14,222.5 57,761.7
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(Z in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars Fiscal 2022% Fiscal 2021 #
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 3,300.1 (1,395.5)
Cash and cash equivalents as at end of Year 2,788.9 (511.2)
Additional Information

Net worth * (Note 5) 1,11,518.7 1,05,401.2
Cash and cash equivalents 5,506.0 1,457.9
Loans ? 3,82,323.9 2,64,464.7
Total Debts to Total Assets 3 (Note 6) 69.8% 59.5%
Interest Income 47,340.1 37,723.5
Finance Costs * 21,946.8 15,275.7
Impairment on Financial Instruments 4352.0 8,868.6
Bad Debts to Loans ° (Note 7) 0.8% 1.8%

#Fiscal 2022 and Fiscal 2021 are as per audited consolidated financial statement of Financial Years 2022 and 2021 of Pre-demerger

IFSL

** Total expenses (consolidated) includes share of loss of associate of Rs. 420.9 lakhs for Fiscal 2022 and Rs 349.6 lakhs for Fiscal

2021.

L “Net worth” refers to the aggregate value of the paid-up share capital and all reserves created out of the profits and securities
premium account, after deducting the aggregate value of the accumulated losses, deferred expenditure and miscellaneous
expenditure not written off, as per the audited balance sheet, but does not include reserves created out of revaluation of assets,
write-back of depreciation and amalgamation as per Section 2(57) of Companies Act, 2013

Loans Total- Gross

Finance Costs = Interest Expense
Bad Debts to Loans = Write-offs / Loans Total — net of impairment allowance

o > wDN

Note 1 — Property, Plant and Equipment

Total Debts to Total Assets = (Debt securities + Borrowings (other than debt securities)) / Total assets.

(R in lakh)
Particulars Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2021
Gross Block of Property, Plant and equipment 5,800.9 5,210.6
Accumulated Depreciation 2,321.2 1,769.6
Property Plant and equipment 3,479.7 3,440.9
Note 2 — Financial Assets
(R in lakh)
Particulars Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2021
Cash and cash equivalents 5,506.0 1,457.9
Bank balance other than cash and cash equivalents 2,991.4 588.5
Loans 3,73,226.4 2,55,359.8
Investments 8,119.7 12,4574
Derivative financial instruments 1,181.1 -
Receivables! 108.3 3.8
Other financial assets 2,754.8 1,852.5
Financial assets 3,93,887.6 2,71,719.9
1 Receivables = trade receivables
Note 3 — Non-financial Assets excluding property, plant and equipment
(% in lakh)
Particulars Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2021
Current tax assets (net) 1,210.0 737.7
Deferred tax assets (net) 2,038.7 1,857.4
Capital work-in-progress 294.0 14.5
Goodwill 652.7 652.7
Other Intangible assets 433.3 547.4
Other non-financial assets 1,468.8 1,482.8
Non-financial assets 6,097.3 5,292.5
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Note 4 — Equity

(< in lakh)
Particulars Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2021
Equity share capital 35,450.3 30,772.8
Preference share capital 3,348.0 7,851.6
Other equity 72,720.5 66,776.8
Equity 1,11518.7 1,05,401.2
Note 5 — Net Worth

(< in lakh)
Particulars Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2021
Equity share capital 35,450.3 30,772.8
Preference share capital 3,348.0 7,851.6
Special reserve 1,379.1 656.7
Securities premium 62,498.3 61,730.0
Share based payment reserve 4,170.9 1,751.3
Retained earnings 5,130.9 3,088.9
Other Reserves* (458.7) (450.1)
Net Worth 1,11,518.7 1,05,401.2

* includes capital contribution from parent, merger reserve, debt instruments through OCI, cash flow hedge, equity instruments

through OCI, Loss on change in proportion held by NCI

Note 6 — Total Debts to Total Assets

(Z in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2021

Debt securities 1,06,523.8 73,827.0
Borrowings (other than debt securities) 1,75,065.5 93,021.9
Total Debts (A) 2,81,589.3 1,66,848.9
Total assets (B) 4,03,464.6 2,80,453.3
Total Debts/ Total assets (A/B) 69.8% 59.5%

Note 7 — Bad Debts to Loans

(2 in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2021

Loans™ (A) 3,82,323.9 2,55,359.8
Bad debts” (B) 2,998.6 44747
Bad Debts to Loans (C) = (B)/(A) 0.8% 1.8%

* Bad debts = Write offs.

** Loans Total — net of impairment allowance.
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HISTORY AND MAIN OBJECTS

Corporate Profile

Pre-Demerger

@)

(b)

Prior to demerger, our Company was incorporated as Multiflow Financial Services Private Limited on February 3,
1995 as a Private Company incorporated under the Companies Act, 1956, as amended, with CIN
U67190TN1995PTC030045, registered office at Regus Citi Centre, Level 6, 10/11 Dr. Radhakrishna Salai,
Chennai. Tamil Nadu and was granted a certificate of incorporation by the Registrar of Companies, Chennai Tamil
Nadu. The Company changed its name to KKR India Financial Services Private Limited and was issued fresh
certificate of incorporation by Registrar of Companies, Tamil Nadu, Chennai, Andaman and Nicobar Islands on
August 13, 2010 consequent upon change of name. Later on, a fresh certificate of incorporation was received from
Registrar of Companies, Chennai, Tamil Nadu on July 24, 2019 upon conversion of Company from private company
to public company under section 18 of Companies Act 2013 and consequently name of the Company was changed
to KKR India Financial Services Limited (“Pre-demerger KKR”). The registered office of the Company was
subsequently changed to 2" Floor, Piramal Tower, Peninsula Corporate Park, Ganpatrao Kadam Marg, Lower Parel,
Mumbai, Maharashtra, 400 013 and a fresh certificate of incorporation was issued by RoC w.e.f. April 1, 2021 with
revised CIN U67190MH1995PLC360817.

Our Company is a non-deposit accepting, non-banking financial company and was originally issued certificate of
registration from RBI dated October 25, 2000 in the name of Multiflow Financial Services Private Limited. Upon
change of name of the Company from Multiflow Financial Services Private Limited to KKR India Financial
Services Private Limited, a fresh certificate of registration bearing number B-07-00498 dated September 03, 2010
was issued by RBI in respect to such change in name of the Company. Later on upon conversion of the Company
from private limited company to public limited company, another fresh certificate of registration bearing number
B-07.00498 dated November 14, 2019 in name of the company ‘KKR India Financial Services Limited” which was
issued by RBI pursuant to such conversion. Subsequently upon shifting of registered office from State of Tamil
Nadu to Maharashtra a fresh certificate of registration dated August 02, 2021 bearing registration number B-
13.02417 was issued by RBI.

Pre-demerger KKR was engaged in providing strucutred funding, promoter financing and mezzanine financing.

Prior to demerger, Pre-demerger InCred was incorporated as ‘Visu Leasing and Finance Private Limited’ under the
Companies Act, 1956 on January 08, 1991 with the Registrar of Companies, Delhi and Haryana. The name of the
company was subsequently changed from Visu Leasing and Finance Private Limited’ to ‘InCred Financial Services
Private Limited’ and a fresh Certificate of Incorporation was issued by Registrar of Companies, Delhi on August
30, 2018. Pre-demerger InCred was subsequently converted to a public limited company pursuant to the fresh
Certificate of Incorporation issued by the Registrar of Companies, Delhi on November 01, 2018. Thereafter, its
registered office was shifted from the state of National Capital Territory of Delhi to state of Maharashtra and
Certificate of Registration of Regional Director order was received from ROC, Mumbai on June 05, 2020. The CIN
of Pre-demerger InCred (now known as InCred Prime Finance Limited) is U74899MH1991PLC340312.

Pre-demerger InCred was classified as non-deposit accepting, systemically important, non-banking financial
company as defined under Section 45-1A of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 and registered with effect from
August 30, 2000 with Registration No. B-14.01801. A fresh certificate of registration bearing the same number was
issued by the RBI dated October 15, 2018, effecting the change of name of our Company from “Visu Leasing and
Finance Private Limited” to “InCred Financial Services Private Limited”. Thereafter, RBI issued a new certificate
of registration bearing the abovementioned number, on February 26, 2019, consequent to the conversion of our
Company to a public limited company. Thereafter, a fresh certificate of registration bearing registration No. B-
13.02395 was issued by RBI on November 04, 2020, effecting shifting of regional office (RO) from New Delhi
Regional Office, RBI to Mumbai Regional Office, RBI.

Pre-demerger InCred was engaged primarily in the business of providing personal loans, education loans, SME
business loans and in providing ancillary services related to the said business activities.
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Post Demerger

InCred Demerged Undertaking of the Pre-demerger InCred with corporate identification number:
U74899MH1991PLC340312 was merged into our Company, KKR India Financial Services Limited (which was
subsequently renamed as ‘InCred Financial Services Limited’). Further the name of the Pre-demerger InCred is changed
to “InCred Prime Finance Limited”, and a fresh Certificate of Incorporation was issued by registrar of companies, Mumbai
on August 03, 2022. Subsequently, upon change of name from InCred Financial Services Limited to InCred Prime Finance
Limited a fresh certificate of registration dated September 28, 2022 bearing registration number B-13.02395 was issued
by RBI.

Post implementation of the Scheme the name of our Company was changed from KKR India Financial Services Limited
to InCred Financial Services Limited, and a fresh certificate of incorporation was granted by the RoC on August 3, 2022.
Further our registered office was changed to Unit No. 1203, 12™" floor, B Wing, The Capital, Plot No. C-70, G Block,
Bandra Kurla Complex, Bandra (East), Mumbai, Maharashtra-400051. Our Company was subsequently issued a duly
registered certificate of registration by the RBI under our new name InCred Financial Services Limited, vide certificate
dated September 28, 2022 bearing registration number B-13.02417.

Our Company received no-objection in relation to the Scheme from RBI on December 8, 2021 and in-principle approval
under Regulation 59 of SEBI Listing Regulations from BSE vide its letters dated December 24, 2021 and April 21, 2022
and from NSE vide letters dated March 04, 2022 and October 10, 2022.

For details on demerger, please see ‘History and Main Objects — Composite Scheme Of Amalgamation And Arrangement’
on page 148.

Registered Office and changes in Registered Office of our Company
At present our Registered Office is situated at Unit No. 1203, 12% floor, B Wing, The Capital, Plot No. C — 70, G Block,
Bandra — Kurla Complex— Bandra East, Mumbai — 400 051. Other than disclosed below there are no change in the

registered office of our Company.

The details of change in the registered office of our Company (including Pre-demerger KKR) are as under:

Date of change of Details of changes in the address of registered office
Registered Office
September 9, 2015 |From A2 Happy Home Apartment No 9, 4™ Main Road, United India Colony, Kodambakkam,
Chennai — 600024 to No. 8/3, Shreyas Apartments, 1% street, Race View Colony, Guindy, Chennai
— 600 032, India.

February 04, 2016 |From No. 8/3, Shreyas Apartments, 1 street, Race View Colony, Guindy, Chennai —600 032, India,
to No 7/2, Second street, Race view Colony, Guindy, Chennai 600032, India

December 9, 2016 |From No 7/2, Second street, Race view Colony, Guindy, Chennai 600 032, India to Regus Citi
Centre, Level 6, 10/11 Dr. Radhakrishna Salai, Chennai 600 004, Tamil Nadu, India

January 15, 2021  |From Regus Citi Centre, Level 6, 10/11 Dr. Radhakrishna Salai, Chennai 600 004, Tamil Nadu,
India to 2" Floor, Piramal Tower, Peninsula Corporate Park, Ganpatrao Kadam Marg, Lower Parel,
Mumbai, Maharashtra, 400 013.

July 26, 2022 From 2" Floor, Piramal Tower, Peninsula Corporate Park, Ganpatrao Kadam Marg, Lower Parel,
Mumbai, Maharashtra, 400 013 to Unit No. 1203, 12 Floor, B Wing, The Capital, Plot No. C-70,
G Block, Bandra Kurla Complex- Bandra (East), Mumbai, Maharashtra 400 051

The details of change in the registered office of Pre-demerger InCred are as under:

Date of change of Details of changes in the address of registered office
Registered Office
August 1, 2019 From 87 — B, 2" Floor, Shahpur Jat, New Delhi — 110 049 to 406, 4™ Floor, Competent House
Middle Circle, F — Block Connaught Place, New Delhi -110 001

April 9, 2020 From 406, 4™ Floor, Competent House Middle Circle, F — Block Connaught Place, New Delhi -110
001 to 150 — A, The Capital, C — 70, “G” Block Bandra—Kurla Complex Mumbai — 400 051
August 1, 2020 From 150 — A, The Capital, C — 70, “G” Block, Bandra Kurla Complex Mumbai — 400 051 to Unit
No. 1203, 12" Floor B Wing, The Capital, Plot No. C — 70 G Block, Bandra Kurla Complex —Bandra
(East), Mumbai — 400 051
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Main objects of our Company

The main objects of our Company as contained in our Memorandum of Association are:

1.

To act as and carry on the business of Consultants, Brokers, Dealers, Agents, Intermediaries dealing in share-broking
and trading in shares, debenture stocks, bonds and Government Securities.

To provide all types of Services of managing of issues of various securities financial instruments by
Companies/Institutions, making arrangements regarding selling, buying or subscribing to securities/financial
instruments, managing, consulting, advising and for rendering corporate advisory services in relation to such issue
management, arranging, procuring or obtaining short/long term finance by way of project finance, term loans,
deposits, venture capital finance, asset credits, lease, hire purchase, bills of exchange for and on behalf of Government
undertaking, companies and corporations, individuals and firms from various agencies, institutions, corporates, firms,
individuals and others.

To engage in business of rendering corporate advisory service / manage portfolio of securities.

To borrow or raise money in such manner as the Company shall think fit including by way of issue of debentures and
to secure the repayment of any money borrowed, raised or owed, create a mortgage, charge or lien upon all or any of
the Company’s property (present and future) including on its uncalled capital and also to secure and guarantee the
performance by the Company of any obligation undertaken by the Company.

To promote, sponsor and/or manage any funds, schemes, companies or other bodies to carry on any business of asset
management, portfolio management, merchant banking, advisory services, venture capital, private equity and/or
lending and to undertake any and all activities in connection with such management, promotion and sponsorship.

To undertake and carry on the business of advancing, depositing or lending money, securities and properties to or
with any company, body corporate, firm, trust, person, association or other entity whether falling under the same
management or otherwise, in accordance with and to the extent permissible under the provisions of the Companies
Act, 1956, with or without security and on such terms as may be determined from time to time, including by way of
subscribing to debentures, bonds or other securities of any nature.

To undertake (a) the financing, whether by way of making loans or advances or otherwise, of any activity other than
its own; (b) the acquisition of shares, stock bonds, debentures or securities issued by a Government or local authority
or other marketable securities of a like nature; (c) letting or delivering of any goods to a hirer under a hire-purchase
agreement; (d) any class of insurance business; | managing, conducting or supervising, as foreman, agent or in any
other capacity, of chits or kuries as defined in any law which is for the time being in force in any State, or any
business, which is similar thereto; (f) collecting, for any purpose or under any scheme or arrangement by whatever
name called, monies in lump sum or otherwise, by way of subscriptions or by sale of units, or other instruments or
in any other manner and awarding prizes or gifts, whether in cash or kind, or disbursing monies in any other way, to
persons from whom monies are collected or to any other person.

Pursuant to the resolution passed by the members of our Company dated September 14, 2023, the following additional
object was added to our memorandum of association:

“8. To carry on the business of solicitation and procurement of insurance business for all classes of insurance including
life insurance, general insurance and health insurance and acting as a corporate agent and to undertake such other
activities as are incidental or ancillary thereto under the extant laws and regulations and to solicit/procure Insurance
Business as Corporate Agency (Composite) in respect of all classes of Insurance and to Undertake such other activities
as are incidental or ancillary thereto as permitted by IRDAI under Corporate Agency Regulations 2015 as amended from
time to time.”

Our Company has filed relevant forms pertaining to the aforementioned resolution with the RoC. The same is pending
before the RoC for its approval.
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Key Events, Milestones and Achievements of Pre-demerger InCred and our Company

Year Particulars
2016-17 | Acquisition of Visu Leasing and Finance Private Limited by the Promoter
2018 — 19 | Change of name of the company Visu Leasing and Finance Private Limited to InCred Financial Services
Private Limited
2018 — 19 | Conversion of company from private limited to public limited and consequent change of name of the
Company to InCred Financial Services Limited
Certificate of recognition to the InCred Group as ET Best brand
2019 — 20 | Super Startup Asia-2019
Certificate of recognition to the InCred Group as ET Best brand
2021 - 22 | IFTA Award for Best Fintech Business Lender — 2021
Certificate of recognition to the InCred Group as ET Best brand
2022-23 | Asset under Management crossed % 5,00,000 lakh.
Credit rating of ‘A+’ by CRISIL & CARE — Outlook : Stable
Merger of InCred Demerged Undertaking and Pre-demerger KKR completed after all necessary approvals
Awarded the Most Preferred Workplace 2022-23 (BFSI Sector)
Group CFO has been recognized among the TOP 10 Best CFO’s in Asia 2022 by CEO insights Asia.
Vivek Bansal, Group CFO was recognized as one of the top 100 CFO in 2022 by CFO 100 programme.
The Group’s CSR initiative on International Day of the Girl Child received a Silver award for Cause
Advocacy Category at the ACEF Asian Leaders Awards 2023 for Branding, Marketing, Rural, CSR &
Content Creation.

For details on Certifications and Awards, please see “Our Business” on page 109.
Details of any acquisition or amalgamation in the last one year
Our Company has not made any acquisition during previous one financial year.

Composite Scheme of Amalgamation and Arrangement

The Board of Directors of the Company at their meeting held on September 3, 2021, had approved the Composite Scheme
of Amalgamation and Arrangement (the ‘Scheme’) with KKR Capital Markets India Private Limited (the “Transferee
Company”), Bee Finance Limited (Mauritius) (the “Transferor Company”), Pre-demerger InCred (now known as
InCred Prime Finance Limited) and the Company. The said Scheme was filed with various regulatory authorities and
National Company Law Tribunal, Mumbai bench (“NCLT”).

Pre-demerger InCred received no-objection in relation to the Scheme from RBI on December 8, 2021 and in-principle
approvals from BSE on December 24, 2021 and April 21, 2022 and from and NSE on March 4, 2022. The Scheme was
approved by the Hon’ble National Company Law Tribunal (‘NCLT”), Mumbai Bench on May 6, 2022 and the certified
true copy of order received on June 6, 2022 and the ‘Appointed Date’ for the Scheme is April 1, 2022. The Scheme was
made effective by the Board of Directors of the Company, InCred Prime Finance Limited and InCred Holdings Limited
(formerly KKR Capital Markets India Limited) at their meetings held on July 26, 2022 and the relevant filing were done
with the Registrar of Companies, Mumbai on July 26, 2022.

Pursuant to the Scheme, Bee Finance Limited, the holding company of Pre-demerger InCred merged into KKR Capital
Markets India Limited, the holding company of Pre-demerger KKR, and the resulting company was renamed as InCred
Holdings Limited. InCred Holdings Limited together with Bhupinder Singh became our Promoters.

Further, pursuant to the Scheme, the InCred Demerged Undertaking including Retail NBFC Business of Pre-demerger
InCred is merged with our Company. The remaining NBFC business of unsecured loans (which accounted for less than
1% of the business (after excluding identified NBFC business demerged under the Scheme) shall continue to be carried
out by Pre-demerger InCred (now known as InCred Prime Finance Limited).

For details of the business of our Company, see “Our Business” beginning on page 109.

As per the terms of the Scheme, the Board of Directors of Pre-demerger InCred have been appointed as the directors of
our Company constituting majority. Further, with the discharge of purchase consideration for demerger, the shareholders
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of Pre-demerger InCred is holding majority shareholding in our Company.

The Transferor Company, a major shareholder in the Pre-demerger InCred, merged with the Transferee Company to
streamline the post Scheme shareholding structure of the Transferee Company, by reducing the number of layers of
shareholding and optimising value to shareholders. The shareholders of Pre-demerger InCred were issued shares in the
Transferee Company, i.e. the holding company of our Company, pursuant to the consolidation.

Further, as the said Scheme has come into effect, the listed non-convertible debentures issued and allotted by Pre-
demerger InCred, prior to the Scheme coming to effect, stand transferred to and vest in our Company and the obligations
towards payment of interest or repayment of the principal amounts vest in our Company. Our Company has received in-
principle approval under Regulation 59 of SEBI Listing Regulations from BSE vide its letters dated December 24, 2021
and April 21, 2022 and from NSE vide letters dated March 04, 2022 and October 10, 2022 for final listing of the
aforementioned debentures. For details on existing indebtedness of our Company, please see “Financial Indebtedness”
on page 188.

The copy of Scheme is available as material document available for inspection.

Also please see, “Risk Factors” on page 19.

Details of any reorganization or Reconstruction undertaken by our Company in the last one year

Our Company has not made any reorganization/reconstruction in the last one year prior to the date of this Prospectus.
Material Agreements and Material Contracts

Other than the below-mentioned agreements, our Company has not entered into any other material agreements and
material contracts which are not in the ordinary course of business, in the last two years.

1. Shareholders’ Agreement, dated August 16, 2021, as amended, executed between KKR Capital Markets India
Private Limited ((now known as InCred Holdings Limited) “KCM?”), Pre-demerger KKR, KKR India Financial
Investments Pte. Ltd., Bhupinder Singh, B Singh Holdings Limited, Effective Date Major Investors, Effective Date
Other Investors and Pre-demerger InCred (the “Shareholders’ Agreement”)

The parties have entered into Shareholders’ Agreement in order to define their mutual rights and obligations and
relationship in relation to the management and governance of KCM and the other Investee Entities (collectively (a)
KCM, (b) Pre-demerger KKR, (c) each Subsidiary of KCM, and (d) any person directly or indirectly controlled by
KCM, other than mValu, Pre-demerger InCred and any person controlled by Pre-demerger InCred) on and from the
effective date and to set out the terms and conditions governing their relationship, inter se, as shareholders of, as well
as with, the KCM and the other Investee Entities on and from the effective date.

2. Implementation Agreement, dated August 16, 2021 executed between InCred Financial Services Limited (Pre-
Demerger InCred), Booth Fintech Private Limited, InCred Management and Technology Services Private Limited,
InCred.Al Limited, Bee Finance Limited, KKR Capital Markets India Private Limited (now known as InCred
Holdings Limited), KKR India Financial Services Limited (our Company) and KKR India Financial Investments
Pte. Ltd. (the “Implementation Agreement”)

The parties have entered into Implementation Agreement in order to consolidate the InCred NBFC business and KKR
India Financial Services Limited (our Company) business, such that the integrated business is housed in KKR India
Financial Services Limited (our Company), so as to achieve economies of scale, operational rationalization and
organizational efficiency, wider market reach and customer base, pooling of knowledge and expertise, reduction in
redundant costs, and thereby creating an enhanced value for all stakeholders, as well as with the objective of jointly
owning and participating in the KKR Capital Markets India Private Limited (now known as InCred Holdings Limited)
business.

Holding Company
As on date of this Prospectus, InCred Holdings Limited (erstwhile known as KKR Capital Markets India Limited)

together with the nominees shareholders holds 46,02,26,538 Equity Shares equivalent to 100% of the Equity Share capital
of our Company.
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Subsidiary Companies

As on the date of this Prospectus, our Company has the following subsidiaries:

1.

InCred Management and Technology Services Private Limited (IMTSPL), a company within the meaning of the
Companies Act, 2013, incorporated on February 17, 2016, having its Registered Office at Unit No. 1203, 12 Floor,
B- Wing, The Capital, Bandra Kurla Complex, Mumbai, Maharashtra 400 051 under the corporate identification
number U72900MH2016PTC273211 provides new-age financial services platform that leverages technology and
data-science to make lending quick and easy. As at October 6, 2023 our Company holds 2,28,99,999 shares in
IMTSPL which amounts to 99.99 % of the total shareholding of IMTSPL.

InCred.Al Limited, a company within the meaning of the Companies Act, 2013, incorporated on April 05, 2021,
having its Registered Office at 1203, 12 Floor, B-Wing, The Capital, C-70, G Block behind ICICI Bank, Bandra
Kurla Complex, Mumbai, Maharashtra 400 051 under the corporate identification number
U74999MH2021PLC358271 offers training, consultancy, advisory and all related services in all areas of information
technology. As at October 6, 2023 our Company holds 9,994 shares in InCred.Al Limited which amounts to 99.94%
of the total shareholding of InCred.Al Limited.

Further, our Company has sold its entire stake in our erstwhile subsidiary, Booth Fintech Private Limited to InCred
Capital Financial Services Private Limited and accordingly, Booth Fintech Private Limited ceased to be our subsidiary
with effect from July 11, 2023. Post sale of our entire stake in Booth Fintech Private Limited to InCred Capital Financial
Services Private Limited, mValu Technology Services Private Limited, a subsidiary of Booth Fintech Private Limited
also ceased to be our subsidiary with effect from July 11, 2023.

Associates

As on the date of this Prospectus, our Company has no associates.

Joint Venture

As on the date of this Prospectus, our Company has no joint ventures.

Enterprises over which control is exercised by the Company

As on the date of this Prospectus, our Company does not exercise control over any of the enterprises, other than on its
subsidiaries.
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OUR MANAGEMENT
Board of Directors

The general superintendence, direction and management of our affairs and business are vested in our Board of Directors,
which exercises its power subject to the Memorandum and Articles of Association of our Company and the requirements
of the applicable laws.

The composition of the Board is in conformity with Section 149 of the Companies Act, 2013 and the SEBI Listing
Regulations. It is governed by the Articles of Association of our Company and the relevant directions issued by the RBI.

The Articles of Association of our Company require us to have up to but not more than 12 (twelve) directors. As of the
date of this Prospectus, we have 10 (ten) Directors on the Board, out of which one Director is Whole-time Director and
Chief Executive Officer, one Director is Whole-time Director and Chief Financial Officer, three Directors are Non-
Executive Directors and five Directors are Independent Directors, including three women directors on the Board.

Details of Board of Directors as on the date of this Prospectus:

Name, designation, and | Age Address Date of Details of Other

DIN (in Appointment/ directorships

years) Re-appointment
Bhupinder Singh 48 West 5801/5901 World Date of Indian
Villa The World Towers, Appointment- 1. InCred Prime Finance
Designation: ~ Whole Senapati Bapat Marg, July 26, 2022 Limited
Time Director and Chief VTC: Mumbai — 400013 2. InCred Holdings
Executive Officer Limited
3. InCred Capital
Financial Services

DIN: 07342318 Private Limited

4. InCred Al. Limited
5. InCred Management
and Technology
Services Private

Limited

6. Booth Fintech Private
Limited

7. InCred Wealth Private
Limited

8. InCred Wealth and
Investment Services
Private Limited

9. mValu Technology
Services Private
Limited

10. Alpha Fintech Private
Limited

11. NAAB Restaurant LLP

Other

12. B Singh & Partners
PTE

13. InCred Global Wealth
Pte Limited
(Singapore)

14. InCred Global Wealth
Limited (UK)

15. InCred Global Wealth
Limited (Dubai)

16. Zennia United Limited

17. B Singh Holdings

Limited
Vivek Bansal 46 C-23, Kalpataru Sparkle, July 26, 2022 Indian
Gandhi Nagar, Near MIG 1. InCred Prime Finance
Designation: Whole Club, Bandra East, Mumbai- Limited
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Name, designation, and | Age Address Date of Details of Other
DIN (in Appointment/ directorships
years) Re-appointment
Time Director and Chief 400051 2. InCred Capital
Financial Officer Financial Services
Private Limited
DIN: 07835456 3. InCred Holdings
Limited
4. InCred Management
and Technology
Services Private
Limited
Rupa Rajul Vora 62 8, Hyde Park 227 Sher E July 26, 2022 Indian
Punjab Society, Mahakali 1. InCred Holdings Limited
Designation: Caves Road, Andheri East, 2. India Alternatives
Independent Director Mumbai — 400 093 Investment Advisors
Private Limited
DIN: 01831916 3. JM Financial Asset
Reconstruction Company
Limited
4. Volkswagen Finance
Private Limited
5. InCred Prime Finance
Limited
6. Omniactive Health
Technologies Limited
7. Head Digital Works
Private Limited
8. Arohan Financial Service
Limited
Vivekanand 42 Plat No. 19, National High July 26, 2022 Indian
Suryaprakash School Road, VV Puram, 1. InCred Holdings Limited
Periayapatnam Bangalore South, Bangalore 2. Inara Capital Advisors
Karnataka — 560 004 Private Limited
Designation: Non- 3. Oaks Asset Management
Executive Director Private Limited
DIN: 02363239
Sekar Karnam 63 House No. 72, Hi Rise, July 26, 2022 Indian
KVR Paradise, Bachupally, 1. Ugro Capital Limited
Designation: Mallampet, Medchal- 2. InCred Holdings Limited
Independent Director Malkajgiri, Telangana — 500 3.InCred Prime Finance
090 Limited
DIN: 07400094 4.SBI Global Factors Ltd
Sunita Gupta 66 2-B, DDA SFS Flats, Vijay March 30, 2023 NA
Mandal Enclave, Hauz
Designation: Khas, South Delhi, Delhi-
Independent Director 110016
DIN: 06902258
Rohan Rakesh Suri 36 C-15, Sector-30, Noida, March 30, 2023 India

Designation: Non-

Executive Director

DIN: 07074450

Gautam Buddha Nagar,
Uttar Pradesh-201 301

1. Vini Cosmetics Private
Limited

2. Kiopl Management
Solutions India Private
Limited

3. Radiant Life Care Privatg
Limited

4. Shriram General
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Name, designation, and | Age Address Date of Details of Other
DIN (in Appointment/ directorships
years) Re-appointment

Insurance Company
Limited

5. Re Sustainability
Limited

6. InCred Holdings Limited

Other

7. Jersey Holding
Corporation

Ambika Bisla 47 3, Apt 1501, World Spa East, | March 30, 2023 NA
Sector-30, Gurgaon,
Designation: Haryana- 122 001

Independent Director

DIN: 09789579

Sankaran Nair 64 B-8, Dhanastra, Reserve | March 30, 2023 NA
Rajagopal Bank Officers Flats, N.P.

Marg, Colaba,
Designation: Mumbai-400 005

Independent Director

DIN: 10087762

Anil Nagu 57 C-1/A, BDA Colony, Shivaji | September 14, | India
Nagar, Bhopal, Madhya 2023 1. KKR India Advisors
Designation: Non- Pradesh 462016, India Private Limited
Executive Director 2. KKR Capstone India
Operations Advisory
DIN: 00110529 Private Limited

3.KKR India Asset
Manager Private Limited
4.InCred Holdings Limited

Brief profile of the Directors of our Company
Bhupinder Singh

Bhupinder Singh, Whole-time Director & Chief Executive Officer is the Founder of the InCred Group. Prior to InCred,
he co-headed the Investment Banking and Securities division of Deutsche Bank for the Asia Pacific region with a USD
3 billion top line. In this role, he managed the Bank’s Fixed Income, Equities and Investment Banking divisions.

He was also the head of the Corporate Finance division for Deutsche Bank in the Asia Pacific region managing the bank’s
corporate coverage, investment banking, capital markets, advisory and treasury solutions businesses. His professional
odyssey has spanned across two decades in the financial services sector, with more than 7 years in running and supervising
Indian businesses. He holds a Post Graduate Diploma in Management (PGDM) from IIM Ahmedabad.

Vivek Bansal

Vivek Bansal, Whole-time Director & Chief Financial Officer of the Company, has several years’ experience in the field
of banking & finance. He was previously associated with Yes Bank where he worked from 2011 till 2018, with his last
designation being Senior President and Deputy Chief Financial Officer. Prior to Yes Bank, he worked with Fidelity
Investments and Standard Chartered. He is a Chartered Accountant and has cleared CFA.

Rupa Rajul Vora

Rupa Rajul Vora was the Group Director & CFO — IDFC Alternatives for more than a decade and earlier, CFO of the

Indian operations of Antwerp Diamond Bank N.V. and KBC Bank N.V. She was also associated with Calyon Bank and
Oman International Bank S.A.O.G. Before joining the corporate world, she ran an independent practice as a Chartered
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Accountant for almost a decade.

She has been a member of the Jury for the CFO 100 Awards by the CFO Institute and has been conferred with the
“Women Leadership Excellence Award” at the IPE — BFSI Awards 2013 by the Institute of Public Enterprise.

She has featured among India’s 10 most influential women in finance by Rediff.com in 2012. She also featured among
India’s Top Women in Finance 2023 by Equalifi and presented by Valuefy.

An independent director on corporate boards, she is a Fellow Member of the Institute of Directors and a lifetime member
of the Independent Director’s Data Bank of the Indian Institute of Corporate Affairs.

Ms. Vora is a member of CII’s National Committee on Financial Reporting 2020-2021 to 2023-2024.
Vivekanand Suryaprakash Periayapatnam

Vivekanand Suryaprakash Periayapatnam has over 20 years of experience in Banking & Financial Services. He is the
Founder and Managing Director of OAKS Asset Management, a Private Equity Fund based in Mumbai.

He began his career at the Kotak Mahindra Bank Limited and spent about 10 years and left at the position of Vice
President in Wealth Management division of Kotak Mahindra Bank Limited. He is an alumnus of The Sri Sathya Sai
Institutions, Prashanti Nilayam & The Nilgiris and Mahaveer Jain College, Bangalore.

Sekar Karnam

Sekar Karnam is a professional banker with rich experience in all the facets of Indian Banking at a very senior level. He
joined as a Probationary Officer with State Bank of India in 1983 and rose to the level of Deputy Managing Director.
Selected as Managing Director of public sector bank and has the rare distinction of heading two public sector banks. As
the Deputy Managing Director of SBI, contributed in the board level deliberations at State Bank of India for more than
four years. He has operated as nominee director on the Boards of Clearing Corporation of India Ltd, National e-
Governance Services Ltd (NeSL) etc.

Anil Nagu

Mr. Anil Nagu is a Chartered Accountant and has been the CFO of KKR India since 2019. He is a seasoned finance
professional with many years of diverse international experience in corporate governance and business management
covering private equity and banking. Prior to joining KKR India, he was Executive Director and Group Head Strategy &
Finance for Omni United based in Singapore; and prior to that he spent 20+ years at Citibank working in India, UK and
Singapore. Between 2002— 2014, Anil was Managing Director and Global Head of Fund Management for Citibank’s
emerging market private equity group (Citi Venture Capital International — CVCI) where he had governance
responsibilities, initially for Citigroup’s proprietary PE investments, and subsequently for Citigroup sponsored third party
PE funds. His leadership roles included directorships in the General Partner and portfolio companies along with
membership of CVCI’s Investment Committee and Business Risk Committee.

Sunita Gupta

Sunita Gupta is a finance professional with 38 years of experience in the banking and financial services industry. She has
served as an executive director (whole time director) and chief financial officer for PNB Gilts Limited (“PNB Gilts”).
During her tenure at PNB Gilts, she played a key role in shaping the company’s financial strategy, driving growth and
profitability, and ensuring compliance with regulatory requirements and was responsible for managing the company’s
financial operations, including budgeting, forecasting, financial reporting, risk management, and investor relations.
Additionally she was also looking into Corporate Affairs, Corporate Governance, Board Matters, HR, administration,
technology, vigilance, control and assurance functions of the Company. She has also held senior finance positions at
Punjab National Bank and has an extensive experience in financial planning and analysis and treasury operations. Sunita
Gupta holds a bachelor’s degree in economics from Lady Sri Ram College of Delhi University and a master’s degree in
economics from Delhi School of Economics. She is also a certified associate from Indian Institute of Bankers.

Rohan Rakesh Suri

Rohan Rakesh Suri joined KKR India Advisors Private Limited in 2012 and is a director on the private equity team. He
currently serves on the board of Shriram General Insurance Company Limited, Re Sustainability Limited and Vini
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Cosmetics Private Limited, Kiopl Management Solutions India Private Limited, Radiant life Care Private Limited, InCred
Holdings Limited and Jersey Holding Corporation. He holds an MBA from the Indian Institute of Management,
Ahmedabad, where he was an industry scholar.

Ambika Bisla

Ambika Bisla is an experienced finance professional having worked with global investment banks and government
institutions. She has worked as a senior consultant at Delhi Skill and Entrepreneurship University. She has also served as
a technical advisor where she was designated as ‘Officer on Special Duty’ with the Ministry of Finance, Department of
Financial Services, New Delhi and her role involved developing public policy for financial institutions. She has worked
with investment banks in New York (Morgan Stanley and Lehman Brothers) and Hong Kong (Morgan Stanley). She is
an active angel investor and follows global capital markets to invest her personal capital. She holds a Degree of Master
of Financial Engineering from Walter A. Haas School of Business, University of California at Berkeley, and is an MBA
from Indian Institute of Management at Ahmedabad (I1IMA). She has completed her B.A. Economics (Honors) from Lady
Shri Ram College at New Delhi.

Sankaran Nair Rajagopal

Sankaran Nair Rajagopal has about 36 years’ experience in banking industry with 33 years in Reserve Bank of India
(RBI) and 3 years in commercial banks. As regional director in RBI, he was in charge of RBI’s operations in the states
of Maharashtra & Goa and was the co-chairman of state level bankers’ committees of the specified states. He was also
the chairman of empowered committees for MSMEs & regional rural banks in aforementioned states. As the chief general
manager of financial stability unit, he was a member of assessment group for vulnerabilities of Financial Stability Board,
Basle, Switzerland. He also served as a nominee director in the board of Bank of Maharashtra. He had worked as advisor
to Axis Bank for 3 years after his superannuation from RBI. Dr. Rajagopal holds an MBA degree in International
Management from the University of Dallas, USA, MBA in Banking & Finance from University of Science & Technology
and Ph. D in Management from University of Pune. He also has a diploma in Training & Development from Indian
Society for Training & Development and is a certified associate of Indian Institute of bankers.

Relationship between Directors

As on the date of this Prospectus, none of our Directors are related to each other.

Remuneration of Directors

The terms of remuneration of the Whole-time Director and Chief Executive Officer are as below:

1. Bhupinder Singh

The following table sets forth terms of remuneration to Bhupinder Singh, Whole-time Director and Chief Executive
Officer, with effect from July 26, 2022, as approved by the Shareholders in the extra-ordinary general meeting of the

Company held on August 25, 2022.

For appointment as Whole-time Director and Chief Executive Officer:

Particulars Terms of remuneration
Period 5 years
Remuneration | % 6,00,00,000 per annum, no eligibility for variable pay component; Company provided car and
driver benefit (on actual basis)

The following table sets forth all compensation paid by our Company to the Whole-time Director and Chief Executive
Officer during the current year and Fiscals 2023, 2022 and 2021:
(in lakh)
Name of Director Current year For Fiscal 2023 For Fiscal 2022 For Fiscal 2021
(till September 30, 2023)
Salary | Perquisites |Salary |Perquisites | Salary |Perquisites | Salary | Perquisites
Bhupinder Singh® 299.7 - | 409.3 - - - - -
Notes:
1. Prior to Bhupinder Singh being appointed a director of our Company on July 26, 2022 pursuant to the Scheme of Demerger being
made effective, he was a whole time director and CEO on the board of Pre-demerger InCred and received a salary of T 339.5 lakh
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and T 372.0 lakh for Fiscal 2022 and 2021, respectively.
2. Bhupinder Singh received a compensation of ¥ 126.7 lakh as salary drawn from Pre-demerger InCred from April 1, 2022 till July
25, 2022 and < 409.3 lakh was drawn as salary from our Company from July 26, 2022 till March 31, 2023.

The terms of remuneration of the Whole-time Director and Chief Financial Officer are as below:

1. Vivek Bansal

The following table sets forth terms of remuneration to Vivek Bansal, Whole-time Director and Chief Financial Officer,
with effect from July 26, 2022, as approved by the shareholders in the extra-ordinary general meeting held on August 25,

2022.

For appointment as Whole-time Director and Chief Financial Officer:

Particulars Terms of remuneration
Period 5 Years
Remuneration | X 3,50,00,000* per annum
*Excluding child’s school fees reimbursement of ~X 25 lakh p.a.

The following table sets forth all compensation paid by our Company to the Whole-time Director and Chief Financial

Officer during the current year and Fiscals 2023, 2022 and 2021:

(R in lakh

Name of Director Current year For Fiscal 2023? For Fiscal 2022 For Fiscal 2021
(till September 30, 2023)
Salary Perquisites | Salary | Perquisites | Salary | Perquisites |Salary | Perguisites

Vivek Bansal® 462.2 0.3 [224.8 - - - -

Notes:

1. Prior to Vivek Bansal being appointed as director of our Company on July 26, 2022 pursuant to the Scheme of Demerger being
made effective, he was a whole time director and CFO on the board of Pre-demerger InCred and received a salary of ¥ 186.6
lakh and ¥ 132.4 lakh for Fiscal 2022 and 2021, respectively and received additional perquisites of ¥ 24.8 lakh and < 24.8 lakh
for Fiscal 2022 and 2021, respectively.

2. Vivek Bansal received a compensation of ¢ 104.4 lakh as salary and < 26.6 lakh as additional perquisites drawn from Pre-
demerger InCred from April 1, 2022 till July 25, 2022 and < 224.8 lakh was drawn as salary from our Company from July 26,
2022 till March 31, 2023.

Details of remuneration paid to the Executive Directors during current year, and the Fiscals 2023, 2022 and 2021 by our
Company:

(Zin lakh
Name of Director For Fiscal 2023 For Fiscal 2022 For Fiscal 2021
Salary Perquisites Salary Perquisites Salary | Perquisites
Sanjay Omprakash Nayar® - - - - 375 -
Notes:

1. Sanjay Omprakash Nayar was re-appointed as Non-Executive Director in our Company w.e.f. July 26, 2022 and has ceased to be
the director of our Company w.e.f. March 21, 2023.

No remuneration has been paid to the Directors for the current year and Fiscals 2023, 2021 and 2021 by our subsidiaries
and associates.

Remuneration of Non-Executive Directors

No remuneration is paid to the Non-Executive Directors of the Company for attending the meetings of the Board and
Committees.

Remuneration of Independent Directors

The Independent Directors are paid remuneration by way of sitting fees.
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Our Company pays sitting fees per meeting to the Independent Directors for attending the meetings of the Board and
Committees thereof, as under:

(in lakh)
Particulars Board Committees
Chairman | Members Chairman | Members
Full Board Meetings
Physical / Electronic Participation | 1.0 | 1.0 | 1.0 | 1.0
Shorter Notice/Special Purpose Meetings
Physical / Electronic Participation | 1.0 | 1.0 | 1.0 | 1.0

The following table sets forth all compensation paid by our Company to the Independent Directors during the current
year and Fiscals 2023, 2022 and 2021:

(R in lakh)
Name of For Quarter ended For Fiscal 2023 For Fiscal 2022 For Fiscal 2021
Director September 30, 2023
Commission | Sitting |[Commission | Sitting [Commission| Sitting [Commission| Sitting
Fees Fees Fees Fees
Rupa Rajul Vora® - 10.0 -l 12.4@ - - - -
Sekar Karnam® - 9.0 -l 10.6¥ - - - _
Sunita Gupta® - 9.0 - - - - - -
Ambika Bisla® - 8.0 - - - _ _ N
Sankaran Nair - 11.0 -
Rajagopal”
Debashish Dutta - - - 11.20 - - - i
Gupta®
Notes:

1. Prior to Rupa Rajul Vora being appointed an independent director of our Company on July 26, 2022 pursuant to the Scheme of
Demerger being made effective, she was an independent director on the board of Pre-demerger InCred and received siting fee of
X 14.1 lakh and % 5.30 lakh for Fiscal 2022 and 2021, respectively.

2. Rupa Rajul Vora received a sitting fee of T 6.6 lakh from Pre-demerger InCred from April 1, 2022 #1l July 25, 2022 and T 12.4
lakh was received as sitting fee from our Company from July 26, 2022 till March 31, 2023.

3. Prior to Sekar Karnam being appointed an independent director of our Company on July 26, 2022 pursuant to the Scheme of

Demerger being made effective, he was an independent director on the board of Pre-demerger InCred and received siting fee of ¥

2.9 lakh for Fiscal 2022.

Sekar Karnam received a sitting fee of % 6.0 lakh from Pre-demerger InCred from April 1, 2022 till July 25, 2022 and < 10.6 lakh

was received as sitting fee from our Company from July 26, 2022 till March 31, 2023.

Sunita Gupta was appointed as an independent director of our Company w.e.f. March 30, 2023.

Ambika Bisla was appointed as an independent director of our Company w.e.f. March 30, 2023.

Sankaran Nair Rajagopal was appointed as an independent director of our Company w.e.f. March 30, 2023.

Prior to Debashish Dutta Gupta being appointed an independent director of our Company on July 26, 2022 pursuant to the Scheme

of Demerger being made effective, he was an independent director on the board of Pre-demerger InCred and received siting fee

of T 12.6 lakh, for Fiscal 2022.

9. Debashish Dutta Gupta received a sitting fee of T 5.4 lakh from Pre-demerger InCred from April 1, 2022 till July 25, 2022 and %
11.2 lakh was received as sitting fee from our Company from July 26, 2022 till March 30, 2023. Further, Debashish Dutta Gupta
ceased to be the director of our Company w.e.f. March 30, 2023.

>

o ~No o,

Other understandings and confirmations

No Director of our Company is a director or is otherwise associated in any manner with, any company that appears in the
list of the vanishing companies as maintained by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs, wilful defaulter list as categorized by
the RBI or Export Credit Guarantee Corporation of India Limited or any other regulatory or governmental authority
and/or bank or financial institutions.

None of our Directors is, or was, a director or person in control of any company which has been or was delisted from any

recognised stock exchange within a period of ten years preceding the date of this Prospectus, in accordance with Chapter
V of the SEBI (Delisting of Equity Shares) Regulations, 2021.
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None of our Directors are in default of payment of interest or repayment of principal amount in respect of debt securities
issued to the public, for a period of more than six-months.

We also confirm that none of our Directors is restrained or prohibited or debarred from accessing the securities market
or dealing in securities by SEBI. Further, none of our Directors is a promoter or director of another company which is
debarred from accessing the securities market or dealing in securities by SEBI.

None of our Directors have committed any violation of securities laws in the past and no proceedings in such regard by
SEBI or, RBI are pending against any of our Directors.

No Director of our Company is a fugitive economic offender, as defined in the SEBI NCS Regulations.

We confirm that the PAN of the Directors of the Company has been submitted to the Stock Exchange at the time of filing
the Draft Prospectus.

Borrowing Powers of the Board:

Pursuant to a special resolution passed in the extra ordinary general meeting of shareholders of our Company on August
25, 2022 in accordance with provisions of 180(1)(c) of the Companies Act, 2013 and other applicable provisions and
rules made thereunder, the Board has been authorised to borrow, from time to time such sums of money as they may
deem necessary for the purpose of the business of our Company, which together with the monies already borrowed by
our Company (apart from temporary loans obtained from our Company’s bankers in the ordinary course of business),
may exceed at any time, the aggregate of the paid-up capital of our Company and its free reserves (that is to say, reserves,
not set apart for any specific purposes) and securities premium account of the Company, provided that the total amount
upto which monies may be borrowed by the Board of Directors shall not exceeding % 8,00,000 lakh at any time.

The aggregate value of the NCDs offered under this Prospectus, together with the existing borrowings of the Company,
is within the approved borrowing limits as mentioned above.

Interest of the Directors:

As on the date of this Prospectus, except Bhupinder Singh, no other Directors of our Company are interested in the
promotion of the Company.

All the Directors of our Company, including our Independent Directors, may be deemed to be interested to the extent of
fees, if any, payable to them for attending meetings of the Board or a Committee thereof as well as to the extent of other
remuneration and reimbursement of expenses payable to them, if any. All the Independent Directors of our Company are
entitled to sitting fees for attending every meeting of the Board or a Committee thereof. Whole-time Director and Chief
Executive Officer and Whole-time Director and Chief Financial Officer are interested to the extent of remuneration paid
for services rendered / ESOP granted, if any, reimbursement of expenses payable to them as an officer or employee of
our Company.

All the Directors of our Company, including Independent Directors, may also be deemed to be interested to the extent of
Equity Shares, if any, held by them or by companies, firms and trusts in which they are interested as directors, partners,
members or trustees and also to the extent of any dividend payable to them and other distributions in respect of the said
Equity Shares.

The Directors may be deemed to be interested in the contracts, agreements/arrangements entered into or to be entered
into by our Company with any company in which they hold directorships or any partnership firm in which they are
partners as declared in their respective declarations. Except as otherwise stated in this Prospectus, statutory registers
maintained by our Company in this regard, our Company has not entered into any contract, agreements or arrangements
during the preceding two years from the date of this Prospectus in which the directors are interested directly or indirectly
and no payments have been made to them in respect of these contracts, agreements or arrangements which are proposed
to be made with them. None of our Company’s Directors have taken any loan from our Company.

As of the date of this Prospectus, except as disclosed in the Section “Related Party Transactions” on page 174 none of
our Directors may be deemed to be interested to the extent of consideration received/paid or any loans or advances
provided to any body-corporate, including companies, firms, and trusts, in which they are interested as directors,
members, partners or trustees.
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None of our Directors are interested in their capacity as a member of any firm or company and no sums have been paid
or are proposed to be paid to any Director or to such firm of company in which he is interested, by any person, in cash or
shares or otherwise, either to induce them to become, or to help them qualify as a director, or otherwise for services
rendered by him or by such firm or company, in connection with the promotion or formation of our Company.

No contribution has been made by the directors as part of the Issue or separately in furtherance of the Objects of the Issue.

None of our Directors’ relatives have been appointed to an office or place of profit of our Company, its subsidiaries and
associates.

Except as stated in the sections titled “Related Party Transactions” on page 174 and to the extent of compensation and
commission if any, and their shareholding in our Company, our Directors do not have any other interest in our business.

Our Directors have no interest in any immovable property acquired or proposed to be acquired by our Company in the
preceding two years of filing this Prospectus with BSE nor do they have any interest in any transaction regarding the
acquisition of land, construction of buildings and supply of machinery, etc. with respect to our Company.

No benefit/interest will accrue to our Promoters/Directors out of the objects of the Issue.

Our Directors has no financial or other material interest in the Issue and no benefit / interest will accrue to our Directors
out of the objects of the Issue.

Debenture / Subordinated Debt holding of Directors:

As on October 6, 2023, none of the Directors of our Company hold any debentures / subordinated debt issued by our
Company.

Details of change in Directors of our Company during the current year and last three financial years preceding the
date of this Prospectus

Sr. Name of Director, DIN Date of Date of Date of Remarks
No. Designation and DIN Appointment Cessation, if | resignation,
applicable if applicable

1. | Anil Nagu 00110529 |June 28,2019 | July 26, 2022 NA Cessation
Executive Director and Chief
Financial Officer

2. | Brian Wesley Dillard 08626376 | December 10, | July 26, 2022 NA Cessation
Non-Executive Director 2019

3. | Jigar Shah 08496153 December 10, | June 30, 2022 NA Cessation
Whole-time Director 2019

4. | Diane Raposio 07522686 |May 19, 2016 | June 29, 2020 NA Cessation
Non-Executive Director®

5. | Karthik Krishna 06993503 | March 12, 2020 | July 26, 2022 NA Cessation
Independent Director

6. | Aparna Ravi 07935533 | February 24, July 26, 2022 NA Cessation
Independent Director 2021

7. | Sanjay Omprakash Nayar 00002615 |July 26, 2022 NA March 21, Resignation
Non-Executive Director 2023

8. | Debashish Dutta Gupta 08950317 July 26, 2022 NA March 29, Resignation
Independent Director 2023

9. | Bhupinder Singh 07342318 | July 26, 2022 NA NA Appointment
Whole-time Director and CEO

10.| Vivek Bansal 07835456  |July 26, 2022 NA NA IAppointment
Whole-time Director and CFO

11.| Rupa Rajul Vora 01831916 |July 26, 2022 NA NA Appointment
Independent Director

12.| Sekar Karnam 07400094 |July 26, 2022 NA NA Appointment
Independent Director

13.| Vivekanand Suryaprakash 02363239 | July 26, 2022 NA NA Appointment
Periayapatnam
Non-Executive Director

14.| Gaurav Trehan 03467781 | July 26, 2022 NA September Resigned
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Sr. Name of Director, DIN Date of Date of Date of Remarks
No. Designation and DIN Appointment Cessation, if | resignation,
applicable if applicable

Non-Executive Director 13, 2023

15.| Sunita Gupta 06902258 March 30, 2023 | NA NA Appointment
Independent Director

16.| Rohan Rakesh Suri 07074450 March 30, 2023 | NA NA Appointment
Non-Executive Director

17.| Ambika Bisla 09789579 March 30, 2023 | NA NA Appointment
Independent Director

18.| Sankaran Nair Rajagopal 10087762 | March 30, 2023 | NA NA Appointment
Independent Director

19.| Anil Nagu 00110529 | September 14, | NA NA Appointment
Non-Executive Director 2023

Shareholding of Directors as on the date of this Prospectus:

As on the date of this Prospectus, other than disclosed below, none of the Directors have shareholding in our Company.

Sr. No. | Name of Directors | Number of Shares | Percentage of Shareholding (in %) (on fully diluted basis)
1. Bhupinder Singh” 395 Negligible
2 Vivek Bansal” 1 Negligible

* Nominee shares held on behalf of InCred Holdings Limited

Shareholding of Directors in Subsidiaries, including details of qualification shares held by Directors as on the date of
this Prospectus:

Other than disclosed in “Capital Structure- Details of shareholding of our Directors in our Subsidiaries, Associate or
Joint Ventures as of date of this Prospectus” on page 62, none of the Directors have shareholding in any of the
Subsidiaries.

Key Managerial Personnel of our Company:

In addition to Bhupinder Singh, Whole-Time Director & Chief Executive Officer, and Vivek Bansal, Whole Time
Director and Chief Financial Officer of our Company’s, Key Managerial Personnel includes Gajendra Singh Thakur,
Company Secretary, as of the date of this Prospectus.

Gajendra Singh Thakur

Gajendra Singh Thakur, Company Secretary, comes with over 18 years of experience in financial services in compliance,
secretarial and legal roles. Prior to joining InCred, he was a Company Secretary at Vice President 1l grade, of IIFL
Finance Ltd. He has worked previously with Nippon Life India Asset Management Limited (Formerly ‘“Reliance Capital
Asset Management Limited”’) and Centrum group among others.

Relationship with other Key Managerial Personnel
None of our Key Managerial Personnel are related to each other.

Interests of Key Managerial Personnel

Except Mr. Bhupinder Singh, Whole-Time Director & Chief Executive Officer who is also the Promoter of our Company
none of our KMPs, except to the extent of remuneration or benefits to which they are entitled to as per their terms of
appointment reimbursement of expenses incurred by them during the ordinary course of business and equity shares held
by them along with vested ESOP options, if any, and otherwise disclosed in this Prospectus, have any interest in the
Company.

Our Key Managerial Personnel has no financial or other material interest in the Issue and no benefit / interest will accrue
to our Key Managerial Personnel out of the objects of the Issue.
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Compensation to Key Managerial Personnel
(< in lakh)

For Fiscal 2023 For Fiscal 2022 For Fiscal 2021
60.8(2) - -

Name of KMP
Gajendra Singh Thakur @

As on September 30, 2023
67.0

Notes:

1.  Prior to Gajendra Singh Thakur being appointed Company Secretary of our Company on July 26, 2022 pursuant to the Scheme
of Demerger being made effective, he was Company Secretary of Pre-demerger InCred and received compensation of T 81.4
lakh for Fiscal 2022.

2. Gajendra Singh Thakur received compensation of T 38.2 lakh from Pre-demerger InCred from April 1, 2022 till July 26, 2022
and X 60.8 lakh was received as compensation fee from our Company from July 27, 2022 till March 31, 2023.

Equity Shares held by Key Managerial Personnel

Except as disclosed below as on date of this Prospectus, none of the Key Managerial Personnel have the shareholding in
our Company.

Sr. No. | Name of Key Managerial Personnel Number of Shares | Percentage of Shareholding (in %)
1. Bhupinder Singh” 395 Negligible
2. Vivek Bansal” 1 Negligible
3 Gajendra Singh Thakur” 1 Negligible

* Held on behalf of InCred Holdings Limited
Senior Management Personnel of our Company

In addition to Vivek Bansal and Gajendra Singh Thakur who are also designated as our Company’s Key Managerial
Personnel, the details of the Senior Management Personnel, as on the date of this Prospectus, are set out below:

Sr. No. Name of SMPs
1. Saurabh Jhalaria
Kamlesh Dangi

Designation
Head — SME & Education lending
Head — Human Resources

Prithvi Chandrasekhar

CEO — Consumer Finance

Ashwin Sekar

Chief Technology Officer

g |win

Krishna Bahety

Chief Risk Officer

Interest of Senior Management Personnel

Except to the extent of remuneration or benefits to which they are entitled to as per their terms of appointment
reimbursement of expenses incurred by them during the ordinary course of business and equity shares held by them
along with vested ESOP options, if any, and otherwise disclosed in this Prospectus, the Senior Management Personnel
of the Company do not have any interest in the Company.

Except as disclosed below as on date of this Prospectus, none of the Senior Management Personnel have shareholding
in our Company.

Sr. No. | Name of Senior Managerial Personnel Number of Shares | Percentage of Shareholding (in %)

1. Gajendra Singh Thakur * 1 Negligible
2. Kamlesh Dangi” 1 Negligible
3 Saurabh Jhalaria” 1 Negligible

* Nominee shares held on behalf of InCred Holdings Limited
No benefit/interest will accrue to our Senior Management Personnel out of the objects of the issue.

Our Senior Managerial Personnel have no financial or other material interest in the Issue and no benefit / interest will
accrue to our Senior Managerial Personnel out of the objects of the Issue.

Relationship with other Senior Management Personnel

None of our Senior Management Personnel are related to each other.
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Corporate Governance

We are in compliance with the applicable requirements in relation to the composition of the Board of Directors and
constitution of Committees such as Audit Committee, Nomination and Remuneration Committee, Corporate Social
Responsibility Committee, Stakeholders’ Relationship Committee and Risk Management Committee as mandated under
the Companies Act, 2013 and the SEBI Listing Regulations, to the extent applicable as on date.

Details of various Committees of the Board:

Audit Committee:

The Audit Committee was last reconstituted vide a resolution passed by the Board on March 30, 2023. As on the date of
this Prospectus, it comprises of:

Name Designation on Committee Designation
Rupa Rajul Vora Chairperson Independent Director
Sekar Karnam Member Independent Director
Vivekanand Suryaprakash Periayapatnam | Member Non-Executive Director
Sunita Gupta Member Independent Director
Sankaran Nair Rajagopal Member Independent Director

The broad terms of reference of the Audit Committee are:

a)

b)

c)
d)

f)

9)
h)

)

Oversight of the Company’s financial reporting process and the disclosure of its financial information to ensure that
the financial statements are correct, sufficient and credible.

Providing recommendations for the appointment, remuneration and terms of appointment of auditors of the
Company.

Approval of payments to statutory auditors for any other services rendered by the statutory auditors.

Reviewing with the management, the annual financial statements and the auditor’s report thereon, before submission
to the Board for approval, with particular reference to:

i. matters required to be included in the director’s responsibility statement, to be included in the Board’s report in
terms of clause committee of sub-section (3) of Section 134 of the Companies Act, 2013;

ii. changes, if any, in the accounting policies and practices, and reasons for the same;

iii. major accounting entries involving estimates based on the exercise of judgment by management;

iv. significant adjustments made in the financial statements arising out of audit findings;

v. compliance with listing and other legal requirements relating to financial statements;

vi. disclosure of any related party transactions; and

vii. modified opinion(s) in the draft audit report.

Reviewing, with the management, the quarterly financial results before submission to the Board for approval.
Reviewing, with the management, the statement of uses/ application/ end use of funds raised through an issue (public
issue, rights issue, preferential issue etc.); the statement of funds utilized for purposes other than those stated in the
offer document/ prospectus/ notice; and the report submitted by the monitoring agency monitoring utilization of
proceeds of a public or rights issue, and making appropriate recommendations to the Board to take up steps in this
matter.

Reviewing and monitoring the auditor’s independence and performance, and effectiveness of the audit process.
Approval of, or any subsequent modification of, the transactions of the Company with related parties.

Scrutiny of inter-corporate loans and investments.

Valuation of undertakings or assets of the Company, wherever necessary.
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P)

q)

r
s)

B

u)

w)

Evaluation of the internal financial controls and risk management systems.

Reviewing, with the management, performance of the statutory and the internal auditors, adequacy of the internal
control systems.

Reviewing the adequacy of the internal audit function, if any, including the structure of the internal audit department,
staffing and seniority of the official heading the department, reporting structure coverage and frequency of internal
audit.

Discussions with the internal auditors of any significant findings and follow-ups thereon.

Reviewing the findings of any internal investigations by the internal auditors into matters where there is suspected
fraud or irregularity or a failure of internal control systems of a material nature, and reporting the matter to the Board.

Discussions with the statutory auditors before the audit commences, about the nature and scope of audit as well as
post-audit discussion to ascertain any area of concern.

To look into the reasons for substantial defaults in payment to the depositors, debenture holders, shareholders (in
case of non-payment of declared dividends) and creditors.

To review the functioning of the whistle blower mechanism.

Approval of the appointment of the chief financial officer after assessing the qualifications, experience and
background etc. of the candidate.

Reviewing the utilization of loans and/ or advances from/ investment by the Company in, its subsidiary exceeding
10000 lakh or 10% of the asset size of the subsidiary, whichever is lower, including existing loans/ advances extended
or investments made by the Company in its subsidiary.

To consider and comment on the rationale, cost-benefits and impact of schemes involving merger, demerger,
amalgamation etc., on the Company and its shareholders.

Any other role/ function as may be specifically referred to the Committee by the Board, or as may be required under
the Companies Act, 2013, the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure
Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (“SEBI (LODR)”) or any other applicable law(s) for the time being in force.

The Committee shall mandatorily review the information pertaining to the following:

i. management discussions and analysis of financial conditions and results of operations;

ii. statement of significant related party transactions (as defined by the Committee), submitted by management;

iili. management letters/ letters of internal control weaknesses issued by the statutory auditors;

iv. internal audit reports relating to internal control weaknesses;

v. the appointment, removal and terms of remuneration of the chief internal auditor; and

vi. statement of deviations: (A) quarterly statement of deviation(s) including report of monitoring agency, if
applicable, submitted to stock exchange(s) in terms of Regulation 32(1) of SEBI(LODR); and (B) annual
statement of funds utilized for purposes other than those stated in the offer document/ prospectus/ notice in terms
of Regulation 32(7) of SEBI(LODR).

Asset Liability Management Committee:

The Asset Liability Management Committee was last reconstituted vide a resolution passed by the Board on January 17,
2023. As on the date of this Prospectus, it comprises of:

Name Designation on Committee Designation
Vivek Bansal Chairperson Whole-time Director and Chief Financial Officer
Bhupinder Singh Member Whole-time Director and Chief Executive Officer
Krishna Bahety Member Chief Risk Officer
Saurabh Jhalaria Member Head of SME lending

The functions of the ALM Committee include:
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10.
11.

12.

To review/ monitor the Asset Liability Management (ALM) profile and systems of the Company from time to time;

To monitor and manage the following by taking appropriate steps and recommending suitable measures to the
Board:

e Liquidity Risk;

o Market Risk;

Interest Rate Risk;

Funding and Capital Planning

To monitor and advise maturity profile and mix of the incremental Assets and Liabilities of the Company, sale of
assets as a source of funding, the structure, responsibilities and controls for managing liquidity risk, and overseeing
the liquidity positions of the Company.

To formulate Interest Rate view of the Company and advise future business strategy accordingly if required. To
advise on appropriate mix of between Fixed v/s Floating Interest Rate liabilities/ resources and assets etc.;

To advise on Funding, Source & Mix of Liabilities, Product Pricing for the loans etc.;

To advise on benchmark Floating Reference Rate (RFRR) and to amend / change the same from time to time, as
required;

To review the ALM returns and take suitable remedial measures;

To adopt, amend, revise and modify ALM Palicy of the Company in compliance with the regulatory requirements;
To assess the funding and capital planning for the Company;

To advise roadmap for profit planning and growth projections of the Company.

To ensure adherence to the risk tolerance/ limits set by the Board as well as implementing the liquidity risk
management strategy of the Company.

Any other role/ functions as may be specifically referred to ALCO by the Board, or as may be required under
directions/ circulars/ notifications/ guidelines issued by the Reserve Bank of India from time to time, or other
applicable law(s) for the time being in force.

Nomination and Remuneration Committee:

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee was last reconstituted vide a resolution passed by the Board on September
24, 2023. As on the date of this Prospectus, it comprises of:

Name Designation on Committee Designation
Rupa Rajul Vora Member Independent Director
Bhupinder Singh Member Whole-time Director and Chief Executive Officer
Sekar Karnam Member Independent Director
Sankaran Nair Rajagopal Member Independent Director
Ambika Bisla Member Independent Director
Rohan Suri Member Non-Executive Director

The broad terms of reference of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee are:

a)

b)

Identification of persons qualified to become directors, and to make recommendations to the Board for their
appointment /removal or filling of vacancies on the Board.

Identification of persons for appointment as the Senior Management Personnel of the Company and to make
recommendations to the Board for their appointment / removal.

Note: As per Section 178(5) of the Companies Act, 2013, the term “Senior Management Personnel” of a company

shall mean members of the core management team of the company (excluding the board of directors), comprising of
all members of management one level below the executive directors, including the functional heads.
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c)
d)

€)

f)

9)
h)

)
K)

Administration and superintendence of the Employee Stock Option Schemes of the Company (as may be applicable).
Formulation, supervision and implementation of the following policies:

i.  Appointment & Remuneration Policy for the Directors and Key Managerial Personnel,
ii. Employees Remuneration Policy; and
iii. Policy for Annual Performance Evaluation of the Directors.

Formulation of the criteria for determining qualifications, positive attributes and independence of a director, and to
recommend to the Board of Directors a policy relating to the remuneration of the directors, key managerial personnel
and other employees. While formulating such policy the Committee shall ensure that:

i. the level and composition of remuneration is reasonable and sufficient to attract, retain and motivate directors
of the quality required to run the Company successfully;

ii. the relationship of remuneration to performance is clear and meets appropriate performance benchmarks; and

iii. the remuneration to directors, key managerial personnel and Senior Management Personnel involves a balance
between fixed and incentive pay reflecting short and long-term performance objectives appropriate to the
working of the Company and its goals.

For the appointment of each independent director, the Committee shall evaluate the balance of skills, knowledge and
experience on the Board and on the basis of such evaluation, prepare a description of the role and capabilities required
of an independent director. The person recommended to the Board for appointment as an independent director shall
have the capabilities identified in such description. For the purpose of identifying suitable candidates, the Committee
may:

i.  use the services of external agencies, if required;
ii. consider candidates from a wide range of backgrounds, having due regard to diversity; and
iii. consider the time commitments of the candidates

Formulation of criteria for evaluation of performance of independent directors and the Board of Directors.
Devising a policy on diversity of the Board of Directors.

Providing recommendation as to whether to extend or continue the term of appointment of the independent director,
on the basis of the report of performance evaluation of independent directors.

Recommend to the Board, all remuneration, in whatever form, payable to the Senior Management Personnel.

Any other role / functions as may be specifically referred to the Committee by the Board of Directors and / or other
committees of Directors of the Company, or as may be required under the Companies Act, 2013, the Securities and
Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, , guidelines/
circulars/ directions/ rules issued by the Reserve Bank of India (including the RBI Guidelines on Compensation of
Key Managerial Personnel (KMP) and Senior Management in NBFCs, dated April 29, 2022), or other applicable
law(s), for the time being in force.

Stakeholder’s Relationship Committee:

The Stakeholders” Relationship Committee was last reconstituted vide a resolution passed by the Board on March 30,
2023. As on the date of this Prospectus, it comprises of:

Name Designation on Committee Designation
Bhupinder Singh Member Whole-time Director and Chief Executive Officer
Vivek Bansal Member Whole-time Director and Chief Financial Officer
Ambika Bisla Member Independent Director
Sunita Gupta Member Independent Director
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The broad terms of reference of the Stakeholder’s Relationship Committee are:

1.

n

Resolving the grievances of the security holders of the Company including complaints related to transfer/transmission
of shares, non-receipt of annual report, non-receipt of declared dividends, issue of new/duplicate certificates, general
meetings etc.

Review of measures taken for effective exercise of voting rights by shareholders.

Review of adherence to the service standards adopted by the Company in respect of various services being rendered
by the Registrar & Share Transfer Agent.

Review of the various measures and initiatives taken by the Company for reducing the quantum of unclaimed
dividends and ensuring timely receipt of dividend warrants/annual reports/statutory notices by the shareholders of the
company.

Risk Management Committee:

The Risk Management Committee was last reconstituted vide a resolution passed by the Board on March 30, 2023. As
on the date of this Prospectus, it comprises of:

Name Designation on Committee Designation
Rupa Rajul Vora Member Independent Director
Bhupinder Singh Member Whole-time Director and Chief Executive Officer
Vivek Bansal Member Whole-time Director and Chief Financial Officer
Saurabh Jhalaria Member Head — SME Lending
Krishna Bahety Member Chief Risk Officer
Rohan Rakesh Suri Member Independent Director
Sankaran Nair Rajagopal | Member Independent Director
Prithvi Chandrasekhar Member CEO — Consumer Finance

The scope of the Risk Management Committee includes the references made under the SEBI Listing Regulations, and
the RBI Regulations.

The terms of reference of the Risk Management Committee are:

1.

Review and manage the Risk Management framework and processes of the Company in compliance with the
regulatory provisions and the best practices;

To formulate a detailed risk management policy which shall include:

a. A framework for identification of internal and external risks specifically faced by the Company, in particular
including financial, operational, sectoral, sustainability (particularly, ESG related risks), information, cyber
security risks or any other risk as may be determined by the Committee.

b. Measures for risk mitigation including systems and processes for internal control of identified risks.

c. Business continuity plan.

To ensure that appropriate methodology, processes and systems are in place to monitor and evaluate risks associated
with the business of the Company;

To monitor and oversee implementation of the risk management policy, including evaluating the adequacy of risk
management systems;

To periodically review the risk management policy, at least once in two years, including by considering the changing
industry dynamics and evolving complexity;

To keep the board of directors informed about the nature and content of its discussions, recommendations and
actions to be taken;

The appointment, removal and terms of remuneration of the Chief Risk Officer (if any) shall be subject to review
by the Risk Management Committee.

To review framework for monitoring and managing various types of risks including credit risk, market risk, fraud
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10.

11.

12.

risk and status of compliance with the Anti-Money Laundering (AML) Standards;
To review the various risk related aspects of the loan and asset portfolio.
To review and approve the various policies pertaining to the following:

a) Lending activities of the Company;

b) Retail loans granted by the Company;

¢) Know Your Customer (KYC) and AML;
d) Recovery and Collections

Any such other role/functions as may be specifically referred to the Committee by the Board of Directors and / or
other committees of Directors of the Company or as may be required under the Companies Act, 2013, SEBI (LODR)
or any other law for the time being in force.

The Risk Management Committee shall coordinate its activities with other committees, in instances where there is
any overlap with activities of such committees, as per the framework laid down by the board of directors.

Corporate Social Responsibility Committee:

The Corporate Social Responsibility Committee was last reconstituted vide a resolution passed by the Board on March
30, 2023. As on the date of this Prospectus, it comprises of:

Name Designation on Committee Designation
Rupa Rajul Vora Member Independent Director
Vivek Bansal Member Whole-time Director and Chief Financial Officer
Sekar Karnam Member Independent Director
Ambika Bisla Member Independent Director
Sunita Gupta Member Independent Director

The functions of the Committee include:

a)
b)
c)
d)
€)
f)

To finalise and appraise to the Board a corporate social responsibility (CSR) policy for the Company.

To recommend CSR activities and expenditure on the same.

To monitor implementation of the CSR policy of the Company from time to time.

To formulate and recommend to the Board an annual action plan in pursuance of the CSR policy of the Company
(containing such details as may be required under applicable law(s), including the Companies Act, 2013

and rules made thereunder).

Any other role/ functions as may be specifically referred to the Committee by the Board of Directors and / or other

committees of Directors of the Company, or as may be required under the Companies Act, 2013 and rules made
thereunder, as amended from time to time, or any other applicable law(s) for the time being in force.

IT Strategy Committee:

The IT Strategy Committee was last reconstituted vide a resolution passed by the Board on August 02, 2023. As on the
date of this Prospectus, it comprises of:

Name Designation on Committee Designation

Sekar Karnam Member Independent Director

Vivek Bansal Member Whole-time Director and Chief Financial Officer
Ashwin Sekar Member Chief Technology Officer

Sankaran Nair Rajagopal Member Independent Director

Ambika Bisla Member Independent Director

Sunita Gupta Member Independent Director

Suriya Nagarajan Member Chief Information Officer
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The functions of the IT Strategy Committee include:

1.

7.

8.

Approving IT strategy and policy documents and ensuring that the management has put an effective strategic
planning process in place.

Ascertaining that management has implemented processes and practices that ensure that the IT delivers value to the
business.

Ensuring IT investments represent a balance of risks and benefits and that budgets are acceptable.

Monitoring the method that management uses to determine the IT resources needed to achieve strategic goals and
provide high-level direction for sourcing and use of IT resources.

Ensuring proper balance of IT investments for sustaining NBFC’s growth and becoming aware about exposure
towards IT risks and controls.

In relation to any IT outsourced operations, the Committee shall:

i. Institute an appropriate governance/ risk management mechanism for all outsourced/ IT outsourced processes/
operations, comprising of risk based policies and procedures, to effectively identify, measure, monitor and
control risks associated with outsourcing in an end-to-end manner.

ii. Define the approval authorities for outsourcing depending on the nature of risks and materiality of outsourcing.

iii. Develop sound and responsive outsourcing risk management policies and procedures, commensurate with the
nature, scope, and complexity of outsourcing arrangements.

iv. Undertake a periodic review of outsourcing strategies and all existing material outsourcing arrangements.

v. Evaluate the risks and materiality of all prospective outsourcing based on the framework developed by the
Board.

vi. Periodically review the effectiveness of policies and procedures.

vii. Communicate significant risks in outsourcing to the Board on a periodic basis.

viii. Ensure an independent review and audit, in accordance with approved policies and procedures.

iX. Ensure that contingency plans have been developed and tested adequately.

X. Ensure that the business of the Company is not adversely compromised on account of outsourcing. To ensure
that sound business continuity management practices are adopted as issued by the RBI and seek proactive
assurance that the outsourced service provider maintains readiness and preparedness for business continuity on
an ongoing basis.

To settle any question, difficulty or doubt that may arise in regard to the above matters

Any such other role/functions as may be specifically referred to the Committee by the Board of Directors.

Finance Committee:

The Finance Committee was constituted vide a resolution passed by the Board on August 02, 2023. As on the date of this
Prospectus, it comprises of:

Name Designation in the Committee Designation
Bhupinder Singh Member Whole-time Director and Chief Executive Officer
Vivek Bansal Member Whole-time Director and Chief Financial Officer
Ashish Kumar Singhal Member Head of Treasury
Krishna Bahety Member Chief Risk Officer

The functions of the Finance Committee include:

a)

b)

c)

To approve borrowing of monies (otherwise than by issue of debentures) by way of availing financial facilities from
financial institution(s)/ bank(s) or other entities in the form of term loan(s), guarantee(s), line of credit or in any other
forms (“Facilities”), within the overall limits approved by the Board/ sharcholders, in connection with the
Company’s business requirement, and taking necessary actions connected therewith.

To appoint security trustee(s) and/or create charge/ mortgage in favour of the lenders of the Company.

To consider opening of bank accounts with various banks, apply and avail corporate internet banking, fax indemnity
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d)

f)

9)

h)

)

k)

facility, email indemnity, online account statement viewing facility with respect to accounts maintained with various
banks, and to revise signatories for operating various bank accounts of the Company as and when necessary.

To review and approve an assignment/ securitization transaction or a transaction relating to the transfer of financial
assets or cash flows.

To review and approve arrangements and tie-ups with the banks for various banking facilities and/ or cash
management services.

To consider and approve availing of bank guarantees from various banks.

To consider availing of corporate credit cards, including credit card facility in the name of employees/ officials of
the Company and the terms of such facilities.

To approve investment of surplus funds of the Company, within the limits approved by the Board, in Mutual Funds,
Fixed Deposits, Government Securities, securities of any company, body corporate etc., and redemption thereof.

To review and recommend the investment policy to the Board.

To review and approve the ‘demand and call loan policy’ and other related policies relating to finance and treasury
(except the policies on asset liability management and rate of interest) of the Company.

To decide on matters relating to the finalization of the terms and conditions of non-convertible debentures (NCDs)
to be issued on private placement basis and allotted from time to time, within the aggregate limit as approved by the
Board; decide the opening and closing date for receiving application and date of allotment /deemed date of allotment;
and apply with Stock Exchange for listing of the NCDs.

To appoint the debenture trustee, legal advisors, depositories, custodians, registrar and transfer agent and other
intermediaries, in accordance with the provisions of the applicable debt regulations and the related formalities.

To approve, authorize officials to sign and execute offer document(s), offer letter(s), information memorandum(s)
as per the prescribed format, if any, including any declaration, confirmation, affirmation, indemnity and undertaking
in respect of the NCDs to the potential investors, listing application(s), various agreements including but not limited
to Deed of Hypothecation, Debenture Trust Deed, Debenture Trustee Agreement, Listing Agreement, undertakings,
deeds, declarations, affidavits, certificates, documents, etc., and all other documents; and to do all such acts, deeds
and things, and to comply with all formalities, as may be required in connection with and incidental to, the offering
of NCDs on private placement basis including the post issue formalities and with power to settle any question,
difficulties or doubts that may arise in regard to the issue or allotment of such NCDs as may be deemed fit.

To delegate authorities from time to time to the executives/ authorized representatives to implement the decisions of
the Committee from time to time.

Any other role/ functions as may be specifically referred to the Committee by the Board.
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OUR PROMOTERS

The Promoters of our Company are InCred Holdings Limited (erstwhile known as KKR Capital Markets India Limited)
and Bhupinder Singh.

Details of our Promoters are set out below:

InCred Holdings Limited

(erstwhile known as KKR Capital Markets India Limited)
Registered office:

Unit No. 1203, 12" floor, B Wing,

The Capital, Plot No. C-70,

G Block, Bandra Kurla Complex

Mumbai 400 051, Maharashtra.

Date of Incorporation: January 3, 2011

Place of Registration: RoC-Mumbai

Corporate Identification Number: U67190MH2011PLC211738
PAN: AAECK1977B

Bhupinder Singh

PAN: ANVPS2558R

Date of Birth: November 14, 1974

Age: 48 years

Address: West 5801/5901 World Villa The World Towers,

Senapati Bapat Marg,

VTC: Mumbai — 400013

Education qualifications: Bachelor of Engineering, Post Graduate Diploma in Management
(PGDM) from 1M Ahmedabad.

As on date of this Prospectus, InCred Holdings Limited (erstwhile known as KKR Capital Markets India Limited)
together with the nominees shareholders holds 46,02,26,538 Equity Shares equivalent to 100% of the Equity Share capital
of our Company.

Profile of our Promoters
InCred Holdings Limited (erstwhile known as KKR Capital Markets India Limited)

InCred Holdings Limited (erstwhile known as KKR Capital Markets India Limited) (“IHL"’) was incorporated as a private
limited company in Mumbai on January 3, 2011 in the name of KKR Capital Markets India Private Limited and upon
approval of central government the company was converted to public limited and consequent to same its hame was
changed to KKR Capital Markets India Limited vide fresh certificate of registration dated July 8, 2022 by Registrar of
Companies Mumbai, Maharashtra. Pursuant to Scheme company changed its name from KKR Capital Markets India
Limited to InCred Holdings Limited. IHL registered office is at Unit No. 1203, 12" floor, B Wing, The Capital, Plot No.
C-70, G Block, Bandra Kurla Complex, Bandra (East), Mumbai 400 051, Maharashtra and is registered with the SEBI
as a ‘merchant banker’ under the SEBI (Merchant Bankers) Regulations, 1992 bearing registration number
INMO000011880. For further details see “History and Main Objects- Composite Scheme of Amalgamation and
Arrangement” on page 148.

IHL is primarily engaged in the business of merchant banking. In addition to merchant banking activities, IHL also acts
as an investment manager to certain alternative investment funds registered with SEBI under the Securities and Exchange
Board of India (Alternative Investment Funds) Regulations, 2012.

IHL, also acts as the sponsor and manager of KKR India Debt Opportunities Fund I1, a Category 11 Alternative Investment
Fund bearing registration no. IN/AIF2/16-17/0219.
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Other Ventures

Other than our Company and our Subsidiaries, other ventures of IHL include InCred Prime Finance Limited.

Board of Directors of InCred Holdings Limited (erstwhile known as KKR Capital Markets India Limited)

Sr. No. Name of Director DIN Designation

1 Bhupinder Singh 07342318 | Whole-time Director & Chief Executive Officer
2. Vivek Bansal 07835456 | Whole-time Director & Chief Financial Officer
3. Anil Nagu 00110529 | Additional Director

4 Sekar Karnam 07400094 | Independent Director

5 Rupa Rajul Vora 01831916 | Independent Director

6 Vivekanand Suryaprakash Periayapatnam | 02363239 | Non-Executive Director

7 Rohan Rakesh Suri 07074450 | Non-Executive Director

Shareholding Pattern of InCred Holdings Limited (erstwhile known as KKR Capital Markets India Limited) as on
date of this Prospectus

Sr. No. Name of Shareholder No. of Shares Holding
1 B Singh Holdings Limited 10,95,05,412 18.2%
2 Bhupinder Singh 13,69,554 0.2%
3 KKR India Financial Investments Pte Ltd 18,92,86,619 31.5%
4 Others 29,96,37,753 49.9%
Total 59,97,99,338 100.0%

Bhupinder Singh

Bhupinder Singh, Whole-time Director & Chief Executive Officer is the Founder of the InCred Group. For details
regarding Bhupinder Singh please see “Our Management — Brief profile of the Directors of our Company” on page 153.

Other Ventures of Bhupinder Singh:

InCred Holdings Limited

InCred Prime Finance Limited

B Singh Holdings Limited

InCred Global Wealth Limited

InCred Capital Financial Services Private Limited
InCred Wealth Private Limited

B Singh & Partners PTE

Zennia United Limited

9.  InCred Asset Management Private Limited

10. InCred Alternative Investments Pvt Ltd

11. InCred Wealth and Investment Services private Limited
12. InCred Capital Wealth Portfolio Managers Private Limited
13. InCred Research Services Private Limited

14. InCred Global Wealth Pte Limited

15. InCred Global Wealth Limited

16. NAAB Investments Pte Ltd.

17. NAAB Securities Pte Ltd.

18. NAAB Capital Partners

19. NAAB Restaurants LLP

20. Singh Family Private Trust

N~ wWNE

Other understanding and confirmations
Company confirms that:

i) the Permanent Account Number, Aadhar Number, Driving License Number, Passport and bank account number of
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Bhupinder Singh have been submitted to the Stock Exchange at the time of filing the Draft Prospectus;

i) Permanent Account Number and Bank account number of InCred Holdings Limited (erstwhile known as KKR
Capital Markets India Limited) have been submitted to the Stock Exchange at the time of filing the Draft Prospectus;

iii) Permanent Account Number of Directors have been submitted to the Stock Exchange at the time of filing the Draft
Prospectus

Our Promoters and the relatives of our Promoters as per the Companies Act, have not been identified as Willful
Defaulters.

No violation of securities laws has been committed by our Promoters in the past or is currently pending against it except
as disclosed in section titled “Outstanding Litigations and other Confirmations” on page 328.

None of our Promoters were promoter, director or person in control of any company which was delisted within a period
of ten years preceding the date of this Prospectus, in accordance with Chapter V of the SEBI Delisting Regulations.

None of our Promoters are promoter of another company which is debarred from accessing the securities market or
dealing in securities under any order or directions passed for any reasons by SEBI.

Our Promoter, Bhupinder Singh has not been declared as fugitive economic offender.

Our Promoters have confirmed that neither it nor its directors, have been identified as Wilful Defaulters by the RBI or
any other governmental authority is not a Promoter of any such company which has been identified as a Wilful Defaulter
by the RBI or any other governmental authority or which has been in default of payment of interest or repayment of
principal amount in respect of debt securities issued by it to the public, if any, for a period of more than six months.
Further, no members of our Promoter Group have been identified as Wilful Defaulters.

Our Promoter and Promoter Group are not restrained or debarred or prohibited from accessing the capital markets or
restrained or debarred or prohibited from buying, selling, or dealing in securities under any order or directions passed for
any reasons by the SEBI or any other authority or refused listing of any of the securities issued by any such entity by any
stock exchange in India or abroad and are not promoters, directors or person in control of any other company which is
prohibited from accessing or operating in capital markets under any order or direction passed by SEBI or any other
regulatory or governmental authority.

No benefit or interest will accrue to our Promoters out of the objects of the Issue.

Common pursuits of our Promoters

Our Promoters are not engaged in businesses similar to ours.

Interest of Promoters in our Company

Except as stated under the chapter titled “Related Party Transactions” beginning on page 174, and to the extent of their
shareholding in our Company, our Promoters does not have any other interest in our Company’s business.

Further as on October 6, 2023, our Promoters have not guaranteed/secured any bank facilities sanctioned by our
Company.

Our Promoters does not intend to subscribe to this Issue.

Our Promoters has no financial or other material interest in the Issue and no benefit / interest will accrue to our Promoters
or Promoter Group out of the objects of the Issue.

Payment of benefit to our Promoters in last three fiscal years

Other than as disclosed under the “Related Party Transactions”, available at page 174, our Company has not made any
payments of any benefits to the Promoters during the last three fiscals preceding the date of this Prospectus.

172



Interest of our Promoters in property, land and construction

Our Promoters do not have any interest in any property acquired by our Company within two years preceding the date of
filing of the Prospectus or any property proposed to be acquired by our Company or in any transaction with respect to
the acquisition of land, construction of building or supply of machinery.

Promoter Group
Other than our Promoters, following entities/individuals form part of our Promoter Group
Corporate Entities:

KKR India Financial Investments Pte. Ltd.
InCred Global Wealth Limited

InCred Prime Finance Limited

B Singh Holdings Limited

InCred Capital Financial Services Private Limited
InCred Wealth Private Limited

B Singh & Partners PTE

Zennia United Limited

InCred Asset Management Private Limited

10 InCred Alternative Investments Pvt Ltd

11 Alpha Fintech Private Limited

12 Booth Fintech Private Limited

13 Mvalu Technology Services Private Limited

14 Oro Financial Consultants Private Limited

15 InCred Wealth and Investment Services Private Limited
16  InCred Capital Wealth Portfolio Managers Private Limited
17 InCred Research Services Private Limited

18 InCred Global Wealth Pte Limited

19  InCred Global Wealth Limited (Dubai)

20 InCred Global Wealth Limited (UK)

21 NAAB Investments Pte Ltd

22 NAAB Securities Pte Ltd.

OCoOoO~NOoOuUThWN P

Individuals:

Nisha Singh

Avatar Singh
Manmohan Kaur Maini
Virendra Singh
Meena Chhabra
Irmeet Kaur Maini
Anshveer Singh
Anika Singh
Govinder Singh Kohli
10  Surjit Kaur Kohli

11  Sarabjit Kohli

12 Dmanjit Khli

13 Anshveer Singh

OCoOoO~NOUIT WN PP

Details of Equity Shares allotted to our Promoters during the last three Fiscal Years and the current financial
year

Except as disclosed under “Capital Structure” on page 53, our Promoters have not been allotted any Equity Shares of
our Company during the last three Fiscal Years.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

For details of the related party transactions on a standalone basis for the Fiscal 2023 in accordance with the requirements
under Ind AS 24 “Related Party Disclosures” notified under Section 133 of the Companies Act read with the Companies
(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules 2015, as amended from time to time, see “Annexure C — Audited Standalone Financial
Statements of the Company for Fiscal 2023 — Note 31" on page F 72.

For details of the related party transactions on a standalone basis for the Fiscal 2022 in accordance with the requirements
under Ind AS 24 “Related Party Disclosures” notified under Section 133 of the Companies Act read with the Companies
(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules 2015, as amended from time to time, see “Annexure C — Audited Standalone Financial
Statements of Pre-demerger KKR for Fiscal 2022 — Note 37 on page F 243.

For details of the related party transactions on a standalone basis for the Fiscal 2023 in accordance with the requirements
under Ind AS 24 “Related Party Disclosures” notified under Section 133 of the Companies Act read with the Companies
(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules 2015, as amended from time to time, see “Annexure C — Audited Standalone Financial
Statements of Pre-demerger KKR for Fiscal 2021 — Note 35" on page F 305.

For details of the related party transactions on a standalone basis for the Fiscal 2022 in accordance with the requirements
under Ind AS 24 “Related Party Disclosures” notified under Section 133 of the Companies Act read with the Companies
(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules 2015, as amended from time to time, see “Annexure C — Audited Standalone Financial
Statements of Pre-demerger InCred for Fiscal 2022 — Note 31” on page F 385.

For details of the related party transactions on a standalone basis for the Fiscal 2023 in accordance with the requirements
under Ind AS 24 “Related Party Disclosures” notified under Section 133 of the Companies Act read with the Companies
(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules 2015, as amended from time to time, see “Annexure C — Audited Standalone Financial
Statements of Pre-demerger InCred for Fiscal 2021 — Note 29 ” on page 555.

Related party transactions entered during the Fiscal 2023 by our Company with regard to loans made or, guarantees
given or securities provided
(% in lakh)

Name of the Related Party Loans made Guarantees given Securities Provided

InCred Holdings Limited 1,500.0 - -

Related party transactions entered during Fiscal 2022 and Fiscal 2021 by Pre-demerger KKR with regard to loans made
or, guarantees given or securities provided
(% in lakh)

Name of the Loans made Guarantees given Securities Provided
Related Party Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2021 Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2021 Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2021

NA - - - - - -

Related party transactions entered during the current financial year for the period up to October 6, 2023 by our
Company with regard to loans made or, guarantees given or securities provided
(% in lakh)

Name of the Related Party Loans made Guarantees given Securities Provided

NA - - -

Related party transactions entered during Fiscal 2022 and Fiscal 2021 by Pre-demerger InCred with regard to loans
made or, guarantees given or securities provided
(% in lakh)

Name of the Loans made Guarantees given Securities Provided
Related Party Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2021 Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2021 Fiscal 2022 Fiscal 2021

NA - - - - - -
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REGULATIONS AND POLICIES

The regulations summarized below are not exhaustive and are only intended to provide general information to Investors
and are neither designed nor intended to be a substitute for any professional legal advice. Taxation statutes such as the
IT Act, GST laws (including CGST, SGST and IGST) and applicable local sales tax statutes, labour regulations such as
the Employees State Insurance Act, 1948 and the Employees Provident Fund and Miscellaneous Provisions, Act, 1952,
and other miscellaneous regulations such as the Trade Marks Act, 1999 and applicable Shops and Establishments statutes
apply to us as they do to any other Indian company and therefore have not been detailed below.

The following description Is a summary of certain sector specific laws and regulations in India, which are applicable to
our Company. The information detailed in this chapter has been obtained from publications available in the public
domain. The regulations set out below may not be exhaustive and are only intended to provide general information to
the investors and are neither designed nor intended to substitute for professional legal advice. The statements below are
based on the current provisions of the Indian law, and the judicial and administrative interpretations thereof, which are
subject to change or modification by subsequent legislative, regulatory, administrative or judicial decisions.

Principal business criteria and NBFC classification

As per the RBI Act, a financial institution has been defined as a company which includes a non-banking institution
carrying on as its business or part of its business the financing activities, whether by way of making loans or advances or
otherwise, of any activity, other than its own and it is engaged in the activities of loans and advances, acquisition of
shares/stock/bonds/debentures/securities issued by the Government of India or other local authorities or other marketable
securities of like nature, leasing, hire-purchase, insurance business, chit business but does not include any institution
whose principal business is that of carrying out any agricultural or industrial activities or the sale/purchase/construction
of immovable property.

As per prescribed law any company that carries on the business of a non-banking financial institution as its ‘principal
business’ is to be treated as an NBFC. The term ‘principal business’ has not been defined in any statute; however, RBI
has clarified through a press release (Ref. No. 1998-99/1269) issued in 1999, that in order to identify a particular company
as an NBFC, it will consider both the assets and the income pattern as evidenced from the last audited balance sheet of
the company to decide a company’s principal business. The company will be treated as an NBFC if its financial assets
are more than 50 per cent of its total assets (netted off by intangible assets) and income from financial assets should be
more than 50 per cent of the gross income. Both these tests are required to be satisfied in order to determine the principal
business of a company.

Every NBFC is required to submit to the RBI a certificate in the form DNBS 10, from its statutory auditor within one
month from the date of finalisation of the balance sheet and in any case, not later than December 30 of that year, stating
that it is engaged in the business of non-banking financial institution requiring it to hold a certificate of registration.

NBFCs are primarily governed by the RBI Act, the SBR Framework, the Master Direction — Non-Banking Financial
Company — Non-Systemically Important Non-Deposit taking Company (Reserve Bank) Directions, 2016, Master
Direction — Non-Banking Financial Company — Systemically Important Non-Deposit taking Company and Deposit taking
Company (Reserve Bank) Directions, 2016, Peer to Peer Lending Platform (Reserve Bank) Directions, 2017, Master
Direction— Non-Banking Financial Company — Account Aggregator (Reserve Bank) Directions, 2016, Reserve Bank
Commercial Paper Directions, 2017 and the Non-Banking Financial Companies Acceptance of Public Deposits (Reserve
Bank) Directions, 2016. In addition to these regulations, NBFCs are also governed by various circulars, notifications,
guidelines and directions issued by the RBI from time to time.

Although by definition, NBFCs are permitted to operate in similar sphere of activities as banks, there are a few important
and key differences. The most important distinctions are:

¢ An NBFC cannot accept deposits repayable on demand — in other words, NBFCs can only accept fixed term deposits.
Thus, NBFCs are not permitted to issue negotiable instruments, such as cheques which are payable on demand; and

o NBFCs are not allowed to deal in foreign exchange, even if they specifically apply to the RBI for approval in this
regard, unless they have received an Authorised Dealer Category Il licence from the RBI.
The major regulations governing our Company are detailed below:

On October 22, 2021 RBI issued a Scale Based Regulation (SBR): A Revised Regulatory Framework for NBFCs (“SBR
Framework™), whereby NBFCs have been categorised into following four layers based on their size, activity, and
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perceived riskiness by the RBI:

i) NBFC- Base Layer (“NBFC-BL");

i) NBFC- Middle Layer (“NBFC-ML");
iii)  NBFC- Upper layer (“NBFC-UL"); and
iv)  NBFC- Top Layer (“NBFC-TL"”)

The NBFC- BL comprise of (a) non-deposit taking NBFCs below the asset size of T 1,00,000 lakh and (b) NBFCs
undertaking the following activities- (i) NBFC-Peer to Peer Lending Platform (NBFC-P2P), (ii) NBFC-Account
Aggregator (NBFC-AA), (iii) Non-Operative Financial Holding Company (NOFHC) and (iv) NBFCs not availing public
funds and not having any customer interface.

The NBFC- ML consist of (a) all deposit taking NBFCs (“NBFC-Ds”), irrespective of asset size, (b) non-deposit taking
NBFCs with asset size of * 1,00,000 lakh and above and (c¢) NBFCs undertaking the following activities (i) Standalone
Primary Dealers (SPDs)- (ii) Infrastructure Debt Fund — Non-Banking Financial Companies (IDF-NBFCs), (iii) Core
Investment Companies (CICs), (iv) Housing Finance Companies (HFCs) and (v) Infrastructure Finance Companies
(NBFC-IFCs).

The NBFC-UL comprise of those NBFCs which are specifically identified by RBI as warranting enhanced regulatory
requirement based on a set of parameters and scoring methodology as provided in appendix to SBR Framework. The top
ten eligible NBFCs in terms of their asset size shall always reside in the upper layer, irrespective of any other factor.

The NBFC-TL will ideally remain empty. This layer can get populated if RBI is of the opinion that there is a substantial
increase in the potential systemic risk from specific NBFC-Upper Layer. Such NBFC shall move to the NBFC-Top Layer.

Pursuant the SBR Framework the criteria of asset size of non-deposit NBFCs for classification as non-systemically
important for the purpose of regulatory structure of NBFCs have been increased from X 50,000 lakh to X 1,00,000 lakh
(“NBFC-ND”). Therefore, NBFCs with asset size of over X 1,00,000 lakh have been considered risky and will fall under
middle layer (NBFC-ML / “NBFC-ND-SI”). The SBR Framework came into effect from October 01, 2022 and provides
that from October 01, 2022 references to NBFC-ND shall mean NBFC-BL and all references to NBFC-D and NBFC-
ND-SI shall mean NBFC-ML or NBFC-UL, as the case may be. SBR Framework clarified that existing NBFC-ND-Sis
having asset size of ¥ 50000 lakh and above but below X 1,00,000 lakh (except those necessarily featuring in NBFC-
Middle Layer) will be known as NBFC-BL.

As on date of filing of this Prospectus the Company falls under the category of NBFC-ML, as its assets size is above
1,00,000 lakh, as per the last audited balance sheet. SBR Framework provide that NBFC-ML shall be subject to
regulations as currently applicable to NBFC-ND-Sis, except for the regulatory changes under SBR Framework applicable
on NBFC-ML.

As of date of this Prospectus, the NBFC-ML are governed by updated Master Direction — Non-Banking Financial
Company —Systemically Important Non-Deposit taking Company and Deposit taking Company (Reserve Bank)
Directions, 2016 dated September 1, 2016 (as updated from time to time) applicable to all NBFC-ML (“Master
Directions”).

Rating of NBFCs

Pursuant to the Master Directions, all applicable NBFCs are required to furnish information about downgrading /
upgrading of assigned rating of any financial product issued by them, within fifteen days of such a change in rating, to
the regional office of the RBI under whose jurisdiction their registered office is functioning.

Prudential Norms

The Master Directions amongst other requirements prescribe guidelines on NBFC-ND-SI (NBFC-ML) regarding capital
requirement, income recognition, asset classification, provisioning requirements, constitution of audit committee, capital
adequacy requirements, concentration of credit/ investment.

Provisioning Requirements

An NBFC-ML, after taking into account the time lag between an account becoming non-performing, its recognition, the
realisation of the security and erosion overtime in the value of the security charged, shall make provisions against sub-
standard assets, doubtful assets and loss assets in the manner provided for in the Master Directions.

In the interests of counter cyclicality and so as to ensure that NBFCs create a financial buffer to protect them from the
effect of economic downturns, RBI vide their circular no. DNBS.PD.CC. No.207/ 03.02.002 /2010-11 dated January 17,
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2011, introduced provisioning for standard assets by all NBFCs. NBFCs are required to make a general provision at 0.25
per cent of the outstanding standard assets. RBI vide their circular no. DNBR (PD) CC No. 037/03.01.001/2014-15 dated
June 11, 2015 raised the provision for standard assets to 0.40 per cent to be met by March 2018. The extant Master
Directions provide provisions for standard assets at 0.40 per cent from March 2018. The general provisions on standard
assets are not reckoned for arriving at Net NPAs. The general provisions towards standard assets are not needed to be
netted from gross advances but shown separately as ‘Contingent Provisions against Standard Assets’ in the balance sheet.
NBFCs are allowed to include the ‘General Provisions on Standard Assets’ in Tier II Capital which together with other
‘general provisions/ loss reserves’ will be admitted as Tier II Capital only up to a maximum of 1.25 per cent of the total
risk-weighted assets.

Capital Adequacy Norms

In terms of Master Directions, NBFC-ML is required to maintain, a minimum capital ratio consisting of Tier | and Tier
Il capital which shall not be less than 15% of its aggregate risk weighted assets on balance sheet and risk adjusted value
of off-balance sheet items. The Tier | capital in respect of applicable NBFCs (other than NBFC-MFI and IDF-NBFC), at
any point of time, shall not be less than 10 per cent.

“Tier I Capital” means owned fund as reduced by investment in shares of other non-banking financial companies and in
shares, debentures, bonds, outstanding loans and advances including hire purchase and lease finance made to and deposits
with subsidiaries and companies in the same group exceeding, in aggregate, ten per cent of the owned fund; and perpetual
debt instruments issued by a non-deposit taking non-banking financial company in each year to the extent it does not
exceed 15 per cent of the aggregate Tier | Capital of such company as on March 31 of the previous accounting year.

Owned Funds are defined as paid-up equity capital, preference shares which are compulsorily convertible into equity,
free reserves, balance in share premium account; capital reserve representing surplus arising out of sale proceeds of asset,
excluding reserves created by revaluation of assets; less accumulated loss balance, book value of share and deferred
revenue expenditure, if any.

Tier — Il Capital is defined to includes the following (a) preference shares other than those which are compulsorily
convertible into equity; (b) revaluation reserves at discounted rate of 55%; (c) general provisions (including that for
standard assets) and loss reserves to the extent these are not attributable to actual diminution in value or identifiable
potential loss in any specific asset and are available to meet unexpected losses, to the extent of one-and-one-fourth percent
of risk weighted assets; (d) hybrid debt capital instruments; and | subordinated debt; and (f) perpetual debt instrument
issued by non-deposit taking non-banking financial company, which is in excess of what qualifies for Tier | Capital, to
the extent that the aggregate does not exceed Tier -1 capital.

Hybrid debt means, capital instrument, which possess certain characteristics of equity as well as debt.

Subordinated debt means a fully paid up capital instrument, which is unsecured and is subordinated to the claims of
other creditors and is free from restrictive clauses and is not redeemable at the instance of the holder or without the
consent of the supervisory authority of the NBFC. The book value of such instrument is subjected to discounting as
prescribed under the Master Directions and to the extent such discounted value does not exceed fifty percent of Tier |
capital.

Asset Classification

The prudential regulations require that every applicable NBFC shall, after taking into account the degree of well-defined
credit weaknesses and extent of dependence on collateral security for realisation, classify its lease/hire purchase assets,
loans and advances and any other forms of credit into the following classes:

Standard assets;
Sub-standard Assets;
Doubtful Assets; and
Loss assets

Further, such class of assets would not be entitled to be upgraded merely as a result of rescheduling, unless it satisfies the
conditions required for such upgradation. At present every NBFC-ML is required to make a general provision for standard
assets at 0.40 per cent.

Other stipulations on policies

NBFCs-ML are required to frame board approved policies inter alia including, (i) a policy for demand and call loan; (ii)
liquidity risk management policy; (iii) code of conduct for direct sales agents /direct marketing agents/recovery agents;
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(iv) fair practice code policy; (v) customer grievance redressal policy; (vi) information technology policy/information
system policy; (viii) interest rate model policy; (ix) outsourcing policy; (x) private placement of NCDs policy; (xi) know
you customer/ anti-money laundering policy, (xii) investment policy.

The prudential norms also specifically prohibit NBFCs from lending against its own shares.
Net Owned Fund

Section 45-1A of the RBI Act provided that to carry on the business of a NBFC, an entity would have to register as an
NBFC with the RBI and would be required to have a minimum net owned fund of 3200 lakh. However, the net owned
fund requirement has been incrementally revised by SBR Framework. SBR Framework stipulates the glided path to
minimum net owned fund requirement of ¥ 500 lakh by March 31, 2025 and X 1000 lakh by March 31, 2027 by the
NBFCs with customer interface or public funds. For this purpose, the Master Directions have defined “net owned fund”
to mean:

Net Owned Fund — means paid up equity capital, preference shares which are compulsorily convertible into equity, free
reserves, balance in share premium account and capital reserves representing surplus arising out of sale proceeds of
asset, excluding reserves created by revaluation of asset, as reduced by accumulated loss balance, book value of
intangible assets and deferred revenue expenditure, if any;

Reserve Fund

In addition to the above, Section 45-1C of the RBI Act requires NBFCs (unless specifically exempted by RBI) to create
a reserve fund and transfer therein a sum of not less than 20% of its net profits earned annually before declaration of
dividend. Such a fund is to be created by every NBFC irrespective of whether it isa ND NBFC or not. Such sum cannot
be appropriated by the NBFC except for the purpose as may be specified by the RBI from time to time and every such
appropriation is required to be reported to the RBI within 21 days from the date of such appropriation.

Maintenance of liquid assets

The RBI through notification dated January 31, 1998, as amended has prescribed that every NBFC (unless specifically
exempted by RBI) shall invest and continue to invest in unencumbered approved securities valued at a price not exceeding
the current market price of such securities an amount which shall, at the close of business on any day be not less than
10% in approved securities and the remaining in unencumbered term deposits in any scheduled commercial bank; the
aggregate of which shall not be less than 15% of the public deposit outstanding at the last working day of the second
preceding quarter.

Information with respect to change of address, directors, auditors, etc. to RBI

An NBFC-ML is required to inform the RBI (Regional Office of the Department of Supervision of the Bank) of any
change in the address, telephone no’s, etc. of its registered office, names and addresses of its directors/auditors, names
and designations of its principal officers, the specimen signatures of its authorised signatories, within one month from
the occurrence of such an event.

Reserve Bank of India (Know Your Customer (KYC)) Master Directions, 2016 dated February 25, 2016, as amended
(“RBI KYC Directions”)

The RBI KYC Directions are applicable to every entity regulated by the RBI, specifically, scheduled commercial banks,
regional rural banks, local area banks, primary (urban) co-operative banks, state and central co-operative banks, all India
financial institutions, NBFCs, miscellaneous non-banking companies and residuary non-banking companies, amongst
others. In terms of the RBI KYC Directions, every entity regulated thereunder is required to formulate a KYC policy
which is duly approved by the board of directors of such entity or a duly constituted committee thereof. The KYC policy
formulated in terms of the RBI KYC Directions is required to include four key elements, being customer acceptance
policy, risk management, customer identification procedures and monitoring of transactions. It is advised that all NBFC’S
adopt the same with suitable modifications depending upon the activity undertaken by them and ensure that a proper
policy framework of anti-money laundering measures is put in place. The RBI KYC Directions provide for a simplified
procedure for opening accounts by NBFCs. It also provides for an enhanced and simplified due diligence procedure. It
has prescribed detailed instructions in relation to, inter alia, the due diligence of customers, record management, and
reporting requirements to Financial Intelligence Unit — India.

The RBI KYC Directions have also issued instructions on sharing of information while ensuring secrecy and
confidentiality of information held by Banks and NBFCs. The regulated entities must also adhere to the reporting
requirements under Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act and Common Reporting Standards. The RBI KYC Directions
also require the regulated entities to ensure compliance with the requirements/obligations under international agreements.
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The regulated entities must also pay adequate attention to any money-laundering and financing of terrorism threats that
may arise from new or developing technologies and ensure that appropriate KYC procedures issued from time to time
are duly applied before introducing new products/services/technologies. The RBI KYC Directions were updated on April
20, 2018 to enhance the disclosure requirements under the Prevention of Money-Laundering Act, 2002 and in accordance
with the Prevention of Money-Laundering Rules vide Gazette Notification GSR 538 | dated June 1, 2017 and the final
judgment of the Supreme Court in the case of Justice K.S. Puttaswamy (Retd.) & Another v. Union of India (Writ Petition
(Civil) 494/2012). The Directions were updated to accommodate authentication as per the AADHAR (Targeted Delivery
of Financial and Other Subsidies, Benefits and Services) Act, 2016 and use of an Indian resident’s Aadhar number as a
document for the purposes of fulfilling KYC requirement. The RBI KYC Directions were further updated on January 9,
2020 with a view to leveraging the digital channels for customer identification process by regulated entities, whereby the
RBI has decided to permit video-based customer identification process as a consent based alternate method of establishing
the customer’s identity, for customer onboarding.

Accounting Standards & Accounting policies

NBFCs that are required to implement Indian Accounting Standards (“Ind AS”) as per the Companies (Indian Accounting
Standards) Rules, 2015 (“Accounting Standard Rules”) shall prepare their financial statements in accordance with Ind
AS notified by the Government of India and shall comply with the regulatory guidance specified in the Master Directions.
Disclosure requirements for notes to accounts specified in the Master Directions shall continue to apply. Other NBFCs
shall comply with the requirements of notified Accounting Standards (AS) insofar as they are not inconsistent with Master
Directions. The Ministry of Corporate Affairs (“MCA”), in its press release dated January 18, 2016, issued a roadmap
for implementation of Ind AS converged with IFRS for non-banking financial companies, scheduled commercial banks,
insurers, and insurance companies, which was subsequently confirmed by the RBI through its circular dated February
11, 2016. The Accounting Standard Rules were subsequently amended by MCA press release dated March 30, 2016. The
Accounting Standard Rules stipulates that NBFCs whose equity and/or debt securities are listed or in the process of listing
on any stock exchange in India or outside India and having a net worth of less than 50,000 lakh, shall comply with Ind
AS for accounting periods beginning on or after the 1%t April, 2019, with comparatives for the periods ending on March
31, 2019, or thereafter.

Implementation of Indian Accounting Standards: RBI Notification

The Reserve bank of India vide notification number RBI/2019-20/170 DOR (NBFC).CC.PD.N0.109/22.10.106/ 2019-
20 dated March 13, 2020 framed regulatory guidance on Ind AS which will be applicable on Ind AS implementing
NBFCs and Asset Reconstruction Companies (ARCs) for preparation of their financial statements from financial year
2019-20 onwards. These guidelines focus on the need to ensure consistency in the application of the accounting
standards in specific areas, including asset classification and provisioning, and provide clarifications on regulatory
capital in the light of Ind AS implementation.

Implementation of Green Initiative of the Government

All NBFCs are required take proactive steps for increasing the use of electronic payment systems, elimination of post-
dated cheques and gradual phase-out of cheques in their day-to-day business transactions which would result in more
cost-effective transactions and faster and accurate settlements.

Reporting by Statutory Auditor

The statutory auditor of the NBFC-ML is required to submit to the Board of Directors of the Company along with the
statutory audit report, a special report certifying that the Directors have passed the requisite resolution mentioned above,
not accepted any public deposits during the year and has complied with the prudential norms relating to income
recognition, accounting standards, asset classification and provisioning for bad and doubtful debts as applicable to it. In
the event of non-compliance, the statutory auditors are required to directly report the same to the RBI.

Guidelines for Appointment of Statutory Central Auditors (SCAs)/Statutory Auditors (Sas) of Commercial Banks
(excluding RRBs), UCBs and NBFCs (including HFCs) dated April 27, 2021

The circular puts in place ownership-neutral regulations, ensuring independence of auditors, avoiding conflict of interest
in auditor’s appointments and to improve the quality and standards of audit in RBI Regulated Entities. These guidelines
shall streamline the procedure for appointment of Statutory Auditors across all the Regulated Entities and ensure that
appointments are made in a timely, transparent and effective manner.

Master Direction — Non-Banking Financial Companies Auditor’s Report (Reserve Bank) Directions, 2016

In addition to the report made by the auditor under Section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013 on the accounts of an NBFC-
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ML , the auditor shall make a separate report to the Board of Directors of the company on inter alia examination of
validity of certificate of registration obtained from the RBI, whether the NBFC is entitled to continue to hold such
certificate of registration in terms of its Principal Business Criteria (financial asset / income pattern) as on 31% March of
the applicable year, whether the NBFC is meeting the required net owned fund requirement, whether the board of directors
has passed a resolution for non-acceptance of public deposits, whether the company has accepted any public deposits
during the applicable year, whether the company has complied with the prudential norms relating to income recognition,
accounting standards, asset classification and provisioning for bad and doubtful debts as applicable to it, whether the
capital adequacy ratio as disclosed in the return submitted to the RBI in DNBS-10-Statutory Auditor Certificate (SAC)
return, has been correctly arrived at and whether such ratio is in compliance with the minimum CRAR prescribed by
RBI, whether the company has furnished to RBI the annual statement of capital funds, risk assets/exposures and risk asset
ratio within the stipulated period.

Risk-Based Internal Audit (RBIA)

An independent and effective internal audit function in a financial entity provides vital assurance to the board of directors
and its senior management of NBFC regarding the quality and effectiveness of the entity’s internal control, risk
management and governance framework. The essential requirements for a robust internal audit function include, inter
alia, sufficient authority, proper stature, independence, adequate resources and professional competence. RBI vide its
circular dated February 03, 2021, mandated all non-deposit taking NBFCs (including Core Investment Companies) with
asset size of X 5,00,000 lakh and above; and all UCBs having asset size of X 50000 lakh and above to implement the
RBIA framework by March 31, 2022.

Master Direction- Non-Banking Financial Company Returns (Reserve Bank) Directions, 2016

All NBFCs are required to put in place a reporting system for filing various returns with the RBI. NBFC-ML are required
to file at various intervals on asset-liability management: (a) Statement of Short Ter— Dynamic Liquidity — DNBS-04A
— Quarterly; (b) Statement of Structural Liquidity and Interest Rate Sensitivity- DNBS-4B — Monthly.

In addition to above NBFCs are required to submit Central Repository of Information on Large Credits (“CRILC”) on
a monthly basis as well as all Special Mention Accounts-2 (“SMA-2") status on a weekly basis to facilitate early
recognition of financial distress, prompt steps for resolution and fair recovery for lenders.

Master Direction on Information Technology Framework for the NBFC Sector, 2017

All NBFCs shall have a board approved Information Technology policy/Information system policy. This policy may be
designed considering the basic standards stipulated in the Master Directions.

Master Direction — Monitoring of Frauds in NBFCs (Reserve Bank) Directions, 2016.

RBI has issued Monitoring of Frauds in NBFCs (Reserve Bank) Directions, 2016 (“Fraud Directions, 2016”). As per
Fraud Directions, 2016, NBFCs are required to put in place a reporting system for recording frauds to RBI and should
fix staff accountability in respect of delays in reporting of fraud cases to the RBI. For this purpose, an official of the
rank of general manager or equivalent should be nominated who will be responsible for submitting all the returns to the
Bank and reporting referred to in these directions. If NBFCs do not adhere to the applicable time-frame for reporting
fraud, they shall become liable for penal action. The Fraud Directions, 2016 classify frauds into the following categories:

i.  Misappropriation and criminal breach of trust;

ii.  Fraudulent encashment through forged instruments, manipulation of books of account or through fictitious
accounts and conversion of property;

iii. Unauthorised credit facilities extended for reward or for illegal gratification;

iv. Negligence and cash shortages;

v.  Cheating and forgery; vi.

vi. Irregularities in foreign exchange transactions; and

vii.  Any other type of fraud.

Directions on